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Letters of transmittal  

  Letter dated 31 May 2016 from the Secretary-General addressed 

to the Chair of the Board of Auditors  
 

 

 In accordance with financial regulation 6.2 of the Financial Regulations and 

Rules of the United Nations, I have the honour to transmit the financial statements 

of the United Nations for the year ended 31 December 2015, which I hereby 

approve. The financial statements have been certified by the Controller as correct in 

all material respects.  

 Copies of these financial statements are also being transmitted to the Advisory 

Committee on Administrative and Budgetary Questions.  

 

 

(Signed) BAN Ki-moon  
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  Letter dated 17 October 2016 from the Chair of the Board of 

Auditors addressed to the President of the General Assembly  
 

 

 I have the honour to transmit to you volume I of the report of the Board of 

Auditors on the financial statements of the United Nations for the year ended 

31 December 2015.  

 

 

(Signed) Mussa Juma Assad  

Controller and Auditor General of the United Republic of Tanzania  

Chair of the Board of Auditors  
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Chapter I  
  Report of the Board of Auditors on the financial statements: 

audit opinion  
 

 

  Report on the financial statements  
 

 We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the operations of 

the United Nations as reported in volume I, which comprise the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2015 (statement I), the statements of financial 

performance (statement II), changes in net assets (statement III), cash flows 

(statement IV) and comparison of budget and actual amounts (statement V) for the 

year ended 31 December 2015, and the notes to the financial statements.   

 

  Management’s responsibility for the financial statements  
 

 The Secretary-General is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 

of the financial statements in accordance with the International Public Sector 

Accounting Standards and for such internal control as is deemed necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error.  

 

  Auditors’ responsibility  
 

 Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based 

on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards 

on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with the ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend 

on the auditor’s judgment, including an assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 

those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity ’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 

also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the financial statements.   

 We believe that the audit evidence that we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.   

 

  Opinion  
 

 In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 

the financial position of the United Nations as at 31 December 2015 and its 

financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with 

the International Public Sector Accounting Standards.  
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  Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 

 Furthermore, in our opinion, the transactions of the United Nations that have 

come to our notice, or that we have tested as part of our audit, have in  all significant 

respects been in accordance with the Financial Regulations and Rules of the United 

Nations and legislative authority.  

 In accordance with article VII of the Financial Regulations and Rules of the 

United Nations, we have also issued a long-form report on our audit of the 

operations of the United Nations as reported in volume I.   

 

 

(Signed) Mussa Juma Assad  

Controller and Auditor General of the United Republic of Tanzania   

Chair of the Board of Auditors  

(Signed) Sir Amyas C. E. Morse  

Comptroller and Auditor General of the  

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland  

(Lead Auditor)  

(Signed) Shashi Kant Sharma  

Comptroller and Auditor General of India  

 

 

17 October 2016  
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Chapter II  
  Long-form report of the Board of Auditors  

 

 

 

 Summary 

 The Board of Auditors has audited the financial statements and reviewed the 

operations of the United Nations for the year ended 31 December 2015. The audit 

included an examination of financial transactions and operations at Headquarters in  

New York, the offices at Geneva, Vienna and Nairobi and other entities, including 

country offices and projects. The Board has also reported separately on other major 

business transformation projects of the United Nations.   

 

Opinion  

 In the Board’s opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the financial position of the United Nations as at 31 December 2015 and its 

financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the 

International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS).  

 

Overall conclusion  

 The global implementation of Umoja across the Secretariat in 2015 was a major 

undertaking. It posed major challenges, placed extraordinary and unforeseen 

demands on staff and had a significant impact on large areas of the Organization. 

While the system provides greater visibility of financial information and consistency 

in business processes and helps to enforce compliance with the Financial Regulations 

and Rules of the United Nations, many users were ill-prepared for the changes the 

new systems would bring. Some processes, such as travel and donor reporting, 

particularly programmatic donor reporting, were insufficiently tested and caused 

major difficulties for departments. Some payments to staff , suppliers and partners 

were delayed and the absence of well-developed business intelligence reports 

hampered departments’ ability to manage and control their budgets and operations 

effectively. More broadly, the Organization must strengthen its change ma nagement 

capability to develop and implement new ways of working.   

 In recent years, the Administration has implemented a number of major 

improvement initiatives, such as accrual accounting (in accordance with IPSAS), the 

global field support strategy and Umoja. The level of intervention needed on those 

initiatives has consumed a great deal of effort and resources and has placed a very 

high demand on a core group of key staff. The initiatives provide the opportunity to 

transform the Secretariat into a more modern business administration and deliver 

significant improvements in the way activities are controlled and delivered. 

However, the Administration is not yet making full use of the new platforms to 

support improved management decision-making and deliver the promised financial 

and service delivery improvements.  

 The overall financial position of the Organization as at 31 December 2015 

remains sound, but it was again necessary to exhaust the reserves of the Working 

Capital Fund to ensure that operations could be maintained throughout 2015. 

Approximately 98 per cent of the regular budget was consumed in 2015. However, 
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difficulties in budgetary forecasting owing to unforeseen reductions in staff post 

adjustments late in the year, coupled with the additional workload related to the 

Organization’s deployment of Umoja, resulted in an underspend of $120 million. The 

unexpected and significant underspend reinforces the need to continue to improve 

financial management and to develop a more sophisticated and detailed 

understanding of the costs of United Nations operations. The Administration also 

needs to continue to strengthen core business processes in human resources 

management, finance and procurement and accelerate progress in implementing 

results-based management, enterprise risk management and counter-fraud measures.  

 

Key findings  
 

On financial performance  
 

 The financial health of the United Nations as a whole remains sound, as it 

has sufficient assets overall to meet both short-term and longer-term liabilities. 

A surplus of $12.1 million is reported in 2015 (2014: deficit of $348.2 million), with 

total revenue of $5,625.2 million (2014: $5,837.1 million) and expenses of 

$5,613.1 million (2014: $6,185.3 million). For the regular budget, actual expendi ture 

incurred was $2,854.7 million against a final budget of $2,974.7 million, resulting in 

a $120 million underspend.  

 Net assets have increased by $815.1 million, from $1,683.7 million as at 

31 December 2014 to $2,498.8 million as at 31 December 2015, owing mainly to 

changes in assumptions on the valuation of employee benefit liabilities (75 per cent) 

and by an increase in cash and cash equivalents (25 per cent). Overall, employee 

benefit liabilities were reduced by $605.9 million, from $4,786.2 million  in 2014 to 

$4,180.3 million in 2015. These liabilities are matched by large assets, such as 

property, plant and equipment holdings, with a net value of $3,216.1 million 

(2014: $3,322.5 million) and total cash and investments of $2,968.1 million (2014:  

$2,656.8 million). However, these assets are not held to cover the employee 

liabilities, and the unfunded after-service liabilities will, over time, begin to consume 

increasing portions of the regular budget.  

 Much of the $2,968.1 million in cash and investments balances held are 

“restricted” because they relate to balances on project trust funds and staff insurance 

fund reserves. They are not therefore available for the discharge of regular budget 

liabilities. Borrowing from the Working Capital Fund was again necessary, leading to 

it being exhausted of funds as at the end of 2015.   

 

On the preparation of financial statements  
 

 The Secretariat presented the 2015 financial statements for audit on 31 May 

2016, two months later than the date prescribed in the Financial Regulations 

and Rules of the United Nations. A fundamental requirement of sound financial 

management and control is the ability to prepare timely and good quality financial 

statements to allow the General Assembly to confirm that funds have been applied 

for the purposes intended. The Secretariat assessed the risks arising from the need to 

prepare the 2015 financial statements using data from legacy systems, mainly the 

Integrated Management Information System, and also from Umoja. In the outcome of 

the analysis, it was concluded that the financial statements could be presented on 
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31 May 2016. The late presentation of the 2015 financial statements significantly 

delayed the audit and reporting timetable. Weaknesses in the accounts preparation 

procedures, unexpected complications, such as problems in running Umoja batch 

processes, a very complex audit trail of manual accounting adjustments and 

excessive delays in providing supporting documentation, further  delayed completion 

of the audit. The Administration believes that since Umoja will be the source of most 

of the information for the 2016 financial statements, the accounts preparation process 

will be smoother. However, the Board is concerned that the delays experienced in 

2015 will recur in 2016 unless fundamental improvements are made to the accounts 

preparation procedures to ensure the application of consistent processes, proper staff 

training and rigorous management review of the draft financial stateme nts.  

 

On managing resources  
 

 The Administration does not have an agreed plan to fully implement and 

embed results-based management, and limited progress has been made. The 

current approach focuses almost exclusively on servicing the intergovernmental 

reporting requirements to Member States, and while this is essential, the 

Secretariat is not developing an understanding of the actual results achieved at 

all levels of the Organization. Managing and delivering the results mandated and 

funded by the General Assembly is a primary purpose of the United Nations, but the 

Secretariat is failing to apply a consistent organizational performance framework. 

Although some improvements have been made in the reporting of planned versus 

actual achievements, the Administration has informed the Board that it does not 

intend to develop a plan to fully implement results-based management until after 

completion of the design of the budget modules in Umoja Extension 2. The Board 

also found that evaluation of programme results is carried out unevenly across the 

Organization, and that the Administration needs to make better use of funds 

requested for monitoring and evaluation.  

 While the Administration monitors expenditure and budget performance, 

the frequency of central monitoring could be improved and strengthened, in 

particular with regard to the implementation of Umoja, to reduce the risk of 

significant underspends in future. Some departments complained that they 

lacked reliable budget reports during a large part of 2015. The monitoring of 

spending against budgets is performed primarily by executive offices. The 

Administration informed the Board that the impact of unforeseen reductions in staff 

costs in some locations and the additional workload related to the deployment of 

Umoja contributed to the underspend reported in 2015. The implementation of 

Umoja and the absence of reliable business intelligence reports showing total 

spending against budgets hampered the ability of departments to track budgets 

effectively during 2015. The Administration also failed to take full account of known 

reductions in planned expenditure when revising budget forecasts in the second 

budget performance report.  

 

On managing partners  
 

 While improvements have been made in the design and application of 

controls around implementing partners working with the Office for the 

Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, the Secretariat needs to improve and 
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embed these new procedures. The Board has commented in the past on the need to 

ensure that an effective assurance framework is in place to ensure that funds are used 

for the purposes intended. The legal framework around the granting of funds to 

partners relies on informal memorandums issued by the Secretariat and should be 

introduced formally into the Financial Regulations and Rules. The different 

processes and assurance frameworks for managing partners across the Organization 

should also be reviewed, with the aim of ensuring greater consistency in the 

approaches. Although the Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs has 

responded positively to the Board’s earlier concerns and has implemented a much 

improved and comprehensive new assurance framework, the framework is not yet 

uniformly applied or embedded across country offices. In particular, the Office needs 

to improve the collation and analysis of data on the results of reporting, monitoring 

and audit activities performed during the year to confirm that there is sufficient 

assurance that funds have been applied for the purposes intended.   

 

On managing the estate  
 

 The Administration has started to introduce a more strategic approach to 

managing its global estate. The challenge now is to ensure that this leads to 

improved performance and efficiencies. Historically, there has been limited 

understanding of the size and composition of United Nations land and buildings and 

consideration of whether the global estate best meets the business needs of the 

Organization. The Office of Central Support Services has worked with estates 

managers across the eight major United Nations locations to modernize and optimize 

estates management. Recent initiatives include conducting the strategic capital 

review; implementing the real estate management module in Umoja; introd ucing 

flexible workplace strategies in New York; and producing guidelines for managing 

capital projects.  

 The continued absence of an agreed and documented global estates strategy and 

the lack of key performance benchmarks and data on occupancy rates are  significant 

gaps that need to be addressed if the Administration is to ensure that the estate is of 

the correct size, distribution and composition to deliver mandates cost -effectively. 

Effective management of the $3.6 billion in land and buildings owned b y the United 

Nations will also be a vital component in the success of future initiatives, such as the 

global service delivery model.  

 

On managing the workforce  
 

 It is vital that the United Nations make best use of its key resource, its 

workforce. It has, however, made limited progress against the Board’s previous 

concerns about the lack of strategic workforce planning. Key human resources 

performance indicators are not being achieved, and management continues to be 

hampered by a lack of accurate, timely and reliable information. The 

Administration has not yet produced workforce plans in response to the Board ’s 

previous recommendations. Performance indicators were not achieved across a range 

of human resources functions, and performance has worsened in some areas, 

including the time taken to recruit staff. There are also delays in the time taken to 

process medical clearances and disciplinary cases. While there has been an 

improvement in the timely completion of staff performance appraisals, 21 per cent o f 
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non-field staff and 10 per cent of field staff did not have a completed appraisal six 

months after year-end. Although Umoja is now in place, significant weaknesses 

remain in the management information available to support the tracking of staff 

movements, vacancies and expenditure linked to staff mobility.   

 

On procurement and contract management  
 

 Procurement processes designed to improve value for money are not 

performed consistently, meaning that contracts are not always subject to adequate  

competition or performance management. The Board reviewed a sample of contracts 

open in 2015 and identified examples in which competitive bidding processes were 

waived without documented justification and of contracts with no provision to deal 

with delayed delivery, thus hindering or preventing the United Nations from recovering  

any losses incurred. The review also identified contracts with multiple amendments 

and large increases in contract values as a result of poor planning. In one case, a 

vendor was awarded $190 million of business over a 13-year period without being 

subject to competition. A number of contracts also had values that were well in 

excess of likely expenditure. The reliability of data entered into Umoja on purchase 

order status needs to be improved, as business intelligence reports revealed errors.   

 

On enterprise risk management  
 

 The Administration is continuing to develop its approach to enterprise risk 

management, but progress has been slow and further work is required to embed 

enterprise risk management in departments’ day-to-day work. Effective 

enterprise risk management allows the Organization to identify, assess and mitigate 

risks that may affect its ability to deliver mandates and achieve its objectives. The 

Administration continues to make progress in some areas, in particular through the 

use of high-level working groups to develop plans to manage the six critical risks. 

However, the development of risk action plans is behind schedule, and very slow 

progress has been made in embedding enterprise risk management throughout the 

Organization. All six of the strategic risks continue to be assessed as “highly likely” 

or “expected” to occur, and their impacts would be “significant” or “critical”. There 

is no overall plan or timetable in place to embed enterprise risk management, and 

departments lack adequate resources and skills to support its implementation. 

Although it had committed to embed enterprise risk management within existing 

resources, the Administration believes that full implementation will require 

additional resources, but has yet to assess the level and type of resources required.   

 

On managing the risk of fraud  
 

 The Administration continues to make insufficient progress in response to 

the Board’s previous concerns and recommendations on strengthening measures 

to counter fraud. The Organization has not yet conducted a comprehensive fraud 

risk assessment or developed a counter-fraud strategy. Fragmented policies and 

procedures relating to fraud have been summarized in a fraud policy framework 

document, and administrative instructions are being updated. However, little 

substantive progress has been made in recovering losses from fraud, and those staff 

members caught defrauding the Organization rarely face criminal prosecution and 

often appear to suffer relatively light punishment.  
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On business transformation  
 

 The Administration has demonstrated strong commitment to reform and 

has made significant progress in implementing transformation initiatives. There 

is now an opportunity to use the new systems and the capabilities they provide 

to transform the Secretariat into a more modern and cost-effective business 

administration. In recent years, the Administration has implemented a number of 

centrally driven initiatives, such as IPSAS, Umoja, the global field support strategy 

and revised strategies and approaches to the management of information and 

communications technology (ICT), procurement, human resources and estates. These 

initiatives have often made a difficult start, running late and over budget, and have 

required significant intervention by senior management to get back on track. They 

have also placed a major burden on core groups of key staff, which is unlikely to be 

sustainable in the longer term.  

 The Administration needs to support departments in developing the skills, 

capability and methodologies to make best use of the new systems and tools 

available to achieve real financial and service delivery benefits and improve the cost -

effective delivery of mandates. The Administration has not yet developed a baseline 

of current operational performance or adopted a formal methodology for achieving 

continuous improvement.  

 

On progress in managing information and communications technology affairs   
 

 Although the majority of the Board’s recommendations on ICT affairs 

remain under implementation, important progress has been made since the 

Board’s most recent report, in December 2015 (A/70/581). In particular, the 

Secretary-General’s bulletin on the organization of the Office of Information and 

Communications Technology (ST/SGB/2016/11) has been issued, and there is more 

collaborative work between the Office and the Department of Field Support to 

implement the new ICT strategy. The two departments are developing a revised five -

year forecast of ICT costs and are coordinating their efforts in areas such as 

information security and infrastructure management. For the strategy to be 

implemented effectively, revised policies and procedures, which are currently only in 

draft form, need to be issued formally along with the necessary delegations of 

authority. Project management disciplines around strategic ICT projects have been 

strengthened, and the Office needs to continue to assess the realism of the current 

timeline for implementing the strategy. Once the new procedures are in place, all 

heads of business units will need to work closely with the Chief Information 

Technology Officer to implement the strategy, particularly in such areas as the 

consolidation of ICT resources.  

 

Recommendations  
 

 The Board has made recommendations throughout the report. The main 

recommendations are as follows:  

 (a) To ensure the timely preparation of high-quality financial statements 

for the year ending 31 December 2016, the Board recommends that the 

Secretariat:  

http://undocs.org/A/70/581
http://undocs.org/ST/SGB/2016/11
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 (i) Carry out a review of the lessons learned from the 2015 financial 

statements preparation exercise;  

 (ii) Prepare more detailed accounts closure and preparation instructions 

and ensure that uniform processes and documentation standards are 

applied by all entities contributing to volume I of the 2016 financial 

statements;  

 (iii) Ensure that finance staff at Headquarters exercise greater central 

control and oversight of the preparation of the financial statements and that 

management review at all levels is sufficiently robust to identify material 

misstatements before the financial statements are presented for audit;   

 (iv) Derive the 2016 financial statements from the prime books of record 

to the fullest extent possible, making minimal use of spreadsheet 

accounting;  

 (b) The Board recommends that the Administration improve budget 

monitoring and control by:  

 (i) Developing comprehensive reports that allow departments to monitor 

expenditure against budgets on a regular basis;  

 (ii) Ensuring that central, periodic monitoring of expenditure against 

budgets is strengthened and that the Office of Programme Planning, 

Budget and Accounts seeks explanations from departments when spending 

is not in line with expectations;  

 (iii) Ensuring that known reductions in expenditure are fully considered 

alongside known increases in expenditure when preparing the first and 

second performance reports;  

 (c) The Board reiterates its previous recommendation that the 

Administration establish how and under what time frame it will be able to more 

closely link budget consumption with what was delivered in terms of outputs and 

outcomes, and set out a detailed plan for embedding results-based management 

as part of business as usual, defining clear responsibilities and resources;   

 (d) The Board recommends that the Administration set out a detailed 

plan for how it can make best use of current resources to improve evaluation 

across the Secretariat, including the level and types of reviews it needs to 

undertake and the skills and capacity required to perform them, and how it can 

learn lessons from existing approaches to cost-effectively support staff in 

performing self-evaluations through, for example, training staff in standard 

evaluative tools and techniques;  

 (e) The Board recommends that the Administration consider how best to 

improve the consistency of estates management by: (i) developing a global 

estates strategy; or (ii) defining a standard approach to developing local estates 

strategies, ensuring that the impacts of wider business transformation initiatives 

on future estates requirements are taken into account;  
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 (f) The Board recommends that the Office of Human Resources 

Management strengthen its performance monitoring mechanisms, including 

re-establishing the Performance Review Group as proposed, to improve the 

performance of entities that did not achieve targets on staff recruitment times, 

vacancy rates and completion of performance appraisals;  

 (g) The Board recommends that the Procurement Division perform a 

comprehensive review to ensure data integrity and to strengthen data input 

controls in Umoja and explore how to strengthen performance measurement 

tools for vendors, for end-to-end process costs and for quality and staff 

performance under Umoja Extension 2;  

 (h) The Board recommends that the Administration develop a common 

principles-based assurance framework for the management of partners that 

specifies the key procedures to be performed by all entities. To facilitate the 

development of the common framework, the Secretariat should conduct an end-

to-end review of the project management life cycle, including consultations with 

key stakeholders and a review of all current practices;  

 (i) To ensure that the shortcomings in the present systems are addressed, 

the Board recommends that the Administration conduct a comprehensive review 

of the functionality of existing grants management systems and the information 

needs of users and other stakeholders before finalizing the scope of Umoja 

Extension 2.  

 

Follow-up of previous recommendations  
 

 Of the 63 extant recommendations, 6 (9 per cent) have been fully implemented, 

22 (35 per cent) are under implementation, 32 (51 per cent) have not been 

implemented, 1 (2 per cent) has been overtaken by events and 2 (3 per cent) have 

been closed by the Board (see table II.1). Overall, the Board considers that the 

priority given to implementing Umoja in 2015 has consumed resources to the extent 

that the Administration has not made sufficient progress in implementing its 

recommendations, particularly in relation to areas of long-standing concern to the 

Board, such as counter-fraud measures, enterprise risk management, business 

transformation, financial management and accounts preparation. The Administration 

should take the opportunity to review the overall status of outstanding 

recommendations with the Board and develop an action plan to implement them 

within an appropriate timescale.  
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Key facts 
 

 
 

$5.625 billion 

 

Total revenue 
 

 $5.613 billion Total expenses  

 $12.1 million Surplus for the year  

 $7.731 billion Assets  

 $5.232 billion Liabilities  

 $2.499 billion Total net assets  

 Over 41,000 United Nations staff  

 $2.565 billion Employee salaries, allowances and benefits  

   
    

 

 

 A. Mandate, scope and methodology  
 

 

1. The United Nations, founded in 1945, provides the main forum for its 

193 Member States to meet and take collective measures through its principal 

organs: the General Assembly, the Security Council, the Economic and Social 

Council, the Trusteeship Council, the International Court of Justice and the 

Secretariat. Under the Charter of the United Nations, the Organization can take 

action on a wide range of vital and complex issues. That has led to its evolution into 

an organization comprising a headquarters in New York made up of multiple 

departments and offices, as well as entities (many with their own governance 

structures and systems) and offices away from Headquarters and projects across the 

globe. The United Nations employs over 41,000 staff to deliver its mandates.   

2. The financial statements for the operations of the United Nations as reported 

in volume I encompass the full range of activities, entities and programmes falling 

under the auspices of the Secretariat and include all funds other than those of 

peacekeeping operations, United Nations escrow accounts, the United Nations 

Compensation Commission, the International Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia, 

the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda and the International Residual 

Mechanism for Criminal Tribunals, which are reported separately.   

3. The 2015 financial statements were prepared under the International Public 

Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) and comprise five separate primary 

statements supported by explanatory notes.  

4. The Board of Auditors has audited the financial statements of the United 

Nations for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 in accordance with General 

Assembly resolution 74 (I). The audit was conducted in conformity with the 

Financial Regulations and Rules of the United Nations and the International 

Standards on Auditing. The latter require that the Board comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to 

whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.   
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5. The Board conducted the audit at Headquarters in New York and the offices at 

Geneva, Vienna and Nairobi, in addition to visiting operations, projects and offices 

in Jordan, the Sudan and Bangkok. The Board coordinated its work with the Office 

of Internal Oversight Services (OIOS) to avoid unnecessary overlap of effort and to 

determine the extent of reliance that could be placed on its work. The Board’s report 

was discussed with the Administration, whose views have been appropriately 

reflected.  

 

  Scope  
 

6. The audit was conducted primarily to enable the Board to form an opinion as 

to whether the financial statements presented fairly the financial position of the 

United Nations as at 31 December 2015 and the results of its operations and cash 

flows for the financial period, in accordance with IPSAS. This included an 

assessment as to whether the expenses recorded in the financial statements had been 

incurred for the purposes approved by the governing bodies and whether revenue 

and expenses had been properly classified and recorded in accordance with the 

Financial Regulations and Rules of the United Nations. The audit included a general 

review of financial systems and internal controls and a test examination of the 

accounting records and other supporting evidence to the extent the Board considered 

necessary to support its audit opinion.  

7. The Board also reviewed the operations of the United Nations under financial 

regulation 7.5, focusing on areas of fundamental importance to the capability, 

effective management and reputation of the United Nations, in particular financial 

performance and management (see sect. C below), managing resources (sect. D), 

managing the estate (sect. E), managing the workforce (sect. F), procurement and 

contract management (sect. G), managing partners (sect. H), enterprise risk 

management (sect. I), managing the risk of fraud (sect. J),  business transformation 

(sect. K) and an interim follow-up on the handling of information and 

communications technology (ICT) affairs (sect. L).   

 

 

 B. Findings and recommendations  
 

 

  Follow-up of previous recommendations  
 

8. As at 30 June 2016, of the 63 extant recommendations, 6 (9 per cent) have 

been fully implemented, 22 (35 per cent) are under implementation, 32 (51 per cent) 

have not been implemented, 1 (2 per cent) has been overtaken by events and 

2 (3 per cent) have been closed by the Board (see table II.1).  

9. In the recommendation that has been overtaken by events (see A/70/5 (Vol. I), 

chap. II, para. 21), the Board recommended that the Secretariat: (a) prepare a 

detailed and achievable timetable for preparing the 2015 financial statements; 

(b) ensure sufficient finance staff with the required skills are available; (c) integrate 

key Umoja activities into the planning of and timetable for the preparation of the 

accounts; and (d) perform an effective management review of the draft financial 

statements before their submission to the Board. As noted in the present report, 

many of these activities did not occur, but as the overall recommendation relates to 

the production of the 2015 financial statements, it has now been overtaken by 

events.  

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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10. Of the two recommendations closed by the Board:  

 (a) One relates to the inclusion of consideration of wider aspects of United 

Nations operations in subsequent phases of the global service delivery model (see 

A/70/5 (Vol. I), chap. II, para. 192) as the General Assembly, in its resolution 

70/248 A, stressed that the development of the global service delivery model should  

be limited to the provision of administrative support services;  

 (b) One relates to the Administration setting out how it will address the key 

lessons on business transformation identified by the Board in an earlier report (see 

A/67/5 (Vol. I), chap. II, para. 183). In the Board’s view, given the time that has 

elapsed since the Board made this recommendation, its more recent 

recommendations on managing business transformation are more relevant.   

11. Of the 32 unimplemented recommendations:  

 (a) Eight relate to the United Nations approach to managing the risk of 

fraud, reflecting the limited progress made;  

 (b) Eight relate to financial management and accounting, reflecting the high 

demands placed on the Office of Programme Planning, Budget and Accounts in 

producing the delayed IPSAS-compliant financial statements while supporting 

concurrently the implementation of Umoja;  

 (c) Seven relate to human resources management, reflecting proposals that 

have yet to be approved in addition to support for the implementation of Umoja;   

 (d) Three relate to the limited progress made in implementing and 

embedding enterprise risk management and results-based management as strategic 

management processes;  

 (e) Two relate to managing reform, reflecting the limited progress made in 

assessing the change management capability available and implementing a formal 

approach to continuous improvement;  

 (f) Two relate to special political missions, one relates to the sharing of 

information on implementing partners and one relates to the Department for General 

Assembly and Conference Management.  

12. Overall, the Board considers that the Administration has made insufficient 

progress in implementing its recommendations, particularly in relation to the areas 

of long-standing concern detailed above, and expects to see more urgent progress 

made. The Board also notes a significant difference in the status of implementation 

of its recommendations reported by the Secretariat and that judged by the Board. 

Most differences are explained by the Secretariat categorizing recommendations as 

“in progress” when the Board considers them “not implemented”. This reflects that 

the Board does not accept that preparatory activities, such as holding a meeting  or 

drafting high-level informal plans, is evidence that substantive implementation is in 

progress. Annex I provides a more detailed summary of the action taken in response 

to the Board’s previous recommendations, and a summary is provided in table II.1 

below.  

 

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/248
http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
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  Table II.1  

  Status of implementation of recommendations  
 

 

Fully 

implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Not 

implemented 

Overtaken 

by events 

Closed by 

the Board 

      
 Total 6 22 32 1 2 

Percentage 9 35 51 2 3 

 

Source: Board of Auditors.  
 

 

 

 C. Financial performance and management  
 

 

  Preparation of the financial statements  
 

  Delayed presentation of the financial statements  
 

13. A fundamental requirement of sound financial management and control is the 

ability to prepare timely and good quality financial statements to allow the General 

Assembly to confirm that funds have been used for the purposes intended. The 

Secretariat recognized the risks arising from the need to prepare the 2015 financial 

statements using data from legacy systems, mainly the Integrated Management 

Information System (IMIS), and also from Umoja. It carried out an analysis in 

which it concluded that, realistically, the financial statements could be presented on 

31 May 2016, two months later than prescribed in the Financial Regulations and 

Rules of the United Nations.  

14. The Board noted the Administration’s plans and amended the audit timetable. 

In November 2015, the Board wrote to the Administration to express its concern and 

emphasize the importance of providing detailed guidance to Secretariat entities to 

ensure a smooth and disciplined closure of the 2015 accounts. The Board further 

recommended that the Office of Programme Planning, Budget and Accounts 

exercise strong central oversight and control of the accounts closure process. The 

Board maintained a close and constructive dialogue with the Administration during 

the accounts preparation phase and raised a number of concerns during this period 

regarding the significant delays and slippage in planned activities.  

15. The timetable for providing key supporting documentation to the Board, such 

as transaction listings and data downloads, was not achieved, and documentation 

was often not of auditable quality. These problems caused many weeks of delay in 

completing the audit. Management’s review of the financial statements and financial 

report also lacked sufficient rigour to rectify material misstatements within the draft 

financial statements, which then had to be corrected during audit.   

 

  Complex audit trail  
 

16. To compile the 2015 financial statements, accounting information from 

multiple sources, including both the IMIS legacy systems and Umoja, was handled 

in a number of complex spreadsheets without following any consistent or 

documented procedures and with little central control over the changes made. The 

process was so complex and inadequately documented that an excessive amount of 
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audit effort was required before the Board was satisfied that the financial statements 

had been correctly extracted from the underlying accounting records.  

17. In practice, the financial statements are derived from a series of accounting 

spreadsheets manually prepared and maintained outside the prime books of record. 

Some data from the IMIS legacy systems were manually excluded when preparing 

the financial statements, rather than reversing the transactions, as would normally 

have occurred. In addition, the Board noted 32,000 high-value manual journal 

entries made in the period to 31 May 2016, which were posting transactions back 

into 2015. The gross value of these entries was $10.7 billion.  

18. To ensure that the statements were presented fairly, it was necessary to make 

audit adjustments to the draft financial statements of over $1.7 billion in gross 

terms. The adjustments decreased the surplus by $64.6 million and net assets by 

$3.1 million. Examples of material adjustments to the draft financial statements 

included reductions in assessed contributions of $61.3 million, an adjustment to 

employee liabilities of $77.5 million, an $85.6 million adjustment to employee 

salaries, allowances and benefits and a $137.3 million adjustment to self -insurance 

claims and expenses. Virtually every number in the first draft financial statements 

required an amendment of some sort. The scale of the amendments required that the 

revised draft financial statements be recertified by the Controller and formally 

transmitted to the Board for audit on 23 September 2016.   

19. The Board is concerned that, for the second consecutive year, the Secretariat 

was unable to ensure a smooth and disciplined process for the preparation of annual 

financial statements. Moreover, it is likely that the excessive delays experienced in 

2015 will recur for the 2016 financial statements unless fundamental improvements 

are introduced to ensure the application of consistent processes, proper staff training 

and rigorous management review of the draft financial statements.   

20. To ensure the timely preparation of high-quality financial statements for 

the year ending 31 December 2016, the Board recommends that the Secretariat:  

 (a) Carry out a review of the lessons learned from the 2015 financial 

statements preparation exercise;  

 (b) Prepare more detailed accounts closure and preparation instructions 

and ensure that uniform processes and documentation standards are applied by 

all entities contributing to volume I of the 2016 financial statements;   

 (c) Ensure that finance staff at Headquarters exercise greater central 

control and oversight of the preparation of the financial statements and that 

management review at all levels is sufficiently robust to identify material 

misstatements before the financial statements are presented for audit;  

 (d) Derive the 2016 financial statements from the prime books of record 

to the fullest extent possible, making minimal use of spreadsheet accounting.  

21. The Administration informed the Board that the situation it faced in 2015 was 

extraordinary. The need to prepare financial statements using information from 

multiple sources and unexpected complications, such as the failure of Umoja batch 

accounting processes and consequent reliance on labour-intensive manual processes, 

contributed to the unprecedented delays and difficulties experienced. The 

Administration considers that the preparation of the 2016 financial statements will 
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relieve some of the challenges faced in 2015, since Umoja will be the source of 

most of the information for the whole year, and also because the Secretariat expects 

to produce the financial statements using an automated solution. Howe ver, there 

would be other challenges, such as the implementation of Umoja cluster 5 

functionality, which could put the process at risk.  

 

  Financial overview  
 

22. For 2015, an overall surplus of $12.1 million was reported for volume I of the 

financial statements (2014: a deficit of $348.2 million was reported), with total 

revenue of $5,625.2 million (2014: $5,837.1 million) and expenses of $5,613.1 million  

(2014: $6,185.3 million). For the regular budget, actual expenditure incurred was 

$2,854.7 million against a final budget of $2,974.7 million, an underspend of 

$120 million.  

23. Overall, net assets have increased by $815.1 million, from $1,683.7 million as 

at 31 December 2014 to $2,498.8 million as at 31 December 2015. This increase 

mainly reflects actuarial gains on the valuation of employee benefit liabilities of 

$810.1 million. These gains arose predominantly because of changes in assumptions 

made by the actuary when valuing the liabilities. For example, there was a reduction 

from 5 per cent to 4 per cent in the trend rate for non-United States of America 

health-care costs, and other experience adjustments were made by the actuary. 

Overall, employee benefit liabilities were reduced by $605.9 million, from 

$4,786.2 million in 2014 to $4,180.3 million in 2015. These liabilities, however, are 

matched by large assets, such as property, plant and equipment holdings, with a net 

value of $3,216.1 million (2014: $3,322.5 million), and total cash and investments 

of $2,968.1 million (2014: $2,656.8 million).  

24. Much of the $2,968.1 million in cash and investment balances held are 

“restricted” as they relate to balances on project trust funds and in staff insurance 

fund reserves. They are not therefore owned by or available for the discharge of 

regular budget liabilities. Borrowing from the Working Capital Fund was again 

necessary in 2015, and as at the end of the year the balance of the Working Capital 

Fund was exhausted (as is evidenced by the level of cash and investment holdings in 

the regular budget and related funds segment, shown in note 5 to the financial 

statements).  

25. The financial report prepared by the Secretariat and presented in chapter IV 

provides a comprehensive overview of the financial position of the United Nations. 

Overall, although the general fund drew down the entire Working Capital Fund 

balance, the financial health of the United Nations as a whole remains sound, as it 

has sufficient assets to cover its liabilities.  

26. The Board has examined a range of key financial ratios (see table II.2), which 

also confirm that the Organization has sufficient assets overall to meet both short -

term and longer-term liabilities.  
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  Table II.2  

  Financial ratios  
 

Description of ratio  31 December 2015 

31 December 2014 

(restated) 1 January 2014 

    
Current ratio

a
    

Current assets: current liabilities  2.89 2.72 2.53 

Total assets: total liabilities
b
    

Assets: liabilities 1.48 1.29 1.63 

Cash ratio
c
    

Cash + short-term investments: current 

liabilities 1.77 1.50 1.41 

Quick ratio
d
    

Cash + short-term investments + accounts 

receivable: current liabilities 2.57 2.35 2.20 

 

Source: Board analysis of United Nations financial statements (volume I) for 2015.  

 
a
 A high ratio indicates an entity’s ability to pay off its short -term liabilities.  

 
b
 A high ratio is a good indicator of solvency.  

 
c
 The cash ratio is an indicator of an entity’s liquidity by measuring the amount of cash, cash 

equivalents or invested funds there are in current assets to cover current liabilities.  

 
d
 The quick ratio is more conservative than the current ratio because it excludes inventory and 

other current assets, which are more difficult to turn into cash. A higher ratio means a more 

liquid current position.  
 

 

 

 D. Managing resources  
 

 

27. Sound financial management practice demands that managers use money well 

and that resources reach front-line activities rather than being tied up in 

administrative or low-value activities. The Board also emphasized that having a 

deeper understanding of and greater insight into the costs of the activities performed 

will enable the Administration to better analyse, benchmark and manage its costs 

(see A/70/5 (Vol. I), chap. II, para. 36).  

28. The present section provides an update on how the Administration manages 

financial resources, including the regular budget, programme support costs and 

results-based management. The section also includes a commentary on financial and 

asset management in the former United Nations Mission for Ebola Emergency 

Response (UNMEER).  

 

  Regular budget  
 

29. While the United Nations has introduced accruals accounting for the financial 

statements, its budget remains on a cash basis. Consequently, a reconciliation of the 

accruals-based expenditure to the cash-based regular budget out-turn is reported in 

statement V and note 6 to the financial statements and compares, at a summary 

level, to the information previously reported in the statement of appropriations.  

30. The original budget for the biennium 2014-2015 was approved by the General 

Assembly in its resolution 68/248 A at $5.53 billion and subsequently revised, 

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/248
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through resolution 70/240 A, to $5.81 billion in December 2015 on the basis of the 

Secretary-General’s second performance report on the programme budget for the 

biennium (A/70/557) and the associated report of the Advisory Committee on 

Administrative and Budgetary Questions (A/70/619). The final appropriation 

reflected changes in activities approved during the biennium, which increased the 

allotment by $291 million, less savings of $82 million arising from differences 

between assumed and actual rates of inflation and foreign exchange, plus an 

additional $69 million arising from the difference between the actual salary and 

common staff costs compared with the standard costs used in the original estimates 

and the difference between the actual vacancy rates and those originally assumed.  

31. Alongside the variances arising from the actual expenditure against budget 

assumptions, the second performance report provides details of additional 

authorized commitment authorities and unforeseen and extraordinary expenditures. 

The report provides a commentary on these changes, and while some of the 

explanations provided are readily understandable, such as the reasons for the 

decrease of $2.1 million of consultant costs under section 3, Political affairs, other 

explanations are less helpful, as they are generic in nature. For example, the reasons 

given for the increase of $9.9 million in other staff costs under section 34, Safety 

and security, is attributed by the Administration to higher -than-anticipated overtime 

costs without explanation of what gave rise to the unforeseen increase in overtime.  

32. Variances also arose owing to the realignment of the budgeted categories, or 

“objects”, for expenditure recorded in Umoja. For example, in section 33 of the 

budget, the requested reduction to the appropriation for contractual services of 

$38.3 million largely related to a corresponding increase in the appropriation for 

improvement of premises of $33.8 million. In this regard, the Administration should 

ensure that its budgeting codes and financial reporting categories are fully aligned 

to eliminate the need to reallocate budgets for comparative purposes. This would 

then allow a direct comparison between approved appropriations and expenditure 

incurred, enabling greater visibility of real variances between budget and actual 

expenditures.  

33. The Administration informed the Board that during the transitional period in 

which both IMIS and Umoja were in use concurrently, it was not practical to make a 

complete switch to one coding scheme until a new budget  period was fully executed 

within Umoja. However, this will be addressed as part of the budget formulation 

project and will be specifically included in instructions for future bienniums once 

the new functionality has been deployed and the legacy budget sys tem (the Budget 

Information System) has been decommissioned.  

34. Major changes to activities during the biennium included additional 

appropriations for:  

 (a) UNMEER ($75.7 million);  

 (b) Exceptional support to supplement the voluntary financial resources of 

the Extraordinary Chambers in the Courts of Cambodia for 2015 ($12.1 million);  

 (c) The regular budget share for additional Umoja project costs to 

31 December 2015 ($5.5 million).  

http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/240
http://undocs.org/A/70/557
http://undocs.org/A/70/619
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35. The steady increase in the size of final allotments for the United Nations 

regular budget is depicted in figure II.I below. Personnel costs (relating to staff, 

United Nations Volunteers and other non-military personnel) is the biggest cost area 

of the United Nations and has increased from $2.6 billion (60.7 per cent of the total 

budget) in 2006-2007 to $4.1 billion (70.0 per cent) in 2014-2015. This represents 

an increase in the amount of $1.5 billion (58.6 per cent). The Board analysed staff 

costs in its previous report (A/70/5 (Vol. I) and Corr.1) and noted that operating in 

high-cost locations such as Geneva and New York was a contributory factor to the 

increasing cost base of the Organization.  

36. The Board also found that the Administration had limited tools to carry o ut a 

comprehensive expenditure analysis of staff-cost data and was constrained by 

limitations in the completeness, accuracy and integration of the databases of the 

Office of Human Resources Management.  

 

  Figure II.I  

  Regular budget final allotments and corresponding expenditures by biennium  

  (Millions of United States dollars)  
 

Source: Board analysis of Administration’s data.  
 

 

37. For the biennium 2014-2015, actual expenditure against the budget was 

$5.69 billion (see note 6 to the financial statements), resulting in an underspend of 

$120 million. This variance is exceptionally large when compared with the out -turn 

reported in previous bienniums (see figure II.II). Prior to 2014-2015, the largest 

reported underspend in the previous four bienniums was an underspend of 

$50.5 million, in 2008-2009.  

 

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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  Figure II.II  

  Budget underspends, 2004-2005 to 2014-2015  

  (Millions of United States dollars)  
 

 

Source: Board analysis of budget out-turn data.  
 

 

38. As has been the case for the past five bienniums, Political affairs reported the 

largest underspend in 2014-2015, at $66.9 million (2012-2013: $11.5 million 

variance), and accounted for 56 per cent of the total underspend. The Administration 

explained that the large variances in 2014-2015 were driven mainly by movement in 

post adjustment multipliers, events in two countries reflecting high vacancy rates, 

and the cancellation of proposed activities at the request of host Governments or in 

response to a deteriorating security situation.  

39. The financial impact of these events was not, however, taken into account in 

the proposed changes to appropriations requested in the second performance report. 

The second performance report was based on actual expenditure for the first 

21 months of the biennium and therefore such a large underspend should have been 

anticipated. In previous bienniums, the forecast out -turn reported in the second 

performance report had been highly accurate. In its previous report, however, th e 

Board also noted a consistent pattern of underspends against final appropriations by 

special political missions and the absence of any comprehensive reliable data to 

support a thorough analysis of the budgets and costs incurred by those missions. 

The Board reinforces the need to continue to improve financial management and to 

develop a more sophisticated and detailed understanding of the costs of United 

Nations operations.  

40. International and regional cooperation for development (parts IV and V of the 

programme budget) also contributed to the underspend by $11.8 million (2012 -

2013: $6.7 million variance) and $13.9 million (2012-2013: $7.1 million variance), 

respectively. These variances were due primarily to vacancies of posts and a 

reduction in the expenses of experts, achieved by combining trips. Similarly, it is 

unclear why the financial impact of the above was not reflected in the second 

performance report.  
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  Budget monitoring  
 

41. Each biennium, the Administration “recosts” the budget to adjust for changes 

in rates of exchange and inflation and variances between the standard costs used in 

the budget and actual expenditure. Any unforeseen or extraordinary expenses are 

also identified. The Board also noted that significant variances between the figures 

used for the initial and final appropriations for the budget for 2014 -2015 were due 

to changes in salaries and post adjustments.  

42. The detailed monitoring of budget utilization is the responsibility of relevant 

Executive Officers and Heads of Administration. During the reporting period, 

offices could use reports from various information systems, including the Budget 

Information System, IMIS and Umoja, to obtain details on allotments, commitments 

and expenditure. However, this information was not “real-time”, up-to-date 

information owing to the need to consolidate information from the eight instances of 

IMIS, Umoja and other external offices, such as the International Court of Justice. 

The Board considers that these deficiencies may also have contributed to the 

Administration’s failure to foresee the large underspend in 2015.  

43. The Administration has informed the Board that it is not aware of any 

underspend resulting from the lack of information in Umoja. However, with the 

implementation of a new system, during a period of stabilization users do not have a 

full understanding of how to extract and read various data from the new system, and 

some time would be required before users fully understand how the system works. 

The Administration also informed the Board that during 2016 it has developed more 

comprehensive management information to assist in the monitoring of the regular 

budget. These new reports include a summary of expenditure by area, details on 

open commitments for current and previous bienniums, post vacancies and any 

negative balances where funds committed exceed the authorized allotment. The 

Office of Information and Communications Technology and the Umoja team are 

also collaborating with process owners to develop and enhance additional reports 

identified as required.  

44. Although budget performance and expenditures against budget were monitored 

in various ways during 2015, the Board believes that the frequency of monitoring 

should be improved and strengthened, particularly with regard to availability of data 

in Umoja at the global level.  

45. The Board recommends that the Administration develop comprehensive 

reports that allow departments to monitor expenditure against budgets on a 

monthly basis.  

46. The Board also recommends that the Administration ensure that central, 

periodic monitoring of expenditure against budgets is strengthened, and that 

the Office of Programme Planning, Budget and Accounts seek explanations 

from departments when spending is not in line with expectations.  

47. The Board further recommends that known reductions in expenditure be 

fully considered alongside known increases in expenditure during preparation 

of the first and second performance reports.  
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  Income budgets  
 

48. The final programme budget for the biennium 2014-2015 (see General 

Assembly resolution 70/240) includes income estimates for the biennium related to 

staff assessment, general income and services to the public totalling $574.7 million. 

IPSAS requires a comparison of all publicly available budgets with the actual 

amounts expended, which includes anticipated revenues and receipts expected to 

arise in the budget period. However, in statement V, the Administration o nly 

compares out-turn of expenditures against the regular budget. Inclusion of all budget  

income estimates within this budget statement would enhance the transparency of 

the financial information and comply more fully with the requirements of IPSAS. 

The Administration informed the Board that it was not possible to present this 

information in 2015 as the information was not fully available in Umoja.  

49. The Board recommends that the regular budget income estimates and out-

turn be fully disclosed in statement V of the financial statements to ensure 

compliance with IPSAS requirements and to enhance the information available 

to Member States.  

 

  Unliquidated obligations  
 

50. The reported expenditure for the biennium 2014-2015 includes open 

commitments, or “unliquidated obligations”, totalling $164.9 million (3 per cent of 

the total expenditure for the biennium). These obligations reflect the expected costs 

of goods and services received in the financial period but not yet paid and obligate 

funds expected to be required to settle any other outstanding legal obligation of the 

financial period. After 12 months, any remaining balances of obligations are 

cancelled. When examining unliquidated obligations, the Board found that the 

Administration had not provided detailed guidance to its offices and departments on 

how to determine whether an obligation should be retained or cancelled at the end 

of the budget period.  

51. In the 2015 closure instructions, it was recognized that “generally, a 

commitment should only be maintained if a valid contract was in place at 

31 December 2015 and the goods and services were delivered or were expected to 

have been delivered by year-end”. This statement clearly implies that the 

unliquidated obligation should relate to goods and services received during the 

period of the budget. However, the guidance goes on to state “or if the obligating 

event occurred prior to year-end”, which implies that a purchase order signed on 

31 December for the delivery of goods and services in 2016 can also be charged 

against the 2014-2015 budget.  

52. While it is consistent with rule 105.8 of the Financial Regulations and Rules, 

the Board considers that the existing guidance on unliquidated obligations is open to 

differing interpretations and allows for goods and services planned for delivery in 

2016 to be charged against the budget for 2014-2015 (provided a contract is entered 

into by 31 December 2015). The Board considers that this allows scope for 

departments to manipulate budgets and to raise obligations at  year-end to consume 

surplus funds rather than surrender amounts that could not be spent in the biennium.  

http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/240
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53. The Board examined a sample of 30 unliquidated obligations totalling 

$26 million (16 per cent of outstanding obligations) of the total amount of 

$164.9 million of unliquidated obligations, and found three errors:  

 (a) In one case (amounting to $309,000), the purchase order was not 

approved until 2016, so no obligation existed as at 31 December 2015;  

 (b) In two cases (totalling $8,300), the activities were cancelled prior to 

year-end and no obligation therefore existed.  

54. Furthermore, in August 2016, seven months after year-end, of the $164.9 million 

of unliquidated obligations, approximately $96 million had been disbursed and 

$7 million cancelled, leaving $62 million undisbursed. The Board found 1,700 

individual commitments with a total value of $17 million which recorded no activity 

from 1 January 2016. Such a high level of unutilized commitments eight  months 

after year-end indicates that many of these unliquidated obligations may not be 

valid or required in 2016.  

55. The Board examined the level of cancellations since 2006-2007 and found 

that, in three of the four bienniums where information was available, the 

Administration had cancelled 22 per cent of unliquidated obligations recorded at the 

end of the biennium (see figure II.III). The regular cancellation of such a significant 

proportion of unliquidated obligations indicates that there is considerab le scope to 

improve the way in which they are validated at year-end, and also suggests that it is 

highly likely that a significant proportion of unliquidated obligations for the 

biennium 2014-2015 will be unutilized. Where obligations are overstated at the  end 

of the biennium and subsequently cancelled, the release of the associated credits to 

Member States is delayed.  

 

  Figure II.III  

  Cancelled unliquidated obligations, 2006-2013  
 

 

Source: Board analysis of the Administration’s data.  
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56. The Board recommends that the Administration improve scrutiny of open 

commitments at year-end by providing more detailed guidance on how staff 

should establish the need to retain them.  

57. The Board also recommends that the Administration review open 

commitments during the year, in particular at year-end, to challenge any that 

appear to be retained unnecessarily.  

 

  United Nations Mission for Ebola Emergency Response  
 

58. On 31 May 2016, the Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary 

Questions requested that the Board conduct an examination of UNMEER. The 

Board offered to review some aspects of UNMEER operations in its 2015 report and 

to cover remaining areas in 2016. UNMEER was established on 19 September 2014 

to work with others to support the Governments of the affected countries in stopping 

the Ebola outbreak.  

 

  Appropriations and expenditure  
 

59. In April 2016, the Administration reported a final appropriation under 

section 27, Humanitarian assistance (Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian 

Affairs), of $75.7 million for the Mission. Separate appropriations for a further 

$4.5 million were created for the Office of the Special Envoy on Ebola and for six 

departments, including the Department of Peacekeeping Operations, the Office of 

Legal Affairs, the Department of Safety and Security and three offices within the 

Department of Management, to provide backstopping support.  

60. In total, UNMEER-related appropriations included in volume I of the financial 

statements were $80.17 million, and reported expenditure was $79.85 million (see 

table II.3). The expenditure incurred related predominantly to staff costs and general 

operating expenses; for example, these categories accounted for 78.9 per cent of the 

total for the Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs under section 27 of 

the budget.  

61. UNMEER spent 99.6 per cent of the appropriation, reporting an underspend of 

$332,300. Staff costs and general operating expenses accounted for the majority of 

the expenditure incurred. Some residual backstopping costs were not separately 

tracked after the implementation of Umoja, as the Administration did not create 

separate fund commitments in the new system for the six departments providing 

backstopping. However, the Board concludes that the amounts involved are unlikely 

to be significant on the basis of the small charges incurred by these departments up 

to October 2015.  
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  Table II.3  

  United Nations Mission for Ebola Emergency Response appropriations 

and expenditure  

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

Budget section 

Final 

appropriation  Expenditure  

   
27, Humanitarian assistance (OCHA) 75 708.3  75 743.4  

27, Humanitarian assistance (Office of the Special Envoy on Ebola) 2 572.4  2 326.1  

5, Peacekeeping operations 648.0 624.9 

8, Legal affairs 53.4 52.5 

29B, Office of Programme Planning, Budget and Accounts 116.6 116.7 

29C, Office of Human Resources Management 593.5 557.6 

29D, Office of Central Support Services 375.3 324.0 

34, Safety and security 105.0 105.0 

 Total 80 172.5 79 850.2 

 

Source: Administration data.  

Abbreviation: OCHA, Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs.  
 

 

62. In his report on the future of United Nations peace operations (A/70/357-

S/2015/682), the Secretary-General recognized that the administrative framework 

for peace operations was often slow, cumbersome and averse to risk. He identified  

the need for standing administrative measures for start -up and crisis situations, 

drawing on exceptional measures approved in such situations as the Ebola crisis 

response, which covered:  

 (a) The fast-tracking of temporary designations within 24 hours to enable staff 

to perform functions in the management of financial, human and physical resources;  

 (b) Budget and finance, with the Controller delegating authority to qualified 

finance officers to reallocate funds in certain circumstances; for certifying a nd 

approving; for the acceptance of voluntary contributions; and to reduce the overhead 

charge on non-reimbursable loans;  

 (c) Procurement and property management, including authorizing the 

Director of the Procurement Division to enter into contracts not exceeding an initial 

cumulative value of $10 million and various delegations of authority;  

 (d) Human resources management, with various delegations aimed at filling 

vacant positions quickly.  

 

  Disposal and gifting of property  
 

63. For UNMEER, a special delegation of authority was provided to the Special 

Representative of the Secretary-General for UNMEER that permitted the disposal of 

United Nations property, including gifting in the best interests of the United Nations,  

without reference to a property survey board. This authority was subdelegated to the 

Director of Mission Support. However, all disposals authorized under these delegations  

were required, post facto, to be presented to the Headquarters Property Survey Board.   

http://undocs.org/A/70/357
http://undocs.org/A/70/357


A/71/5 (Vol. I) 
 

 

32/288 16-16791 

 

64. The Secretary-General reported that the value of equipment disposals upon 

liquidation of the Mission was $22.4 million. Assets with a cost of $11.0 million 

were transferred to other missions and Secretariat entities, and those with a cost of 

$10.6 million were gifted to third parties, such as other United Nations entities, 

Governments and implementing partners. Assets costing $818,000 were written off. 

However, in 2015, the Administration reported to the Board that it had written off 

UNMEER assets with a cost of $11 million, and other assets were treated as 

transfers and therefore were not formally written off. The assets gifted included 

520 vehicles, with a cost of $11.9 million. Given the relatively high number of asset 

disposals, the Board analysed the assets transferred to the Mission and reviewed the 

procedures applied to subsequently dispose of them.  

65. The Mission received assets from strategic deployment stock or reserves 

totalling $2.2 million and received 638 assets (value: $15.2 million) from other 

missions, including 520 vehicles. An analysis of the assets received from other 

missions and by type of asset is shown in tables II.4 and II.5. In addition, the 

Mission procured assets with a value of $3.6 million.  

66. In its detailed analysis, the Board found that many of the vehicles received 

were at the end of their useful lives; for example, 233 vehicles were fully 

depreciated and, on average, all vehicles had only 7.6 per cent of their residual 

value remaining when received by the Mission.  

 

  Table II.4  

  Analysis of assets received from other missions  
 

Mission 

Cost (thousands of 

United States 

dollars) 

Depreciated value 

(thousands of 

United States dollars) Number of assets 

    
African Union-United Nations Hybrid 

Operation in Darfur 9 827.1 939.2 449 

United Nations Interim Force in Lebanon 1 283.6 68.4  61 

United Nations Disengagement Observer 

Force 1 192.3 177.2 50 

United Nations Organization Stabilization 

Mission in the Democratic Republic of the 

Congo 401.6 229.0 17 

United Nations Support Office for the 

African Union Mission in Somalia 118.9 93.2 14 

United Nations Operation in Côte d’Ivoire  433.9   296.4  13 

United Nations Mission for the 

Referendum in Western Sahara  333.5   150.8  12 

United Nations Mission in South Sudan 270.3   21.1  10 

United Nations Multidimensional 

Integrated Stabilization Mission in Mali  1 282.4   1 126.7  8 

United Nations Logistics Base  31.4   22.5  4 

 Total 15 175.0 3 124.5 638 

 

Source: Board analysis of UNMEER asset records.  
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  Table II.5  

  Analysis of assets received from other missions  
 

Asset category 

Cost (thousands of 

United States 

dollars) 

Depreciated value 

(thousands of 

United States dollars) Number of assets 

    
Communications and IT equipment 3 291 2 219 118 

Vehicles 11 884 905 520 

 Total 15 175 3 124 638 

 

Source: Board analysis of UNMEER asset records.  

Abbreviation: IT, information technology.  
 

 

67. In 2014, 66 vehicles with a depreciated value of $83,000 were donated to third 

parties, and a further 448 (depreciated value: $492,000) were gifted in 2015. In view 

of their low value, the Board is satisfied that the assets gifted and donated were 

generally at the end of their life. The Board found, however, that approval for many 

of the disposal actions occurred post facto, and that formal approval had not been 

obtained from the Director of Mission Support or the Special Representative at the 

actual time of the handover or gifting of the vehicles. For example, 40 vehicles were 

gifted to a Government on 18 November 2014, but the formal approval to gift the 

assets was not sought until 23 December 2014. On 19 February 2015, the Mission 

submitted a report for the post facto approval of the Headquarters Property Survey 

Board for the 2014 disposals as required under the relevant dispensation. The Board 

has confirmed that the assets gifted in 2015 were presented to the Property Survey 

Board for post facto approval.  

68. The Board recommends that the Administration confirm that the 

Headquarters Property Survey Board was presented with information 

concerning the UNMEER assets gifted to other organizations in 2015, and that 

post facto approval was obtained as required.  

 

  Programme support costs  
 

  Background  
 

69. As part of the Board’s continuing examination of costing practices in the 

Secretariat, it has examined the recovery of overhead costs through the charging of 

programme support costs.  

70. In its report on agency support costs of October 1980 (A/35/544 and Corr.1), 

the Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary Questions recommended 

a uniform agency support cost charge at the rate of 13 per cent of annual project 

expenditures, which the General Assembly subsequently approved. The underlying 

principle was to recover additional expenses incurred in supporting activities 

financed from extrabudgetary contributions and to ensure that any additional cost 

was not borne by assessed funds or other core resources.  

 

http://undocs.org/A/35/544
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  Support cost rates  
 

71. The Administration has been considering how best to manage programme 

support costs for many years, and the actual rates chargeable on different activities 

have varied over time. However, in 2012, the Controller established a range of rates 

depending on the type of activity. The rates were:  

 (a) Three per cent for pass-through funds, where the project was to be 

implemented by a third party;  

 (b) Seven per cent for joint United Nations implemented activities;  

 (c) Thirteen per cent for activities implemented by the Secretariat.  

72. At the time the rates were established, they were not based on the known cost 

of supporting programme delivery, but it was anticipated that Umoja functionality 

would facilitate the computation of such indirect costs in the future. The revised 

rates did, however, recognize that different activities impose different costs on the 

Organization, which addressed the inflexibility of the use of a single rate that had 

existed, with some exceptions by special arrangement, since 1980.  

73. The underlying principle that the programme support charges recovered the 

incremental cost of supporting activities was maintained. Incremental costs could 

then be divided into two basic categories:  

 (a) Direct costs that can be readily and directly attributed to activities;  

 (b) Indirect costs, such as Headquarters support functions, that cannot be 

unequivocally traced to specific activities.  

74. The Board found that Secretariat departments treat such costs differently. For 

example, while the country-based pooled funds of the Office for the Coordination of 

Humanitarian Affairs required separate classification of direct and indirect costs, 

there was no detailed supporting guidance on the costs to be included within the 

classifications. This resulted in similar costs being classified differently, limiting the 

usefulness of the information.  

75. During its examination of Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs 

projects, the Board found that the nature of costs included within project budgets 

varied significantly and that some partners included a relatively high proportion of 

“support” staff, including senior management, logistics and cleaning staff, and 

general office running costs, whereas others did not. For example, one project 

examined had costs related to the Chief of Mission, the head of the sub-office and 

clerical assistants for functions such as human resources, finance, administration 

and cleaning totalling $32,700, whereas another project with the same partner had 

no management costs but included administration staff costs totalling $14,200. As a 

result, indirect costs ranging from 5 to 20 per cent were included in the Office’s 

project budgets in addition to programme support costs of 7 per cent. There was 

limited evidence that the Office assessed the reasonableness of the budgets before 

approving them.  

76. The Office informed the Board that budgets are reviewed at the country office 

level, with the support of technical experts from clusters with contextual knowledge 

of the country where the project is implemented to assess whether costs are 
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reasonable. At Headquarters, the Office ensures due diligence and verifies overall 

budget coherence. As some emergency projects are implemented by partners whose 

support costs are already covered, there is no requirement to include these costs, 

while for others, this is not the case. This type of flexibility was considered 

important in the context of humanitarian emergencies.  

77. The Board found that the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for 

Human Rights charged some directly attributable costs (for example, transactional 

charges) to programme support, whereas the Office for the Coordination of 

Humanitarian Affairs, in response to reducing programme support charges from 

13 to 7 per cent, charged indirect costs, such as office rental, proportionately to its 

projects. The Board also found inconsistencies between departments in cost 

classification; for example, monitoring and evaluation was classified by the Mine 

Action Service as personnel costs, whereas the country-based pooled funds 

classified them as general operating costs. The Board also found that programme 

support costs were not charged to 1,000 grants recorded in Umoja. The 

Administration considers that the fact that programme support costs were not 

charged is not indicative of an oversight, as there could be many explanations. In 

some cases, the Controller grants exceptional waivers of programme support costs 

and, in other cases, negotiations with donors on contribution agreements are 

ongoing and the support cost rate may not be finalized.  

78. Such inconsistencies arise because there is no standard definition of cost 

classification or system of cost control and the Administration has not developed a 

methodology to allocate costs to activities accurately and consis tently. Until such 

structures are developed, Umoja will not provide visibility of whether the rates 

charged do in fact fully recover additional costs. In some cases, the rates charged 

may be too high, resulting in an excessive charge to donors for implementing 

activities. However, over time, retained balances of programme support have grown. 

The General Assembly approved revised requirements for the funding of Umoja, 

which included increasing the extrabudgetary component by $8.5 million to 

$88.6 million (see resolution 69/274 A, sect. VI, para. 22). Significant contributions 

came from surplus balances of programme support costs retained by the Office for 

the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs ($11.0 million) and the Department of 

Economic and Social Affairs ($24.8 million), and the balance came from the pooled 

fund for general programme support ($52.7 million).  

79. During 2015, a revised policy for the administration of programme support 

accounts financed from extrabudgetary funds was implemented with the aim of 

harmonizing the existing procedures and strengthening the control environment. The 

main change was to establish a central account for programme support costs rather 

than maintaining separate accounts for offices such as the Office for the 

Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs and the Department of Economic and Social 

Affairs.  

 

  Delivering results (results-based management)  
 

80. The Board performed a review of the implementation of results-based 

management using three case study departments: the Department of Economic  and 

Social Affairs, the Department for General Assembly and Conference Management 

http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/274
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and the Department of Public Information, as well as relevant documentation and 

information systems, focusing on:  

 (a) Progress in implementing results-based management;  

 (b) Managing by results;  

 (c) Measuring and reporting results;  

 (d) Results-based budgeting;  

 (e) Evaluation.  

 

  Objectives of results-based management  
 

81. Results-based management is a management strategy applied by organizations 

to help them to make best use of their resources and achieve their planned 

objectives. When used effectively, results-based management links an organization’s 

inputs, activities and outputs with the outcomes and results expected. It is 

particularly relevant to organizations for which profit is not a key measure of 

performance. Organizations that implement results-based management are generally 

seeking to improve the transparency of performance to stakeholders. Information on 

the results achieved can be used by management to make adjustments to improve 

performance and by governing bodies to hold management to account for its use of 

resources.  

82. In 2006, the General Assembly, in its resolution 60/257, endorsed a 

benchmarking framework for implementing results-based management in the 

Secretariat. Results-based management extends results-based budgeting, which was 

introduced by the Secretariat in the biennium 2002-2003, by extending the focus 

from the budgeting and resource allocation stages of the management cycle to also 

include performance monitoring and evaluation, which then feed back into planning 

for the next management and financial cycle. Seven years after the benchmarking 

framework had been endorsed, the Secretariat presented a revised framework for 

results-based management, which was endorsed by the Assembly in its resolution 

67/253. The Assembly recognized in the resolution, however, that the framework 

required further development.  

83. The Secretariat has not stated or documented its objectives for results -based 

management. By contrast, the programme performance monitoring and reporti ng 

manual (2015) describes the aims of results-based budgeting as being:  

 (a) To enable Member States to assess the effectiveness, impact and 

relevance of programmes in terms of achievement of actual results, thereby 

addressing concerns over a lack of qualitative assessment of programme delivery;  

 (b) To improve the design of programmes and to ensure that the Secretariat 

will work towards achieving results (in the sense of changes and benefits to end 

users and beneficiaries), and not only towards producing outputs or implementing 

activities;  

 (c) To help to determine the most appropriate use of resources.  

 

http://undocs.org/A/RES/60/257
http://undocs.org/A/RES/67/253
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  Progress in implementing results-based management as a strategic process  
 

84. The Department of Management has overall responsibility for the design and 

implementation of results-based management as a strategic management process. Its 

progress in implementing results-based management is reported to Member States in 

the Secretary-General’s annual accountability report. Figure II.IV shows the results -

based management process designed by the Department of Management. The 

overall design contains the following key elements consistent with good practice:  

 (a) Setting the strategic framework to establish the results expected and the 

indicators of performance;  

 (b) Developing the programme budget for the biennium;  

 (c) Monitoring implementation throughout the biennium to enable 

management to adjust activities (within the authority delegated to them);  

 (d) Evaluating results, including progress in achieving intended 

accomplishments, to develop lessons to be learned for the next strategic framework.  

 

  Figure II.IV  

  The results-based management process  
 

 

Source: Second progress report on the accountability system in the United Nations Secretariat (A/67/714) and 

interviews with the Department of Management.  
 

 

85. Individual stages of the results-based management process are delegated to 

“process owners” (see figure II.V). For example, the Controller is responsible for 

the planning and budgeting process and the Office of the Under -Secretary-General 
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for Management is responsible for the monitoring and evaluation process, although 

the actual evaluations are performed by departments and external evaluations are 

performed by OIOS.  

 

  Figure II.V  

  Roles and responsibilities for results-based management  
 

Source: Figure III of document A/67/714 and interviews with the Department of Management.  

Abbreviation: USG, Under-Secretary-General.  
 

 

86. In 2012, the General Assembly requested that results-based management be 

implemented in phases (see resolution 67/253). In response, the Department of 

Management convened a working group, which made nine recommendations to be 

implemented by 2017 (see A/68/697). The Administration has made good progress 

on three recommendations: training on logical frameworks; training on programme 

monitoring and reporting; and production of a results-based management manual.  

87. The remaining six recommendations are set out below. There appeared to be 

only limited progress reported against the recommendations, which are as follows:  

 (a) The Secretary-General should lead a high-level advocacy campaign to 

emphasize to senior managers and staff the need to focus more on achieving clearly 

defined results;  

 (b) The Management Performance Board should emphasize the joint 

assessment of institutional performance and the performance of individual senior 

managers;  

 (c) The Department of Management, in coordination with “process owners”, 

should provide guidelines and training on results-based management and linking 

staff workplans and organizational objectives;  

 (d) Heads of departments and “process owners” should provide training 

courses on evaluation methodologies and techniques;  
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 (e) The Department of Management should develop an e-learning tool on 

results-based management;  

 (f) The Umoja Steering Committee should consider requesting the working 

group to confirm the results-based management business requirements for the 

design of Umoja Extension 2.  

For example, although in the fourth progress report on the accountability system 

(A/69/676) it was described how the Department of Management had trained 

approximately 20 staff in evaluation methodologies, there is no reference to this 

training in the fifth progress report (A/70/668), except to note a lack of available 

resources. Similarly, there is no reference in either progress report to the Secretary -

General’s advocacy campaign.  

88. The Board recommends that the Administration assess the current status 

of implementation of the nine recommendations of the working group and 

report on progress made in the next annual progress report on accountability.  

89. The Administration has not developed a detailed plan to implement results -

based management, as recommended by the Board in 2014 (see A/69/5 (Vol. I), 

chap. II, para. 29). The Administration did not initially accept this recommendation 

but reversed its position in response to the General Assembly’s request for a detailed 

plan, with a fixed time frame and clear milestones, for the implementation of 

results-based management (see resolution 69/272). In December 2015, in the 

Secretary-General’s fifth progress report on accountability (A/70/668), it was stated 

that the Secretariat was continuing to lay the foundation for the effective 

implementation of results-based management. The Administration also stated that 

following the completion of the design of Umoja Extension 2, the Secretariat would 

be in a position to develop a more detailed plan for implementing results -based 

management. The design of Umoja Extension 2 is not due to restart until 2017 at the 

earliest (see A/70/158). In the Board’s view, the development of Umoja Extension 2 

should be an important milestone in the implementation of results -based 

management, but should be part of a wider and more detailed implementation plan 

of the type requested by the Assembly.  

90. The Board reiterates its previous recommendation that the 

Administration establish how and under what time frame it will be able to 

more closely link budget consumption with what was delivered in terms of 

outputs and outcomes; and with this as the aim, set out a detailed plan for 

embedding results-based management as part of business as usual, defining 

clear responsibilities and resources.  

 

  Managing by results in the Secretariat  
 

91. The Department of Management is accountable for the design and 

implementation of results-based management, but each department is accountable 

for delivering results and demonstrating best use of funds. Monitoring progress on a 

frequent basis is critical to management’s ability to take corrective action when it is 

needed and to increase the chances of successfully achieving the results mandated 

by Member States. Individual departments may develop their own internal 

performance measurement frameworks to help to understand and monitor 

performance during the year. However, current information systems and reporting 

http://undocs.org/A/69/676
http://undocs.org/A/70/668
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/272
http://undocs.org/A/70/668
http://undocs.org/A/70/158


A/71/5 (Vol. I) 
 

 

40/288 16-16791 

 

processes focus primarily on producing annual reports to Member States and do 

little to help managers to assess whether they are on target to deliver expected 

results.  

92. Performance is recorded centrally using three measures: expected 

accomplishments, indicators of achievement and outputs. Table II.6 shows 

performance implementing outputs by budget area over the past decade, as reported 

by the Committee for Programme and Coordination. For the biennium 2014-2015, 

the Administration reported an overall average of 94 per cent delivery of mandated 

outputs. Overall policymaking, direction and coordination reports the highest 

performance (98 per cent), and Safety and security the least (68 per cent). This is 

due to the termination of 41 outputs, accounting for 32 per cent of the programmed 

and carried-forward quantifiable outputs of the Department of Safety and Security. 

Although performance by individual departments varies, overall the Secretariat has 

maintained a broadly similar level of performance across the past decade of around 

90 per cent.  

 

  Table II.6  

  Delivery of mandated outputs by budget section (2006-2015)  

  (Percentage)  
 

Budget section 2006-2007 2008-2009 2010-2011 2012-2013 2014-2015 

      
Overall policymaking, direction and coordination 94 90 90 89 98 

Political affairs 77 80 80 85 94 

International justice and law 86 84 82 89 90 

International cooperation for development 91 91 92 92 96 

Regional cooperation for development 93 91 94 93 95 

Human rights and humanitarian affairs 90 90 92 91 92 

Public information 98 98 94 77 97 

Common support services 95 95 94 99 97 

Internal oversight 92 92 88 99 94 

Jointly financed administrative activities and 

special expenses – – – – – 

Capital expenditures – – – – – 

Safety and security 50 71 75 70 68 

Development Account – – – – – 

Staff assessment – – – –  

 Total implementation rate 89 89 90 91 94 

 

Source: Board analysis of reports of the Committee for Programme and Coordination.  
 

 

  Measuring and reporting results  
 

93. For results-based management to be effective, it is essential that the Secretariat 

use a well-rounded set of performance measures that relates to and reflects the main 

expected accomplishments of a department. The measures also need to be helpful to 

managers trying to understand current performance, without being excessive in 
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number to avoid unnecessary effort. Performance also needs to be readily 

measurable and achievable over time to demonstrate progress.  

94. The strategic frameworks of the 29 programmes contain a high number of 

measures. For the biennial programme plan and priorities for the period 2016 -2017 

(A/69/6/Rev.1), there are 208 objectives, 594 expected accomplishments and 1,076 

indicators of achievement. This is a large and potentially resource-intensive number 

of measures to set, monitor and evaluate. A small minority of programmes have low 

numbers of measures. For example, one of the areas of highest expenditure (part B, 

Peacekeeping missions, of programme 4, Peacekeeping operations) has two 

objectives, three expected accomplishments and four indicators. The Department of 

Management (programme 25, Management and support services) has 36 objectives, 

103 expected accomplishments and 170 indicators, the most of any department. 

Overall, programmes have an average of 37 indicators. Guidance produced by the 

Department of Management suggests that there should be no more than two 

indicators for each accomplishment. However, 6 of the 29 programmes average 

more than two indicators for each accomplishment. Similarly, the guidance suggests 

that there be no more than three accomplishments for each objective, but 

10 programmes average more than three for each objective.  

95. Target levels of performance against indicators of achievement need to be 

sufficiently challenging. The Board’s review of a sample of three subprogrammes in 

three case study departments (the Department of Economic and Social Affairs, the 

Department for General Assembly and Conference Management and the Department 

of Public Information) found that overall, departments achieved the target for 44 of 

the 55 indicators (80 per cent). The Department of Economic and Social Affairs hit 

its targets more frequently (94 per cent) than the Department for General Assembly 

and Conference Management (80 per cent) and the Department of Public 

Information (77 per cent). However, many of the Department for General Assembly 

and Conference Management’s targets left no margin for falling short of top 

performance (for example, most targets were to achieve 100 per cent of all 

deadlines and to receive zero complaints from Member States).  

96. The Department for General Assembly and Conference Management stated 

that because performance against some of its indicators relies on the same staff, it 

can be difficult to achieve all targets. For example, the Department provides 

conference services to regional groupings of Member States, but views the meetings 

as extra workload for staff who must also support “as required” and “ca lendar” 

meetings. The Department’s view is that with a fixed level of resources and an 

increasing number of meetings, servicing more meetings of regional groupings 

would be at the expense of the target for “as required” and “calendar” bodies, 

thereby affecting reported performance.  

97. In 2015, the Administration reported some improvement in whether expected 

accomplishments and indicators of achievement were results-oriented for the period 

between 2006-2007 and 2016-2017 (see A/70/80). Accomplishments that met the 

requirement increased from 72 per cent to 80 per cent. For indicators, it rose from 

59 per cent to 64 per cent. Recognizing that there is room for further improvement, 

the Secretary-General proposed focusing on improving the indicators for five 

programmes in 2018-2019 and to improve the remainder “from the biennium 2020-

2021 onwards”.  

http://undocs.org/A/69/6/Rev.1
http://undocs.org/A/70/80
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98. The Board reviewed a sample of nine subprogrammes. Although only 

indicative, the review found expected accomplishments and indicators of expected 

achievement were well designed, results-focused and of improved quality compared 

with the Board’s audit in 2010-2011. However, there remains scope to strengthen 

them further. For example, the expected accomplishment of the Depart ment of 

Economic and Social Affairs under section 9, Economic and social affairs, that “the 

programme of work is effectively managed” does not fit the Department of 

Management’s expectation that accomplishments should represent desired outcomes 

in terms of benefits to end users as a consequence of outputs produced.  

99. The Board recommends that the Administration accelerate its current 

process of strengthening the performance measures used by departments to 

measure and report results.  

100. Departments stated that setting the right indicators could be challenging. Early 

in 2016, the Department of Management coordinated a series of workshops with 

five departments and promulgated a manual designed to support the development of 

strategic frameworks for 2018-2019. Senior managers consulted by the Board stated 

that both exercises were useful.  

101. To track progress over time, departments need to specify consistently the 

achievement expected and the indicators used to assess performance. As this 

analysis is not performed routinely, the Board reviewed a sample of three 

subprogrammes in three departments. The review covered four bienniums (2010 -

2011 to 2016-2017) and found:  

 (a) Reasonable continuity in the use of expected accomplishments over time, 

with 23 of the 29 accomplishments (79 per cent) used for the whole period (see 

table II.7);  

 (b) Less continuity in the indicators used, with only 28 of the 92 indicators 

(30 per cent) used for the whole period (see table II.8).  

102. Although there may be good reason for discontinuing expected achievements 

or introducing new ones, for example, changes in the mandate or earlier 

achievement of expected accomplishments, this level of change can make it difficult 

to evaluate a department’s performance over time. More widely, the Administration 

has implemented the Board’s previous recommendation to revise the performance 

measurement and reporting framework to ensure that annual budget reports provide 

a clear comparison of actual and planned performance of missions (see A/70/5 

(Vol. I), chap. II, para. 163). Although made in the context of special political 

missions, the Administration has implemented this recommendation by improving 

the reporting framework in budget submissions to include planned versus actual 

performance for prior periods.  

 

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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  Table II.7  

  Continuity in use of accomplishments in case study departments, 2010-2011 to 

2016-2017  
 

Department 

Total number of 

accomplishments used 

within period 

Accomplishments 

used throughout 

period 

Accomplishments 

added during period 

Accomplishments 

discontinued during 

period 

     
DESA 12 10 –  2 

DGACM 9 6 1 2 

DPI 8 7 –  1 

 Total 29 23 1 5 

 

Source: Board analysis. 

Note: The results cover a sample of subprogrammes (three in each department) and not the full 

set of subprogrammes.  

Abbreviations: DESA, Department of Economic and Social Affairs; DGACM, Department for 

General Assembly and Conference Management; DPI, Department of Public Information. 
 

 

  Table II.8  

  Continuity in use of indicators of achievement in case study departments, 2010-

2011 to 2016-2017  
 

Department 

Total number of indicators 

used within period 

Indicators used 

throughout period 

Indicators added 

during period 

Indicators 

discontinued during 

period 

     
DESA 37 9 11 17 

DGACM 20 11 6 3 

DPI 35 8 15 12 

 Total 92 28 32 32 

 

Source: Board analysis.  

Note: The results cover a sample of subprogrammes (three in each department) and not the full 

set of subprogrammes.  

Abbreviations: DESA, Department of Economic and Social Affairs; DGACM, Department for 

General Assembly and Conference Management; DPI, Department of Public Information.  
 

 

103. The Secretariat has limited access to good-quality and timely performance 

information to support the reporting of results. The Department of Management uses 

the Integrated Monitoring and Documentation Information System to  produce this 

information on the basis of data input by departments and offices using a variety of 

data sources. The System was originally designed to track the delivery of outputs in 

the Department of Economic and Social Affairs and was not intended to support the 

implementation of results-based management across the Secretariat. Staff 

interviewed by the Board stated that using the Integrated Monitoring and 

Documentation Information System is labour-intensive and requires departments to 

manually input performance information generated by other means. The Board was 

also informed that the system is not user-friendly and that this had contributed to a 

high turnover of staff fulfilling that role in departments. The Department of 

Management estimates that it will continue to train over 200 people each year to use 



A/71/5 (Vol. I) 
 

 

44/288 16-16791 

 

the Integrated Monitoring and Documentation Information System until it is 

replaced by Umoja Extension 2.  

 

  Results-based budgeting  
 

104. Although achieving results is of primary importance, it should be 

proportionate to cost. It is important to link performance to expenditure, especially 

when deciding how best to allocate resources and target areas for improvement. To 

address this, results-based budgeting was introduced to the Secretariat in 2002-2003 

following the General Assembly’s endorsement of the gradual and incremental 

introduction of results-based budgeting (see resolution 55/231). 

105. The use of results-based budgeting in the Secretariat is problematic, as 

information on the performance achieved in the previous biennium is not available 

when Member States are asked to approve the budget for the next biennium. For 

example, for the biennium 2016-2017, departments submitted their proposed 

strategic frameworks to the Department of Management in January 2014 for 

consideration by the Committee for Programme and Coordination in June 2014 and 

approval by the Fifth Committee in December 2014. Departments did not prepare 

their budgetary proposals for the biennium 2016-2017 until January 2015. These 

were then considered by the Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary 

Questions in June 2015 and approved by the Fifth Committee in December 2015. 

Under this process, the most recent performance information available to Member 

States when approving the budget for 2016-2017 was from the biennium 2012-2013.  

106. Although perhaps the easiest to monitor, the use of outputs as a performance 

measure could be misleading, and the link between expenditure and outputs can be 

difficult to demonstrate. Outputs vary considerably in terms of cost and how they 

contribute to achieving results. For example, the Interpretation Service in New York 

of the Department for General Assembly and Conference Management is vital to 

supporting the work of Member States and employs the equivalent of 130 staff out 

of a total of 1,830 staff budgeted for in the biennium 2014-2015. However, 

translation services are counted as only one unit of output, in contrast to the rest of 

the Department, whose services deliver some 2,000 outputs between them.  

 

  Evaluation  
 

107. Evaluation of the contribution made by programmes to the expected results is 

a key part of the results-based management cycle. Departments are expected and 

funded to carry out self-evaluations and to apply lessons learned from external 

evaluations carried out by OIOS. The programme performance monitoring and 

reporting training manual states that departments should typ ically devote between 

approximately 2 and 5 per cent of total programme resources to monitoring, self -

assessment and analysis. The Board can find no supporting rationale for these 

percentages and notes that the $50.8 million appropriated for evaluation and  

monitoring for the entire Secretariat in the biennium 2014-2015 and the 

$61.2 million requested in the biennium 2016-2017 represent only 1 per cent of the 

total budget for those periods.  

108. In 2015, OIOS reported that while evaluation had improved in the Secretariat, 

capability was concentrated in a small number of entities and that previous gaps 

persisted, including uneven coverage, insufficient resources, inadequate staff 

http://undocs.org/A/RES/55/231
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competencies and limited buy-in from senior management and staff (see A/70/72). 

The Administration stated that OIOS resources are not sufficient to allow an 

external evaluation of all programmes on a regular basis.  

109. Although there is not a prescribed model to follow, some departments have 

nonetheless undertaken self-evaluations. For example, the Department of Public 

Information has a long-established evaluation unit that completes one major 

evaluation of a communication initiative a year and also supports other staff to 

perform their own self-evaluations. The work of the unit, at a proposed cost of 

$1.6 million in the biennium 2016-2017, is used to brief managers and to inform 

senior-level decision-making.  

110. By contrast, the Department of Management has no established evaluation 

unit. This is despite the five main offices comprising the Department having 

proposed a combined monitoring and evaluation budget for the biennium 2016 -2017 

of $5.6 million to perform activities such as the ethical behaviour self-assessment 

survey or the survey of senior managers’ compacts. In 2015, the Department 

completed two of three planned self-evaluation pilots (on mobile phones and 

compliance with performance management), concluding that “self-evaluations 

should be conducted by skilled practitioners who are dedicated solely or in part to 

this purpose rather than lay people with limited training whose time is fully 

occupied with non-related tasks” (see A/70/668, para. 21).  

111. Overall, when considering the issues noted above by the Secretariat in general, 

and by OIOS in particular, the Board considers that the Administration needs to 

make better use of funds requested for monitoring and evaluat ion.  

112. The Board recommends that the Administration set out a detailed plan for 

how it can make best use of current resources to improve evaluation across the 

Secretariat, including the level and types of reviews it needs to undertake, the 

skills and capacity required to perform them, and how it can learn lessons from 

existing approaches to cost-effectively support staff to perform self-evaluations 

through, for example, training staff in standard evaluative tools and techniques.   

 

 

 E. Managing the estate  
 

 

  Size and importance of the estate  
 

113. The United Nations estate is a high-value, global operation consisting of some 

1.5 million square metres of (office and conference) space: this represents an 

increase from 1 million square metres in 1990. There are 123 owned buildings and 

35 leased buildings, accommodating 17,840 Secretariat staff and 9,960 other United 

Nations staff in 30 cities across the world. Historically, there has been limited 

understanding of the global estate, but improvements have been made following the 

strategic capital review and the introduction of the Umoja real estate management 

module. Figure II.VI shows that three quarters of the total area occupied by the 

United Nations is based in the large offices in Vienna, Geneva and New York, which 

accommodate two thirds of United Nations staff.  
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  Figure II.VI  

  Size and distribution of the global estate  
 

Source: Administration’s data.  

Notes: 

 1. Total area aggregated from building floor areas measured in terms of gross external/internal 

area.  

 2. Number of staff includes staff of the Secretariat, as well as specialized agencies, funds, 

programmes and other United Nations-affiliated entities.  

 3. Segmentation based on total area leased (donated right to use or commercial) or owned.  

Abbreviations: ECA, Economic Commission for Africa; ECLAC, Economic Commission for 

Latin America and the Caribbean; ESCAP, Economic and Social Commission for Asia and 

the Pacific; ESCWA, Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia; UNHQ, United 

Nations Headquarters; UNOG, United Nations Office at Geneva; UNON, United Nations 

Office at Nairobi; UNOV, United Nations Office at Vienna.  
 

 

114. Strategic management of the global estate is critical to the Organization’s 

ability to achieve its objectives. In addition to delivering best value for money from 

a significant asset, a well-managed estate enables the United Nations to provide a 

safe, fit-for-purpose and productive environment for staff and delegates. 

Conversely, a poorly managed estate can result in:  

 (a) Higher than necessary direct property costs owing to low utilization rates 

or unnecessarily locating operations in expensive cities;  

 (b) Limited flexibility to relocate operations in response to emerging needs 

by “tying” the Organization to fixed locations;  

 (c) Reduced effectiveness of staff and delegates through premises that are 

not “fit for purpose” owing to poor configuration of space to match business needs;  

 (d) Placing staff and delegates at risk through premises that are unsafe or in 

such poor condition as to represent an unhealthy and unpleasant environment to 

work in.  
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  Previous work by the Board  
 

115. The Board’s previous reports on the financial statements as reported in 

volume I, its annual reports and the lessons learned paper on the capital master plan 

and its coverage of the strategic heritage plan contain findings and 

recommendations relevant to wider management of the estate. The current status of 

extant recommendations is included in the relevant reports, but previous 

recommendations have included the need to:  

 (a) Develop a global estates strategy;  

 (b) Improve information on the condition and value of the estate;  

 (c) Define an approach to long-term asset management;  

 (d) Make the best use of office space through flexible workplace strategies;  

 (e) Commence independent project assurance of capital projects;  

 (f) Develop a United Nations approach to managing major projects.  

116. The Board has reviewed progress made in strengthening estates management 

by analysing information on the size and composition of the estate, assessing the 

role of the Office of Central Support Services and surveying estates managers in  

eight key locations: United Nations Headquarters in New York; three offices away 

from Headquarters, namely, the United Nations Office at Nairobi, the United 

Nations Office at Geneva and the United Nations Office at Vienna; and four 

regional economic commissions, namely, the Economic Commission for Latin 

America and the Caribbean (ECLAC), the Economic Commission for Africa (ECA), 

the Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia (ESCWA) and the Economic 

and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP).  

 

  Characteristics of the estate  
 

117. The characteristics of the estate vary from duty station to duty station, 

affecting the priorities facing estates managers as a result of factors including:  

 (a) Ownership. Premises can be owned, commercially leased, leased to 

other organizations or donated by host countries;  

 (b) Age and condition. Premises range between relative new builds to 

properties over 50 years old; some properties have undergone extensive renovation 

programmes, while others are awaiting renovation;  

 (c) Host country support. In addition to donating properties outright, host 

countries can offer other types of support, including preferential loans to finance 

construction projects and payment of commercial rents or operating costs.  

118. Although the first two factors are common to any global estate, the 

involvement of host countries can introduce additional factors that United Nations 

estates managers need to take into account. Recent examples of support from host 

countries include the provision of interest-free loans or funding for capital projects 

or operating costs, and free or subsidized office accommodation.  
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  Value of the estate  
 

119. The Administration estimates that as at 31 December 2015, the total gross 

replacement cost of its buildings is $3.57 billion, with an additional $182 million 

relating to infrastructure assets. Table II.9 shows that the most costly buildings are 

found in the newly renovated Headquarters in New York (50 per cent) and in 

Geneva (30 per cent).  

 

  Table II.9  

  Value of buildings as reported by the Administration  

  (Millions of United States dollars)  
 

Location Gross replacement cost 

  
United Nations Headquarters (New York) 1 768 

United Nations Office at Geneva 1 079 

Economic Commission for Africa 277 

Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific 142 

United Nations Office at Vienna 137 

United Nations Office at Nairobi 101 

Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean 62 

Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia 0.2 

 Total 3 565 

 

Source: Administration’s data. 

Notes: 

1. Does not add up owing to rounding. 

2. Replacement cost value as at 31 December 2015. 
 

 

120. Figure II.VII shows that as at 31 December 2015, the “book value” (estimated 

value less accumulated depreciation) as a proportion of value of owned buildings 

across the duty stations ranges from 16 to 81 per cent. A low book value often 

reflects significant maintenance costs or sizeable capital investment at some point in 

the future. Conversely, the high net book value for Headquarters reflects the ongoing  

$2.3 billion investment to modernize the campus through the capital master plan.  
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  Figure II.VII  

  Net book value as a percentage of the replacement value (as at 

31 December 2015)  

  (Percentage)  
 

 

Source: Board analysis of the Administration’s data.  

Note: Percentages reflect overall book value of duty stations; book value of individual buildings within a campus 

can vary widely.  
 

 

121. Duty stations also lease space to other United Nations organizations. For 

example, the Administration is forecasting $31 million of rental income in 2016, 

with Headquarters generating $14 million, followed by Nairobi ($8.3 million) and 

ESCAP ($3.8 million). Pursuant to General Assembly resolution 41/213, duty 

stations are required to charge tenants market rates. In New York, the Secretariat 

charges tenants $96 per square foot annually, of which $75 is rent and 

$21 maintenance. The Board notes that this is higher than the $53 average cost per 

square foot that the Secretariat pays its own commercial landlords. However, there 

is no standard approach or requirement for duty stations to revise rental rates on the 

basis of market conditions; the New York rates were revised in 2015 for the first 

time in six years.  

122. The Board recommends that the Administration ensure that the rental 

charge is an accurate representation of current market rates in each location.   

 

  Understanding performance  
 

123. Effective estates management requires reliable and up-to-date information. 

The present section details progress to date and further improvements that could be 

made to enable performance benchmarking across duty stations.  
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  Quality of information  
 

124. The Administration’s understanding of the estate is increasing, but the quality 

of data could be improved. Umoja provides a single, central database of property 

assets that is accessed easily by duty stations. However, a comparison of Umoja 

data and the information supplied to the Board during its audit highlighted 

inconsistencies in the reported size of the estate. For example, the Administration 

informed the Board that the size of the main building of ECLAC was 14,650 m
2
, 

whereas Umoja records the size as 18,306 m
2
, a variance of 25 per cent. Table II.10 

shows that there are issues with the consistency and completeness of data for 

buildings across the United Nations estate.  

 

 

  Table II.10  

  Variance in data on building sizes contained in Umoja and the Administration’s 

global overview  

  (Percentage)  
 

Duty station All buildings Owned buildings Leased buildings 

    
ECA -1 –  -48 

ECLAC -4 15 -95 

ESCAP 208 447 -10 

ESCWA – – – 

UNOG -6 – – 

UNON –  – – 

UNOV – – – 

UNHQ 15 10 28 

 

Source: Board analysis of the Administration’s data.  

Notes:  

1.  The “Global overview” is an internal management document that provides a snapshot of 

ownership and lease arrangements. Previous iterations have provided content for progress 

reports on the strategic capital review.  

2.  Umoja does not have leased data for UNOG and UNOV.  

3.  For ESCAP, the high variance for owned buildings reflects a suspected data input error.  

4.  For ECLAC, owned buildings are recorded in Umoja as both gross external and gross 

internal area.  

Abbreviations: UNHQ, United Nations Headquarters; UNOG, United Nations Office at Geneva; 

UNON, United Nations Office at Nairobi; UNOV, United Nations Office at Vienna.  
 

 

125. Data inconsistencies can arise after implementing an enterprise resource 

planning system, and it can take time to develop the skills and capabilities to use the 

new information available. The Board is concerned by the size of the variances in 

the data held on estates. The variances could reflect underlying errors in either data 

source, but it is critical that the data in Umoja be accurate if they are to be seen as 

credible and useful to estates managers.  

126. The Board recommends that the Administration review the completeness 

of data in the Umoja real estate module and ensure that adequate controls are 

in place to assure data quality.  
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  Utilization rates  
 

127. The Administration does not routinely track space utilization, that is, how 

many staff actually use the space in each location at any one time. Without 

information on utilization, it is difficult for management to assess whether the size 

and cost of the estate is appropriate or whether assets are being used effectively. The 

Umoja real estate management module does not yet include utilization rates or 

distinguish between office and conference space. Although only limited information 

is available, analysis indicates wide differences in the amount of space per United 

Nations staff member across locations (see table II.11). The extent of these 

differences suggests that space could be better used in a number of locations. For 

example, the estimated amount of space per staff member ranges from 32m
2
 in the 

United Nations Office at Nairobi to 108 m
2
 in the United Nations Office at Geneva. 

The Office at Nairobi hosts the same number of staff as the Office at Geneva in an 

area approximately a third of the size.  

 

  Table II.11  

  Estimated average space per United Nations staff member across duty stations  
 

Duty station Total area (m2) Number of United Nations staff Space per staff member (m2) 

    
ECA 113 000 2 650 42.6 

ECLAC 31 000 850 36.5 

ESCAP 120 000 2 000 60.0 

ESCWA 44 000 450 97.8 

UNHQ 334 000 8 850 37.7 

UNOG 377 000 3 500 107.7 

UNON 112 000 3 500 32.0 

UNOV 379 000 6 000 63.2 

 

Source: Board analysis of the Administration’s data.  

Notes:  

1.  Area includes conference space and visitor facilities.  

2.  United Nations staff numbers include specialized agencies, funds and programmes.  

3.  Leased accommodation in economic commissions includes sub -offices.  

Abbreviations: UNHQ, United Nations Headquarters; UNOG, United Nations Office at Geneva; 

UNON, United Nations Office at Nairobi; UNOV, United Nations Office at Vienna.  
 

 

128. Table II.12 shows that estimated capital expenditure per staff member and per 

square metre also vary between duty stations and across bienniums.  
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  Table II.12  

  Capital expenditure on accommodation per staff member and per square metre 

for the bienniums 2012-2013 and 2014-2015  

  (United States dollars)  
 

 2012-2013  2014-2015 

 Expenditure per staff member Expenditure per m2 Expenditure per staff member Expenditure per m2 

     
UNHQ 2 600 70 1 900 49 

UNOG 5 400 50 17 100 158 

UNOV 600 10 600 9 

UNON 1 600 49 1 900 58 

ECA 1 100 27 2 400 56 

ECLAC 2 800 77 3 000 82 

ESCAP 1 600 27 1 300 22 

ESCWA 900 9 13 000 133 

 

Source: Board analysis of section 33 of the programme budget.  

Notes:  

1. Excludes renovation projects or capital expenditure outside of section 33.   

2.  Assumes that staff numbers and area of estates are static across the bienniums.   

3.  Expenditure per staff rounded to nearest $100.  

Abbreviations: UNHQ, United Nations Headquarters; UNOG, United Nations Office at Geneva; 

UNON, United Nations Office at Nairobi; UNOV, United Nations Office at Vienna.  
 

 

129. In the absence of agreed space standards across the estate, the Administration 

uses local space standards to define space efficiency, leading to differences between 

duty stations. For example, the capital master plan implemented office space 

guidelines that resulted in an average workspace of 20.4 m
2
 for staff in the 

Secretariat building. In Geneva, the latest space occupancy data as at May 2016 

indicate an average workspace for staff of 22.4 m
2
. In ESCAP, it is 24.0 m

2
 per staff 

member. These standards compare favourably and even appear generous when 

compared to standards enjoyed by some public bodies.  

130. The Administration needs to improve urgently its understanding of utilization 

rates. Only Headquarters in New York has undertaken a comprehensive, point -

in-time space utilization study by observing the percentage of time that desk space 

was occupied across owned and leased buildings. The analysis found that on 

average, 38 per cent of assigned work spaces were being utilized during the day at 

Headquarters and that peak utilization rose only to 48 per cent. This level of 

utilization represents an opportunity to drive further value by reducing the need for 

expensive rental accommodation in Manhattan. If the findings were replicated 

elsewhere, the Organization could make significant savings across the globe.  

131. The Board recommends that the Administration perform utilization 

studies across the main locations of the Secretariat to identify the required size 

and composition of the estate to better support future requests for funding.   

132. The Administration informed the Board that the functionality to track 

utilization rates is included in the scope and requirements of Umoja Extension 2. 
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The Board notes that while this will provide a single repository, the data will still 

need to be collected as recommended.  

 

  Cost management  
 

133. In its previous report, the Board concluded that the Administration should 

develop appropriate data analytics, costing methodologies and approaches to gain a 

deeper understanding of its underlying costs. The Board considers that the 

Administration should use this information to ensure that it benchmarks and 

measures costs in a way that promotes increased cost consciousness, improved value 

for money and a culture of continuous improvement in financial management 

practices. No such measures or benchmarks are used to manage the costs of the 

United Nations estate.  

134. There is no standard approach to reporting operating costs of the estate across 

different duty stations, making it challenging for stakeholders to use the information 

currently presented to compare costs on a like-for-like basis. For example, New 

York provides the most comprehensive breakdown, including separation of the cost 

of rent, maintenance, minor alterations and cleaning. The offices at Geneva and 

Vienna group these categories into a single “general operating cost”. While 

Headquarters and offices away from Headquarters report utilities as a separate cost 

item, the economic commissions do not generally provide a breakdown.  

135. The Board recommends that the Administration establish standard cost 

categories for use by each duty station to improve transparency and enable 

reporting of “cost of the estate per staff member” at each location.  

136. In contrast to operating costs, there is an established and consolidated forma t 

for capital expenditure in duty stations. Construction, alteration, improvement and 

major maintenance are reported in section 33 of the programme budget. This 

includes works that substantially alter or improve facilities and infrastructure; repair 

and replace installations or systems; or maintain facilities and services in good 

working order. However, some duty stations capture maintenance activities in 

capital expenditure, and others in operational budgets. For Headquarters, for 

example, section 33 includes recurring expenditure, such as plumbing, maintenance, 

carpentry and painting. It reports electrical maintenance in both the operational 

budget for Headquarters ($2.4 million) and in section 33 ($1.8 million). Garden 

maintenance for the United Nations Office at Nairobi is included in the operational 

budget, whereas for Headquarters it is included in section 33. The Administration 

did not provide an explanation for these differences in approach.  

137. The Board recommends that the Administration establish a standard 

format for proposing maintenance budgets to improve comparability across 

duty stations.  

 

  Energy efficiency  
 

138. There is no requirement to report centrally on energy efficiency, although it is 

a benefit usually articulated in proposals for capital projects. All duty stations have 

undertaken or plan to undertake works to deliver better energy efficiency and, as 

part of the initiative for a climate-neutral United Nations, collect annual data on 

greenhouse gas emissions across the estate. Figure II.VIII shows that since 2008, 
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there has been an overall downward trend in greenhouse gas emissions reported. 

ESCAP and the United Nations Office at Geneva have reported significant 

reductions in recent years. There have been upward trends reported in the United 

Nations Office at Nairobi and ESCWA.  

 

  Figure II.VIII  

  Trends of duty stations’ facility-related emissions per surface area, 2008-2014  

  (Carbon dioxide equivalent, kg CO2 eq./m2)  
 

 

Source: United Nations Environment Programme, Moving towards a climate neutral UN (2009 to 

2015 eds.).  

Abbreviations: UNHQ, United Nations Headquarters; UNOG, United Nations Office at Geneva; 

UNON, United Nations Office at Nairobi; UNOV, United Nations Office at Vienna.  
 

 

  Benchmarking performance  
 

139. Overall, the adoption of IPSAS, the strategic capital review and  the 

introduction of the Umoja real estate management module have improved the 

Administration’s understanding of the size, value and condition of the estate. 

However, the Administration needs to develop a consistent set of key metrics to 

manage performance and enable benchmarking. Although particular characteristics 

might require local flexibility, a common performance scorecard of key metrics 

applied globally and consistently would improve the transparency and comparability 

of performance across the estate.  

140. Common metrics used by other organizations include: utilization rates; energy 

efficiency; the cost of the estate as a percentage of organizational running costs; the 

cost of the estates function per total full-time equivalents at each location; the 
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number of critical incidents; the number of professionally qualified estates 

managers; and user satisfaction. Only the United Nations Office at Geneva provided 

evidence that it surveyed users on the appearance and cleanliness of different types 

of rooms, the quality of repairs and maintenance services and the quality of space 

management. ESCAP informed the Board that it was preparing a campus -wide 

survey.  

141. The Board recommends that the Administration design a common set of 

performance metrics to help to benchmark performance across each duty station.  

142. Performance measures reported to Member States are inconsistent and do not 

allow for comparative analysis or performance benchmarking across duty stations. 

Although Headquarters and offices away from Headquarters use the same expected 

accomplishment, “enhanced quality and timeliness of facilities services”, it is not 

measured consistently. The United Nations Office at Nairobi measures the number 

of malfunctions, whereas all other locations measure turnaround times. The target 

for turnaround times also varies between Headquarters (75 per cent), Geneva 

(96 per cent) and Vienna (99 per cent). There is no formal reporting for regional 

economic commissions.  

143. The Board recommends that the Administration design a common set of 

performance measures to improve consistency of reporting to Member States.  

 

  Strengthening estates management  
 

144. In 2011, the Secretariat engaged external consultants to assess the governance, 

policies and procedures for estates management as part of a readiness assessment 

for implementing IPSAS at Headquarters. The consultants found that a lack of 

uniform policy had led to: inconsistency in policies and processes across duty 

stations; poor-quality data; inadequate systems; and inconsistent definitions of asset 

manager functions.  

145. The Office of Central Support Services is responsible for: (a) providing 

technical guidance and advice for the planning and implementation of construction 

projects; and (b) establishing policy, guidelines and procedures for property 

management. In practice, duty stations have freedom in each location to best 

organize themselves and manage performance of the estate. In recent years, the 

Office has worked successfully with estates management functions in the eight 

major United Nations locations to improve consistency across duty stations. The 

Office has created a single property management framework, which includes 

training and certification on reporting fixed assets and real estate valuation. It has 

also issued a new administrative instruction for the management of property 

(ST/AI/2015/4) and established the Inter-Agency Network of Facilities Managers 

which includes other organizations such as the World Bank. The Network holds an 

annual conference to discuss facilities management concerns, and also performed a 

limited benchmarking exercise in 2012 and 2016.  

146. More widely, the Office of Central Support Services has taken forward a 

number of well-received initiatives intended to improve estates management, 

including:  

 (a) Developing thinking on long-term asset management, including the 

strategic capital review;  

http://undocs.org/ST/AI/2015/4
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 (b) Strengthening the management of capital projects by producing 

guidelines for managing capital projects, and initiating independent project assurance.   

 

  Long-term asset management and the strategic capital review  
 

147. Unlike most organizations with large real estate portfolios, until now the 

United Nations has not followed a recognized whole-life asset management 

approach to maintaining the estate. Instead, it adopted a mainly reactive “run to fail” 

policy, investing only when the building or plant and machinery required essential 

maintenance and repairs. A notable example is Headquarters in New York, which 

deteriorated and fell out of line with legislative standards, normal industry practice 

and its users’ needs to such an extent that it required $2.3 billion of investment in 

the capital master plan.  

148. The strategic capital review was the first step to developing a long -term asset 

management plan for the global estate by developing a fuller picture of its condition 

and likely capital maintenance requirements. Duty stations surveyed by the Board 

were supportive of the review and the role of the Office of Central Support Services 

in coordinating it, viewing it as a fundamental planning tool. Three of the duty 

stations surveyed identified the review as the de facto local estate plan. The United 

Nations Office at Nairobi used the review process to hold consultation workshops 

with clients and departments to determine current and future business needs. The 

Administration has performed life-cycle replacement analysis, proposing its first 

20-year rolling capital programme at an average cost of $130 million per biennium. 

Analysis of section 33 of the regular budget
1
 shows that this is a significant increase 

from the historical average of $80 million per biennium since 2002-2003 (see 

figure II.IX). The historical average represents an annual reinvestment rate of 

1.4 per cent against gross replacement cost, compared to good practice of 2-3 per 

cent.
2
 This has led to postponed maintenance, resulting in the deterioration of 

buildings, the requirement for emergency repairs and the need for periodic large -

scale construction projects. Capital expenditure reported in section 33  does not 

reflect the total capital budget as it excludes large-scale, multi-year projects such as 

the strategic heritage plan and the renovation of Africa Hall. When these costs are 

included, total capital investment in 2014-2015 increases by $84 million to 

$187 million, although the life-cycle maintenance costs for these buildings was 

included in the strategic capital review’s $130 million estimate.  

 

  

__________________ 

 
1
  Section 33 includes two main categories: (a) alterations and improvements, that is, projects that 

would substantially alter or improve facilities or infrastructure (excluding major projects); and 

(b) major maintenance, that is, projects to maintain facilities and infrastructure such as heating 

and air conditioning, plumbing and painting.  

 
2
  Good practice cited in the report of the Secretary-General on the strategic capital review 

(A/69/760). 

http://undocs.org/A/69/760
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  Figure II.IX  

  Capital investment in the estate  

  (Millions of United States dollars)  
 

 

Source: Board analysis of budget submissions.  
 

 

149. The strategic capital review provides the Administration with an informed 

estimate of likely costs of long-term capital requirements, but long-term funding 

arrangements are not yet in place to meet those costs. The Board’s paper on lessons 

learned from the capital master plan details options ranging from a separate multi -year 

capital reserve “sinking fund” to a run-to-fail approach (see A/71/5 (Vol. V), 

annex I). In 2016, the Administration stated that it was no longer pursuing the 

option of a capital reserve fund in the light of General Assembly resolutions 

pursuant to which any potential proposal with budgetary implications stemming 

from the strategic capital review should follow the procedures set out in the  

Financial Regulations and Rules of the United Nations. The Financial Regulations 

and Rules require the Administration to present proposals as part of the regular 

budget process of no more than two years or present stand-alone proposals separate 

from the programme budget.  

150. It is not uncommon for international organizations to have a dedicated fund for 

managing and investing in estate management; for example, the World Health 

Organization operates a real estate fund, and the World Meteorological Organiz ation 

operates special accounts: the building fund, to finance future requirements, and the 

new building maintenance reserve, to supplement maintenance funds. The Board 

notes that the Vienna International Centre campus has a common fund for financing 

major repairs and replacements of buildings, facilities and technical installations. 

The budget for the fund is based on a five-year forecast of needs that is financed 

50 per cent by contributions from the host Government and 50 per cent by 

contributions from the four organizations using the campus.  

http://undocs.org/A/71/5(Vol.V)
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  Delivering capital projects  
 

151. It is not unusual that an estate of the age, scale and composition of that held by 

the United Nations requires a continuous programme of capital works to maintain 

and upgrade properties. Figure II.X shows that the Secretariat has a significant 

pipeline of capital works across all duty stations, including: the ongoing capital 

master plan; the strategic heritage plan in Geneva; the renovation of Africa Hall in 

Addis Ababa; and modernization works in Santiago, Bangkok and Nairobi.  

 

  Figure II.X  

  Future construction activity by duty station (2016 onwards)  
 

 

Source: Administration’s data.  

Note: Excludes alterations and improvement projects under section 33 (capital expenditures) of programme budget.  
 

 

152. The role of Headquarters in coordinating and supporting overseas construction 

projects continues to be enhanced. In its resolution 63/263, the General Assembly, 

requested the Secretary-General to clearly outline the interaction between the 

Secretariat in New York and other duty stations for construction and long -term 

renovation projects. In 2009, the Secretary-General proposed a dedicated resource 

to provide guidance and advice to local project teams through the planning and 

construction of major facilities-related projects at offices away from Headquarters 

(see A/64/6 (Sect. 28D)/Add.1). In response to concerns over cost and time overruns 

in capital projects, the General Assembly has repeatedly mandated an enhanced role 

for the Office of Central Support Services in the delivery of construction projects 

across the global estate. Most recently, in its resolution 70/248 A, the Assembly 

http://undocs.org/A/RES/63/263
http://undocs.org/A/64/6(Sect.28D)
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/248
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emphasized that the Office should be active in providing central oversight and 

supervision of capital projects, including risk management.  

153. The Overseas Property Management Unit of the Office of Central Support 

Services is the unit responsible for improved oversight of construction projects. In 

2010, the Unit was involved in ongoing construction works that totalle d 

$48 million, which by 2016 had increased to over $900 million. The Board is 

concerned that the Unit may no longer have the requisite level of resources 

available to fulfil its mandate. Only four posts are allocated to oversee and provide 

assurance of the pipeline of projects described above.  

154. The Board recommends that the Administration review the current resource 

model for the Overseas Property Management Unit and determine whether it 

has the capacity and skills to fulfil current and future levels of demand.  

155. The Board has highlighted previously that the United Nations does not have a 

defined approach to delivering major projects, including capital projects (see A/68/5 

(Vol. V)). In response, the Overseas Property Management Unit has developed 

guidelines for the management of large-scale construction projects. The 130-page 

guidelines were issued in January 2016 to assist project teams in providing effective 

project management by defining:  

 (a) Organizational processes across each phase of the project life cycle;  

 (b) Roles and responsibilities, including those outside of the United Nations, 

throughout the phases;  

 (c) Best practice and lessons learned from previous construction projects.  

156. In the Board’s view, the guidelines are a positive development. If adopted by 

project teams, they could make a valuable contribution to improving the 

management of capital projects by addressing some of the long-held concerns 

highlighted in the Board’s reports on the capital master plan. Such concerns 

included the need to maintain costed risk registers; and the use of contingency, 

including a documented and controlled procedure that includes authorization, 

monitoring and reporting. However, at the time of audit, the guidelines were 

advisory, with no administrative instruction to enforce their use.  

157. The Board recommends that the Administration formalize use of the 

Overseas Property Management Unit project management guidelines on all 

major construction projects.  

 

  Global estates strategy  
 

158. The Board has recommended previously that the Administration implement an 

overall strategy for the use of office space (see A/63/5 (Vol. I), chap. II, paras. 196-

201). In the absence of a global strategy, the Board requested each duty station to 

provide its local estates management strategy. None of the duty stations could 

provide a strategy. They instead referenced the strategic capital review, host 

agreements or renovation plans, such as the strategic heritage plan, as informing 

their local approach to estate management.  

159. The Board remains of the view that developing an estates strategy merits 

serious consideration. Understanding current staff numbers, their office needs and 

http://undocs.org/A/68/5(Vol.V)
http://undocs.org/A/68/5(Vol.V)
http://undocs.org/A/63/5(Vol.I)
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the appropriate mix between workspaces and meeting space under the current 

operating model is important. The Administration needs to define in advance how 

wider business transformation initiatives, in particular those with an organizational 

redesign element such as the global service delivery model, will have an impact on 

the future staffing model and estates requirements.  

160. The Board recommends the Administration consider how best to improve 

the consistency of estates management by: (a) developing a global estates 

strategy; or (b) defining a standard approach to developing local estates 

strategies, ensuring that the impacts of wider business transformation 

initiatives on future estates requirements are taken into account.  

 

 

 F. Managing the workforce  
 

 

161. Effective workforce management plays a critical role in an organization’s 

ability to achieve its objectives. In addition to delivering the right skills for the right 

job at the right time, organizations should provide opportunities for staff members 

to learn and develop skills as their careers progress and organizational priorities 

change, and manage and incentivize staff performance. Organizations also need to 

be able to deploy staff flexibly and measure how effectively staff  are utilized.  

162. The Office of Human Resources Management is responsible for providing human 

resources support to some 41,000 staff throughout the Secretariat. To assess the 

effectiveness of workforce management in the United Nations, the Board examined 

the Office’s performance in achieving its objectives; the management of disciplinary 

cases; the implementation of the young professionals programme; staff mobility; 

staff medical services; and the Human Resources Information Systems Section.   

 

  Human resources management scorecard and performance  
 

163. The human resources management scorecard contains strategic and operational 

indicators of performance. It replaced the human resources action plan as the key 

human resources management monitoring tool and links to senior managers’ 

compacts that commit heads of departments and offices to specific organizational 

objectives, including human resources management. Scorecard indicators are 

monitored by the Management Committee on a semi-annual basis. The scorecard is 

designed to support global monitoring of delegated authority and track the impact of 

improvement initiatives, targeting cross-cutting issues.  

164. The Board’s review of the 2015 mid-cycle human resources management 

scorecard found that the Management Committee monitors only the 41 non-field 

and 39 field entities where senior managers’ compacts are in place. The remaining 

10 non-field and 12 field entities are not monitored by the Committee. The 

Administration told the Board that all 80 entities with scorecards are monitored 

centrally or through semi-annual reviews. The reviews are carried out by the 

Performance Review Group chaired by the Assistant Secretary-General for Human 

Resources Management. They are also attended by the human resources business 

owners in the Office of Human Resources Management and the Field Personnel 

Division of the Department of Field Support responsible for advising entities on the 

policies and procedures to be followed for each indicator. The Administration also 

told the Board that no Performance Review Group meetings had been held since late 
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in 2013 because of other urgent priorities, such as the implementation of Umoja and 

new mobility arrangements. The Office is reviewing its plans to resume the 

Performance Review Group as a mechanism to track progress on human resources 

indicators in the compact and the human resources strategy more broadly.  

165. Using data drawn from the HR Insight tool, the Board reviewed entities’ 

performance against strategic indicators during 2015 and compared it with 

performance in previous periods. The data indicated that the majority of key targets 

examined were not achieved (see table II.13). Performance had also worsened in the 

time taken to recruit staff. Although there has been an improvement in the timely 

completion of staff performance appraisals, the 100 per cent target has not been 

achieved. Completing performance appraisals provides important feedback to 

individuals and management on the evaluation of staff competence and reinforces 

the accountability of staff for meeting the organizational goals set for them. The 

Office of Human Resources Management did not give any specific reasons for 

failure to achieve the 100 per cent compliance target, other than to state that a 

variety of factors had to be considered, including staff turnover, sick leave and 

emergency situations such as evacuations.  

 

  Table II.13  

  Performance against strategic indicators for departments, offices away from 

Headquarters and regional commissions
3
  

 

Target/indicator Target 2014 2015 

    
Average days to recruit staff 143

a
 145 163 

No entities meeting staff recruitment time target  31 10 6 

Performance appraisals completed by 30 June of 

following year (non-field)
b
 100 per cent 68 per cent 79 per cent 

Performance appraisals completed by 30 June of 

following year (field)
b
 100 per cent 88 per cent 90 per cent 

 

Source: Administration’s data from HR Insight.  

 
a
 The Administration considers that the staff recruitment target of 143 days measures more steps  

in the recruitment process than are covered by the 120-day target. However, even against an 

adjusted target of 143 days, the 2015 average of 163 days falls well short of the target.  

 
b
 All staff members (up to and including D-2) in appointments for at least one year.  

__________________ 

 
3
  The entities covered are the Department of Economic and Social Affairs, the Department of Field 

Support, the Department for General Assembly and Conference Management, the Department of 

Management, the Department of Peacekeeping Operations, the Department of Political Affairs, 

the Department of Public Information, the Department of Safety and Security, the Office for the 

Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, the Office for Disarmament Affairs, the Office of the 

United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, the Office of the High Representative for 

the Least Developed Countries, Landlocked Developing Countries and Small Island Developing 

States, OIOS, the Office of Legal Affairs, the Office of the Special Adviser on Africa, the Office 

of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General for Children and Armed Conflict, the 

Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Sexual Violence in Conflict, the 

Peacebuilding Support Office, the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, the  

United Nations Environment Programme, the United Nations Human Settlements Programme, the  

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, the Office of the United Nations Ombudsman and 

Mediation Services, ECA, the Economic Commission for Europe, ECLAC, ESCAP, ESCWA, the 

United Nations Office at Geneva, the United Nations Office at Nairobi and the United Nations 

Office at Vienna (excludes tribunals). The annual period is from 1 January to 31 December.  
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166. The Board recommends that the Office of Human Resources Management 

strengthen its performance monitoring mechanisms, including re-establishing 

the Performance Review Group as proposed, to improve the performance of 

entities that did not achieve targets on staff recruitment times, vacancy rates 

and completion of performance appraisals.  

 

  Management of disciplinary cases  
 

167. In its resolution 67/255, the General Assembly noted with concern that many 

disciplinary cases had not been concluded within a reasonable time frame. The 

Assembly urged the Secretary-General to intensify efforts to complete disciplinary 

cases in a timely manner and to eliminate the remaining backlog of cases as soon as 

possible.  

168. There are no indicators to monitor how long disciplinary cases have been 

open. However, at the end of December 2015, there were 82 open disciplinary cases, 

and a further 33 cases were waiting for a decision from the Office of Human 

Resources Management on whether to initiate disciplinary procedures. Of the 

82 open cases, 27 had been open for more than six months. Timings were not 

available for the 33 cases that were waiting for a decision from the Off ice.  

169. The Board recommends that the Administration develop indicators for the 

handling of disciplinary cases. These indicators should cover: (a) the 

proportion of referrals that lead to a case being initiated; (b) the length of time 

between referral and case initiation; (c) overall case durations; and (d) case 

outcomes. The indicators should be used to support improvements in the 

processes for referring and handling cases.  

 

  Young professionals programme  
 

170. In March 2011, the General Assembly approved a new young professionals 

programme (see resolution 65/247). The programme is a recruitment initiative for 

professionals to start a career as an international civil servant with the United 

Nations Secretariat. The maximum age limit is 32 years. Successful candidates are 

placed on a roster for a period of up to two years and are considered for vacant posts 

as they arise.  

171. Since the young professionals programme started in 2011, two cycles for the 

2011 and 2012 applicant examinations have been completed, with 70 (2011) and 59 

(2012) successful candidates appointed. The successful candidates from the 2013 

and 2014 examinations were still being placed at the time of audit. As of March 

2016, 51 successful 2013 candidates and 23 successful 2014 candidates had been 

placed.  

 

  Member State representation  
 

172. In 2014, 54 unrepresented or underrepresented Member States participated in 

the young professionals programme. Examinations were conducted for six 

occupational groups, and 107 successful candidates were placed on the roster. In 

2015, 41 Member States participated in the examination, but the results of the 

examinations were not available at the time of audit.  

http://undocs.org/A/RES/67/255
http://undocs.org/A/RES/65/247
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173. The Board analysed data from the Office of Human Resources Management on 

the young professionals programme and observed the following:  

 (a) Between the young professionals programme examinations starting in 

2011 and the 2014 exams, there were a total of 365 candidates. There was one 

successful candidate from an unrepresented Member State and 248 successful 

candidates from underrepresented Member States;  

 (b) Fifteen per cent of the positions at P-1 and P-2 levels in field operations 

can be used to place successful candidates from the young professionals 

programme. Taking P-2 posts as an example, there were 227 P-2 posts in field 

stations as at 30 June 2015, which equates to 34 posts that could be used to place 

candidates from the programme. From 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015, a total of 

76 successful candidates from the programme were placed on the roster for a P -2 

post in field operations. The high number of people on the roster compared with the 

number of posts available means that a backlog of candidates is being created.  

174. Efforts by the Office of Human Resources Management in recent years to 

attract more applicants for young professionals programme examinations have not 

yet delivered improved outcomes. There has been no significant increase in 

representations from unrepresented and underrepresented countries since 2013. 

However, the Office considered that the analysis should take into account the fact 

that the chances of success are low for all candidates from the programme. The 

overall chances of success, in terms of the ratio of successful candidates from 

programme examinations (2013 and 2014) for unrepresented and underrepresented 

Member States, were very similar (1:394, or 0.25 per cent, compared with 

116:38,811, or 0.3 per cent). The Office also stated that its outreach efforts 

increased the number of applicants from unrepresented and underrepresented 

Member States, but that the success rate of those applicants is the result of factors 

outside of its control.  

175. In 2013 and early in 2014, the Office of Human Resources Management 

undertook outreach visits in 16 countries (Barbados, Brazil, Canada, China, 

Czechia, Jamaica, Japan, Norway, Oman, Poland, the Republic of Korea, South 

Africa, Trinidad and Tobago, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern 

Ireland and the United States of America). Most of the outreach activities were 

therefore in developed countries.  

176. The Office stated that not all Governments accommodated outreach visits and 

that limited human and financial resources were dedicated to outreach activities. 

The Office had tried to maximize the impact of outreach by visiting “multiplier 

countries” to reach out to potential candidates from a large number of developing 

countries, and that visits to Angola and the Gambia were made during 2015. The 

Office also noted that vacancies for P-1 and P-2 posts were minimal. A new staffing 

policy introduced in 2010 did not give any preference for individuals recruited at 

the P-1 or P-2 levels for appointment in P-3 posts, creating some stagnation at the 

P-2 level.  

177. The Office further stated that the young professionals programme is one of the 

ways in which staff at all levels of the Secretariat are drawn from as wide a 

geographical basis as possible. The number of positions filled through the 
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programme is much smaller than the total number of jobs available openings in any 

given period.  

178. The Board observes that there has been no significant increase in 

representation from unrepresented and underrepresented Member States since 2013. 

On this basis, the Office of Human Resources Management needs to assess its 

current approach to identify opportunities to improve its effectiveness.  

179. The Board recommends that outreach services specifically cover 

unrepresented countries and underrepresented countries to increase the 

number of selections from these locations.  

 

  Staff selection and managed mobility system  
 

180. The staff mobility and career development framework — now renamed the 

staff selection and managed mobility system — aims to develop a global, dynamic 

and adaptable workforce to deliver United Nations mandates effectively.  

181. The Secretary-General’s first and second annual reports on mobility 

(A/69/190/Add.1 and A/70/254) updated the General Assembly on progress. Both 

annual reports identified that IMIS did not contain information on staff roles and 

functions. The Administration stated that it was not possible to obtain baseline data 

on changes in position when there was no change of duty station, but that such 

tracking of staff movements was planned under Umoja. However, the required 

functionality was complex and would take some time to develop and implement. At 

the time of audit, there was no capability to obtain baseline data on changes in 

position
4
 when there is no change of duty station. 

182. The Board has previously identified the importance of integrating the 

requirements of the new managed mobility system into Umoja. However, the 

Administration did not incorporate several important features pertaining to the 

mobility framework prior to its implementation in January 2016. For example, it 

was identified in the Secretary-General’s first progress report that: 

 (a) Information on vacancy rates by job network was not available. The 

required report was still unavailable at the time of audit, but the Administration told 

the Board that it was working with the Umoja project team to develop it;  

 (b) Umoja would provide enhanced tracking of mobility expenditure. 

However, the Administration has not set up Umoja to provide that information. The 

Office of Human Resources Management informed the Board that the necessary 

changes to the chart of accounts are planned to be included in a list of future 

requirements for Umoja. 

183. The Board is concerned that these features were not included in the design of 

Umoja, particularly given the long lead times for implementation of both the 

mobility framework and Umoja. 

 

__________________ 

 
4
  Pursuant to paragraph 56 of General Assembly resolution 67/255, mobility would mean “a 

change in position that involves one change or a combination of changes in role, function, 

department or duty station or a move from the Secretariat to, or to the Secretariat from, an 

agency, fund or programme of the United Nations system”.  

http://undocs.org/A/69/190/Add.1
http://undocs.org/A/70/254
http://undocs.org/A/RES/67/255
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  Staff movement  
 

184. The Office of Human Resources Management told the Board that the managed 

mobility system was being introduced to address the lack of significant change in 

the trend of movements between duty stations. In this regard, the Board notes that 

there was no appreciable difference in the percentage of staff movement between 

duty station categories in 2014-2015 compared to 2010-2012.  

185. In the managed mobility system, staff are encouraged but not required to 

express interest in a different duty station classification from their current duty 

station. There is therefore no certainty that the mobility system, as currently 

constituted, will result in any significant change to the pattern of movements 

between duty station categories. It may be difficult for the Administration to fully 

realize the benefits envisaged. These benefits include improving the ability of the 

Organization to deliver its mandates, helping to ensure that the right people are in 

the right position at the right time and allowing the staff and the Organization to 

benefit systematically from the opportunities that mobility could provide.  

186. The Board recommends that the Office of Human Resources 

Management: (a) analyse the additional capabilities required of Umoja to 

better implement the mobility framework, incorporating features such as the 

capture of baseline data on movements, even when there is no change in duty 

station, the capture of the vacancy rate by job network, enhanced tracking of 

expenditure and the putting in place of checks and validations to ensure that 

the recording of information by all entities is consistent, within a definite time 

frame; and (b) monitor the trend of movements between duty station categories 

and try to increase movement between different categories to better realize the 

organizational goals linked with mobility.  

187. More fundamentally, as noted in annex I, the Administration has made no 

progress in addressing the Board’s previous recommendation that it develop a 

medium- to long-term strategic workforce strategy and operational workforce plans 

informed by a review of the Organization’s strategy that identifies any gaps in 

headcount, grades, knowledge and skills (see A/69/5 (Vol. I), chap. II, para. 164). 

Understanding when staff should move on the basis of business need is fundamental 

to implementing staff mobility effectively.  

 

  Learning, Development and Human Resources Services Division  
 

188. The Board reviewed the performance of the Learning, Development and 

Human Resources Services Division against the objectives set out for the biennium 

2014-2015. The Division had met or exceeded targets in two out of six objectives: 

increasing the percentage of staff benefiting from five days of training in a year; and 

improving implementation of staff emergency preparedness plans. However, targets 

for the remaining four objectives, which included increasing the number of training 

and learning opportunities undertaken by individual staff members, had not been 

met (see table II.14). The Board notes that for one objective, covering the 

satisfaction of departments and offices with the Division, no data were a vailable to 

measure its achievement. The Division told the Board that it would carry out a 

survey in 2016 to assess satisfaction levels.  

 

http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
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  Table II.14  

  Learning, Development and Human Resources Services Division: achievement 

of objectives  
 

Indicator of 

achievement Objective Target Achievement 

    (a) (i) Increase in the total number of 

training and learning opportunities 

undertaken by individual staff 

members 

59 460 58 030 

(a) (ii) Increased percentage of staff 

members benefiting from the 

minimum target of five days’ 

training per year 

60 per cent 89 per cent 

(b) (i) Increased number of staff 

members participating in career 

development and staff support 

programmes offered through 

career resource centres 

4 500 2 762 

(b) (ii) Increased percentage of 

participating staff members who 

recognize the positive contribution 

of career development and staff 

support programmes 

88 per cent 76 per cent: career 

development services (data 

stated to be available only for 

2014) 

   83 per cent: young 

professionals programme 

orientation programme 

(b) (iii) Increased percentage of 

departments and offices expressing 

satisfaction with advice and 

support provided by the Learning, 

Development and Human 

Resources Services Division 

75 per cent Information not available. 

There was no mechanism to 

capture satisfaction levels.  

(c) Improved implementation of staff 

emergency preparedness plans and 

training programmes by 

departments/offices 

200-250 staff 

members annually 

511 

 

Source: Board analysis of the Administration’s data.  
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189. Against outputs to be achieved during the biennium 2014-2015, the Division had 

exceeded its targets in 11 out of 31 programmes, in terms of the number of persons 

serviced. However, targets had not been met for several other outputs, such as:  

 (a) Organizational development programmes to strengthen leadership and 

management at the departmental/office level;  

 (b) Team-based programmes to support teams in working more effectively in 

areas of communication, increased trust and collaboration, planning, problem-

solving and decision-making;  

 (c) Continued expansion of the online learning environment through the 

United Nations e-learning portal, among other things.  

190. In total, the Division did not achieve its targets for 17 out of 31 (55 per cent) 

of programmes. The Division stated that this was due to a number of factors, 

including that:  

 (a) As part of implementing the new learning and career support strategy and 

the need to ensure better alignment of the programmes with organizational 

priorities, programmes deemed irrelevant had been cancelled and methodologies 

changed from face-to-face learning to online options. Some programmes were 

therefore discontinued, and many were temporarily put on hold;  

 (b) The budget document was prepared years ahead of the period of 

implementation. The Division stated that if it had focused instead on achieving 

targets that had been set three years prior, it would have continued to only partially 

address the changing learning needs of staff.  

191. The Division stated that although many targets in the programme budget for 

the biennium 2014-2015 had not been met, it had developed a new strategy, new 

programmes and tools, and coordination mechanisms that would enhance learning 

options for staff in the short and long term. Information on achievement of targets 

for two programmes was not available at the time of audit. Authority for the 

remaining programme had been delegated to the executive offices.  

192. The Board acknowledges the constraints and achievements of the Division 

during the biennium. However, it does not agree that underachievement of 

objectives can be explained by implementation of the new learning and career 

development strategy. The programme budget for the biennium clearly stated that a 

new strategy would be developed, apart from laying down the objectives and 

outputs. The planned development of the new strategy should not have been at the 

cost of achievement of other objectives and outputs.  

193. Such large scale underachievement of targets defeats the purpose of 

programme budgeting. It weakens the effectiveness of the budgeting mechanism as 

a management control. The reasons cited for underachievement in the majority of 

the programmes are indicative of weaknesses in the planning process. Furthermore, 

as the goals are also shifted, it is not possible for management to objectively assess 

the performance of the Division with reference to achievement of targets. The 

Division asserted that changing goals did not result in an inability to assess 

performance against targets but agreed that more planning could have been done to 

assess progress against new goals. It stated that this planning was affected by staff 

turnover at the Director and Chief levels in 2014-2015.  
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194. The Division had not carried out any analysis to assess the impact of its failure 

to achieve many of its targets. It had undertaken no outcome analysis for any of the 

programmes. In the absence of an outcome analysis, there is no objective and 

measurable means of understanding the impact of the Division’s various 

programmes, or of its underachievement of targets. The Division informed the 

Board that discussions were held among the Chiefs and the Director about the 

Division’s performance in 2014-2015 against the objectives, expected 

accomplishments and indicators of achievement. It was agreed that, going forward, 

the Division would need to make sure that there was enough survey data to analyse 

and report upon. No written notes of the discussions were available  for review by 

the Board.  

195. During 2014 and 2015, around 2,800 people had taken part in career 

development and staff support programmes. Survey questionnaires were sent out to 

only 263 participants in December 2014. Only 113 people (4 per cent of all 

participants) responded to the survey. On the basis of that survey, the Division 

concluded that 76 per cent of individual staff surveyed recognized the positive 

contribution of career development and staff support services.  

196. The Division told the Board that better tracking of people participating in 

training was possible following the movement to the learning management system 

in Inspira. The Division also informed the Board that it was working on 

standardizing and automating the survey process to have consistent data on some 

metrics, such as satisfaction levels, across all programmes. However, the Board 

notes that standardization of surveys had yet to be implemented in Inspira, and that 

the Division had no target date for the streamlining of surveys on the learning 

management system.  

197. One of the objectives in the programme budget for the biennium 2014-2015 

was to increase to 75 per cent the percentage of departments and offices expressing 

satisfaction with advice and support provided by the Division. However, the 

Division informed the Board that there was no mechanism in place to capture 

satisfaction levels, but that surveys would be conducted in 2016.  

198. The Board recommends that the Learning, Development and Human 

Resources Services Division: (a) consider more focused inputs while preparing 

the budget to ensure better compliance in terms of achievement of targets; 

(b) identify causes for underachievement and take suitable corrective action to 

ensure achievement of targets for all objectives and outputs specified in the 

programme budget; (c) make efforts to increase the sample sizes for surveys to 

obtain feedback and implement the standardized surveys early, which will 

generate more reliable data to support conclusions therefrom; (d) put in place a  

mechanism to evaluate the impact of services offered and of the 

underachievement of targets; and (e) ensure that performance on all 

parameters set out in the programme budget are measured, documented and 

reported upon.  

 

  Medical Services Division  
 

199. The Board reviewed the performance of the Medical Services Division against 

the objectives set out for the biennium 2014-2015, and found that the Division had 

not achieved any of its six targets.  
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  Survey to assess satisfaction from medical services  
 

200. The Division conducted three surveys during the biennium 2014-2015 to 

assess staff satisfaction with United Nations medical services against a target level 

of 95 per cent.  

201. The surveys found that 94.76 per cent of staff (out of 1,431) who accessed care 

from the Division’s New York clinic were satisfied with the services provided. Only 

47.62 per cent of staff (out of 585) in Ebola virus disease-affected duty stations in 

Ghana, Guinea, Liberia, Mali and Sierra Leone, and 72.33 per cent of staff (out o f 67) 

who accessed care from the United Nations clinic in Nigeria, were satisfied with the 

services provided. The satisfaction level target (95 per cent) was therefore achieved 

in only one of the three clinics surveyed. The Board notes also that the surveys were 

general in nature and did not seek specific feedback on reasons for dissatisfaction.  

202. The Board notes that in paragraph 7.5 (b) of the Secretary-General’s bulletin 

on the organization of the Office of Human Resources Management 

(ST/SGB/2004/8), it is stated that one of the core functions of the Division is to 

formulate and review United Nations medical standards, policies and guidelines and 

ensure coordination and monitoring of system-wide implementation. However, the 

Division stated that it did not have operational responsibility for clinics operated by 

the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), to which the above 

comments relate, but that it was attempting to steer UNDP towards service 

improvements.  

 

  Medical clearance  
 

203. Medical clearance is a requirement for recruitment, change of duty stations 

and assignments under staff regulations. The target response time for receiving 

medical clearance in 2014-2015 was within five days.  

204. The target was not achieved in 2014. Some 77 per cent of cases (3,780 out of 

4,920) exceeded the response time, ranging from 6 to 524 days. In 2015, 64 per cent 

of cases (4,323 out of 6,785) took more than five days, and the time taken ranged to 

up to 321 days. Over 2014-2015 as a whole, medical clearance was provided within 

five days for around only 31 per cent of cases.  

205. The Medical Services Division informed the Board that a key area of 

modernization was the introduction of a new method to standardize and streamline 

medical clearances. Introduction of a rapid screening mechanism (replacing a full 

physical), allowing for “weeding out the well”, was aimed at increasing the speed of 

clearances. The Division stated “that this proved effective in reducing de lays to 

mobilize staff”. While acknowledging this development, the majority of medical 

clearance cases are still not cleared within five days, and more needs to be done to 

achieve the performance target.  

206. The Division stated that the delays were due mostly to non-submission of full 

documentation before the case was ready for the Division to process and that it was 

moving towards simplifying medical clearances by reducing the complexity and 

cost of documentation to be provided. A complete review of the entire medical 

clearance process was under way. A pre-employment clearances service 

improvement group was set up in 2015 and was conducting an end-to-end review, 

http://undocs.org/ST/SGB/2004/8
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including of requirements for clearance, the processes and changes to the Division’s 

software systems. The estimated timeline for implementing the new systems was 

September 2016.  

 

  Medical evacuation records  
 

207. The administrative instruction on medical evacuation (ST/AI/2000/10) 

requires the head of department or office to maintain written records of each 

medical evacuation, stating details of the employee or dependant being evacuated, 

along with the other details of evacuation. Heads of departments or offices were to 

forward the relevant statistics to the United Nations Medical Director for review, 

and the Medical Director was to provide the heads of departments or offices with 

comments and advice as and when necessary. The Medical Director was to provide 

on an annual basis all relevant offices at Headquarters with statistics on medical 

evacuations and any comments deemed necessary.  

208. The Board requested information on medical evacuations for the years 2014 

and 2015. The Medical Services Division informed the Board that the data (date of 

receipt, response and actual evacuation) were recorded in its computer system in 

free text format, and that manual review of each case would be required to 

determine the dates requested. The Division has taken note of the shortcoming and 

informed the Board that it was introducing modifications to ensure that the data 

would be more easily available for reporting in the future.  

209. As reliable data on medical evacuation cases were not readily available, the 

Board was unable to assess the performance of the Medical Services Division with 

respect to medical evacuation cases. The Board was also unable to provide any 

assurance on the Division’s compliance with administrative instructions on medical 

evacuation or to review statistics and comments on medical evacuation provided to 

the relevant offices at Headquarters.  

210. The Division accepted that this was an area of deficiency and told the Board 

that it had requested an internal audit in 2015. The audit confirmed the Division’s 

own findings and resulted in recommendations for improved procedures. In addition 

to the internal audit that the Division requested, the Division had also convene d a 

medical evacuation service improvement group. Like the medical clearances service 

improvement group, this group was conducting a system-wide review of medical 

evacuation, including recommendations for changes to the computer system to 

address reporting issues noted by the Board.  

 

  Performance against strategic goals  
 

211. In the report of the Secretary-General entitled “Overview of human resources 

management reform: towards a global, dynamic and adaptable workforce for the 

United Nations”, it is stated that in 2013, the Medical Services Division had 

developed a strategic plan with three fundamental goals: (a) to achieve a measurable 

reduction in preventable staff harm; (b) to achieve a measurable reduction in 

expenditure on health-related issues; and (c) to achieve a measurable improvement 

in staff satisfaction (see A/69/190, paras. 87 and 88).  

212. The Board sought to assess the Division’s performance in achieving those 

goals. The Division informed the Board that the goals were peak objectives and that 

http://undocs.org/ST/AI/2000/10
http://undocs.org/A/69/190
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every strategic initiative was contributing in some way to the overarching goals. The 

Board found that:  

 (a) The Division had introduced several measures towards reducing 

expenditure. These included: introduction of simplified clearance processes; 

rigorous travel clearance and follow-up procedures for Ebola; and health risk 

mitigation plans for the Zika virus. These measures contributed to reduced exposure 

for the Organization to medevac and compensation claims. The Division has also 

introduced a guide to health care in the United States and intervention by the Staff 

Counsellor’s Office for stress management;  

 (b) The Division was unable to provide any information on the measured 

reduction in preventable staff harm or measured improvement in staff satisfaction. 

The Division told the Board that it was moving the system towards measurable 

outcomes but the data did not yet exist. It was reviewing a software module that 

would allow injured staff or their managers to report a workplace injury directly 

into the computer system (EarthMed), which would establish baseline data for 

preventable staff harm.  

213. During the biennium, the Division was also to increase the number of duty 

stations with a medical component in mass casualty cases appropriate to local risks. 

However, the Board was unable to comment on the Division’s performance against 

this parameter as no information was provided for audit.  

214. The Board recommends that the Medical Services Division: (a) design 

survey questionnaires to seek specific feedback suggestions for improvements; 

(b) put in place well-defined protocols and adequately train staff to ensure that 

avoidable delays owing to deficient documentation are reduced to the 

minimum, enabling faster medical clearances; and (c) define parameters to 

measure achievement of the goals related to its strategic activities.   

 

  Human Resources Information Systems Section  
 

215. As of May 2014, the Human Resources Information Systems Section was 

merged with the Office of Information and Communications Technology. 

Component 5 of section 29C of the programme budget for the biennium 2014 -2015 

set out the objectives and expected outputs for the Section. The Board reviewed the 

performance of the Section against its objectives and outputs. It found that the 

average number of hours to respond to requests for Section support by the Inspira 

Support Centre was reduced to 15 hours against a target of 24 hours.  

216. Furthermore, Inspira modules pertaining to managed mobility, staff selection, 

recruitment, performance management, learning, reporting and enhanced 

operational and management reporting had been implemented. The Administration 

stated that the programme budget for the biennium 2014-2015 had stipulated 

100 per cent implementation of all modules, but that the general human resources 

administration had still to be completed.  
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 G. Procurement and contract management  
 

 

217. Procurement is the process of awarding and managing vendors to deliver 

goods and services in line with business requirements and plays a critical role in 

enabling organizations to achieve their objectives. Good procurement can bring 

improvements in the quantity and quality of goods and services, better management 

of risk and the avoidance of service failure and generate financial savings.  

218. The Procurement Division is responsible for procurement actions for the 

United Nations Secretariat at Headquarters and in field missions and offices away 

from Headquarters, and for other organizations seeking procurement support 

services. The Division’s role commences from the receipt of requisitions. 

Procurement actions are regulated by the Financial Regulations and Rules, the 

United Nations Procurement Manual and policies and guidelines issued by the 

Secretary-General.  

219. During 2015, the Division handled 593 active contracts with not -to-exceed 

values totalling $8.67 billion, including 106 contracts awarded in 201 5 with not-to-

exceed values totalling $723.58 million. Table II.15 shows the 593 active contracts 

by commodity group, along with their not-to-exceed values. The Board audited 

23 major contracts with not-to-exceed values totalling $1.29 billion and performed 

data analysis of contracts and purchase orders to assess physical progress, timely 

delivery and utilization of planned financial resources.  

 

  Table II.15  

  Distribution of active contracts in 2015 among commodity groups  
 

Commodity group Number of contracts 

Total not-to-exceed 

value (millions of 

United States dollars) 

Not-to-exceed value 

(percentage) 

    
Architecture, engineering and 

construction-related services 48 2 037.71 23.51 

Air transportation services 71 1 205.90 13.91 

Electronic data processing 

equipment and maintenance 

services 46 897.65 10.35 

Motor vehicles/parts and 

transportation equipment 38 636.05 7.34 

Prefabricated buildings 8 369.47 4.26 

Management services 31 157.92 1.82 

Telecommunications equipment 

and services 14 111.89 1.29 

Others 337 3 252.56 37.52 

 Total 593 8 669.15 100.00 

 

Source: United Nations procurement database (as at 11 February 2016).  

Notes: “Others” includes security equipment and services, travel and related services, training, 

electrical apparatus, building management and maintenance, computer and information 

technology-related services, advertising, marketing and meetings and related services.  
 



 
A/71/5 (Vol. I) 

 

16-16791 73/288 

 

  Unjustified use of waivers  
 

220. During the Board’s review of contract awards, it identified a number of cases 

where use of a waiver of the requirement for competitive bidding did not appear 

justified.  

 (i) End point security solutions for the Office of Information and 

Communications Technology  
 

221. In October 2015, the Office of Information and Communications Technology 

asked the Procurement Division to help it to buy proprietary software, maintenance 

support and related implementation services for an advanced end point security 

solution. The Office identified the preferred vendor. The solution was intended to be 

deployed initially to “end point” computers, including both desktops and laptops, of 

Secretariat users at Headquarters and offices handling sensitive information.  

222. The Office estimated an initial requirement of 3,000 licences with a total 

estimated cost of around $810,000 over five years, including annual maintenance. 

The Office prepared a “standardization” case for the vendor. In November 2015, the 

Office was considering a global system contract with the vendor, and on 

13 November 2015, the Procurement Division stated that it intended to create a 

global umbrella agreement enabling other United Nations organizations to order 

licences for the products.  

223. In December 2015, the Procurement Division asked the Assistant Secretary-

General for Central Support Services to approve a waiver for the award. It did so on 

the grounds that there was a need to standardize the requirement (in accordance with 

financial rule 105.16 (a) (ii))
5
 and that the vendor had created a proprietary 

technology with unique capabilities. The immediate requirement from the Office of 

Information and Communications Technology was revised to 3,500 licences at a 

total estimated cost of $900,500 over five years. The Office also identified an 

additional requirement of 46,500 licences over the five-year contract period at an 

estimated further cost of $8.97 million.  

224. The Procurement Division, in conjunction with the Office of Information and 

Communications Technology, recommended engaging in direct negotiations with 

the vendor to establish a system contract up to December 2020. On 17 December, 

the Assistant Secretary-General for Central Support Services approved the award of 

the contract, which was executed on 30 December 2015 with a not -to-exceed 

amount of $6.27 million for an initial three years, with the option to extend it for 

another two years to 2020. Many aspects of this procurement exercise concern the 

Board:  

 (a) Neither the Office of Information and Communications Technology nor 

the Procurement Division documented the reasons for selecting the vendor rather 

than posting a request for expression of interest. This is contrar y to section 9.10 of 

the Procurement Manual;  

__________________ 

 
5
  The Under-Secretary-General for Management may determine that using formal methods of 

solicitation is not in the best interests of the United Nations when there has been a previous 

determination or there is a need to standardize the requirement.   
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 (b) The statement of work given by the Office on 5 November 2015 stated a 

requirement for only 3,000 licences. Within just over a month, the estimated 

quantity had been increased to 50,000: 3,500 immediately and 46,500 over a five-

year contract period;  

 (c) The longer-term requirement for up to 46,500 licences appears to have 

been calculated without any study of users handling sensitive information or the 

total number of users in the Secretariat. As at 30 June 2015, there were only 41,081 

known users, while the required quantity is projected to be 46,500 licences. Any 

volume discounts obtained could be offset by the additional cost of buying more 

licences than needed;  

 (d) The possibility of new solutions coming to market that better met United 

Nations needs was ignored during the procurement process.  

225. The Procurement Division informed the Board that according to estimates 

made by the Office of Information and Communications Technology and provided 

to the Division, the estimate of potential future users represents the entire United 

Nations Secretariat population of 50,000 ICT users. The initial estimates were made 

to cover only core and critical users. The contract was established for an initial 

period of not less than three years to align it with the standardization period 

approved by the Architecture Review Board. According to the Office, and as noted 

in the minutes of the Architecture Review Board, a shorter -term contract would not 

yield an optimal return on investment in the technology. The standardization process 

is used to define technologies that are in the best interests of the Organization. It 

involves comparing alternate technologies and is done outside the procurement 

process. As the product was standardized, an exemption to competitive bidding was 

granted by the Assistant Secretary-General for Central Support Services in a memo 

dated 15 December 2015.  

226. While noting the decision to standardize this product, the Board remains 

concerned that the procurement action did not result in effective competition or 

market testing. The very large increase in estimated users within such a short space 

of time resulted in an estimated number of users well in excess of the current 

staffing level. The report of the Secretary-General entitled “Composition of the 

Secretariat: staff demographics” (A/70/605) clearly shows staff strength to be 

approximately 41,000: this is less than 50,000. As the security solution is 

understood to be an off-the-shelf product, it does not require extensive engineering, 

testing and deployment, and there is no evidence of any correspondence with other 

vendors providing similar security solutions or any consideration of similar 

products. Using the waiver process on the grounds of the need to standardize the 

technology around the product of this one vendor denied other vendors the 

opportunity to offer similar technologies and to compete for the contract.  

 

 (ii) Multiple extensions of contracts  
 

227. During its review, several instances of multiple extensions of existing 

contracts were noted by the Board.  

 

http://undocs.org/A/70/605
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  Messenger services  
 

228. A contract awarded in 2009 for the provision of messenger services for 

Headquarters outlying buildings and travel and transportation was intended to last 

for an initial period of three years, with an option to extend two additional periods 

of up to one year each. However, in practice the contract had been extended up to 

April 2016 through 28 separate amendments, with the final one being issued on 

22 December 2015. The amendments extended the contract approximately 

18 months beyond the period allowed for in the original contract. The total not-to-

exceed value also increased from an initial amount of $1.08 million to $3.4 million.  

 

  Information and communications technology equipment  
 

229. A $41.89 million contract for computer hardware, signed in December 2004 

for an initial period of three years with an option to extend for two years, was 

repeatedly amended to extend the contract up to 2017 without any fresh solicitation. 

The last extension was made in December 2014 for three years to 31 December 

2017. The not-to-exceed value of the contract increased from $41.89 million to 

$192.31 million (360 per cent) during this period.  

230. In July 2010, the Headquarters Committee on Contracts asked the Procurement 

Division to provide an overall plan and timeline for the new solicitation. In 

response, the Division informed the Committee that it had not been determined that 

a new solicitation would be undertaken. A consultant had been asked to undertake a 

review of the weaknesses and successes of the current contract. The second phase of 

the consultant’s study was to undertake a market survey to compare the selected 

vendor’s offer with those available from two other leading vendors. In August 2010, 

the Committee recommended an extension of the contract for one plus one year to 

allow sufficient time to organize a new solicitation.  

231. In August 2012, the Procurement Division informed the Headquarters 

Committee on Contracts that it had confirmed that the existing vendor provided 

high-quality and solid equipment with aggressive discounts. The Division believed 

that the solutions offered also represented best possible value from a total cost of 

ownership perspective. As a result, no fresh solicitation was made and the existing 

contract was extended for another eight years. The contract was also extended to 

cover peacekeeping operations and led to another 30,000 items of equipment being 

purchased from the vendor.  

232. The Procurement Division stated that the contract is a direct agreement with 

the manufacturer and affirmed that the vendor provides the highest possible 

discounts to the Organization when making contract amendments and that the 

contracts are only extended on the basis of Office of Information and 

Communications Technology and Department of Field Support needs. Ho wever, the 

Board notes that in 2011, the strategy adopted by the Office of Information and 

Communications Technology and the Department of Field Support was to gradually 

migrate from desktop computers to less expensive virtual desktop infrastructure 

within five years and that this was inconsistent with the long-term agreement 

entered into.  

233. The average duration of a long-term agreement in the Secretariat is five years. 

The Board is concerned that in this case a single vendor has been awarded 
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$190 million of business over a 13-year period without the contract being subject to 

formal international competition. While long-term agreements offer a number of 

advantages in terms of reduced administrative costs, fixed prices and the ability to 

leverage volume discounts, there are also risks that need to be managed. Long-term 

agreements of this nature may produce overdependence on a single supplier or 

“lock” the Organization into long-term contacts at uncompetitive prices.  

234. The Administration informed the Board that in this instance, the above-

mentioned long-term agreement falls under the standardization policy (see 

ST/AI/2005/10) promulgated by the Under-Secretary-General for Management and 

is not a typical long-term agreement.  

235. The Board recommends that the Procurement Division review long-term 

agreements beyond five years to assess whether it would be appropriate to seek 

fresh solicitations or to make additional agreements with other leading vendors 

at competitive prices.  

 

  Poor vendor performance  
 

236. The Board reviewed a contract for website design and development. The 

Department of Public Information asked the Procurement Division to identify a 

vendor and award the contract before the end of 2013. An expression of interest was 

posted in February 2013. Bids were invited on 14 June 2013 from 36 companies 

from 14 countries, with a closing date of 13 August 2013. The Procurement Division 

noted during its comparison of the total cost of required services that all price bids 

were within a comparable range, except for the selected vendor, which was almost 

half the price of the others. The contract with the selected vendor was signed on 

15 April 2014.  

237. Paragraph 2.2 of the contract allowed eight months for the completion of 

website development by the contractor. The vendor was also to provide compulsory 

maintenance services for one year after the website was operational, with an option 

to extend maintenance services for a maximum of four additional periods of one 

year each. Although the contract contained detailed timelines for payments to the 

vendor, there was no provision in the contract to deal with delayed delivery by the 

contractor.  

238. The “release value” for the contract was incorrectly recorded in Umoja as 

$1.07 million. This was due to the incorrect inclusion of a purchase order for 

$962,500 relating to another contract. There were also discrepancies between the 

rates quoted by the vendor in its bid and the rates awarded in the contract. For 

example, the cost for “conceptualization and development of a new web -based 

content management system” was increased by $17,600 from $69,855 to $87,455. 

The Procurement Division accepted that inadvertently the $17,600 was added to 

$69,855 and then included as a separate deliverable as well. 

239. There were also considerable delays in completion of the website development 

work and requests for price increases to complete the work. In total, payments of 

$107,136 were made under this contract, but the work was not  completed. No 

performance bond was requested from the contractor even though the bid price was 

considerably lower than other vendors. The Procurement Division stated that it does 

not normally redeem a performance bond for this type of contract, where payments 

http://undocs.org/ST/AI/2005/10
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are made upon acceptance of the deliverables. Nevertheless, in view of this case, the 

Division told the Board that it will consider applying performance bonds in the 

future.  

240. When extremely low bids are received, the Procurement Division needs to  

consider whether there is a risk that the vendor may have submitted it to ensure that 

it wins the contract and will then need to make subsequent requests to increase the 

cost. On this contract, $107,136 was paid, but the work was not completed. In the 

absence of provisions for damages relating to the delay in deliverables, it may be 

difficult for the Organization to recover its losses on this contract. Additional costs 

will also be incurred to engage a new vendor.  

241. The Board recommends that, in cases where exceptionally low bids are 

accepted, appropriate performance security clauses and key performance 

indicators for the vendor are automatically included in contracts to protect the 

interests of the United Nations. The release of payments under these contracts 

should also be subject to increased scrutiny to ensure that commensurate value 

has been delivered.  

 

  Inadequate procurement planning and monitoring  
 

242. The Board reviewed 513 contracts active in 2015. It found 71 contracts with 

not-to-exceed values totalling $447.23 million where recorded usage was less than 

50 per cent, and on average 25.8 per cent, with less than a year before they were due 

to expire. Of those contracts, 22 with not-to-exceed values totalling $44.70 million 

had no expenditure against them. A further 47 contracts were awarded before 2014 

and are going to expire in 2016 with very low financial progress, ranging between 

zero and 49.7 per cent in different projects and with an average of 24 per cent 

overall. Low contract usage may have had an adverse impact on the physical 

progress, timely delivery and utilization of planned financial resources. It may 

indicate inadequate communication and coordination between requisitioning 

departments and the Procurement Division in developing procurement and spending 

plans.  

243. The Procurement Division responded that acquisition planning and contract 

monitoring functions were the responsibility of the requisitioning offices. It also 

informed the Board that banking contracts contain not-to-exceed values to obligate 

the funds for banking fees, which are deducted directly from the accounts 

maintained at these financial organizations. Contracts for legal services and 

investment advisory services are only used as needed. In the case of contracts 

awarded in 2015, especially multi-year contracts, it would not have been possible to 

use up their not-to-exceed value as at 31 December 2015.  

244. While acknowledging the response of the Procurement Division, the Board 

selected only those contacts due to expire in 2016 and would therefore expect the 

71 contracts concerned to record significantly higher usage than the average of 

25.8 per cent recorded.  

245. The Board recommends that requisitioning departments, in consultation 

with the Procurement Division, take steps to improve monitoring of contract 

delivery and ensure that contracts awarded are completed before their expiry.   
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  Umoja reporting deficiencies  
 

246. In March 2016, the Board reviewed a report generated from the Umoja 

solution that went live across cluster 4 entities at United Nations Headquarters in 

November 2015. The report, entitled “Lists of POs (Goods) with PO Status 

(Ordered or Transaction Completed)”, had the following shortcomings:  

 (a) Actual delivery was shown as “outstanding” in the system after the 

expected delivery date, as shown in the purchase order. The delays ranged between 

91 and 1,005 days for goods and between 60 and 1,489 days for services;  

 (b) For 603 purchase orders, the “delivery date to” was shown as “Dec 31 

9999”.  

247. The Procurement Division acknowledged the errors and stated that the report 

incorrectly counted the start of delivery date ranges instead of the end. The 

Administration also informed the Board that the report concerned was in “test 

mode” when it was examined by the Board, that the report has subsequently been 

corrected and that “days overdue” were reported to be between zero and 162. There 

was an anomaly for one purchase order, where the delivery due date was recorded as 

“01.07.0201”. Reliable management information and reports are critically important 

to managing the procurement functions. The existence of such reporting problems 

several months after the implementation of Umoja is therefore a concern.  

248. The Administration informed the Board that process owners and the Office of 

Information and Communications Technology are reviewing the governance and 

taxonomy of reports developed by “power users” to ensure that there is a clear 

identification of reports that are ready for use.  

249. The Board has previously emphasized the need to report indicators of costs of 

procurement and performance of vendors in monthly management scorecards, and 

reviewed the key performance indicators being used by the Procurement Division, 

which were developed following the report of the Secretary-General on the 

implementation of the recommendations of the Board of Auditors contained in its 

reports on the United Nations for the biennium ended 31 December 2007 and on the 

capital master plan for the year ended 31 December 2007 (A/63/327 and Add.1). 

The Division informed the Board that only a few key performance indicators are 

active from the legacy environment and that it is working with the Umoja business 

intelligence team to implement the indicators in the new Umoja platform. These 

indicators relate mainly to internal processing times, rather than measures of quality 

and cost of procurement actions.  

250. The Administration stated that key performance management indicators are 

part of the supplier performance module of Umoja, due to be implemented with 

Umoja Extension 2. Furthermore, reports from the active key performance 

indicators are an indication of business intelligence reports in development; they are 

going through quality assessment and should not be used for formal assessments at 

this point.  

251. The Board recommends that the Procurement Division, in consultation 

with the Umoja project team, perform a comprehensive review to ensure data 

integrity and to strengthen data input controls in Umoja; and explore how to 

http://undocs.org/A/63/327
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strengthen performance measurement tools for vendors, for end-to-end process 

costs and for quality and staff performance under Umoja Extension 2.   

 

 

 H. Managing partners  
 

 

  Background and context  
 

252. In 2014-2015, the Secretariat made $1.3 billion of grants to end beneficiaries 

and implementing partners, representing 23 per cent of total expenditure reported in 

volume I of the financial statements (see note 29 to the financial statements). The 

effective management of implementing partners is critical to the success of many 

programmes, particularly in areas such as humanitarian affairs, which rely largely 

on extrabudgetary funding. As part of its audit, the Board reviewed the processes in 

place within a number of Secretariat entities for the management of implementing 

partners. Specifically, the Board considered the:  

 (a) Legal agreements in place for working with implementing partners;  

 (b) Frameworks in place for managing implementing partners;  

 (c) Information systems in place for managing implementing partners;  

 (d) Compliance frameworks and oversight arrangements for implementing 

partners;  

 (e) The progress made in responding to the Board’s previous 

recommendations on the management of implementing partners.   

253. During its review, the Board focused on the assurance frameworks operated by 

a number of different offices and departments, including the Office for the 

Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, the Peacebuilding Fund, the United Nations 

Office for Partnerships and the United Nations Trust Fund for Human Security. A 

small proportion of grants and transfers to partners are funded from assessed 

contributions under the regular budget, including the Department of Economic and 

Social Affairs and the Department of Political Affairs. The Mine Action Service and 

regional commissions receive both assessed and voluntary contributions, as set out 

in figure II.XI.  
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  Figure II.XI  

  Transfers and grants to partners by source of funding  

  (Millions of United States dollars)  
 

 

Source: Board analysis of the Administration’s data, collated from data provided by offices (unaudited) for the 

total amount of agreements approved during the year.  

Abbreviations: CBPF, country-based pooled funds; CERF, Central Emergency Response Fund; DPA, Department 

of Political Affairs; OCHA, Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs; UNDEF, United Nations 

Democracy Fund; UNFIP, United Nations Fund for International Partnerships; UNMAS, Mine Action Service; 

UNOP, United Nations Office for Partnerships; UNPBF, Peacebuilding Fund; UNTFHS, United Nations Trust 

Fund for Human Security.  
 

 

  Legal authority for grants to partners  
 

254. The legal framework in place for working with implementing partners does not 

flow from the Financial Regulations and Rules. In this regard, the Office of Legal 

Affairs has advised that Secretariat offices and departments do not have authority to 

give grants to outside entities to support the implementation of the outside entities’ 

projects unless an express authorization has been provided by the General 

Assembly. The framework in place has therefore evolved over time and is based 

largely on custom and practice.  

255. In 1982, the Assistant Secretary-General for Financial Services established 

procedures for the certification and approval of grants to organizations and 

individuals. These procedures identified that grants to organizations were authorized 

through General Assembly resolutions, whereas all grants that were not authorized 

by the Assembly could only be made in accordance with the procedures for grants to 

individuals in which, inter alia, the establishment of a committee to review and 

recommend approval of grants was required. However, no other formal regulations 

or rules were proposed governing how grants should be managed, and entities have 

been allowed to develop different detailed processes and procedures of their own. 
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Similarly, the Financial Regulations and Rules do not specifically define 

“implementing partners” or address how they should be managed.  

256. The Board recommends that the legal framework around the granting of 

funds to partners should be formally introduced into the Financial Regulations 

and Rules.  

257. The Administration informed the Board that it recognizes the gaps in the legal 

framework for managing grants and implementing partners and will take them into 

account when revising the Financial Regulations and Rules.   

 

  Framework to manage transfers and grants to partners  
 

258. When funds entrusted by donors are transferred to another party, a core 

principle of accountability is that appropriate controls should exist to ensure that the 

funds have been used for the purposes intended. Donors expect funds to be used to 

deliver the desired outcomes in a cost-effective manner and to be protected against 

the risk of fraud or error.  

259. In the absence of a common Secretariat framework for the management of 

partners, each office and department has developed its own frameworks, policies, 

guidance documents, templates and information systems. While the form and 

content of the frameworks varied significantly, there were some common elements. 

Most frameworks required partners to submit periodic financial and narrative 

reports and had established policies for project monitoring, evaluation and audit. 

However, even where the control environment appeared similar, there were 

significant differences in the operation of such controls. When observing and 

verifying reported progress on implemented projects (monitoring), both the Office 

for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs and the United Nations Democracy 

Fund had verification procedures, but there was no detailed practical guidance on 

how to perform the verification work. For example, project proposals often include 

multiple activities in several locations, but there was no guidance on how to select 

the project activities to be verified, and monitoring records did not document the 

basis for selection or the verification method applied. During the Board’s visit to the 

Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs in the Sudan, it identified that 

monitoring staff sometimes merely observed progress, but did not verify reported 

activities.  

260. The Office informed the Board that work to develop and refine the procedures 

and guidance around verification work was ongoing.  

 

  Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs management framework  
 

261. The Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs handles the largest 

number of implementing partners and the highest volume of grant funding. In 

response to the Board’s previous recommendations, the Office has prepared global 

and country-level manuals covering each stage of the project life cycle for the 

country-based pooled fund, the largest trust fund within the Secretariat, which 

reported expenses of $455 million in 2015.  

262. The Office’s global guidelines provide a comprehensive framework covering 

the project life cycle, including:  
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 (a) Fund governance, including the roles of the Emergency Relief 

Coordinator, the governance boards and the Humanitarian Coordinator;  

 (b) Accountability arrangements, including risk management, grant 

management, oversight arrangements (monitoring, reporting, evaluations and audit) 

and compliance;  

 (c) Administration arrangements, including establishing project budgets, 

setting out guidance on eligible and ineligible costs and defining direct and indirect 

costs.  

263. Other offices and departments had developed various guidance documents, 

which typically focused on the responsibilities of partners. The frameworks varied 

significantly; some omitted key aspects of administrative and accountability 

arrangements. For example, the need to examine the cost-effectiveness of project 

budgets and to critically review and validate reports submitted by partners was not 

addressed in all of the frameworks examined. While expectations of partners, 

implementation time frames, outputs and outcomes were usually documented, 

corresponding expectations of the offices, such as reviewing and commenting on 

submissions, were not set. This has led to inconsistencies in the oversight 

arrangements exercised by different offices and departments of the Secretariat.  

264. The Board recommends that the Administration develop a common 

principles-based framework for the management of partners that specifies the 

key procedures to be performed by all Secretariat entities. To facilitate the 

development of the common framework, the Secretariat should conduct an end-

to-end review of the project management life cycle, including consultations 

with key stakeholders and a review of all current practices.  

 

  Standard agreements with donors and implementing partners  
 

265. A variety of different agreements with donors and implementing partners are 

currently in place. In 2015, the Administration, under the leadership of the 

Controller, who is the corporate risk owner for extrabudgetary funding and 

management, established a working group, which has issued preliminary guidance 

on the preparation of agreements with donors and implementing partners.  

266. The draft agreement with implementing partners provide general terms and 

conditions that all Secretariat departments, offices and peacekeeping and special 

political missions should follow when preparing and approving financial agreements 

or grant agreements with implementing partners. These conditions include the need: 

 (a) To apply a strict vetting process, including careful assessment of capacity 

and qualifications;  

 (b) For the registration of the partner using a local database, pending the 

development of a global registration platform;  

 (c) For periodic on-site reviews of partners to review their financial records 

to oversee the use of United Nations funds;  

 (d) For partners and their personnel to cooperate with United Nations 

investigations and for partners to exhort their personnel to report any wrongdoing 

and possible misuse of United Nations funds to a dedicated OIOS hotline;  
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 (e) To establish conditions for: the use of assets after project completion; the 

disclosure of funding from other sources; the notification of unused funds, 

subcontracting and procurement by the implementing partner; notification by the 

implementing partner of any fraud investigation; termination owing to force 

majeure; and confidentiality. The restrictions should be clear.  

267. While the guidelines are currently in draft form, when implemented, they 

should provide a sound basis to strengthen agreements with implementing partners, 

particularly in important areas such as anti-fraud and sanctions policies, and clauses 

to secure audit access to implementing partners’ books and records.  

268. Such clauses were not included in the early draft guidelines shared with the 

Board, although the working group has been working with the Office for the 

Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs on refining the proposed corporate fraud 

sanction procedures for implementing partners. This includes the development of a 

central ineligibility list and the proposal that such information be shared more 

widely with agencies, funds and programmes. At the time of audit, the ineligibility 

list had not been established, nor had the procedures been endorsed. In the light of 

the Board’s previous recommendation (see A/69/5 (Vol. I), chap. II, para. 114), 

wider control mechanisms to share information on implementing partners should be 

implemented and go beyond an ineligibility list.  

269. The Board recommends that the Administration finalize, and issue under 

appropriate authority, its standard template agreement with implementing 

partners to include appropriate anti-fraud, sanctions and audit clauses.  

270. The Board reiterates its previous recommendation to establish 

information-sharing mechanisms on implementing partners that cover due 

diligence procedures, implementation issues and performance evaluations 

performed by United Nations entities and partners with which they have 

worked.  

 

  Management information systems  
 

271. Partners vary widely in terms of their size and role, encompassing host 

Government departments, United Nations entities, large-scale multinational 

charities and small local non-governmental organizations. The types of projects and 

programmes delivered by implementing partners also vary in size, duration and cost. 

However, owing to the absence of integrated database systems, the Secretariat was 

unable to produce a consolidated report of all grants and transfers made to 

implementing partners during 2015.  

272. Although Umoja includes a grants database, it does not yet have the full range 

of functionality required to replace the different bespoke systems currently in place. 

While the functionality of the grants management module provides for the transfer 

of funds to implementing partners, the planned implementation of the grantor 

module and the project portfolio and project management system within Umoja 

Extension 2 will complement this by incorporating the grant application and 

selection process, and will provide a repository for substantive and financial reports. 

The new modules will also enforce compliance over a grant’s life cycle from 

planning and resource allocation to implementation and project completion.  

http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
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273. In the absence of a corporate application, systems were developed 

independently and vary significantly in terms of cost and functionality. For 

example, for the country-based pooled funds, the Office for the Coordination of 

Humanitarian Affairs developed a bespoke grants management system during 2014 

and 2015 at a cost of $1 million, whereas the United Nations Democracy Fund, 

which manages a much smaller programme, implemented a commercial solution in 

2012 at a cost of $165,000. Other departments and offices use a mix of systems and 

stand-alone databases, shared workspaces and spreadsheets to manage their 

programmes.  

274. At the request of the Board, each entity compiled data regarding grants and 

transfers to implementing partners. Only the United Nations Democracy Fund was 

able to generate systematic management information on the key aspects of its 

implementing partner’s programmes, such as approval and disbursement history, 

monitoring, reporting and audit. While the grants management system of the Office 

for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs was designed to manage the full 

programme life cycle, accurate management information could not be generated 

because of incomplete data. Most offices therefore collated the requested 

information manually rather than directly from the information in the grants  

management system. Secretariat offices and departments cannot therefore make best 

use of available information to support decision-making. An assessment of the 

completeness of data held by the Office in respect of country-based pooled funds is 

summarized in table II.16 below.  

 

  Table II.16  

  Data confidence in grants management system of the Office for the 

Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs for country-based pooled funds  
 

Management information Comments on data completeness 

  Number of projects and 

partners 

Data incomplete owing to phased roll-out of grants 

management system, and data unavailable where 

UNDP acts as Office’s agent 

Partner due diligence 

procedures completed 

In 2015, all partners completed due diligence in 

grants management system prior to project approval 

Partner capacity assessments 

completed 

Data not available as countries are working on 

offline capacity assessments with no information 

management system to capture data 

Timeliness: time from project 

submission to approval and 

disbursement 

Data incomplete owing to phased roll-out of grants 

management system, and data unavailable where 

UNDP acts as Office’s agent 

Narrative and financial report 

status 

Data incomplete owing to phased roll-out of grants 

management system, and data unavailable where 

UNDP acts as Office’s agent  
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Management information Comments on data completeness 

  Audits completed with 

results 

No information was available. The audit module of 

the grants management system has been developed; 

however, data in legacy systems requires cleansing 

before migration 

 

Source: Board analysis of the Administration’s data.  
 

 

  Managing compliance with the control framework  
 

275. The Secretary-General is ultimately accountable for transfers and grants to 

partners. The General Assembly has defined accountability as the achieving  of 

objectives and high-quality results in a timely and cost-effective manner in 

compliance with all resolutions, regulations and rules, and truthful, objective, 

accurate and timely reporting on performance results. To discharge its 

accountability for the stewardship of funds, management needs to institute robust 

assurance mechanisms to confirm the effective operation of internal controls.  

276. Offices have developed varying internal mechanisms to monitor compliance 

with policies and procedures for the management of grants and transfers to partners. 

The Board found that these mechanisms tended to operate mainly at individual 

project or country level rather than at overall programme level. There was also a 

lack of complete, timely and accurate information to demonstrate that key controls 

were operating across programmes as expected. There was no active monitoring of 

project approvals, oversight and closure processes by Headquarters units, and there 

was limited reporting to management of overall compliance with defined 

procedures.  

277. The Board visited three country offices in two countries in 2015, one of which 

managed operations for two countries, to examine Office for the Coordination of 

Humanitarian Affairs operations. During the visits, the Board noted some examples 

of good practice using the newly introduced tools, such as the capacity assessments 

checklists and the use of benchmarks to aid the review of project budgets. However, 

the Board also found a lack of compliance in some important areas, such as the 

performance of due diligence on partners, project monitoring and contracting for 

external audits. Examples included the following:  

 (a) In one country office, projects were awarded to partners without a formal 

assessment of their capacity and qualifications to deliver the activities;  

 (b) In two countries, the Office did not have comprehensive monitoring 

plans. No physical monitoring had occurred in one of the countries for a year owing 

to limited access to project sites caused by security and geographical constraints. 

The country office had not established any remote monitoring and partners had 

indicated that it was too late to implement any such controls retrospectively when 

implementation was already ongoing or finalized. In another country, the Off ice did 

not systematically validate claimed achievements by partners during monitoring 

visits;  

 (c) One country had 19 overdue financial reports and the partners were not 

regularly pursued, although action was taken shortly before the Board’s visit to the  
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office. One country office did not review partner narrative reports in a timely 

manner, as it mistakenly considered that this could not be completed until the 

projects had been audited;  

 (d) Two countries had expired contracts with external auditors and 

extracontractual audits were requested and performed. There was also limited 

review and follow-up of the audit results.  

 

  Assurance that Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs funds have 

been applied for the purposes intended  
 

278. To further examine the level of assurance that management had obtained over 

Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs expenditures, the Board 

reviewed the operation of the assurance framework in an additional four countries 

where there appeared to be no contracts in place with independent external auditors. 

Pooled funding for the four countries concerned amounted to $98.1 million. The 

Board requested the Office to provide a comprehensive analysis of the results of the 

assurance mechanisms applied at country-office level that demonstrated the funds 

were used by partners for the purposes intended.  

279. The Office reported that $69.9 million (71.2 per cent) was transferred to 

non-governmental organizations, with the remainder ($28.2 million) allocated to 

United Nations agencies’ projects. In response to a request for further information 

on these projects, the Office provided copies of its partners’ financial and narrative 

reports detailing the use of the funds. It also provided the results of its own 

monitoring of project activities. The Board found that:  

 (a) In the first country, financial and narrative reporting were up -to-date for 

the four projects reviewed. Two projects were monitored; however, in the 

monitoring reports, there was limited qualitative information on project activities, 

and the reports contained no evidence of the verification of outputs or the review of 

the partner’s financial records;  

 (b) In the second country, financial and narrative reporting were up-to-date 

for the four projects reviewed. Two of the projects had been monitored by a third 

party on behalf of the Office;  

 (c) In the third country, financial and narrative reporting were up-to-date for 

the three projects reviewed. No direct monitoring of these projects by Office staff 

had been performed during 2015 owing to the deteriorating security situation in the 

country;  

 (d) In the fourth country, three of the four projects reviewed had final 

narrative reports, and two indicated that the activities were mostly completed. Only 

one of the projects reviewed had been monitored by Office staff; however, there was 

limited documented information on the verification of project outputs.  

280. Overall, partner reporting for the countries examined was up-to-date, and there 

was active monitoring by the Office in two of the countries. Security constraints 

limited the degree of formal monitoring in the other two countries. In response to 

the Board’s request for further information, the heads of each country office were 

able to supply supplementary information, including a more comprehensive 

statement on the control environment in the countries concerned during 2015, and 
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also supplied details on the operating effectiveness of the controls. The Office 

informed the Board that, where relevant, it had requested additional information on 

project implementation, such as pictures and videos of project  activities and, where 

practicable, it had implemented remote call monitoring of end beneficiaries to 

confirm receipt of assistance.  

281. The additional information provided by country offices provides valuable 

assurance over the use of funds by the Office’s implementing partners. However, the 

lack of central oversight and analysis of the effectiveness of the Office’s assurance 

framework is a significant gap in the effective implementation of the framework. 

The failure of the Office’s country offices and Headquarters units to upload all the 

relevant information into the grants management system, combined with a lack of 

central analysis and collation of the results of monitoring actions across the whole 

of the Office’s programmes, means that senior management cannot readily assess 

the overall level of assurance it has over the Office’s expenditure. However, the 

Board’s detailed examination did not find any material errors or irregularities in the 

projects it examined during 2015, and there were no significant  irregularities 

reported by management or by the independent external auditors employed at the 

country level during 2015.  

282. Overall, for country-based pooled funds, the weaknesses in data quality mean 

that management information is not yet of sufficient quality to monitor compliance 

with the requirements of the Operational Handbook for Country-based Pooled 

Funds. The Office at Headquarters has not collected information to demonstrate that 

capacity assessments have been performed consistently, that financial and narrative 

project reports have been received when due or that planned monitoring actions and 

independent audits of implementing partners have been carried out as planned.  

283. The Board recommends that the Office for the Coordination of 

Humanitarian Affairs ensure that the new assurance framework is uniformly 

applied and embedded across country offices. In particular, the Office urgently 

needs to improve the collation and analysis of data on the results of monitoring 

activities performed during the year to confirm that there is sufficient 

assurance that funds have been applied for the purposes intended.  

284. The Office informed the Board that it was developing dashboards to display 

management information in meaningful and useful ways, including information on 

country office compliance with the Operational Handbook for Country-based 

Pooled Funds, providing insight on grant life cycle data quality; grants management 

workflow statistics, including levels of allocation, status of financial reports, 

monitoring activities and audit results; and performance indicators, and targets 

linked to the Office’s strategic objectives, including timeliness of allocations, risk 

management, stakeholder satisfaction and monitoring. Such dashboards should 

improve the visibility of compliance issues and allow management to take 

corrective action in a more timely manner.  

 

  Umoja Extension 2  
 

285. The Administration acknowledged the shortcomings of the current disparate 

reporting systems. It informed the Board that while the current functionality of the 

grants management module in Umoja provides a harmonized and streamlined 
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approach for the transfer of funds to implementing partners, the enhanced 

functionality in Umoja Extension 2 will address the shortcomings identified.  

286. To ensure that the shortcomings in the present systems are addressed, the 

Board recommends that the Administration conduct a comprehensive review of 

the functionality of existing grants management systems and the information 

needs of users and other stakeholders before finalizing the scope of Umoja 

Extension 2.  

 

  Project risk management  
 

287. Risks are inherent at all levels of an organization and its activities. In its 

resolution 64/259, the General Assembly emphasized that the risk management 

should be dynamic, that it is the inherent responsibility of staff at all levels and that 

each department is accountable for the risk assessment in the delivery of its 

respective mandate. In relation to trust fund management, risks should not only be 

considered at the organizational level, but also at the project level. Project risks 

should be assessed and monitored through the implementation of the project and 

escalated where appropriate.  

288. To determine whether the risk level is acceptable, project risks should be 

critically appraised by the relevant office before approval. For each programme or 

project, this would require the systematic identification of strategic, financial and 

operational restrictions or events that could affect the ability to achieve project 

objectives.  

289. The Board examined whether risk management arrangements existed in project 

management frameworks examined and found that practice varied. For example, the 

Peacebuilding Fund and the United Nations Democracy Fund required partners to 

determine the likelihood and impact of identified risks, together with mitigating 

actions required to reduce exposure to those risks. With regard to country-based 

pooled funds, the Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs partners were 

merely required to identify risks to the projects but not assess their impact or 

likelihood or define ownership and mitigation actions.  

290. For the risk assessments to remain relevant and guide management decisions , 

they require regular review and updating. The Board found that with the exception 

of the Mine Action Service, there was no active monitoring of the risks identified by 

the partners. For instance, the narrative reports did not include an update on the 

status of the risks, and monitoring completed by the offices did not specifically 

review risks.  

291. The Administration considers that developing risk profiles for each project 

would be a futile exercise that will add a tremendous administrative burden with 

limited added value. It further considers that this would create an inventory of risks 

whose size would be impossible to handle.  

292. The Board recommends that the Administration develop appropriate 

project-level risk guidance that supports the wider Secretariat approach to risk 

management.  
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 I. Enterprise risk management  
 

 

293. Enterprise risk management is a comprehensive process designed to identify, 

assess and respond to risks that could affect the ability of the Secretariat to 

effectively achieve its mandates and objectives. The Board has reviewed the 

progress made in implementing enterprise risk management in the Secretariat since 

its previous audit and the extent to which enterprise risk management has been 

embedded across the Organization, as requested by the General Assembly.  

 

  Progress managing the six enterprise risks  
 

294. On 25 June 2015, the Management Committee approved risk action plans 

intended to address and mitigate the six enterprise risks endorsed by the Secretary -

General in September 2014. In June 2016, the Board reviewed the risk action plans 

(which were in draft form at the time of its last audit), noting that since the plans 

were approved, there has been no change in the Administration’s view that:  

 (a) The six critical risks are “highly likely” or “expected” to occur;  

 (b) Their impact would be “significant” or “critical”;  

 (c) The current internal controls are “ineffective” or “significant improvement  

needed”, while the residual risk, a key indicator of the effectiveness of these 

controls, would remain “critical”.  

The Board notes that the Administration has still to establish the level of residual 

risk were the risk action plans fully implemented.  

295. In response to the Board’s recommendations, enterprise risk management is 

now a standing item on the agenda of the Management Committee, which also 

functions as the enterprise risk committee. The corporate owners of the six 

enterprise risks provide an update on progress made by the working groups in 

developing and implementing risk action plans as described in the Secretary-

General’s latest accountability report (A/70/668). This work is ongoing and progress 

is being made, but at a slower pace than the Administration had planned. Most 

working groups are behind schedule against plans approved by the Management 

Committee in June 2015. For example, a review of progress reported to the 

Management Committee after one year, in June 2016, identified a number of areas 

where target dates have been missed:  

 (a) Actions to be completed on the organizational transformation plan 

included the definition of an overall new operating model by December 2015, and 

departments and offices to set out how they will move from the current state to the 

new end state in a multi-year project plan by September 2016. As noted in section K, 

proposals for the global service delivery model are still being developed, and 

departments’ ability to design their own end-state visions is at risk;  

 (b) Actions under strategic planning and budget allocation, including work 

to strengthen budget formulation processes for the programme budget, due in March 

2016, is now due to be completed for the 2018-2019 regular budget. A review of the 

budget formulation processes to ensure that intergovernmental bodies receive 

essential and more results-focused information and analysis in a timely and coherent 

manner is also ongoing against a target date of March 2016. Moreover, the Board 
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notes that this is dependent on the revised timeline for the design and deployment of 

Umoja Extension 2;  

 (c) Updated guidance and policies planned under the extrabudgetary funding 

and management action plan have not yet been finalized. Guidance on preliminary 

conditions (for example, for immunities and privileges of the United Nations, single 

audit principle, procurement and recruitment) were due to be issued by December 

2015 but are in preliminary form only. Guidance on standard procedures for 

selecting implementing partners was also due to be formulated by March 2016, but 

work on the guidance is still ongoing;  

 (d) A number of the human resources strategy, management and accountability  

actions were still in progress and have missed planned completion dates. For 

example, by March 2016, the Office of Human Resources Management was due to 

have completed a global staff survey to assess staff satisfaction and create a 

benchmark against which future progress and trends can be measured. However, in 

June 2016, the Management Committee was told that the Office had started defining 

and designing the content of the survey.  

296. In the light of the delays noted above, the Board recommends that the 

Administration reassess the realism of the timelines set out in the risk action 

plans approved in June 2015.  

 

  Progress embedding enterprise risk management  
 

297. In the report of the Secretary-General on progress towards an accountability 

system in the United Nations Secretariat (A/66/692), it is maintained that “the 

Secretary-General strongly believes that enterprise risk management and internal 

control are a core responsibility of management at all levels”. The strong 

commitment of the Secretary-General and the Management Committee, together 

with the strong support of the General Assembly, provide a clear mandate to drive 

the pace of implementation of enterprise risk management and embed it at all levels 

of the Secretariat.  

298. As the Board reported previously, some departments have made progress by 

using templates and methodologies developed centrally to align their risk r egisters 

with the Secretariat’s enterprise risk management register. However there is little 

evidence that substantial progress has been made in embedding enterprise risk 

management across the Organization since the Board’s previous report (see A/70/5 

(Vol. I), chap. II, paras. 115-121). The Board was unable to establish precisely how 

many departments and offices had created risk registers and were actively managing 

them, as the adoption of enterprise risk management processes in the Secretariat is 

not tracked centrally by the Department of Management.  

299. The Secretary-General’s fifth progress report on accountability (A/70/668) 

reports that a pilot exercise to develop risk registers in peacekeeping missions was 

undertaken in the United Nations Organization Stabilization Mission in the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo. The Administration informed the Board that 

since then, a further five peacekeeping missions have used the results of the pilot 

and have developed or are developing their own risk registers.  

http://undocs.org/A/66/692
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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300. The Administration has started to implement the four actions that the Board 

recommended to embed enterprise risk management (see A/70/5 (Vol. I), chap. II, 

para. 122 (a)-(d)), but more remains to be done:  

 (a) Develop detailed enterprise risk management policies and procedures 

for staff to follow at departmental levels of the Organization to supplement the 

guidance in place for managing the critical enterprise risks. The current 

guidance is being used by some departments, but there is no requirement for it to be 

adopted consistently throughout the Secretariat. The Department of Management is 

simplifying the guidance to make it more user-friendly, but there is no target date 

for completion;  

 (b) Develop a detailed implementation plan for all elements of enterprise 

risk management that sets out a clear timetable, milestones, deliverables and 

resources required. There is no timetable or agreed deliverables. Although the 

Department of Management asserts that “additional resources” are required, there 

has been no assessment of the resources required and no evidence is available to 

support a business case for how much and for which activities;  

 (c) Increase the level of communication and training provided to staff on 

enterprise risk management policies and procedures. Although there remains no 

overall communication and training strategy, the Administration continues to ra ise 

awareness about enterprise risk management through dedicated intranet pages and 

articles on i-Seek. The enterprise risk management community of practice now has 

over 190 enterprise risk management practitioners across the United Nations 

system, an increase from the 100 practitioners reported previously. The Department 

of Management continues to organize an annual training session to facilitate 

knowledge-sharing and interaction with external experts, held most recently in 

January 2016. The e-learning course currently hosted in Inspira is also available 

through the United Nations System Staff College;  

 (d) Consider the acquisition of appropriate tools, including software, to 

support the implementation of enterprise risk management.  Preliminary work 

has been undertaken to identify enterprise risk management software, including a 

risk management system developed by the United Nations Office at Geneva. Umoja 

is considered too complex to use for enterprise risk management purposes, and an 

initial high-level assessment of software commercially available suggests that it 

would cost approximately $100,000. Other tools and methodological approaches 

have already been established and covered in existing guidance.  

301. Overall, while some important progress has been made, and taking into 

account the findings from its review of risk management in partner projects (see 

sect. H), the Board is concerned that there remain no firm plans or commitment to 

embed enterprise risk management at all levels of the Organization as originally 

intended. There is therefore a growing risk that without concerted action, the 

implementation of enterprise risk management across the United Nations will stall 

or even fail.  

302. The Administration informed the Board that it does not intend to take any 

further action to embed enterprise risk management at the departmental level 

without additional resources. In this regard, the Board notes that the Secretariat had 

made a commitment to implement enterprise risk management within existing 
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resources. As noted above, the Administration has not developed a costed plan that 

sets out how it could embed enterprise risk management at all levels of the 

Organization as previously recommended. Without such a plan, it is difficult to 

define the level and type of resources that may be required and whether further 

resources are indeed necessary.  

303. The Board reiterates its previous recommendation that the Administration 

develop a detailed implementation plan for all elements of enterprise risk 

management that sets out a clear timetable, milestones, deliverables and the 

resources required.  

 

 

 J. Managing the risk of fraud  
 

 

304. In recent years, the Board has consistently highlighted weaknesses in the way 

the Administration manages the risks arising from fraud and corruption, and has 

recommended that concerted action be taken. The United Nations is required to 

operate in high-risk environments and is exposed to a wide range of different fraud 

risks, both internal and external. Fraud and corruption may be opportunistic 

attempts by individuals that can add up to significant losses if not tackled, and if the 

perpetrators escape with light or insignificant punishments, it can create a culture in 

which wrongdoers appear to act with impunity. The large sums expended b y the 

United Nations mean that it may also be exposed to systematic, well -organized and 

premeditated fraud.  

 

  Progress in addressing the Board’s concerns  
 

305. In 2014, the Board made eight recommendations designed to improve the 

Administration’s ability to manage the risk of fraud (see A/69/5 (Vol. I)). Annex I to 

the present report provides details of the Administration’s response. Some progress 

has been made in reviewing the current suite of policy and guidance material on 

fraud, resulting in the issuance of draft guidelines, and a draft administrative 

instruction on disciplinary measures has also been issued for comment. However, 

these can be considered only very small steps forward, and little, if any, substantive 

progress has been made on the key recommendations. The Administration has still 

not performed a comprehensive fraud risk assessment, designed a central intake 

mechanism for fraud reporting or developed a framework for the systematic legal 

pursuit of all proven fraud.  

 

  Office of Internal Oversight Services and Joint Inspection Unit commentary 

on fraud  
 

306. The Board notes that in the past, OIOS has been critical of fraud reporting 

procedures and concluded that underreporting of fraud was likely. More recently, 

the Joint Inspection Unit produced a report that also highlighted weaknesses in the 

way the wider United Nations system organizations respond to fraud risks. The Joint 

Inspection Unit highlighted that much more needed to be done to combat fraud in 

the United Nations system and observed that some organizations continue to remain 

in a near state of denial regarding fraud. The Board considers the findings of the 

Joint Inspection Unit to be consistent with its own and is concerned that they 
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indicate a high degree of complacency among senior managers with respect to 

managing fraud risks.  

 

  Case study examination  
 

307. In 2016, the Board reviewed one confirmed case of fraud in detail to examine 

how long the process took and to review the sanction applied to the perpetrator. The 

details have been anonymized as far as possible as the case is still subject to the 

decision of the United Nations Dispute Tribunal.  

308. The case relates to a grant claim from a staff member, and the chronology of 

the main events is summarized below:  

 • In month 1, the staff member submitted a claim that raised suspicions within 

the Office of Human Resources Management.  

 • In month 3, the matter was referred to the staff member’s department, which in 

month 4 referred the matter to OIOS for investigation.  

 • In month 20, OIOS reported that the staff member had received almost 

$200,000 on the basis of claims that could not be authenticated. It reported 

that this may warrant referral to local law enforcement authorities and 

recommended that the Office of Legal Affairs take appropriate action, 

including the possible recovery of funds.  

 • The case was referred to the Office of Human Resources Management for 

disciplinary action in month 21, which issued a formal “charge letter” against 

the staff member in month 24, who responded with comments in month 26.  

 • The Office of Human Resources Management requested further information 

from OIOS and others before responding to the staff member in month 32.  

 • Further comments were received from the staff member in months 33 and 34, 

but the staff member was served with a notice of dismissal in month 35.  

 • The staff member concerned was paid her full salary up to the point of 

dismissal, together with any accrued leave earned up to that point. If entitled 

to repatriation, the staff member’s flight home would be payable by the 

Administration. No criminal action was initiated by the Administration against 

the individual, the staff member’s pension entitlement was unaffected, and 

none of the amount improperly claimed was recovered from the staff member.  

 • In month 38, the staff member filed an application with the Dispute Tribunal, 

which was heard in month 51. The decision of the Dispute Tribunal is 

currently awaited.  

309. The Board is concerned to note that considerable time, cost and effort have 

been expended on this case without it yet being concluded, and that none of the 

losses identified by OIOS have been recovered. The Administration informed the 

Board that as it does not have the same powers as local law enforcement authorities, 

it could not obtain sufficient evidence to establish the amount of any losses  with any 

precision. It was possible that the individual concerned would have been entitled to 

some grants had the claim been made differently.  



A/71/5 (Vol. I) 
 

 

94/288 16-16791 

 

310. The Board questioned why the Administration did not refer such cases to local 

law enforcement authorities so that they could use their powers to obtain the 

necessary information and launch a criminal prosecution if appropriate. Such action 

would have relieved the Administration of the costs of further investigation and 

would also send a clear message to staff that suspected criminal behaviour would be 

fully investigated by the local law enforcement authorities. Moreover, if a criminal 

prosecution is successful and the United Nations is a victim of a crime, the 

Regulations of the United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund provide for the recovery 

of losses from a staff member’s pension entitlement.  

311. The Administration considers that current procedures for informing relevant 

diplomatic missions of the outcome of investigations are sufficient. Thereafter, the 

decision on whether or not to launch criminal proceedings is left to the countries 

concerned. The Board notes that this approach results in very few criminal or civil 

actions against proven wrongdoers and appears to place international civil servants 

in a position of relative impunity compared to their counterparts in national civil 

service organizations.  

312. The Board reiterates its previous recommendations on fraud and strongly 

encourages management to review its approach to involving local law 

enforcement authorities in investigations of wrongdoing.  

 

 

 K. Business transformation 
 

 

313. In recent years, the Board has acknowledged management’s commitment to 

reform and transformation, noting good progress in areas such as IPSAS, Umoja, 

the global field support strategy and the development of revised strategies for 

managing core areas of business, such as ICT. However, the Board has frequently 

observed that major transformation projects have begun poorly and required 

significant intervention from senior managers and skilled teams to put them back on 

track. Other areas, for example, anti-fraud strategies, results-based management and 

enterprise risk management, have no implementation plan to measure against, and 

progress has consequently been slow. Overall, while important progress is being 

made, most improvement initiatives are late, over budget and subject to significant 

changes to the scope originally approved by Member States.  

314. The present section provides an overview of progress made in: (a) managing 

transformation initiatives; (b) designing a target operating model; and (c) establishing  

the capability to continuously improve.  

 

 1. Managing transformation  
 

315. The Board notes that business transformation is now a standing agenda item at 

the Management Committee. However, the time allotted for senior managers to 

discuss management reform is relatively short: 15 minutes per month currently. 

Also, and as noted previously, the progress updates are generally provided by those 

managers responsible for implementing the initiatives as there are no independent 

assurance reports for the Committee to draw on.  

316. The Administration is at different stages of planning or implementing a high 

number of complex and demanding reform initiatives, including:  
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 (a) Organizational redesign, for example, the global service delivery model, 

the global field support strategy and responding to the report of the High -level Panel 

on Peace Operations;  

 (b) ICT-enabled business change, for example, Umoja and the revised ICT 

strategy;  

 (c) Financial management, for example, implementation of IPSAS and 

professionalization of the finance function;  

 (d) Estates management, for example, flexible workplace strategies and 

major capital projects such as the capital master plan and the strategic heritage plan;  

 (e) Human resources, for example, mobility, workforce planning and 

responding to recommendations from the International Civil Service Commission as 

approved by the General Assembly;  

 (f) Strategic management processes, for example, enterprise risk 

management, anti-fraud strategies, results-based management and results-based 

budgeting implementation.  

317. Such a wide-ranging programme of reform places additional demands on core 

staff and requires strong central planning and coordination. The Under-Secretary-

General for Management, as the senior responsible officer for many of the 

initiatives and corporate risk owner for enterprise risk 2: organizational 

transformation, commissioned a working group comprising representatives of some 

of the reform initiatives, along with some business units, to design a risk treatment 

plan in June 2015. The working group has developed a common dashboard and 

integrated plan and, for the first time, holds regular bimonthly meetings to improve 

shared understanding of the current status of each initiative and identify any 

interdependencies.  

318. Although it is too soon to say whether these steps will improve delivery in 

terms of time, cost and scope, the actions taken by management are a positive step 

towards managing the reform initiatives as a portfolio.  

 

 2. Target operating model  
 

319. A target operating model is an articulation of the organizational structure, 

processes and resources required to achieve an organization’s strategic objectives. 

The operating model details what work will be delivered by which staff working in 

which departments and in which locations. It can also define how end-to-end 

business processes for programme delivery, management processes and 

administrative support processes will operate as an effective management system.  

320. The Administration acknowledged the need for such a target operating model, 

and in September 2015 presented a framework for the development of a global 

service delivery model for administrative support to the General Assembly. The 

Assembly requested the Secretary-General to develop a detailed proposal for the 

main part of its seventy-first session, consisting of a business case that included an 

end-state vision, clear goals and objectives and a detailed cost -benefit analysis 

containing information on qualitative and quantitative benefits.  
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321. As of June 2016, the detailed business case for the global service delivery 

model was still under development and therefore unavailable for audit. The 

Administration informed the Board that it intends to put forward options to 

consolidate certain administrative processes in “shared service centres”. Shared 

service centres are a component of several United Nations administrative support 

models, including those of UNDP, the Office of the United Nations High 

Commissioner for Refugees and the World Health Organization, and many other 

global public and private sector entities. Therefore, there are many lessons that the 

Secretariat could learn from the experience of others. Lessons learned from other 

organizations include the need to:  

 (a) Provide a clearly defined level of service to departments that are viewed 

as “customers” of services;  

 (b) Select which administrative services to consolidate on the basis of a 

careful analysis of what makes sense to help the “customer” deliver, not what is 

more convenient for the “providers” of administrative support functions;  

 (c) Put strong governance in place to ensure that administrative services 

provided by the shared service centres are not duplicated within departments;  

 (d) Design, manage and measure the service “end to end” to ensure that 

performance improves across the end-to-end process, not only in those process steps 

hosted by the shared service centre.  

322. The Administration planned to use information from the Umoja solution to 

support the business case for the global service delivery model, using process 

performance information as of February 2016 as a baseline from which to calculate 

proposed changes to the service model. The Board’s latest report on Umoja suggests 

that this could prove challenging as of June 2016: “the Administration has not 

yet … established a clear baseline from which it can measure the benefits actually 

achieved … the Administration has made very limited progress with regard to the 

Board’s recommendations on improving benefits realization, and has again failed to 

demonstrate it has in place a methodology which will deliver the maximum amount 

of quantitative (cashable, as opposed to non-cashable) and qualitative (service 

delivery) benefits” (see A/71/180, paras. 101 and 104).  

323. The Administration has since informed the Board that it has engaged a 

professional services consultancy firm to perform a baselining exercise using Umoja 

data.  

 

 3. Establishing the capability to continuously improve  
 

324. Continuous improvement is a management approach to improving delivery 

built on the principle that staff at all levels of an organization are best placed to 

identify improvements in their areas. A system of continuous improvement, common 

in many large public and private sector organizations, requires that staff are:  

 (a) Encouraged to continuously assess whether business processes are 

delivering optimal performance;  

 (b) Empowered to identify and solve problems that are affecting performance;   
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 (c) Trained in a standard approach to improvement, including problem-

solving tools and techniques;  

 (d) Supported in sharing effective ways of working across the organization 

to ensure that an improvement identified in one part of the organization is 

implemented everywhere.  

325. Completion of the centrally managed reform initiatives, such as Umoja, will 

provide some of the information and tools required to improve business management  

across the Secretariat. Each Under-Secretary-General’s personal compact includes 

requirements to implement and support key organizational reform initiatives such as 

Umoja, the mobility framework and enterprise risk management.  

326. Acknowledging the challenge of implementing an improvement agenda of this 

scale, the Board recommended that the Management Committee assess whether it 

had the tools and capabilities to support it in managing the organizational 

improvement programme, and that it devise a plan to address any gaps (see A/69/5 

(Vol. I), chap. II, para. 36). The Administration confirmed that it was confident it 

had the capabilities required to deliver the improvement programme, but did not 

consider it necessary to conduct a formal assessment of the tools and capabilities at 

its disposal.  

327. In the Board’s view, there is evidence that the Secretariat does not have all the 

capability required to deliver the mandated level of organizational improvements. 

The Board notes that the Secretariat is reliant on professional services firms to 

implement the majority of central improvement initiatives. In particular, the 

Secretariat has relied on such firms to address skills gaps in organizational change 

management in projects such as Umoja and the global service delivery model. In 

addition, few staff involved in the transformation projects have been trained in a 

recognized approach to continuous improvement, and the Board remains concerned 

that departments may not all have sufficient access to the skills and methodologies 

required to implement continuous improvement programmes effectively.  

328. The Board reiterates its previous recommendation that the Management 

Committee assess whether it has the tools and capabilities to support it in 

managing the organizational improvement programme, and that it devise a 

plan to address any gaps.  

329. The Board also reiterates its previous recommendation that the 

Administration establish a formal approach to managing and improving 

operations to enable continuous reform and improvement in departments.   

 

 

 L. Interim follow-up on the handling of information and 

communications technology affairs  
 

 

330. Effective information and communications technology (ICT) is essential in 

supporting a wide range of critical administrative and operational United Nations 

activities, both at Headquarters and in the field. It supports the management of 

critical United Nations activities, including those relating to finance, human 

resources management and logistics and field support.  
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331. To achieve an integrated Secretariat and enable the United Nations to be more 

efficient and effective, the General Assembly has sought to reform ICT across the 

Secretariat. Since 2006, it has taken a number of actions in support of this aim. 

These actions include:  

 (a) Creating the post of Chief Information Technology Officer, with 

responsibility for providing a strategic vision and leadership in the management of 

ICT;  

 (b) Seeking to implement a global strategy to maximize the value of ICT 

across the Secretariat;  

 (c) Establishing the Office of Information and Communications Technology 

to provide oversight of ICT programmes, budgets and decision-making and ensure 

alignment with the Secretariat’s overall ICT strategy.  

 

  Previous work undertaken by the Board  
 

332. In 2012, the Board found that the Administration’s initial efforts to implement 

its ICT strategy had not been successful (see A/67/651). The strategy could not be 

implemented through the work of a central ICT function that lacked the autho rity to 

enforce change. The Board concluded that a global ICT strategy was unlikely to be 

successful unless a number of fundamental managerial and structural issues were 

addressed. The Board recommended that the Administration develop a new ICT 

strategy, setting out the steps it proposed to take and the timeline and cost of 

implementation. The Board also identified serious concerns about the adequacy of 

the United Nations information security environment.  

333. The Administration accepted the Board’s recommendations on the ICT strategy 

and information security. After appointing a new Chief Information Technology 

Officer in May 2013, the Secretary-General presented his revised ICT strategy in 

2014 (see A/69/517). The three main objectives of the strategy are:  

 (a) The direction of ICT in support of organizational priorities, such as Umoja;   

 (b) Harmonization of existing infrastructure and processes;  

 (c) Greater emphasis on innovation to support the substantive work of the 

United Nations.  

334. In 2015, the Board reviewed the Administration’s progress and reported that 

although positive progress had been made, it was at a slower pace than the 

Administration had envisaged when developing the implementation timeline in 

2013. That was in part due to the managerial and governance issues highlighted by 

the Board in its previous report. For example, the Office of Information and 

Communications Technology had revised organizational structures and policies, but 

they had no formal status, and the Chief Information Technology Officer could not 

enforce full compliance across all departments with the activities necessary to 

implement the strategy. The Board again identified that, owing to the fragmented 

governance structure of the United Nations, there were significant limitations to 

what could be achieved until those issues were resolved.  

335. The Board also found that:  

http://undocs.org/A/67/651
http://undocs.org/A/69/517
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 (a) The Administration’s five-year forecast of ICT costs was based on 

incomplete data, which severely undermined the credibility and usefulness of the 

forecast;  

 (b) The timetable for implementing the strategy was ambitious and did not 

reflect a full understanding of the depth of the challenges that needed to be 

overcome;  

 (c) Although positive progress had been made across many areas of the 

strategy, the Administration’s approach to monitoring and reporting progress was 

inadequate and needed to be strengthened;  

 (d) The Administration had taken steps to improve information security, but 

there was a lack of formal authority and capacity to ensure compliance with policies 

and procedures.  

 

  Progress in implementing the Board’s recommendations  
 

336. The Board’s two reports on the handling of ICT affairs in the Secretariat 

(A/67/651 and A/70/581) contained 23 recommendations, of which 22 were 

accepted in full. One recommendation, concerning the need for the Administration 

to clarify the role and authority of the Chief Information Technology Officer in field 

operations, was only partially accepted by the Administration. The Board judged 

two recommendations implemented in its previous report. All 21 extant 

recommendations are under implementation, with progress being made in all areas 

(see table II.17). Further details are included in annex II.  

 

  Table II.17  

  Status of implementation of previous recommendations  
 

 

Fully 

implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Not 

implemented 

Overtaken  

by events 

Closed by 

the Board 

      
 Total 0 21 0 0 0 

Percentage 0 100 0 0 0 

 

Source: Board of Auditors.  
 

 

337. The nature of the recommendations means that some will take time to fully 

implement, but the Board has seen evidence that the Administration, and the Office 

of Information and Communications Technology in particular, are committed to 

implementing the recommendations and has plans in place to respond to its 

concerns. However, full implementation of other recommendations is less certain, as 

although the Office has taken action, the recommendations also require action by all 

parts of the Secretariat. For example, ensuring that staff undertake mandatory ICT 

security training is reliant on active enforcement by each head of department and so 

is outside of the Office’s control.  

338. In its resolution 70/238 B, the General Assembly endorsed the recommendations 

of the Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary Questions, which had 

requested that the Board provide annual progress reports on the implementation of 

the ICT strategy (see A/70/755). The Board will undertake a full review of progress 

http://undocs.org/A/67/651
http://undocs.org/A/70/581
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/238
http://undocs.org/A/70/755
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when planned ICT policies and procedures have been approved and have had time 

to be embedded (potentially in 2017). At this interim stage, the Board reports on the 

steps taken to date by the Administration in four main areas:  

 (a) Refining and improving the quality of the data underpinning the five -

year forecast of ICT costs;  

 (b) Reassessing the realism of the timetable for implementing the strategy 

and strengthening the project management approach, including the introduction of 

independent assurance arrangements;  

 (c) Formalizing corporate ICT policies and procedures, including governance 

structures and appropriate delegations of authority, to ensure that the necessary 

authorities and accountabilities are in place to support implementation of the strategy;   

 (d) Improving information security.  

 

  Information and communications technology expenditure  
 

339. The Board’s 2015 report (A/70/581) found an incomplete picture of ICT 

expenditure necessary for the Administration to make fully informed decisions 

about its future planning assumptions and plans for investment. In particular, the 

Department of Field Support, questioning the authority of the Chief Information 

Technology Officer in field operations, provided no data on ICT expenditure in 

peacekeeping operations. That meant that an estimated 72 per cent of total ICT costs 

were not included in the Administration’s analysis. The Board recommended that 

the Administration further refine and improve the quality of the data underpinning 

the five-year forecast of ICT expenditure by increasing visibility of actual 

expenditure and the status of ICT assets across all of the Secretariat, including 

peacekeeping operations.  

340. The Board reviewed the Administration’s progress in revising its five -year 

forecast of ICT costs in August 2016. At the time of audit, the forecast was still 

being prepared, with all information under review prior to the Office of Information 

and Communications Technology producing a revised forecast for inclusion in the 

Administration’s next progress report on the ICT strategy, and so was unavailable 

for audit. The Administration had taken the following steps to support an improved 

forecast and to increase the coherence of ICT budget proposals:  

 (a) The Office of Information and Communications Technology had issued 

guidelines to all ICT offices across the Secretariat, including the Department of 

Field Support, to provide data necessary for a revised five-year forecast. At the time 

of audit, all ICT cost information, including detailed information provided by the 

Department of Field Support, had been received by the Office;  

 (b) The Office had started using Umoja to support analysis of ICT posts and 

budgets in peacekeeping and across the Secretariat;  

 (c) The Office issued guidance to departments on a new process to review 

and coordinate proposals for 2018-2019 for investments, contracts, cost recovery 

and assets acquisitions from ICT offices.  

341. The Administration subsequently informed the Board that it had completed the 

five-year forecast and that total overall expenditure on ICT was some $366.4 million, 

http://undocs.org/A/70/581
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against a total revised appropriation of $368.1 million (99.5 per cent) for the 

biennium 2014-2015. Further details are to be included in the Secretary-General’s 

next report on the ICT strategy.  

342. In the absence of complete information, the Board attempted to review ICT 

costs incurred across the Secretariat entities by interviewing relevant officials and 

analysing general ledger and budget data, but was unable to produce complete or 

meaningful results owing to the absence of an agreed coding structure within IMIS 

to record ICT costs. Umoja does, however, contain an agreed and consistent ICT 

cost reporting framework and, on this basis, the Board will undertake a detailed 

examination of ICT costs during the seventy-first session of the General Assembly, 

drawing on the approach it took when auditing ICT expenditure in peacekeeping 

(see A/69/5 (Vol. II) and A/70/5 (Vol. II)).  

343. The Board also requested a detailed breakdown of information technology 

expenditure versus appropriation as reported in schedule 12, Information technology 

resources, in the introduction to the programme budget for the biennium 2016 -2017 

(A/70/6 (Introduction)). The Administration provided a breakdown of information 

technology expenditure by budget section for both post and non-post expenditure
6
 

for the regular budget in the biennium 2014-2015. Expenditure data for 

extrabudgetary (9.5 per cent of non-post) and other assessed contributions (3.2 per 

cent of non-post) was unavailable. As communications expenditure is not included 

in schedule 12, this information was not initially provided.  

344. The information provided indicates total expenditure on information technology 

resources only for 2014-2015 of $255.3 million, including some $136.2 million of 

expenditure on posts, which is also not included in schedule 12. Non-post 

expenditure for 2014-2015 was $119.0 million, a $123.1 million underspend against 

the $242.2 million appropriation for 2014-2015 for the regular budget. The Board’s 

review also found significant variances in budget utilization for information 

technology resources by section, ranging from 14.4 per cent for trade and 

development (section 12) to 232 per cent for humanitarian assistance (section 28). 

Management and support services (section 29), which includes OICT, has the largest 

non-post appropriation accounting for some $115.2 million (47.6 per cent). Data 

provided indicate expenditure of only $30.1 million, or 26.2 per cent utilization.  

345. The Administration informed the Board that with the conversion of financial 

systems to Umoja, data on non-post ICT expenditure cannot be easily extracted as it 

resides in both IMIS and Umoja. The Administration also informed the Board that the  

Office of Programme Planning, Budget and Accounts and the Office of Information 

and Communications Technology have confirmed the commitment items in Umoja 

related to ICT costs, including staff costs, to enable improved tracking of these 

expenditures in the future. In the Board’s view, this could improve in -year 

__________________ 

 
6
  Non-post expenditure includes: (a) contractual services; (b) data-processing furniture and 

equipment (acquisition and replacement of both hardware and software equipment as well as 

licences and subscriptions to online services); (c) data-processing supplies (printer cartridge, 

toner, colour ink, server parts, personal computer spare parts, subscription to Internet and digital 

equipment supplies); and (d) data-processing services (information technology contractual 

services and experts or consultants, specifically hires for development or implementation of 

information technology projects).  

http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.II)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.II)
http://undocs.org/A/70/6
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monitoring of expenditure which, during 2014-2015, appears to have not detected a 

significant underspend on IT resources until at the end of the budget cycle.  

 

  Project management  
 

346. In its December 2015 report (A/70/581), the Board noted that it could not 

provide assurance that overall implementation of the ICT strategy was on schedule 

and within budget. A project management office had been established, but progress 

was self-reported by project teams without any challenge or independent assurance. 

The Board was concerned that progress had been overstated and that there was a 

lack of realism in the project timeline given the complexity of the environment in 

which the strategy is being implemented.  

347. The Administration has taken positive action to improve project management 

by:  

 (a) Introducing more scrutiny of projects by the project management office. 

Two staff are assigned to review each project’s progress and status at periodic 

intervals. Where progress is not as expected, recovery plans — known as “get to 

green” plans — are developed and agreed, and progress against them monitored;  

 (b) Revising the approach to reporting project status by introducing a more 

consistent method for estimating progress, including reporting of risks and issues 

that may affect progress;  

 (c) Introducing a new change control process. Changes to project milestones 

or delivery dates must be agreed by the project management office so it can 

maintain an overview of overall progress;  

 (d) Starting to assess the overall impact of changes to individual project 

timelines on the overall plan with a view to creating a critical path. Although a 

revised timeline was being developed, it was not available for audit.  

348. The Administration informed the Board that 7 of the original 20 strategic 

projects are now complete and part of everyday operations, including establishing 

regional technology centres, ICT benchmarking exercises and upgrading Inspira. 

Although the Administration acknowledges that there remains work to do, the steps 

taken have improved its monitoring and assurance of ICT projects. An increased 

realism in project plans is evident from the 10 projects for which change requests 

were submitted between December 2015 and August 2016. These range from 

splitting the projects into phases to extending the timeline or changing scope. 

Previously, changes to projects were not agreed centrally, meaning that overall 

progress was difficult to assess and the effect on other projects could not be 

understood readily.  

349. Overall, in the Board’s view, the Office of Information and Communications 

Technology has strengthened project management disciplines in place to deliver the 

overall ICT strategy. The Board has stressed previously the importance of a realistic 

and pragmatic assessment of the timeline for the overall strategy, and reiterates its 

view that in the light of the challenges faced, the formulation and management of 

the strategy must be an iterative and continuous process (see A/67/651, summary).  

 

http://undocs.org/A/70/581
http://undocs.org/A/67/651


 
A/71/5 (Vol. I) 

 

16-16791 103/288 

 

  Information and communications technology policies and procedures  
 

350. The Board’s December 2015 report found that governance and management 

structures for ICT affairs had been revised, but accountabilities and authorities had 

not been formally updated. The Board identified that strong leadership and 

governance, supported by approved policies clearly setting out the roles and 

responsibilities of business units, would be key enablers of progress.  

351. However, those important components were not in place, and there remained a 

lack of agreement over which activities require strong central control and which 

activities require or merit operational freedom. Delegations of authority fro m the 

Chief Information Technology Officer had also not been finalized. The Administration  

expected to issue an updated Secretary-General’s bulletin during the first quarter of 

2016.  

352. At the time of audit, in August 2016, the updated Secretary-General’s bulletin 

had not yet been issued. The Administration subsequently informed the Board that 

although the updated bulletin had been delayed from the revised June 2016 timeline 

reported to the General Assembly, it came into effect on 20 September 2016. The 

Administration then envisages that delegations of authority will then follow, as will 

a matrix of responsibilities concerning local, regional and central control following 

completion of discussions with the Department of Field Support. The Board will 

review the effectiveness of these updated policies and procedures once they have 

been finalized and implemented and have had time to be embedded.  

 

  Information security  
 

353. The Office of Information and Communications Technology reported that five 

of the actions in its 10-point security action plan were now complete. The Board 

notes in particular that the e-mail filtering system has been enhanced and that 

increasing amounts of spam, Trojans and unknown malicious software are being 

detected.  

354. The Office informed the Board that work to complete the other five actions 

was ongoing, but was now being taken forward by regional technology centres and 

had been incorporated into their workplans.  

355. The Board notes that particular challenges have been faced in completing the 

below aspects of the 10-point security plan.  

 

  Information security training  
 

356. The Board’s December 2015 report identified that only 7,946 staff (19 per 

cent) had completed their mandatory security awareness training.
7
 The Board was 

concerned that there was a lack of formal authority and capacity to ensure 

compliance with policies and procedures, particularly away from Headquarters. The 

Board recommended that the Administration establish a robust compliance 

framework with the authorities necessary to ensure adherence to Secretariat-wide 

ICT policies, including those on information security.  

__________________ 

 
7
  Calculation based on 41,426 total staff members in the Secretariat in 2014 (see A/70/5 (Vol. I), 

chap. II, para. 66).  

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)


A/71/5 (Vol. I) 
 

 

104/288 16-16791 

 

357. As at August 2016, the security awareness training course had been completed 

by 31,578 staff (76 per cent). Increases in completion of the course have been 

achieved through awareness-raising campaigns, e-mail reminders to staff and 

information security events and articles. The Office of Information and 

Communications Technology also reported that other United Nations entities are 

now using the course to train their staff. The Board notes the progress made, but 

remains concerned that business units are not taking sufficient action to ensure that 

all their staff have completed the training. Ensuring that staff undertake mandatory 

ICT security training is reliant on active enforcement by each head of department 

and so is outside of the Office’s control.  

 

  Classifying information assets  
 

358. Ensuring that information is classified correctly is critical to ensuring that it is 

safeguarded appropriately, that resources for protection are utilized effectively and 

that the costly additional security measures are only applied to information that 

requires them. However, responsibility for classifying and storing information assets 

appropriately rests with individual business units and is not within the control of the 

Office of Information and Communications Technology.  

359. At the time of the Board’s December 2015 report, the Administration had not 

determined how to assess implementation of this action and reported that it was 

zero per cent complete. Work on this action is ongoing and is reliant on an approach 

to classifying information assets being agreed and enforced across the Secretariat. 

As at August 2016, the Administration was still determining how to assess whether 

business units have classified their information assets correctly and how it could 

ensure that they do so.  

 

  Mandatory implementation of minimum requirements for public websites  
 

360. Information security reviews of public website applications have been carried 

out to identify vulnerabilities in websites across the Secretariat. These assessments 

are ongoing. However, the Office of Information and Communications Technology 

estimates that more websites require reviews and that it would take a team of two 

people around three years to complete all of the assessments. The Office is instead 

seeking to identify external contractual support  to complete the work. A request for 

proposals has been issued and a contract for support to complete the testing of sites 

is expected to be in place by the end of 2016.  

 

  Intrusion detection system  
 

361. In 2013, the Administration identified the installation of an intrusion detection 

system across its network as critical to improving its capability to centrally collect, 

correlate and analyse internally generated alerts, notifications and systems log 

information. Such a system would detect many attacks in real time, allowing for a 

more timely response and hence limiting the damage caused by a compromise. As 

the independent operation of such a system requires specialized skills and 

knowledge, the Administration engaged a third party to deploy and manage t he 

system and to develop a long-term strategy for network security monitoring and 

intrusion detection/prevention.  
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362. In September 2015, the Administration reported that the initiative was 100 per 

cent complete. The sensors had been deployed at key points of the network, but did 

not cover all United Nations operations. The Board was informed that the 

Administration was considering expanding the initiative, but that it could have 

significant resource implications, and a cost-benefit analysis would need to be 

performed before any further expansion of the system. In August 2016, the Board 

was advised that the intrusion detection system had not been extended and that the 

costs and benefits of doing so were still being considered.  

 

  Overall conclusion on progress handling information and communications 

technology affairs  
 

363. The Administration has made progress in a number of areas since the Board’s 

report in December 2015. In particular, there has been improved and more 

collaborative work between the Office of Information and Communications 

Technology and the Department of Field Support to implement the ICT strategy 

mandated by the General Assembly. For example, they are working together to 

develop a revised five-year forecast of ICT costs and have taken steps to improve 

cooperation on issues such as information security. However, implementation of the 

strategy remains reliant on collaboration rather than established and agreed business 

rules. For the strategy to be implemented fully, it remains critical tha t revised 

policies and procedures be issued along with necessary delegations of authority. 

Once this happens, there must be full collaboration and support from all heads of 

business units, particularly in areas such as information security and consolidatio n 

of ICT resources. There also remains a need for the Office to complete its 

reassessment of the timeline for implementing the strategy, taking into account the 

depth of the challenges that need to be overcome.  

 

 

 M. Management disclosures  
 

 

  Write-off of losses of cash, receivables and property  
 

364. The Administration informed the Board that it had formally written off assets 

of $224.6 million, including receivable balances of $2.4 million and property, plant 

and equipment of $222.2 million. The write-off of property, plant and equipment 

predominantly related to the cost of the North Lawn Building ($188.5 million and 

net book value of $13.5 million), which was derecognized from the books as at 

31 December 2015 as the physical demolition had started, and UNMEER assets with  

a value of $11.0 million.  

 

  Ex gratia payments  
 

365. The Administration reported no ex gratia payments in 2015.  

 

  Cases of fraud and presumptive fraud  
 

366. In accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (International 

Standard on Auditing 240), the Board plans its audits of the financial statements so 

that it has a reasonable expectation of identifying material misstatements and 

irregularity (including those resulting from fraud). Its audit should not, however, be 
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relied upon to identify all misstatements or irregularities. The primary responsibility 

for preventing and detecting fraud rests with management.  

367. During the audit, the Board makes enquiries of management regarding its 

oversight responsibility for assessing the risks of material fraud and the processes i n 

place for identifying and responding to those risks, including any specific risks that 

management has identified or that have been brought to its attention. The Board also 

enquires whether management has any knowledge of any actual, suspected or 

alleged fraud. The Board has identified no instances of fraud in its audit, and no 

cases have come to its attention through its testing.  

368. For 2015, on the basis of information reported to the Controller, the 

Administration reported three new cases of fraud and a further three cases of 

presumed fraud. In only one case, related to the fraudulent cashing of cheques, has 

the loss to the Organization been estimated ($40,000). Subsequently, in August 

2016, the Administration reported a further three cases related to  2015, including 

one case of medical insurance fraud totalling $171,000, one case of suspected 

procurement irregularities ($1.7 million) and one case of suspected entitlement 

fraud ($7,000). At the time of audit, no recoveries had been made.  

369. The Board has previously reported that the Administration does not have 

adequate systems and procedures to ensure the complete and accurate reporting of 

fraud. No progress has been made to strengthen internal procedures over fraud 

reporting and consequently the Board can provide no assurance that the amounts 

reported by management and disclosed above are complete or accurate.  

 

 

 N. Acknowledgement 
 

 

370. The Board wishes to express its appreciation for the cooperation and 

assistance extended to its staff by the Under-Secretary-General for Management and 

the management and staff of the United Nations at all the locations visited and 

audited.  

 

 

(Signed) Mussa Juma Assad  

Controller and Auditor General of the United Republic of Tanzania  

Chair of the Board of Auditors  

(Signed) Sir Amyas C. E. Morse  

Comptroller and Auditor General of the  

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland  

(Lead Auditor)  

(Signed) Shashi Kant Sharma  

Comptroller and Auditor General of India  

 

17 October 2016  

 



 

 

 

A
/7

1
/5

 (V
o

l. I) 

1
6

-1
6

7
9

1
 

1
0

7
/2

8
8

 

Annex I 
 

  Status of implementation of recommendations (volume I)  
 

 

Report 

reference Summary of recommendation 

Administration’s comments on status — 

March 2016 

Board’s comments on status — 

June 2016 

Fully 

implemented 

Under 

implement-

ation 

Not 

implemented 

Overtaken 

by events 

Closed 

by the 

Board 

         
A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 21 

To improve account preparation 

procedures in 2015, the Board 

recommended that the Secretariat: 

(a) prepare a detailed and 

achievable timetable for preparing 

its 2015 financial statements, 

taking into account the lessons 

learned from the 2014 exercise 

and the timeline for implementing 

Umoja; (b) ensure sufficient 

finance staff with the required 

skills are available to complete the 

key accounting tasks required in 

the time available; (c) integrate 

key Umoja activities, such as data 

cleansing and conversion, training 

and user-support activities, into 

the planning of and timetable for 

the preparation of the accounts to 

ensure that the activities are 

aligned; and (d) perform an 

effective management review of 

the draft financial statements 

before their submission to the 

Board. 

The timing of some milestones 

for the financial statements for 

volume I slipped, including 

closure of the accounts 

receivable, accounts payable and 

funds management modules and 

the commencement of the 

accruals process. However, the 

Administration has reviewed and 

adjusted the financial statements 

action plan and remains confident 

of meeting the financial 

statements submission deadline 

of 31 May 2016.  

The Administration presented 

draft financial statements on 

31 May 2016; however, 

management’s review of the 

statements and financial 

report lacked rigour. The 

Administration was also 

seriously underprepared for 

the audit, the documentation 

supporting the financial 

statements was not of 

auditable quality and a 

number of significant errors 

were noted. The Board has 

commented on this in its 

report. 

   X  

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 28 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration transform the 

finance function into a more 

strategic value-adding service and 

support that transformation with a 

wider financial management 

training programme to enhance 

financial literacy and management 

across the Organization. 

As part of the IPSAS 

sustainability plan, the Office of 

Programme Planning, Budget and 

Accounts is piloting professional 

financial management training, 

which includes making the 

Chartered Institute of Public 

Finance and Accountancy 

qualification available to Office 

staff members and integration of 

training for the qualification into 

the organizational training 

Following the approach 

adopted by six agencies, the 

Administration has four 

Office of Programme 

Planning, Budget and 

Accounts staff members 

enrolled in the training 

programme. This pilot will 

determine the focus of a 

wider training programme. 

However, there is no 

evidence that the 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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Report 

reference Summary of recommendation 

Administration’s comments on status — 

March 2016 

Board’s comments on status — 

June 2016 

Fully 

implemented 

Under 

implement-

ation 

Not 

implemented 

Overtaken 

by events 

Closed 

by the 

Board 

         programme. This pilot will assist 

the Administration in determining 

future requirements.  

Administration has started to 

transform the finance 

function into a more strategic 

value-adding service. The 

Board therefore considers 

this recommendation under 

implementation. 

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 40 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration: (a) develop 

standard approaches and 

methodologies for measuring the 

costs of providing services to 

internal and external users; and 

(b) identify how Umoja can 

support more transparent 

recording, analysis and reporting 

of the full costs of activities. 

This recommendation will have 

to be implemented in a phased 

manner over multiple years, as it 

involves significant analysis and 

effort, backed by standardization 

of processes implemented 

through Umoja. Steps have 

already been taken and 

implemented; for example, all 

cost recovery activities for 

non-peacekeeping operations 

have been implemented with a 

standard process in Umoja, and 

there is a new service catalogue, 

rate cards and cost plans.  

The Administration plans to 

review the service catalogues to 

introduce more standardization 

and the rate cards for greater 

consistency in the cost and 

pricing elements. The Umoja 

coding block has also been 

designed and implemented in all 

clusters to facilitate improved 

measurement of the cost of 

services.  

Overall, the Administration 

expects to progressively improve 

in every cycle of review of 

services and rate cards. 

The development of a new 

service catalogue for cost 

recovery activities is a 

positive step; however, many 

inconsistencies exist in the 

costing of services to internal 

and external users. The Board 

has commented further on 

this in its report. While the 

Administration reported that 

the Umoja coding block was 

designed with a view to 

facilitating better 

measurement of the costs of 

services, the Board has seen 

no evidence of the use of this 

functionality yet. The Board 

therefore considers this 

recommendation under 

implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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Report 

reference Summary of recommendation 

Administration’s comments on status — 

March 2016 

Board’s comments on status — 

June 2016 

Fully 

implemented 

Under 

implement-

ation 

Not 

implemented 

Overtaken 

by events 

Closed 

by the 

Board 

         
A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 55 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration develop the tools, 

capacity and capability to generate 

comprehensive and detailed 

information that can be used to 

better understand, manage and 

control staff costs and to provide 

more accurate, timely and 

complete management information 

to support decision-making. 

The Administration stands ready 

to explain the issues and 

components driving the 

management of staff costs. No 

further update. 

While the use of standard 

costs for the management of 

the regular budget is one 

aspect of managing and 

controlling staff costs, the 

Administration does not have 

accurate, timely and complete 

management information to 

support decision-making, as 

noted in the response to the 

previous recommendation. 

The Board considers this 

recommendation under 

implementation. 

 X    

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 60 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration examine the 

underlying causes of the 

differences in average claim costs 

to determine whether there is 

scope to reduce the costs of 

administering the schemes. 

The Office of Programme 

Planning, Budget and Accounts is 

monitoring average claim costs 

and an investigation will be 

undertaken if the trend warrants 

it. Additional disclosure in the 

notes to the financial statements 

will also be considered if 

appropriate. The Administration 

requests that the recommendation 

be closed. 

The Board has seen no 

evidence that the 

Administration has actively 

monitored average claim 

costs. The Board considers 

this recommendation not 

implemented. 

  X   

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 64 

The Board recommended that 

arrangements be made to conduct 

an open-book audit of the third-

party administrators to provide 

assurance over the accuracy of 

reported costs and activities 

performed by the Administration’s 

agents and to confirm that they 

have complied with their 

contractual obligations. The 

inspection rights under those 

contacts should be exercised 

regularly in future. 

The procurement process for 

selecting an audit firm is 

currently under way.  

No progress has been made to 

perform an open-book audit 

of the third-party 

administrators. The Board 

considers this 

recommendation not 

implemented. 

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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         A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 74 

The Board reiterated its previous 

recommendation and encouraged 

the Secretariat to expedite work 

on developing workforce planning 

as a matter of urgency. 

Once Umoja is fully deployed, 

there will be better alignment of 

process and management of 

information between budget and 

human resources functions. 

Further alignments are envisaged 

as part of the Umoja Extension 2 

and mobility programmes. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response 

and considers this 

recommendation not 

implemented. 

  X   

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 80 

The Board recommended that the 

Secretariat: (a) develop an 

appropriate mechanism to ensure 

that budget and human resources 

functions currently handled in 

silos by the Office of Human 

Resources Management and the 

Office of Programme Planning, 

Budget and Accounts are better 

coordinated to improve strategic 

human resources planning; 

(b) review job profiles to ensure 

each post is categorized within an 

appropriate job family and 

network using a common standard 

classification system; and 

(c) consider the scope for 

developing a workforce planning 

module in the scope of Umoja. 

A preliminary dialogue between 

the Office of Human Resources 

Management and the Office of 

Programme Planning, Budget and 

Accounts is already under way to 

ensure that the financial 

implications of human resources 

contractual arrangements are 

better coordinated. In addition, 

the Office of Programme 

Planning, Budget and Accounts is 

increasing the coordination with 

the Office of Human Resources 

Management to ensure that 

financial agreements do not 

undermine human resources 

policies. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response 

and considers this 

recommendation under 

implementation. 

 X    

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 83 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration review, update and 

rationalize the current delegations 

of authority. 

Delegations of authority were 

reviewed when determining 

Umoja enterprise roles, which 

specified the positions, the role 

assignment restriction/limitation, 

the segregation of duty and 

mandatory training to be 

completed in order to be assigned 

the role.  

Some rationalization was done 

through this exercise and further 

rationalization may be needed in 

the context of any future global 

service delivery model. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response 

and considers this 

recommendation under 

implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 84 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration produce a 

consolidated policy document 

which clearly sets out delegations 

of authority, and that the Office of 

Human Resources Management 

establish an assurance and 

oversight framework to monitor 

the exercise of delegated powers 

and ensure that they are exercised 

in conformity with the approved 

policy. 

Delegations of authority were 

reviewed when determining 

Umoja enterprise roles, which 

specified the positions, the role 

assignment restriction/limitation, 

the segregation of duty and 

mandatory training to be 

completed in order to be assigned 

the role.  

Some rationalization was done 

through this exercise and further 

rationalization may be needed in 

the context of any future global 

service delivery model. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response 

and considers this 

recommendation under 

implementation. 

 X    

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 92 

The Board recommended that the 

Office of Human Resources 

Management monitor the 

implementation of the Secretary-

General’s bulletin on employment 

and accessibility for staff 

members with disabilities in the 

United Nations Secretariat 

(ST/SGB/2014/3). 

An initial draft of the 

administrative instruction on 

accessibility for staff members 

with a disability has been 

completed and will shortly be 

circulated to departments and 

offices for consultation. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response 

and considers this 

recommendation not 

implemented. 

  X   

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 93 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration address gaps in 

access to data on sick leave for 

comprehensive and timely 

reporting and develop capability 

to gather information on key 

health-care parameters covering 

all its clients across the United 

Nations system for more 

comprehensive reporting on status 

and policy issues. 

The Medical Services Division 

has been developing a sick leave 

dashboard in Umoja. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response 

and considers this 

recommendation under 

implementation. 

 X    

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 98 

The Board recommended that the 

Office of Human Resources 

Management: (a) consider 

capturing information on the spans 

of control of first and second 

reporting officers with a view to 

Recommendations (a) and (b) are 

considered completed. HR 

Insight now includes a 

performance management 

dashboard that provides data on 

completion rates and the number 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response 

and considers this 

recommendation under 

implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/ST/SGB/2014/3
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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         identifying cases where such 

spans are unacceptably large 

compared with office norms; 

(b) consider the use of enhanced 

data analytics for additional 

dashboard reports that would 

facilitate analysis of individual 

performance grading of individual 

employees; and (c) consider 

enhancing system applications to 

aggregate information on 

individual development plans and 

training activities to be 

undertaken. 

of supervisees each first 

reporting officer has, aiding 

comparisons between 

departments. The Dashboard also 

includes a chart on the ratings 

distribution within the 

department.  

For part (c), the Office awaits the 

General Assembly’s review of the 

comprehensive performance 

management proposal as its 

decision will guide the Office on 

the next steps to be taken. 

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 104 

The Board recommended that the 

Office of Human Resources 

Management expedite the progress 

and resolution of disciplinary 

cases and develop a centralized 

monitoring system to track the 

number of ongoing investigations 

of alleged misconduct from the 

stage when a complaint is 

formally lodged or recommended 

by OIOS. 

The setting up of a centralized 

monitoring system of 

investigations is being discussed 

by the Office of Human 

Resources Management, OIOS, 

the Department of Field Support 

and the Department of 

Management, including during 

staff/management consultations 

on the new policy on 

investigations and the 

disciplinary process. Under the 

revised policy, expected in 2016, 

OIOS will receive information 

about investigations Secretariat-

wide. There is no obligation on 

OIOS to track or otherwise 

monitor the information. OIOS 

indicated that such monitoring or 

tracking is only feasible once a 

centralized online system for 

reporting misconduct is put in 

place, and possible software is 

being considered by OIOS. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response 

and considers this 

recommendation under 

implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 122 

The Board recommended that the 

Secretariat: (a) develop detailed 

enterprise risk management 

policies and procedures for staff to 

follow at departmental levels of 

the Organization to supplement 

the guidance in place for 

managing the critical enterprise 

risks; (b) develop a detailed 

implementation plan for all 

elements of enterprise risk 

management that sets out a clear 

timetable, milestones, deliverables 

and resources required; 

(c) increase the level of 

communication and training 

provided to staff on enterprise risk 

management policies and 

procedures; (d) consider the 

acquisition of appropriate tools, 

including software, to support the 

implementation of enterprise risk 

management; and (e) introduce 

regular progress reports to inform 

the Management Committee of the 

status of implementation of 

enterprise risk management 

throughout the Organization and 

to provide assurance that risks are 

being managed and mitigated 

effectively. 

As mentioned previously, the 

implementation of enterprise risk 

management at department and 

office level — that is, beyond the 

entity-wide level — and the 

acquisition of dedicated 

enterprise risk management 

systems that could support that 

process will require the 

availability of additional 

resources. 

As noted in section I of its 

report, in the Board’s view, 

limited progress has been 

made against this 

recommendation.  

The Board considers this 

recommendation not 

implemented until concerted 

efforts are made to 

systematically embed 

enterprise risk management at 

all levels of the Secretariat.  

  X   

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 128 

The Board reiterated its previous 

recommendations on fraud and 

strongly encouraged management 

to take concerted and urgent 

action to strengthen its counter-

fraud policies and procedures. 

Under the chairmanship of Office 

of the Under-Secretary-General 

for Management, a working 

group comprising representatives 

from the different functional 

areas of the Secretariat prepared 

a preliminary draft of a 

comprehensive anti-fraud and 

anti-corruption framework for the 

Organization. The document, 

which will be submitted for 

The Board has not noted any 

urgent or concerted action to 

address its main concerns on 

fraud.  

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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         formal consultations with all the 

oversight bodies (the Board of 

Auditors, OIOS, the Independent 

Audit Advisory Committee and 

the Joint Inspection Unit) at the 

beginning of March, will be 

issued in April 2016. 

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 136 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration review the United 

Nations Procurement Manual and 

associated guidance material to 

clarify the circumstances in which 

delegated authority can be 

exercised and to indicate the 

criteria to be applied to determine 

when issues should be referred to 

a higher body. 

The Administration found that 

the most relevant document in 

which such guidance should be 

included is the “document 

processing authority”, attached to 

the delegation of procurement 

authority granted by the Assistant 

Secretary-General for Central 

Support Services. On 14 August 

2015, the document processing 

authority for the Procurement 

Division was revised to clarify 

how to process contracts and 

purchase orders amendments on 

the basis of the nature of the 

amendment itself. The document 

processing authority for the 

Department of Field Support is 

still being updated. 

The review of delegated 

authority and revision of 

process of issuing 

amendments to contracts/ 

purchase orders on the basis 

of their nature is a welcome 

step, but that is not sufficient 

in itself. The role of contract 

review committees needs to 

be clarified and strengthened. 

Furthermore, there is another 

outstanding recommendation 

(see A/67/5 (Vol. I), chap. II, 

para. 130) where review of 

delegations granted to the 

United Nations Office at 

Vienna and the United 

Nations Office at Geneva is 

still in progress.  

On this basis, the 

recommendation remains 

under implementation. 

 X    

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 138 

The Board recommended that: 

(a) procedures be stipulated to 

ensure greater coordination 

between the Department of Field 

Support and the Procurement 

Division in the chartering of 

aircraft so as to obviate the 

possibilities of engaging aircraft 

in excess of requirements or those 

that do not conform to technical 

specifications; (b) the process of 

This recommendation is led by 

the Department of Field Support 

as the decision on demand 

planning to execute contract 

actions is in the ownership of the 

Department. 

Following the award of a contract 

and deployment of the aircraft, 

mission aviation sections and 

mission aviation safety sections 

The Administration provided 

no additional information on 

the procurement cases 

mentioned by the Board. On 

this basis, the Board 

considers this 

recommendation under 

implementation.  

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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         technical evaluation of proposals 

be strengthened; (c) such 

procedures should include an 

effective post-contract technical 

confirmation of the technical 

compliance of the aircraft 

provided by the vendor with the 

specifications stipulated in the bid 

documents; and (d) an 

accountability mechanism be put 

in place to ensure that contract 

actions are initiated only after 

adequate planning with reference 

to mandate, strategy and technical 

specifications. 

conduct a thorough inspection of 

the aircraft and crew documents 

against the terms and conditions 

of the long-term air charter 

agreement. Aircraft and crew are 

cleared for operations only when 

they are found to be in full 

compliance with the terms and 

conditions. 

However, although the final 

decision remains with the 

Department of Field Support, the 

Procurement Division continues 

to ensure that contract actions are 

initiated only after consultation 

with the Department to ensure 

that the contract meets the 

Department’s mandate, strategy 

and technical specifications, and 

that relevant documentation is on 

file.  

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 142 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration continue to 

enhance its procurement and 

contract management capability 

by continuing its efforts to 

develop a career path for 

procurement professionals. This 

should include further training and 

other avenues, for example 

outward secondments, and the 

continued recruitment of 

procurement professionals. 

In addition to the four existing 

modules for online procurement 

training (fundamentals of 

procurement, overview of the 

United Nations Procurement 

Manual, best value for money, 

and ethics and integrity in 

procurement), the Procurement 

Division introduced three 

additional modules in 2014: 

contracts management, 

acquisition planning and 

contractual issues in purchasing.  

These training modules were 

already in place at the time of 

the Board’s audit in 2015. 

There is no evidence of a 

career path and further 

professionalization. 

This recommendation is 

Secretariat-wide. Although 

the Department of Field 

Support has tried to address 

the requirement of training to 

staff, it has not conveyed to 

the Board how many 

Secretariat staff in total have 

been trained versus how 

many require training. 

The recommendation 

therefore remains under 

implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 163 

To enable stakeholders to assess 

performance more readily, the 

Board recommended that the 

Administration revise the 

performance measurement and 

reporting framework to ensure that 

annual budget reports provide a 

clear comparison of actual and 

planned performance of missions. 

The Department of Feld Support 

recognizes the need for 

improvement in the reporting 

framework, while acknowledging 

the responsibility of the Office of 

Programme Planning, Budget and 

Accounts for issuing the 

Secretary-General’s performance 

reports on the programme budget. 

The Office confirms its prior 

response to this recommendation. 

The revised reporting 

framework now includes 

planned versus actual 

performance for the prior 

period.  

On this basis, the Board 

views this recommendation 

as implemented. 

X     

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 169 

The Board recommended that the 

Department of Political Affairs 

work with all involved entities to 

develop a target operating model 

for the provision of support to all 

special political missions that 

clearly defines roles and 

responsibilities, the resources 

required and how performance 

would be measured. 

The Department of Political 

Affairs already has a service 

level agreement with the 

Department of Field Support that 

clearly defines the model of 

special political missions 

supported by the Department of 

Field Support. Performance is 

measured through the compacts 

of each head of mission. Surveys 

done by the various service 

centres help with performance 

measurement. 

The Administration’s 

response does not address the 

Board’s recommendation, 

made as a result of the 

findings contained in 

paragraphs 164-168 of 

chapter II of its previous 

report.  

At the time of the previous 

audit, there was no current, 

formal or documented design 

of the special political 

mission operating model 

regardless of cluster (not just 

field-based entities). The 

Board concluded that the 

service level agreement with 

the Department of Field 

Support did not adequately 

address its concerns, hence 

the recommendation. 

The Board has seen no 

evidence that this situation 

has progressed, and on this 

basis concludes that the 

recommendation is not 

implemented.  

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 178 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration strengthen its 

efforts to monitor and enforce 

compliance with the 16-day 

advance purchase rule by special 

political missions, including by 

developing a suite of management 

information reports that provide 

key information on the date of 

ticket purchases, the class of 

travel and the cost of flights. 

Compliance with the 16-day 

advance purchase policy is 

monitored on a quarterly basis. 

The Umoja business intelligence 

report currently under 

development and testing is 

expected to include the key 

information requested on the date 

of ticket purchase, the class of 

travel and the cost of flights. The 

following indicator is indeed part 

of the Department of Field 

Support performance and 

monitoring framework that the 

Department is finalizing: “Travel 

compliance: % of tickets issued 

16+ days before travel”.  

The Department of Political 

Affairs is making all efforts to 

comply. The Executive Office of 

the Department reviews all travel 

requests to ensure compliance or 

detailed explanations in the 

inevitable situations of 

non-compliance, given the 

unpredictable work of the 

Department. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response. 

 X    

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 184 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration develop a range of 

financial performance indicators 

for measuring and reporting travel 

costs and compliance with the 

16-day advance purchase rule, 

which will promote greater cost-

consciousness and compliance 

with travel policies. 

Full introduction of the Umoja 

travel module (cluster 5) has 

been postponed from April to 

September 2016. 

The Board notes that: 

(a) introducing the Umoja 

travel module will not in 

itself fully address the 

recommendation unless it 

leads to improved 

management; (b) cluster 5 

has again been postponed 

until November 2016. 

The Board views this 

recommendation as not 

implemented. 

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
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A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 192 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration include 

consideration of wider aspects of 

United Nations operations in 

subsequent phases of the global 

service delivery model so as to 

ensure effective support to 

programmes. 

In section XIX of its resolution 

70/248 A, the General Assembly 

requested the Secretary-General 

to submit to it a detailed proposal 

on the global service delivery 

model at its seventy-first session 

and stressed that the development 

of the global service delivery 

model is to be limited to the 

provision of administrative 

support services.  

The Board closes this 

recommendation.  

    X 

A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 197 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration establish a formal 

approach to managing and 

improving operations to enable 

continuous reform and 

improvement in departments. 

The Administration considers this 

recommendation implemented as 

there are many structures used to 

manage the Organization’s 

operations as well as formal 

organizational improvement.  

One of the Management 

Committee’s key functions is to 

consider “internal reform and 

management-related initiatives 

and issues, including change 

management processes, requiring 

strategic direction from the 

Secretary-General” (see 

ST/SGB/2011/3). In parallel, the 

Secretary-General manages his 

programme of reforms and 

improvements through:  

(a) Steering committees (such 

as for Umoja, ICT, the global 

service delivery model and 

IPSAS);  

(b) Panels and working groups; 

(c) Senior managers’ compacts;  

(d) Enterprise risk management;  

(e) Staff development plans. 

As noted in Section K of this 

report, the Administration’s 

response demonstrates a 

limited understanding of what 

a formal approach to 

continuous improvement 

comprises, even though this 

is a common management 

approach in many public and 

private sector organizations, 

first discussed with the Board 

in 2012. 

On this basis, this 

recommendation is 

considered not implemented, 

and is unlikely to be 

implemented without a 

significant rethink. 

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/248
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/ST/SGB/2011/3
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A/70/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 199 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration urgently enhance 

its capability to coordinate 

ongoing transformation projects. 

The Administration considers this 

recommendation to be 

implemented. Under the 

leadership of the Under-

Secretary-General for 

Management as corporate risk 

owner, a working group 

comprising representatives of all 

the transformation initiatives and 

the different functional areas 

designed a comprehensive risk 

treatment plan, which was 

formally approved by the 

Management Committee in July 

2015. 

In section K of its report, the 

Board notes that some 

progress has been made 

regarding the 

Administration’s ability to 

coordinate the various 

transformation initiatives. 

However, in the Board’s 

view, more needs to be done.  

This recommendation is 

therefore under 

implementation.  

 X    

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 29 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration establish how and 

under what time frame it would be 

able to more closely link budget 

consumption with what has been 

delivered in terms of outputs and 

outcomes; and with this aim in 

mind, set out a detailed plan for 

embedding results-based 

management as part of business as 

usual, defining clear 

responsibilities and resources. 

The Office of Programme 

Planning, Budget and Accounts 

confirms its prior response to this 

recommendation.  

In section D of the Board’s 

report it is confirmed that the 

Administration does not 

intend to start detailed 

planning until 2017 at the 

earliest. 

On this basis, this 

recommendation is not 

implemented.  

  X   

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 36 

The Board recommended that the 

Management Committee assess 

whether it has the tools and 

capabilities to support it in 

managing the organizational 

improvement programme, and that 

it devise a plan to address any 

gaps. 

One of the functions of the 

Management Committee is to 

“consider internal reform and 

management-related initiatives 

and issues, including change 

management processes, requiring 

strategic direction from the 

Secretary-General” (see 

ST/SGB/2011/3). 

Under the Management 

Committee’s guidance, the 

secretariat of the Management 

Committee and representatives 

As reported in section I of its 

report, the Board has seen no 

evidence that such an 

assessment has been 

performed.  

The Board also notes that the 

United Nations is reliant on 

management consultants to 

deliver its organizational 

transformation initiatives, for 

example, Umoja and the 

global service delivery 

model, indicating that it does 

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/ST/SGB/2011/3
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         from the Departments 

continuously review and assess 

the tools and capabilities 

available to support the 

management of the 

organizational improvement 

programme and to address any 

gaps. Proposals are presented to 

the Management Committee for 

consideration and 

implementation. 

The Administration cordially 

requests the Board of Auditors to 

consider this recommendation as 

implemented. 

not have the tools and 

capabilities in place. 

On this basis, the Board 

views this recommendation 

as not implemented. 

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 44 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration develop plans for 

the production of monthly 

management accounts and 

improved financial reports to 

management, drawing on the 

opportunities being provided by 

IPSAS and the new enterprise 

resource planning system. 

The Administration continues to 

provide regular financial 

management updates to the 

Management Committee and will 

continue to improve the content 

of these presentations as more 

information becomes available as 

more Umoja functionality is also 

deployed. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response. 

However, the Board has seen 

no firm plans for the 

production of monthly 

management accounts. This 

recommendation is therefore 

considered under 

implementation. 

 X    

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 48 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration, as part of its work 

on enterprise risk management, 

develop a strategy to enhance the 

accountability and internal control 

framework, including the 

development of a “statement on 

internal control” or equivalent 

document. This replaces the 

Board’s previous recommendation 

on internal control (A/67/5 

(Vol. I), chap. II, para. 171).  

Under the leadership of the 

Controller, the Secretariat will 

use the Committee of Sponsoring 

Organizations of the Treadway 

Commission model as the basis 

for its future statement of internal 

control, with an envisaged 

implementation timeline in the 

financial year 2018. The process 

will be fully integrated and 

aligned with the Secretariat’s 

enterprise risk management 

framework. 

The Board acknowledges the 

Administration’s future plans, 

noting that no progress has 

been made to date. 

On this basis, this 

recommendation is viewed as 

not implemented. 

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
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A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 56 

The Board recommended the 

Administration develop a deeper 

understanding of its cost base and 

therefore the capability to 

compare and benchmark its 

administrative overheads and the 

performance of its business 

functions to drive more cost-

effective delivery. This might 

entail creating a general ledger of 

analysis codes for administrative 

and programme expenditure (and 

classifying each transaction to the 

appropriate code). 

Umoja already enables better 

understanding of the cost base of 

the Organization’s support 

services. The implementation of 

this recommendation should be 

seen in the context of the 

Administration’s response to 

newer recommendations on cost 

issues.  

While acknowledging the 

Administration’s response to 

this recommendation, the 

Board has seen no evidence 

that the information in Umoja 

is being used to compare and 

benchmark administrative 

overheads and the 

performance of its business 

functions to drive more cost-

effective delivery.  

The Board considers this 

recommendation not 

implemented. 

  X   

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 60 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration prepare annual 

updates on the trends in, and 

funding options for, end-of-

service liabilities in order to keep 

the General Assembly fully 

informed of the longer-term 

funding requirements associated 

with the pay-as-you-go approach. 

In-depth financial reporting on 

the latest after-service health 

insurance liability calculations 

was presented to the Fifth 

Committee during its first 

resumed session (see A/70/590). 

The report was also presented to 

the Independent Audit Advisory 

Committee. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response to 

this recommendation. The 

Board considers this 

recommendation 

implemented. 

X     

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 77 

The Board also recommended that 

the Administration perform a 

review of the budget process and 

implement an improved end-to-

end budget process, including the 

information and communications 

technology elements of Umoja 

Extension 2. 

The budget formulation project is 

now under way as part of Umoja 

Extension 2. The Administration 

is also reviewing the budget 

processes for potential 

improvements as a follow-up to 

the recommendations in the 

report of the High-level Panel on 

Peace Operations. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response 

and considers this 

recommendation under 

implementation.  

 X    

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 100 

The Board recommended that the 

Office for the Coordination of 

Humanitarian affairs perform a 

skills needs assessment of the 

standard fund management 

process as described in the latest 

guidance and develop a costed 

training plan for staff at all levels, 

The Administration considers this 

recommendation implemented. In 

November 2015, the Office rolled 

out a comprehensive training 

framework for country-based 

pooled funds, targeted at 

supporting practitioners to 

implement the new global 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response 

and the training framework 

for country-based pooled 

funds. While training is 

ongoing, the Board is 

satisfied that the Office has 

developed a training plan and 

X     

http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/590
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
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         including increasing management 

capability both in the field and at 

Headquarters. 

guidelines for country-based 

pooled funds. Training sessions 

were ongoing throughout 2015 

and will be ongoing throughout 

2016 (in accordance with the 

training planning document). 

The framework has three main 

components: policy, management 

and oversight of country-based 

pooled funds. Each component 

has submodules on areas such as 

allocation strategy, resource 

mobilization, accountability and 

risk-based grant management, as 

well as fraud awareness and 

response. Staff are also trained to 

use the grants management 

system.  

therefore considers this 

recommendation 

implemented. 

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 103 

The Board recommended that the 

Office for the Coordination of 

Humanitarian Affairs require 

clusters and technical review 

boards to strengthen the 

consideration of previous project 

and implementing partner 

performance when recommending 

a project for approval by the 

humanitarian coordinator. This 

should include an assessment of: 

• The non-governmental 

organizations concerned, 

including past delivery 

performance across United 

Nations entities, and due 

diligence on the company and 

key individuals 

• The type of project, including 

the likelihood of successful 

delivery of the intended 

benefits, for example 

During the allocation process, 

assessments are made of the 

non-governmental organization, 

the type of project and the 

location in relation to monitoring 

requirements.  

The Office is preparing to roll out 

the performance index to assess 

partner performance and indicate 

to fund management staff when a 

partner’s risk level should be 

adjusted.  

As indicated in the Operational 

Handbook for Country-based 

Pooled Funds, project viability 

(type of activity and location, 

among other things) is assessed 

during the allocation process by 

strategic and technical review 

committees, allowing feedback 

and improvement where the 

clusters and the Office believe 

The Board notes the Office’s 

response and has seen 

evidence of project and 

partner due diligence 

assessments during its audit 

of the Office’s operations in 

Jordan and Yemen. However, 

the Board has seen limited 

evidence that the Office 

actively considers its ability 

to monitor projects and 

develop appropriate 

monitoring plans prior to 

project approval. The Board 

therefore considers this 

recommendation under 

implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
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         distribution of cash vouchers 

(high risk) versus construction 

(lower risk)  

• The location of the project and 

the ability to monitor progress.  

unviable projects are being 

presented.  

For projects in areas with limited 

access because of insecurity, 

partners must propose a viable 

monitoring and reporting plan. 

The Office submits the 

monitoring and reporting plan for 

the allocation to the 

Humanitarian Coordinator and 

the Advisory Board, exploring 

not only physical verification but 

also other types of monitoring 

(such as peer-to-peer, call centre, 

third party and web-based 

monitoring). 

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 114 

The Board recommended that the 

Office for the Coordination of 

Humanitarian Affairs work with 

other United Nations entities to 

establish formal requirements for 

information-sharing on the 

performance of implementing 

partners in each country office. 

In May 2015, the United Nations 

Development Group endorsed its 

programme risk management 

framework for pooled funding 

solutions in fragile States. The 

High-level Committee on 

Management has requested the 

establishment of a task force to 

look at assessing the feasibility 

of adapting the United Nations 

Global Marketplace as a platform 

to track fraud cases related to 

implementing partners. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response. 

However, no formal 

requirements for information-

sharing on the performance 

of implementing partners 

have been established. The 

Board therefore considers 

this recommendation not 

implemented. 

  X   

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 125 

The Board recommended that the 

Office for the Coordination of 

Humanitarian Affairs accelerate 

implementation of the improved 

controls established in the global 

guidance and accountability 

framework. This should be done 

with a more risk-based and 

flexible approach to the 

management of implementing 

partners in country operations 

The enhanced controls described 

in the Operational Handbook 

have been rolled out progressively 

since February 2015.  

The funds now apply the 

following risk-based approach:  

(a) All country offices undertake 

risk-based capacity assessments 

of partners, assigning them a 

high, medium or low risk level. 

The Board acknowledges the 

progress made by the Office 

in enhancing the framework 

for the country-based pooled 

funds. During 2015, the 

Board examined the Office’s 

operations in the Sudan, 

Jordan and Yemen and 

identified some good practice 

with the use of the newly 

introduced tools, but also 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
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         involving: (a) risk assessments to 

vet implementing partners to 

create a pool of trusted suppliers; 

(b) revised funding arrangements 

where high-risk implementing 

partners receive an initial payment 

lower than the current initial 

80 per cent payment; (c) enhanced 

monitoring arrangements where, 

for example, high-risk projects 

should be subject to interim 

audits/inspections using audit 

access rights, while monitoring of 

lower-risk projects could be based 

on visits from regional staff; 

(d) working with the Office of 

Legal Affairs to strengthen the 

current memorandum of 

understanding between the Office 

for the Coordination of 

Humanitarian Affairs and 

implementing partners. 

“Eligible” partners are then 

“pre-approved” and can apply for 

new pooled fund allocations;  

(b) Funds no longer allocate 

using the 80-20 methodology;  

(c) Country-based pooled funds 

now use “operational modalities” 

(described in the Operational 

Handbook) whereby fund 

disbursements, monitoring, 

reporting and other control 

mechanisms are assigned on the 

basis of the risk level of an 

eligible partner. High-risk 

partners have to comply with a 

more stringent monitoring 

reporting schedule to ensure 

mitigation of risks. This new 

methodology is currently at 

various levels of implementation 

in the different field offices, with 

the target of full compliance by 

all offices by the end of 2016;  

(d) The current grant agreement 

(memorandum of understanding) 

with the implementing partners 

reflects the tightened control 

mechanisms and the risk-based 

approach. The agreement has 

been rolled out in all funds. 

found a continued lack of 

compliance in some 

important areas such as due 

diligence, project monitoring 

and external audit. At the 

time of audit, weaknesses in 

data quality meant the 

management information was 

not of sufficient quality to 

enable the monitoring of 

compliance with the 

requirements of the 

operational manual. The 

Board therefore considers 

that this recommendation 

remains under 

implementation. 

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 136 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration raise awareness of 

fraud risks by establishing a clear 

code of conduct (recognizing that 

a code of conduct includes 

requirements wider than fraud), 

reinforced through regular 

communication of fraud issues 

and through mandatory training 

courses for all staff. 

The Charter of the United 

Nations, the Standards of conduct 

for the international civil service 

and Secretary-General’s bulletins 

contain the general guiding 

principles, aspirational standards 

and enforceable regulations and 

rules regarding the conduct of 

staff members within the 

Organization. These are 

While noting the planned 

initiatives, the Board found 

that insufficient progress has 

been made against the 

specific recommendation. 

The Board is not aware of 

any mandatory training 

courses on fraud awareness, 

nor does it see evidence of 

any regular communication. 

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
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         unambiguously communicated to 

all staff members with regard to 

more specific matters such as 

fraud. The Department of 

Management and the Ethics 

Office are updating two 

complementary documents: the 

anti-fraud framework and an 

updated version of the document 

entitled “Putting ethics to work: a 

guide for United Nations staff”. 

The documents will form part of 

fraud awareness initiatives, 

including the ethics training 

courses. 

No changes have been made 

to clarify the code of conduct 

in this respect. As the 

anti-fraud framework has no 

formal status and has not yet 

been agreed, the Board 

concludes that this 

recommendation is not 

implemented.  

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 142 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration conduct a 

comprehensive fraud risk 

assessment, using in-depth 

research in high-risk areas, to 

determine the Organization’s 

vulnerabilities and exposure to 

risks of fraud from both internal 

and external sources. 

The Administration remains 

committed to conducting a 

comprehensive fraud risk 

assessment by December 2017. 

No progress has been made 

on this recommendation; 

therefore, the Board 

considers it not implemented. 

  X   

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 143 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration support the 

development of the Office of 

Internal Oversight Services as a 

central expert resource to support 

and work with departments to 

assess, analyse and act upon all 

significant fraud risks. 

The Department of Management 

is expecting to finalize the 

anti-fraud framework soon. Once 

promulgated, it will discuss with 

OIOS its role as a central expert 

resource for dealing with fraud 

risks. 

The Board notes the 

response; however, no 

substantive progress has been 

made and there has been no 

comment provided by OIOS 

against this recommendation. 

The Board therefore 

considers it not implemented. 

  X   

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 147 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration review and 

rationalize the current suite of 

policy and guidance material on 

fraud and other misconduct to 

provide staff and others with clarity 

over the correct procedures to 

follow when a fraud is discovered. 

Under the chairmanship of the 

Office of the Under-Secretary-

General for Management, a 

working group comprising 

representatives from the different 

functional areas of the Secretariat 

prepared a preliminary draft of a 

comprehensive anti-fraud and 

The Board notes that the 

Administration has made a 

start by consolidating the 

existing policy and guidance 

material and by issuing a 

preliminary draft anti-fraud 

and anti-corruption 

framework. It has also issued 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
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         anti-corruption framework for the 

Organization. The document, 

which will be submitted for 

formal consultations with all the 

oversight bodies (the Board of 

Auditors, OIOS, the Independent 

Audit Advisory Committee and 

the Joint Inspection Unit) at the 

beginning of March, will be 

issued in April 2016.  

The Ethics Office is in the process 

of expanding the reach of general 

ethics training to incorporate 

anti-fraud aspects. The Ethics 

Office, in conjunction with 

OIOS, is designing a mandatory 

e-learning programme on basic 

fraud awareness and prevention, 

including topics such as 

identifying, detecting and 

speaking out against corruption. 

It also deals with any ensuing 

retaliation concerns, as well as 

reinforcing compliance by all 

United Nations staff with the 

Staff Regulations and Rules and 

the Standards of conduct for the 

international civil service. It will 

be based closely on the United 

Nations anti-fraud and 

anti-corruption framework (to be 

finalized in March 2016).  

The Ethics Office and OIOS are 

developing targeted training 

materials for the annual 

leadership dialogue in 2016 

which cover anti-fraud to 

emphasize the importance of 

speaking up in combating fraud. 

The roll-out of the training 

programmes is envisaged for the 

an updated version of 

administrative instruction 

ST/AI/371, entitled 

“Investigations, disciplinary 

process and administrative 

measures”.  

However, the framework has 

no formal status and repeats 

the plethora of existing 

guidance rather than 

rationalizing, clarifying or 

strengthening existing 

procedures in the integrated 

way the Board had envisaged 

when making its 

recommendations. The Board 

notes the intention to enhance 

anti-fraud training, including 

a mandatory e-learning 

programme on fraud 

awareness and prevention, 

but these initiatives have not 

yet been implemented.  

In view of the action taken, 

the Board considers this 

recommendation under 

implementation. 

http://undocs.org/ST/AI/371
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         third quarter of 2016. Successive 

leadership dialogue guides can 

include reminders on fraud 

prevention and reporting. 

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 148 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration establish a central 

intake mechanism for all reporting 

of staff grievances and suspected 

fraud, allowing the cases to be 

properly screened and assessed 

and sent to the right part of the 

Organization for action and 

facilitating improved data 

collection. 

While GoCase has been 

successfully implemented since 

1 September 2015, the central 

intake initiative has not moved 

forward as there has been limited 

buy-in from other client and 

stakeholder groups and 

appropriate resource and funding 

arrangements for the development 

of an application based on 

GoCase. In the meantime, OIOS 

expects that the forthcoming 

fraud and corruption policy will 

de facto result in OIOS becoming 

the single repository for fraud 

reports. Also, the revised 

administrative instruction 

ST/AI/371 will place a burden on 

programme managers to report 

their investigations to OIOS. 

The Board notes that the 

central intake initiative has 

not yet moved forward from 

the original concept. 

Accordingly, the Board 

considers this 

recommendation not 

implemented. 

  X   

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 151 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration develop a 

framework of actions and 

arrangements for the systematic 

legal pursuit of all proven cases 

of fraud. 

The Administration already has a 

framework of actions and 

arrangements in place for the 

systematic legal pursuit of cases 

of fraud and, accordingly, views 

this recommendation as 

implemented. 

The Administration does 

systematically pursue credible 

allegations of fraud within the 

Organization’s legal framework. 

The Administration cannot pursue 

these cases on its own and must 

rely on actions by Member States. 

The Administration 

systematically refers credible 

The Board does not concur 

that this recommendation has 

been implemented. No action 

has been taken to modify 

existing arrangements to 

ensure systematic legal pursuit 

of all proven cases of fraud. 

The Board notes that the 

Administration considers that 

Member States should initiate 

criminal proceedings and 

have the sole prerogative in 

determining whether to 

pursue the matter. 

The Board recognizes the 

importance of respecting 

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/ST/AI/371
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
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         allegations of fraud to relevant 

Member States and follows up 

with them routinely on the 

actions they have taken. 

General Assembly resolutions 

with respect to the role of 

Member States. However, the 

Board considers that the 

Administration, as the victim 

of the fraudulent activity, 

could take more direct action, 

in consultation with Member 

States, to refer evidence of 

criminal activity to local law 

enforcement authorities. 

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 155 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration update and 

enhance its whistle-blowing 

policies and procedures to cover 

the risk of both internal and 

external wrongdoing. 

The Ethics Office has proposed 

exhaustive policy amendments to 

Secretary-General’s bulletin 

ST/SGB/2005/21, and a revised 

policy proposal was presented at 

the April 2015 meeting of the 

Staff-Management Committee. 

An ad hoc working group is 

further considering the revised 

policy proposal and will make 

recommendations to the Staff-

Management Committee upon the 

conclusion of its deliberations.  

In seeking to refocus the policy 

on serious allegations of 

misconduct that are harmful to 

the interests of the United 

Nations, the proposed revisions 

are applicable to serious reports 

of misconduct rather than 

personal grievances or reports of 

a personal nature. These 

provisions refine the definition of 

protected activity and the 

availability of remedial action 

and include, for the first time, a 

prevention mandate. Internal and 

external reporting procedures are 

prominently featured in these 

revisions. 

The Board notes the response 

of the Administration; 

however, no progress has 

been made to update and 

enhance its whistle-blowing 

policies. The Board considers 

this recommendation not 

implemented. 

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/ST/SGB/2005/21
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         The Ethics Office currently 

provides information on the 

protection against retaliation 

policy on its website (via both 

the intranet and the United 

Nations website) and through 

outreach, training, the integrity 

e-learning programme and 

frequent mission visits. The 

Office will consolidate, clarify 

and make available further 

information on whistle-blower 

policies once the 

recommendations of the Staff-

Management Committee 

regarding the revised policy have 

been finalized and any revised 

policy has been adopted by the 

Organization. 

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 159 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration develop an 

integrated strategic approach to 

tackling fraud, drawing on the 

many practical examples of good 

practice being adopted across the 

world and adapting these to the 

Organization’s circumstances. The 

first step will be assessing and 

understanding the type and scale 

of fraud threats the United Nations 

is exposed to. 

Under the chairmanship of the 

Office of the Under-Secretary-

General for Management, a 

working group comprising the 

Office of Legal Affairs and 

representatives from the different 

functional areas of the Secretariat 

prepared a preliminary draft of a 

comprehensive anti-fraud and 

anti-corruption framework for the 

Organization. The document, 

which will be submitted for 

formal consultations with all the 

oversight bodies (the Board of 

Auditors, OIOS, the Independent 

Audit Advisory Committee and 

the Joint Inspection Unit) at the 

beginning of March, will be 

issued in April 2016.  

The Board has seen no 

evidence that the 

Administration has developed 

an integrated strategic 

approach to tackling fraud.  

The Board considers this 

recommendation not 

implemented. 

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
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A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 164 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration develop a 

medium- to long-term strategic 

workforce strategy and operational 

workforce plans. These should be 

informed by a review of the 

Organization’s strategy that 

identifies any gaps in headcount, 

grades, knowledge and skills. 

Additional pilot projects have not 

been completed by the Office of 

Human Resources Management 

as it was focused on going live 

with Umoja and mobility. 

However, several pilots have 

been undertaken in field 

operations, building on the high-

level methodology agreed by the 

Office and the Department of 

Field Support in 2014. 

Implementation of Umoja and 

mobility is expected to improve 

the standardization of position 

titles and position management 

processes. In addition, the Office 

plans to conduct another pilot 

project in 2016. 

This recommendation has not 

been implemented. In the 

Board’s view, the 

Administration has not 

performed a Secretariat-wide 

review of strategy, gaps in 

headcount, grades, 

knowledge and skills.  

  X   

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 169 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration establish 

performance measures of the 

effectiveness of the recruitment 

process around getting “the right 

person, with the right skills, to the 

right position, at the right time 

and at the right cost”. 

Performance measures have been 

established (see proposed 

strategic framework for the 

period 2016-2017 (A/69/6 

(Prog. 25))). 

This recommendation has not 

been implemented. The 

measures contained in 

document A/69/6 (Prog. 25), 

subprogramme 3, 

component 2, are not 

measures of effectiveness as 

described in the 

recommendation.  

  X   

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 170 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration perform an end-to-

end review of the recruitment 

process to identify opportunities 

to reduce the lead time to recruit 

from the point at which a vacancy 

occurs until the post is filled. 

The recruitment process for the 

new staff selection and managed 

mobility system was developed 

after reviewing the current 

process. The process has been 

streamlined, including by 

introducing a standardized 

assessment process, and is now 

expected to take around 180 days 

from the point at which a 

vacancy is advertised to the point 

at which a selection decision is 

taken. Furthermore, the General 

Assembly has before it a proposal 

This recommendation has not 

been implemented. The 

Administration has yet to 

perform an end-to-end review 

of the recruitment process 

and major delays are still 

occurring. 

The Board also notes that the 

start and end points of the 

process described by the 

Administration are much 

shorter than the actual end-

to-end process identified by 

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/6–(Prog.25)
http://undocs.org/A/69/6–(Prog.25)
http://undocs.org/A/69/6(Prog.25)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
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         to reduce the advertisement 

period for vacancies advertised 

under the new system from 60 to 

30 days which, if approved, will 

further reduce the time taken to 

recruit. 

the Board in its 

recommendation. 

This recommendation is not 

implemented. 

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 177 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration develop a skills 

strategy for staff based on an 

improved understanding of current 

capability and existing skills gaps 

such as commercial skills for 

major projects, and on the skills 

required following the 

implementation of IPSAS and the 

roll-out of Umoja, such as 

professional training in financial 

management skills to lead 

financial management 

improvement and provide more 

strategic advisory services to the 

wider business. 

The Office of Programme 

Planning, Budget and Accounts 

views this recommendation as 

superseded by the 

recommendation contained in 

paragraph 28 of chapter II of 

A/70/5 (Vol. I). 

At this time, the Office of Human 

Resources Management is 

implementing its Learning and 

Career Support Strategy, which 

addresses the need for improved 

learning offerings in cross-

cutting areas (such as 

management, communications 

and project management) that it 

is mandated to provide for the 

global Secretariat. The Office is 

not mandated to provide training 

on technical or substantive skills, 

which are required in individual 

departments. Departments 

receive their own funding for that 

purpose. However, in the case of 

Umoja, the Office will 

increasingly work with the 

Umoja project team on meeting 

training needs. 

In the Board’s view, the 

budget proposal for the 

biennium 2014-2015 clearly 

states that the Office shall 

provide the training to 

develop skills. 

Therefore, and noting the 

Administration’s response, 

the Board concludes that this 

recommendation has not been 

implemented. 

  X   

A/69/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 184 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration review and 

improve the appraisal system to 

enable more effective monitoring 

of performance trends and 

implementation of remedial action 

The General Assembly resolution 

that would contain the decision 

on the proposals is still pending 

(the Assembly will take up the 

issue again in March 2016). The 

Administration is not in a 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response 

and considers this 

recommendation under 

implementation.  

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/69/5(Vol.I)
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         or rewards following completion 

of staff performance evaluations. 

position to proceed with roll-out 

until it has the Assembly’s 

approval. 

A/67/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 80 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration review the 

disclosures in future financial 

statements with a view to 

providing more detailed 

commentary on the reasons for the 

increased holdings of investments 

and cash pools. 

The analysis is already included 

in the financial statements. 

Further information has now 

been included in the financial 

statements and the associated 

financial report. The Board 

considers this 

recommendation 

implemented. 

X     

A/67/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 95 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration require all staff to 

have undertaken contract 

management training prior to 

taking up contract management 

responsibility. Such training 

should cover key aspects of 

contract management such as 

contract administration, vendor 

relationship management, risk 

management, and performance 

evaluation and management. 

The full implementation of this 

recommendation depends on 

making the course mandatory, as 

requested by the Procurement 

Division. The Division has 

developed and launched online 

training in contract management, 

which is available to all contract 

managers in the Secretariat’s 

offices worldwide. The Division 

lacks the authority to formulate 

policy for contract managers or 

to mandate them to complete the 

training. It has requested the 

Department of Management to 

support the further 

implementation of this 

recommendation, and the matter 

is under consideration. 

The Board notes that progress 

has been made. However, the 

Administration has not: 

(a) demonstrated that training 

is mandatory for all staff 

responsible for managing 

contracts, or (b) demonstrated 

compliance with the policy. 

As noted previously, it is for 

heads of business units to 

ensure that their staff undergo 

mandatory training. Until this 

occurs, this recommendation 

remains under 

implementation. 

 X    

A/67/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 130 

The Board recommended that the 

Department of Management 

review the delegations granted to 

the United Nations Office at 

Vienna and the United Nations 

Office at Geneva, to ensure that 

delegated procurement authority is 

sufficiently clear. 

Still in progress. The Board notes the 

Administration’s response. 

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
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A/67/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 145 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration: (a) develop more 

outcome-focused objectives and 

indicators of achievement; 

(b) establish clear chains from 

indicators of resource use and 

activity, through indicators of 

output to achievement of high-

level objectives; and (c) make 

parts (a) and (b) above a clearly 

articulated responsibility of the 

Under-Secretaries-General for 

their respective departments. 

The Committee for Programme 

and Coordination endorsed the 

proposals of the Administration 

in this regard. See the report of 

the Committee on its fifty-fifth 

session (A/70/16) and General 

Assembly resolution 70/8, in 

which the Assembly endorsed the 

Committee’s recommendations. 

In section D of its report, the 

Board notes that progress has 

been made with 

improvements to the strategic 

frameworks, but there is 

further to go. Five 

departments will use the new 

approach for the biennium 

2018-2019 and it will take 

several bienniums for the 

remainder of the Secretariat 

(see A/70/668, para. 18). 

 X    

A/67/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 176 

The Board recommended that, in 

support of existing work on 

developing risk management in 

the United Nations, the 

Management Committee: 

(a) periodically identify the top 

risks facing the Organization and 

communicate that information to 

all managers; and (b) develop 

high-level and regular (monthly) 

reporting on the current status of 

the risks and associated mitigating 

strategies. 

Detailed risk treatment and 

response plans have been defined 

by corporate risk owners and 

formally approved by the 

Management Committee. 

Progress on implementation is 

reported quarterly to the 

Committee. 

In the Board’s view, this 

recommendation has been 

implemented, but, as noted in 

section I of the Board’s 

report, further progress needs 

to be made to fully 

implement enterprise risk 

management throughout the 

Secretariat, as mandated by 

the General Assembly. 

X     

A/67/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 183 

The Board recommended that 

United Nations senior 

management set out an action plan 

addressing the key lessons 

identified by the Board on 

business transformation, to 

demonstrate and track how it is 

developing and implementing a 

more strategic and holistic grip on 

the direction and delivery of the 

business transformation 

programmes. 

The action plan containing the 

mitigating actions related to 

organizational transformation 

was approved by the 

Management Committee, as the 

enterprise risk management 

committee, in July 2015. The 

actions therein are being 

implemented. The Administration 

considers this recommendation 

implemented. 

The risk treatment plan does 

not make a direct and 

obvious link with the key 

lessons identified by the 

Board in its previous report.  

However, given the time that 

has elapsed since it made this 

recommendation, in the 

Board’s view, its more recent 

recommendations on 

managing business 

transformation are more 

relevant. On this basis, the 

Board considers this 

recommendation, while not 

implemented, to be closed.  

    X 

http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/70/16
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/8
http://undocs.org/A/70/668
http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/67/5(Vol.I)
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A/65/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 25 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration: (a) plan for the 

automated preparation of the 

financial statements under Umoja; 

and (b) without waiting for the 

implementation of Umoja, 

enhance internal documentation 

on the preparation of the financial 

statements and, more generally, on 

all financial procedures, notably 

by updating the Financial Manual. 

The financial statements 

(volume II) for the period 

2015/16 will be issued using the 

financial statements module of 

Umoja. The plan also envisages 

that some other financial 

statements volumes for 2016, 

including volume I, will also be 

produced through Umoja.  

The Board notes the 

Administration’s comments. 

However, for 2015, the Board 

considers this 

recommendation not 

implemented. 

  X   

A/65/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 62 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration define a strategy to 

streamline and further automate 

the management of voluntary 

contributions, along the lines of 

the redesign of assessed 

contributions procedures. 

The Umoja grants management 

module was fully deployed in 

November 2015. The 

Administration expects to 

achieve stabilization by the end 

of 2016, resulting in a high 

degree of automation and 

standardization of the processes 

used to manage voluntary 

contributions. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response. 

However, the audit trail 

supporting the 2015 balances 

for voluntary contributions 

and associated receivables 

was cumbersome. The Board 

therefore considers this 

recommendation not 

implemented. 

  X   

A/65/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 66 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration develop indicators 

to measure the processing times 

for contributions. 

The Administration is developing 

key indicators for inclusion in the 

Umoja dashboards to measure 

processing times of contributions 

and values. 

The Administration has not 

yet developed indicators to 

measure the processing times 

of contributions. The Board 

considers this 

recommendation not 

implemented. 

  X   

A/65/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 160 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration strengthen internal 

controls to ensure the accuracy of 

its payable and receivable 

balances with counterpart entities 

as at the end of the financial 

period. 

The dashboards are being 

developed and will entail views 

of payable and receivable 

balances of clients. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response. 

The Board’s recommendation 

was originally made in the 

context of inter-organizational 

balances; however, the 

Administration could not 

provide full open item 

analysis of its payable and 

receivable balances directly 

from Umoja owing to a very 

high level of journal 

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/65/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/65/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/65/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/65/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/65/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/65/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/65/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/65/5(Vol.I)
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         adjustments made directly to 

the general ledger. The Board 

therefore considers this 

recommendation not 

implemented. 

A/65/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 164 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration reduce the time 

taken for certifying invoices so as 

to conform to accrual-based 

accounting. 

The time taken for certifying 

invoices will be further reduced 

with the full deployment of 

Umoja in clusters 3 and 4. 

The Board’s original 

recommendation was made in 

the context of the 

reimbursement of other 

United Nations entities for 

payments they made on 

behalf of the Secretariat and 

the risk that those transactions 

were not recorded in the 

correct period. The Board has 

not identified any 

continuation of this issue 

during its recent audits and 

consequently considers this 

recommendation 

implemented. 

X     

A/65/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 387 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration draw up a 

schedule by which the staff 

members who have not taken the 

mandatory training programmes 

be obliged to do so in a close time 

limit (one year or 18 months), and 

that the effective implementation 

be verified. 

The Office of Human Resources 

Management will complete 

deployment of the learning 

management system in Inspira to 

field missions by December 

2016. This will improve the 

ability of the Organization to 

track progress on how many staff 

have completed mandatory 

programmes.  

In 2015, the learning and career 

support working group 

established a subgroup to define 

mandatory programmes. The 

mandatory programmes group 

has submitted recommendations 

on new mandatory programmes 

to the Management Committee, 

which have been endorsed. An 

The recommendation is wider 

than field missions and 

requires heads of business 

units to ensure all staff in 

their departments undertake 

the mandatory training 

courses. In the Board’s view, 

mandatory should mean 

mandatory. However, its 

previous reports have 

contained examples where 

mandatory training in 

contract management and 

ICT security was at that time 

in name only.  

The recommendation is 

considered not implemented. 

  X   

http://undocs.org/A/65/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/65/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/65/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/65/5(Vol.I)
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         information circular outlining all 

mandatory programmes, 

including those newly approved, 

will be issued in the coming 

months as well as a timeline for 

completion. This information 

circular will be issued at least 

once a year to ensure that staff 

members are fully aware of the 

mandatory programmes they are 

required to complete, depending 

on their role in the Organization. 

A/65/5 

(Vol. I), 

chap. II, 

para. 437 

The Board recommended that the 

Administration take appropriate 

measures to ensure that the 

“Carbon” project is interfaced 

with Umoja. 

gMeets (the conference room 

management system (eMeets) and 

the interpretation resource 

assignment system (eAPG)) are 

in full production. While in the 

early development stage, an 

integration with IMIS/Umoja was 

considered; it turned out that 

there is no business requirement 

for this. At a meeting with the 

Umoja team and the Department 

for General Assembly and 

Conference Management on 

16 October 2015, the issue of the 

interface was raised. The 

Assistant Secretary-General, 

Enterprise Resource Planning 

Project said that the issue would 

be postponed to 2016 and the 

Umoja technical team would 

revert to the Department, but to 

date, no action has been taken. 

The Board notes the 

Administration’s response 

and views this 

recommendation as not 

implemented until there are 

concrete plans in place to 

design and implement the 

interface as described. 

  X   

 Total    6 22 32 1 2 

 Percentage    9 35 51 2 3 

 

  

http://undocs.org/A/65/5(Vol.I)
http://undocs.org/A/65/5(Vol.I)
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Annex II 
 

  Status of implementation of recommendations (information and communications 
technology affairs) 
 

 

Report reference Summary of recommendation 

Administration’s comments on status — 

March 2016 

Board’s comments on status — 

August 2016  

Fully 

implemented 

Under 

implement-

ation 

Not 

implemented 

Overtaken 

by events 

Closed 

by the 

Board 

         
A/70/581, summary, 

recommendation (a) 

Clarify the role and 

authority of the Chief 

Information Technology 

Officer in field operations 

by setting out clearly 

which activities require 

strong central control and 

which activities require or 

merit operational freedom. 

With specific respect to field 

operations, work is under way to 

define ICT-related activities that are to 

be performed locally, regionally and 

centrally. This will form the structure 

that is required to ensure that the 

requisite operational freedom is 

afforded to field operations while 

controls are in place to ensure 

coherence and oversight by the Chief 

Information Technology Officer. 

Delegation of authority will be 

instrumental in ensuring that 

operational freedom exists in harmony 

with central control, effective 

stewardship of resources and 

accountability. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

A/70/581, summary, 

recommendation (b) 

Reassess the realism of the 

timetable for 

implementing the strategy 

and strengthen the project 

management approach, 

including the introduction 

of independent assurance 

arrangements. 

Specific actions in line with this 

recommendation have been under way 

over the last year and will be 

continued throughout the course of 

the implementation of the ICT 

strategy. The timetable for the 

implementation of the ICT strategy 

will be reassessed, in recognition of 

the fact that the five-year strategy is 

25 per cent into its implementation. 

The project management approach 

will continue to be further 

strengthened and internal challenge 

assurance arrangements will be put in 

place before the next report on the 

progress of the ICT strategy. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/70/581
http://undocs.org/A/70/581
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Report reference Summary of recommendation 

Administration’s comments on status — 

March 2016 

Board’s comments on status — 

August 2016  

Fully 

implemented 

Under 

implement-

ation 

Not 

implemented 

Overtaken 

by events 

Closed 

by the 

Board 

           The timetable will be updated on an 

annual basis for annual reporting on 

progress to the General Assembly. 

Project status and progress is being 

reported to the Enterprise Project 

Management Office by all Project 

Managers, and the formal reporting 

mechanism has been established and 

followed through. 

      

A/70/581, summary, 

recommendation (c) 

As a matter of urgency, 

formalize corporate ICT 

policies and procedures, 

including governance 

structures and appropriate 

delegations of authority, to 

ensure that the necessary 

authorities and 

accountabilities are in 

place to support 

implementation of the ICT 

strategy. 

The Secretary-General’s bulletins on 

the Office of Information and 

Communications Technology, 

delegation of authority and the ICT 

governance package are currently 

under review. Specifically, the 

delegation of authority must address 

the roles and responsibilities of the 

various entities. 

A comprehensive set of ICT policies 

and procedures is already in place and 

a compliance function has been set up. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

A/70/581, summary, 

recommendation (d) 

Establish a robust 

compliance framework 

with the necessary 

authorities to ensure 

adherence to Secretariat-

wide ICT policies, 

including those on 

information security. 

A comprehensive set of ICT policies 

and procedures is in place. A 

compliance function has been set up 

and has begun to coordinate self-

assessments on Secretariat-wide ICT 

policies and to perform detailed 

assessments on selected controls. 

The performance of each department 

and office will be reflected in the 

senior managers’ compacts. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

A/70/581, summary, 

recommendation (e) 

Further refine and improve 

the quality of the data 

underpinning the five-year 

forecast of ICT 

expenditure by increasing 

visibility of actual 

expenditure and the status 

of ICT assets across all of 

The Office of Information and 

Communications Technology issued 

guidelines to all ICT offices across the 

Secretariat, including the Department 

of Field Support, to provide data 

necessary for the five-year forecast. 

The Department has confirmed that it 

has started its analysis to develop the 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/70/581
http://undocs.org/A/70/581
http://undocs.org/A/70/581
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Administration’s comments on status — 

March 2016 

Board’s comments on status — 

August 2016  

Fully 
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Under 
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ation 

Not 

implemented 

Overtaken 

by events 

Closed 

by the 

Board 

         the Secretariat, including 

peacekeeping operations. 

five-year planning assumptions, and it 

is expected that the required data will 

be included in the Secretary-General’s 

progress report on the ICT strategy 

that will be presented to Member 

States during the seventy-first session 

of the General Assembly. 

A/70/581, summary, 

recommendation (f) 

Develop a statement of the 

expected costs and 

benefits of implementing 

the revised ICT strategy to 

enable strategic activities 

to be prioritized and 

resourced appropriately. 

This recommendation is being 

addressed as part of the data collection 

and analysis of costs and benefits in 

the context of preparation of the 

second performance report on the 

implementation of the ICT strategy. 

The required information will also be 

included in the Secretary-General’s 

progress report on the ICT strategy that 

will be presented to Member States 

during the seventy-first session of the 

General Assembly. 

The Department of Field Support 

confirms that it has begun the analysis 

to develop planning assumptions for 

the provision of ICT budget projections 

for peacekeeping missions for the next 

three to five years and it is expected 

that the required data will be included 

the Secretary-General’s progress report 

on the ICT strategy that will be 

presented to Member States during the 

seventy-first session of the General 

Assembly. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

A/70/581, summary, 

recommendation (g) 

Increase the visibility of 

senior management in 

leading the implementation 

of the ICT strategy to 

ensure that all departments 

are committed to 

implementing the revised 

ICT strategy as mandated 

by the General Assembly, 

The Administration has taken steps in 

this regard by including it in the senior 

managers’ compacts. ICT governance 

bodies, such as the ICT Executive 

Committee and the Management 

Committee, provide effective forums 

for addressing and overcoming 

impediments to the implementation of 

the ICT strategy. In addition, 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/70/581
http://undocs.org/A/70/581
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Not 

implemented 

Overtaken 

by events 

Closed 

by the 

Board 

         and that any disagreements 

or impediments to 

implementing the strategy 

are addressed and resolved 

in a timely manner. 

significant communications and change 

management efforts have been 

undertaken to ensure understanding of 

the ICT strategy, and such efforts will 

continue as they are instrumental in 

senior leadership engagement. 

Bilateral meetings are planned to 

engage senior leadership directly and 

to better connect ICT with the 

strategic directions of offices and 

departments. 

A/67/651, para. 20 The Board recommended 

that the Administration 

develop a new ICT 

strategy, including a 

United Nations-wide 

information strategy and 

an enterprise architecture 

framework, that describes 

how information and 

technology will support 

and provide benefits for 

the Organization. Such a 

strategy needs to be 

consistent with United 

Nations objectives and 

realistic ambitions for 

transformation. The 

Administration then needs 

to make progress in the 

implementation of the ICT 

strategy in parallel with 

any agreed reforms to the 

Organization’s operating 

model, culture and 

approach. 

The Office of Information and 

Communications Technology is 

preparing an update on the ICT 

strategy for the seventy-first session 

of the General Assembly, which will 

address at a high level the way in 

which the implementation of the ICT 

strategy enables the Organization to 

better implement its mandates as well 

as the alignment between the ICT 

strategy and reform initiatives. 

In addition, the Office will lead the 

following efforts with key offices and 

departments: 

(a) Assess and document alignment 

between the mandates of offices and 

departments and the ICT projects that 

compose the ICT strategy;  

(b) An alignment matrix showing 

links between ongoing 

transformational projects (mobility, 

the global service delivery model, 

Umoja, IPSAS and the global field 

support strategy) and the ICT 

strategy. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/67/651
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Overtaken 

by events 
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Board 

         
A/67/651, para. 29 The Board recommended 

that the Administration 

review its arrangements 

for capturing information 

on ICT expenditure with a 

view to enabling more 

effective monitoring of 

costs and improved 

decision-making on future 

expenditure. 

The Administration considers this 

recommendation to be implemented. 

The Office of Information and 

Communications Technology has 

established 29 cost and revenue 

centres in Umoja to recognize the 

nature of the Office’s functions and 

enhance budget structure under 

sections 29E and 33 of the programme 

budget and other funding sources, 

such as the support account and 

extrabudgetary funds. The Office also 

aligned cost centres in the funds 

management module with 

organizational structure in the 

organizational management module to 

streamline distribution of posts and 

general temporary assistance positions 

and to monitor financial resources 

allotted to each cost centre. This 

allows for the monitoring of the 

distribution of post and general 

temporary assistance resources to key 

functions that are critical for 

implementation of the ICT strategy.  

In addition, the Office is in the 

process of distributing non-post 

resources for contractors and 

consultants on the basis of 

contractors’ areas of responsibilities 

and reporting lines. This structure 

ensures visibility and allows for the 

monitoring and reporting of 

expenditure for contractual services 

incurred by all functional areas of the 

Office of Information and 

Communications Technology: the 

Office of the Chief Information 

Technology Officer, the Global 

Services Division, the Global 

Operations Division, the Enterprise 

Applications Centre in Bangkok, the 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/67/651
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         Enterprise Applications Centre in 

New York and the Operations 

Coordination Section. The established 

budget structure and distribution of 

resources among cost centres also 

holds managers accountable for 

resources allocated to their operations 

and activities. It makes the projection 

of budget implementation easier as 

monthly expenditure allows for 

effective analysis and redistribution of 

non-staff resources where they are 

needed most. 

However, resources allotted for 

licences, maintenance costs and 

acquisitions remain allotted at the 

level of offices of directors within 

each major organizational structure 

(for example, the Office of the 

Director of the Global Operations 

Division carries allotment for the cost 

of Microsoft licences and maintenance 

costs), as apportionment of the cost of 

licences among organizational units 

and teams is not feasible. 

A/67/651, para. 30 The Board recommended 

that the Administration 

clearly specify how the 

chart of accounts in Umoja 

will enable ICT 

expenditure to be captured 

and monitored effectively. 

In addition, it should 

consider whether there are 

any options for improving 

management information 

on ICT expenditure that 

could be pursued prior to 

the implementation of 

Umoja. 

The Office of Information and 

Communications Technology is 

engaged in developing business 

intelligence reports to capture ICT 

data with regard to resources for 

human resources and expenditure by 

other ICT offices across the 

Secretariat. The Office of Information 

and Communications Technology is 

coordinating data collection for ICT 

human resources with the Office of 

Human Resources Management. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/67/651
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A/67/651, para. 31 The Board recommended 

that, in order to enable 

greater consistency and 

transparency with regard 

to ICT funding and 

budgets and allow better 

management of costs and 

effective prioritization, the 

Controller require that 

proposed ICT budgets set 

out (a) the cost of running 

day-to-day services; 

(b) the cost of licences and 

maintenance costs for 

existing systems; (c) costs 

related to upgrading 

existing service delivery 

(e.g. to improve security); 

and (d) new costs, 

including strategic 

requirements. 

In March 2016 the Office of 

Information and Communications 

Technology issued guidelines to all 

ICT offices requesting the level of 

details with regard to their budget and 

expenditure, as recommended by the 

Board in order to be able to capture 

the data and consolidate them for the 

second performance report on the 

implementation of the ICT strategy. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

A/67/651, para. 32 The Board recommended 

that the entities, offices 

and programmes 

comprising the United 

Nations prioritize ICT 

funding to ensure that the 

right balance of attention 

is given to transformation, 

improvement and 

leadership, frameworks 

and policies, and 

operational services. 

In March 2016, the Office of 

Information and Communications 

Technology issued guidelines to all 

ICT offices requesting details with 

regard to their budget and 

expenditure, as recommended by the 

Board in order to be able to analyse 

the data and consolidate it for the 

second performance report on 

implementation of the ICT strategy by 

priority areas. The Office is in the 

process of updating planning 

assumptions for the second 

performance report to the General 

Assembly. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

A/67/651, para. 39 The Board recommended 

that as a necessary 

precursor to any new ICT 

strategy, and to reduce the 

substantial risks associated 

The Office of Information and 

Communications Technology 

established the Unite Service Desk, 

which is fully operational and provides 

24/7, tier 1 level help desk support for 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/67/651
http://undocs.org/A/67/651
http://undocs.org/A/67/651
http://undocs.org/A/RES/24/7
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         with the implementation of 

a global enterprise resource 

planning system, the 

Administration clearly 

document those elements 

of the culture, custom, 

practices and processes, as 

well as key cost and 

performance information, 

that may affect the 

achievability of a global 

ICT transformation in the 

United Nations. Using the 

results of this review, the 

Administration should 

define the Organization’s 

overall objectives and 

specify realistic ambitions 

for global service delivery, 

consistent processes and a 

unified Organization. 

enterprise applications, including 

Umoja. The Service Desk hubs are 

located in New York, Nairobi, Geneva, 

Bangkok and Brindisi, Italy, and are 

currently supporting the Umoja users. 

The Office also established Enterprise 

Application Centres, located in New 

York, Bangkok and Vienna, which 

standardize application development, 

enforce disaster recovery and reduce 

fragmentation. 

The Umoja team and the Office are 

working together on a detailed 

assessment to identify the Umoja 

support model and the total cost of 

ownership for ICT for the next five 

years, taking into account staffing and 

support, connectivity, upgrades, 

enhancements, licences and 

maintenance. 

Also, the Office, in collaboration with 

the Umoja team and the Department 

of Field Support, continues to conduct 

disaster recovery tests as well as 

ongoing security assessments. 

A/67/651, para. 41 The Board recommended 

that the Administration 

recognize the changes in 

responsibilities and 

operating model across the 

Secretariat that are needed 

to deliver any new ICT 

strategy and accept the 

responsibility of senior 

management as a whole to 

deliver Organization-wide 

changes to support the 

Chief Information 

Technology Officer. 

The Secretary-General’s bulletins on 

the Office of Information and 

Communications Technology, 

delegation of authority and the ICT 

governance package are currently 

under review. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/67/651
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A/67/651, para. 56 The Board recommended 

that, in relation to ICT, the 

Administration define the 

leadership and executive 

roles, competencies and 

management effort that 

should be directed to three 

distinct aspects of ICT 

delivery, namely: 

(a) transformative change, 

innovation and leadership 

across the Secretariat; 

(b) the design and 

enforcement of corporate 

guidance, frameworks, 

policies and standards; and 

(c) operational services. 

The Administration considers this 

recommendation to be implemented. 

The budget for the Office of 

Information and Communications 

Technology for 2016-2017 reflects a 

major shift in the allocation of 

resources from operations 

(subprogramme 6: Global Operations 

Division) to key transformative and 

critical areas as defined in the ICT 

strategy (subprogramme 5: Global 

Services Division, including the 

Global Security and Architecture 

Section, which was previously 

managed and budgeted for under 

subprogramme 6, and the Enterprise 

Application Centres in New York and 

Bangkok). The shift can be seen in 

document A/70/6 (Sect. 29E) as well 

as in the support account proposal for 

the 2016/17 financial year and the 

cost plan for the extrabudgetary 

resources. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

A/67/651, para. 68 The Board recommended 

that the Administration 

develop a fit-for-purpose 

governance framework to 

oversee the strategic 

development of ICT across 

the United Nations. This 

governance framework 

should clearly set out 

roles, accountabilities and 

responsibilities and ensure 

that decision-making 

bodies operate distinctly 

from consultative and 

advisory forums. 

The Secretary-General’s bulletins on 

the Office of Information and 

Communications Technology, 

delegation of authority and the ICT 

governance package are currently 

under review. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/67/651
http://undocs.org/A/70/6(Sect.29E)
http://undocs.org/A/67/651
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A/67/651, para. 76 The Board recommended 

that, over time, the 

Administration redirect 

existing resources of the 

Office of Information and 

Communications 

Technology to more 

strategic activities and that 

it consider the use of 

alternative sourcing 

arrangements for day-to-

day ICT support services. 

The last major requests for proposals 

for ICT services, application 

development and support services, 

and geographic information systems, 

wireless/voice and data services were 

developed jointly by the Department 

of Field Support and the Office of 

Information and Communications 

Technology, with the intention to 

conclude a solicitation exercise with a 

successful global contract accessible 

by all ICT offices. The Office also 

took over responsibilities from Umoja 

for four major service providers of the 

enterprise resource planning services: 

HCL, Oracle, SAP and Accenture.  

The Office coordinated all 

requirements across the Secretariat 

with regard to the ICT services 

contract with Trigyn, and contracts 

with Microsoft, EMC and Cisco, 

which are managed as enterprise level 

agreements/contracts. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

A/67/651, para. 82 The Board recommended 

that management develop 

an “intelligent client” 

function for Secretariat-

wide ICT and within 

United Nations 

departments to effectively 

articulate business needs 

and provide a channel for 

the Office of Information 

and Communications 

Technology, local ICT 

committees and business 

areas to improve services. 

The Business Relationship 

Management Section’s function exists 

under the Office of Information and 

Communications Technology but 

needs to be strengthened and directed 

to distil business requirements 

through ICT governance structures 

and the budget allocation process. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/67/651
http://undocs.org/A/67/651
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A/67/651, para. 92 The Board recommended 

that the Administration 

develop an application 

management strategy to 

minimize security risks 

and reduce costs. Such a 

strategy should address 

enterprise-wide 

applications primarily and 

include the 

decommissioning of 

legacy systems 

applications and services 

and any necessary data 

migration. The Board also 

recommended that, as part 

of the new strategy 

regarding applications, the 

Administration develop a 

process to ensure that 

strategic ICT and 

operational investments 

can be made, no matter 

where they are undertaken 

in the Secretariat, and that 

they are consistent with 

Umoja and other 

enterprise applications. 

The Administration considers this 

recommendation to be implemented. 

The Office of Information and 

Communications Technology 

developed the application management 

strategy, which was approved by the 

Chief Information Technology Officer 

on 27 March 2015. This strategy has 

been implemented, with: (a) the 

establishment of the Enterprise 

Application Centres (in New York, 

Bangkok and Vienna) and the software 

development coordination group; 

(b) the development of the required 

Umoja data interfaces with other 

United Nations systems if their 

functionality is not covered by the 

Umoja releases; (c) establishment of 

the global Application Portfolio (Unite 

Apps); (d) adoption of the application 

request, software development, system 

maintenance and application 

decommissioning technical procedures; 

and (e) execution of the five-year 

application rationalization plan for 

consolidating local applications with 

the existing enterprise systems, the 

development of common automation 

solutions and the modernization of 

legacy systems for compliance with 

technology and information security 

standards. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

A/67/651, para. 100 The Board recommended 

that management 

strengthen Secretariat-

wide ICT standards to 

consolidate and leverage 

ICT buying power and that 

it use these standards to 

drive the harmonization of 

ICT as a necessary 

precursor to the 

The Procurement Division coordinates 

with the Office of Information and 

Communications Technology all 

shopping carts for acquisitions and 

ICT services raised by other offices. 

The Office has an opportunity to 

review and clear requests submitted 

by other offices to the Procurement 

Division. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

http://undocs.org/A/67/651
http://undocs.org/A/67/651
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         consolidation of software 

applications and 

infrastructure. 

A/67/651, para. 101 The Administration agreed 

with the detailed 

recommendation on ICT 

security set out by the 

Board in its memorandum 

to the Chair of the 

Advisory Committee on 

Administrative and 

Budgetary Questions on 

this matter. 

Implementation of the ongoing 

initiatives of the 10-point action plan 

has been incorporated into the 

programme of work of the Regional 

Technology Centres. In addition, a 

more long-term information security 

road map is being developed to 

transform the initiatives into 

programmatic activities and address 

additional risks. 

The Board considers 

this recommendation 

under implementation. 

 X    

 Total    0 21 0 0 0 

 Percentage    0 100 0 0 0 
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Chapter III 
  Certification of the financial statements  

 

 

  Letter dated 31 May 2016 from the Assistant Secretary-General, 

Controller, addressed to the Chair of the United Nations Board 

of Auditors 
 

 

 The financial statements of the United Nations for the year ended 

31 December 2015 have been prepared in accordance with rule 106.1 of the 

Financial Regulations and Rules of the United Nations. The statements cover all 

funds except peacekeeping operations, the United Nations Compensation 

Commission, the United Nations escrow account established under the provisions of 

Security Council resolution 1958 (2010) and the international tribunals, which are 

the subject of separate financial statements.  

 The summary of significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of 

these statements is included as notes to the financial statements. The notes provide 

additional information on and clarification of the financial activities undertaken by 

the Organization during the period covered by these statements for which the 

Secretary-General has administrative responsibility.  

 I certify that the appended financial statements of the United Nations, 

numbered I to V, are correct in all material respects.  

 

 

(Signed) Bettina Tucci Bartsiotas 

Assistant Secretary-General, Controller 

 

  

http://undocs.org/S/RES/1958(2010)
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Chapter IV  
  Financial report for the year ended 31 December 2015  

 

 

 A. Introduction 
 

 

1. The Secretary-General has the honour to submit the financial report on the 

accounts of the United Nations for the year ended 31 December 2015.   

2. The financial position and results presented herein do not include those of 

peacekeeping operations, the United Nations escrow account established under the 

provisions of Security Council resolution 1958 (2010), the United Nations 

Compensation Commission, the International Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia, 

the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda and the International Residual 

Mechanism for Criminal Tribunals, which are reported on separately. Separate 

financial statements are also issued for the International Trade Centre, the United 

Nations University, the United Nations Institute for Training and Research, the 

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, the United Nations Environment 

Programme and the United Nations Human Settlements Programme.  

3. The accounts of the Organization are presented in five financial statements and 

notes that provide financial information relating to the United Nations General Fund 

and related funds, trust funds, the Tax Equalization Fund, capital assets and 

construction in progress, end-of-service/post-employment benefits and other funds. 

Details of individual trust funds are not presented in these published accounts, but 

are available separately.  

4. The present financial report is designed to be read in conjunction with the 

financial statements. It presents an overview of the consolidated position and 

performance of the Organization, highlighting trends and significant movements. 

The annex to the report provides supplementary information, including information 

to be reported to the Board of Auditors as required by the Financial Regulations and 

Rules of the United Nations.  

5. The year 2015 marked an additional milestone when, for the first time, the 

entire Organization operated in the new enterprise resource planning system, 

Umoja, as its central administrative solution, thus enabling a more modern, efficient 

and transparent way of managing the Organization’s resources. Umoja has brought 

about integrated solutions in the areas of procurement, logistics and the supply 

chain, financial accounting, grants management, real estate, inventory and asset 

management, and it includes an array of employee and manager self-service 

functionalities that provide the basis for more efficient management of resources 

across the Organization.  

 

 

 B. International Public Sector Accounting Standards sustainability  
 

 

6. This is the second year that the financial statements of the United Nations 

have been prepared in accordance with the International Public Sector Accounting 

Standards (IPSAS). The Organization has put in place an IPSAS sustainability plan 

in which five major work pillars have been identified as critical for the 

sustainability of IPSAS, namely:  
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 (a) IPSAS benefits management, which entails tracking and compiling 

IPSAS benefits and supporting the use of IPSAS-trigged information to better 

manage the Organization;  

 (b) Strengthening internal controls Organization-wide, in particular the 

controls that support financial accounting and reporting;   

 (c) Managing the IPSAS regulatory framework to implement changes in 

IPSAS standards and drive related changes to systems and processes, which entails 

monitoring and tracking the development of new/revised standards adopted by the 

IPSAS Board, as well as active participation in the formulation of standards and 

ensuring that the United Nations IPSAS policy framework is updated as necessary;  

 (d) Supporting the transition to Umoja as the system and book of record for 

IPSAS-compliant accounting and reporting, including the deployment of asset 

accounting in Umoja to field missions and automating the preparation of the 

financial statements in Umoja;  

 (e) Continued IPSAS training and the deployment of a skills strategy to 

support financial managers in the new IPSAS/Umoja environment.  

 

 

 C. Overview of the financial statements for the year ended 

31 December 2015  
 

 

7. The financial statements of the United Nations comprise five statements and 

35 notes to the financial statements. The five statements are the statement of 

financial position, the statement of financial performance, the statement of changes 

in net assets, the statement of cash flows and the statement of comparison of budget 

and actual amounts.  

8. These statements show the financial results of the Organization’s activities and 

its financial position as at 31 December 2015. The notes to the financial statements 

explain the accounting and financial reporting policies and provide additional 

information on the individual amounts contained in the statements.   

 

  Assets  
 

9. The total assets of the Organization increased over the course of 2015 by 

$170.2 million (2.3 per cent) to $7,731.3 million, with the most notable increase 

taking place in investment balances in an amount of $424.7 million (20.6 per cent) 

to $2,482.7 million, partially offset by a decrease in cash and cash equivalents of 

$112.4 million (18.8 per cent), compared with prior year balances. The increase in 

investment balances reflects the fact that, while both outflow and inflow of cash 

decreased, the cash inflow of voluntary contributions from donors decreased less 

than the cash outflow to implementing partners.  

10. Figure IV.I presents the structure of the Organization’s assets totalling 

$7,731.3 million as at 31 December 2015.  
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  Figure IV.I  

  Assets of the Organization as at 31 December 2015  
(Millions of United States dollars and percentage)  
 

 

 

11. As figure IV.I illustrates, the Organization’s assets are composed largely of 

property, plant and equipment ($3,216.1 million, or 41.6 per cent), investments 

($2,482.7 million, or 32.1 per cent), voluntary contributions receivable 

($583.7 million, or 7.5 per cent), cash and cash equivalents ($485.3 million, or 

6.3 per cent) and assessed contributions receivable ($389.3 million, or 5.0 per cen t). 

Property, plant and equipment assets are mainly concentrated in capital assets and 

construction funds and consist mostly of land and buildings (89.6 per cent). 

Investments comprise trust fund investments of $1,292.3 million, amounts relating 

to insurance funds of $478.1 million, amounts relating to regular budget funds of 

$84.8 million, and other investments of $627.6 million. Assessed contributions 

receivable of $389.3 million represent the outstanding balance receivable from 

Member States as at 31 December 2015. Voluntary contributions receivable of 

$583.7 million comprise receivables of trust funds. Cash and cash equivalents 

mostly comprise balances held in the main cash pool ($461.4 million) and in the 

euro pool ($7.3 million), investments of the United Nations Staff Insurance Society 

against Sickness and Accident ($10.9 million) and other cash and cash equivalents 

($5.8 million).  

 

  Property, plant and equipment  
 

12. Property, plant and equipment of $3,216.1 million was the Organization’s 

major asset category at 41.6 per cent of total assets. At 31 December 2015, the 
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profile of the Organization’s property, plant and equipment, which mostly consists 

of land and buildings (89.6 per cent), was as shown in figure IV.II.   

 

  Figure IV.II  

  Property, plant and equipment  
(Millions of United States dollars)  
 

 

 

13. Buildings of $2,045.2 million largely reflected the buildings at United Nations 

Headquarters in New York, valued at $1,428.0 million, the buildings at the United 

Nations Office at Geneva, valued at $172.8 million, and the buildings at the 

Economic Commission for Africa (ECA), valued at $96.7 million. Land valued at 

$835.7 million largely included the land at United Nations Headquarters and at the 

United Nations Office at Geneva amounting to $617.8 million and $191.7 million 

respectively. The land at ECA and at the United Nations Office at Nairobi were not 

included, as these assets were not deemed to be under the control of the 

Organization based on provisions in the arrangements with the respective 

Governments. The Vienna International Centre, which is controlled by the four 

Vienna-based organizations (the United Nations Office at Vienna, the International 

Atomic Energy Agency, the United Nations Industrial Development Organization 

and the Preparatory Commission for the Comprehensive Nuclear -Test-Ban Treaty 

Organization), has been determined to be held under an arrangement similar to a 

finance lease and hence was capitalized in accordance with the principles of IPSAS 

17 starting from 1 January 2014 and retrospectively restated in the 2014 financial 

statements. The last valuation was done by PricewaterhouseCoopers on 1 January 

2015 and resulted in a depreciated replacement cost for buildings of €489.2 million 

($596.6 million) and a net book value of €288.0 million ($351.2 million). Based on 

the cost-sharing ratio agreed by the Vienna-based organizations, the United Nations 

has recognized its 22.761 per cent share of $135.8 million cost and $80.0 million 

net book value of the Vienna International Centre buildings as property, plant and 

equipment as at 1 January 2014.  
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14. There was no significant change in the net carrying value of property, plant 

and equipment during 2015 compared with 2014. The decline by $106.4 million 

(3.2 per cent) from a balance of $3,322.5 million to $3,216.1 million was largely 

attributable to the derecognition of the Temporary North Lawn Building in New York 

with a cost of $188.5 million (net book value: $13.5 million), and buildings costing 

$5.9 million (net book value: $5.4 million) were disposed of in the United Nations 

Assistance Mission in Afghanistan (UNAMA) because of the abandonment of 

compound B. Furthermore, there was a significant level of disposal of vehicles and 

communications and information technology equipment during the year as a result of 

transfers from special political missions to peacekeeping missions.  

15. Offsetting the above declines were additions to assets under construction of 

$62.4 million, related mainly to the refurbishment and renovation of the Palais des 

Nations under the strategic heritage plan of the United Nations Office at Geneva 

($30.5 million) and works to finalize the capital master plan at United Nations 

Headquarters ($23.4 million), and additions to equipment assets of $35.6 million.   

16. At 31 December 2015, property, plant and equipment included assets under 

construction of $40.4 million, related primarily to capitalized expenditure of 

$35.2 million for the strategic heritage plan in Geneva, $1.4 million for the 

construction of infrastructure assets in special political missions and leasehold 

improvement of $1.2 million for the Economic and Social Commission for Western 

Asia (ESCWA) building in Beirut. The strategic heritage plan has a total projected 

cost of $844.1 million and is expected to be completed by 2023.   

17. Depreciation rates for property, plant and equipment in 2015 ranges from 0 per 

cent to 12.2 per cent, depending on the respective categories, with an average 

effective depreciation rate for 2015 approximating 4.1 per cent. The movement in 

property, plant and equipment is captured in note 15 to the financial statements.  

18. Overall, 4 per cent of property, plant and equipment assets have been fully 

depreciated, 24 per cent have remaining useful lives of between six months and four 

years and 72 per cent have remaining useful lives of more than four years. The 

remaining useful lives of property, plant and equipment continue to fall in line with 

normal rates of depreciation. The comparative remaining useful life as a percentage 

of expected useful life of property, plant and equipment as at  31 December 2015 and 

31 December 2014 is illustrated in figure IV.III.   
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  Figure IV.III  

  Remaining useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
(Percentage) 
 

 

 

19. The remaining years of useful life compared with original expected useful life 

of various categories of property, plant and equipment are shown in figure IV.IV.  
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Figure IV.IV 

Remaining useful lives of property, plant and equipment  
(Years) 
 

 

 

  Cash, cash equivalents and investments  
 

20. As at 31 December 2015, the United Nations held cash and cash equivalents 

and investments of $2,968.1 million, of which $2,838.9 million was held in the main  

cash pool and the remainder was held in other pools and in banking institutions.   

21. As at 31 December 2015, the Organization held $2,848.7 million (36.4 per 

cent) of the total assets of the main and euro cash pools, which amounted to 

$7,827.5 million; the main cash pool was predominantly denominated in United 

States dollars and the euro cash pool was entirely in euros (see figure IV.V).   
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  Figure IV.V 

  Cash and investments by pool 
  (Millions of United States dollars and percentage)  

 

 

22. The cash pools consist largely of investments in liquid bonds (issued by 

Governments and government agencies), commercial papers and term deposits. The 

investments are presented at fair value with the relevant gains/losses recorded in the 

statement of financial performance. For 2015, the Organization earned $11.8 million in 

net income from the main and euro pools (0.64 per cent and 0.05 per cent respectively).   

23. The investments of the United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society against 

Sickness and Accident, valued at $105.4 million, were held in Swiss francs (SwF); 

the investments were held largely in fixed income securities of government and 

related entities and supranational entities, in addition to an exchanged traded fund 

benchmarked to the Swiss market index. For 2015, the Organization earned 

$1.5 million in investment income from the investments of the Society; after 

accounting for exchange and revaluation losses, there was a profit of $0.2 million 

from those investments.  

24. As at 31 December 2015, balances of cash and cash equivalents and 

investments were held in groups of funds as shown in figures IV.VI and IV.VII.   

 

  Figure IV.VI  

  Cash and cash equivalents by fund group  

  (Millions of United States dollars and percentage)  
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United Nations 
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Other,
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  Figure IV.VII  

  Investments in cash pools by fund group   

  (Millions of United States dollars and percentage)  
 

 

 

25. The trust funds group held 52.1 per cent of investments, while 19.3 per cent 

was held by insurance funds. The regular budget and related funds group held 

3.4 per cent of investment holdings, amounting to $84.8 million.   

26. The cash pools were invested in diversified instruments including government 

bonds and agencies, term deposits and commercial papers (see figure IV.VIII).   

 

  Figure IV.VIII  

  Cash pool investments by instrument type  
(Millions of United States dollars and percentage)  

Commerical
papers, $949

(13%)

Government 
agency bonds,
$2,191 (29%)

Term deposits,  
$1,871 (25%)

Overnight 
deposits,

$982 (13%)

Government
bonds, $1,217

(16%)

Supranational 
bonds, $140 

(2%)
Other, $2 (0%)

Corporate 
bonds, $150 

(2%)

Trust
funds,
$1,292
(52%)

Regular 
budget  

$85 (4%)

Insurance 
funds,
$478
(19%)

Other,  
$628
(25%)



A/71/5 (Vol. I) 
 

 

16-16791 159/288 

 

27. The Organization’s exposure to credit risks, liquidity risks and market risks 

with respect to its investment portfolios is considered to be low. The risk analysis of 

the investment portfolios is presented in notes 30 and 31 to the financial statements.   

 

  Voluntary contributions receivable  
 

28. Voluntary contributions receivable as at 31 December 2015 amounted to 

$583.7 million, presented net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $4.8 million. 

The voluntary contributions receivable of the Organization increased over the course 

of 2015 by $126.9 million, reflecting an increase in long-term voluntary receivable 

balances of $104.0 million compared with prior year balances. The amounts are due 

to the Organization under arrangements related to voluntary trust funds.  

 

  Voluntary contributions receivable as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014  
(Millions of United States dollars)  
 

 2015 2014 

   Voluntary contributions receivable — non current 199.4 95.4 

Voluntary contributions receivable — current 384.3 361.4 

 583.7 456.8 

 

 

29. The current and non-current voluntary contributions receivable related to 

general trust funds as at 31 December 2015 amounted to $384.3 million and 

$199.4 million respectively.  

30. The outstanding balance was mainly related to the human rights and 

humanitarian affairs segment ($386.0 million, or 66 per cent), largely comprised of 

the receivables of the Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs of the 

Secretariat ($197.8 million, or 34 per cent) and the Central Emergency Response 

Fund ($142.4 million, or 24.3 per cent). Over the course of 2015, voluntary 

contribution receivables increased by $126.9 million (or 28 per cent), owing mainly 

to the addition of Multi-Partner Trust Fund consolidated receivables of 

$59.0 million and an increase in the Central Emergency Response Fund receivable 

of $33.6 million.  

 

  Assessed contributions receivable  
 

31. The balance of assessed contributions receivable as at 31 December 2015 of 

$389.3 million consisted of a gross balance of $593.5 million, which was offset by 

an allowance for doubtful receivables of $204.2 million. The balance of assessed 

contributions receivable decreased in 2015 as compared with 2014 by $48.9 million 

(11.2 per cent).  

 

  Liabilities  
 

32. The total liabilities of the Organization decreased over 2015 by $644.9 million 

(11.0 per cent) to $5,232.5 million, with the most notable decrease taking place in 

employee benefits liabilities in an amount of $605.9 million (or 12.7 per cent) to 

$4,180.3 million, as compared with prior year balances. Employee benefits 

liabilities decreased mainly as a result of actuarial gains of $810.1 million, which 
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were partly offset by current service cost and interest cost on the defined -benefits 

liability of $186.8 million and $156.6 million respectively.   

33. Figure IV.IX presents the structure of the Organization’s liabilities as at 

31 December 2015, totalling $5,232.5 million.  

 

  Figure IV.IX 

  Liabilities as at 31 December 2015  
(Millions of United States dollars and percentage)  
 

 

 

34. As illustrated in figure IV.X, the Organization’s liabilities largely comprised 

employee benefits liabilities of $4,180.3 million (79.9 per cent) and accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities of $485.7 million (9.3 per cent).  

 

  Figure IV.X 

  Employee benefits liabilities  
(Millions of United States dollars and percentage)  
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35. Employee benefits liabilities consist largely of liabilities related to after-

service health insurance ($3,626.6 million), annual leave ($188.3 million) and 

repatriation benefits ($269 million), all of which are valued by independent 

actuaries. The decrease in 2015 of $605.9 million (12.7 per cent), att ributable 

mainly to actuarial gains of $810.1 million, was recognized directly in the statement 

of changes in net assets, offset by current service cost and interest cost on the 

defined-benefits liability of $186.8 million and $156.6 million respectively.   

36. Employee benefits liabilities for activities related to the regular budget 

continue on the pay-as-you-go approach for the present time pursuant to General 

Assembly resolution 70/248. The Organization continues to explore options to fund 

the liabilities, including a possible United Nations system-wide approach similar to 

the approach currently employed for retirement and disability benefits by the United 

Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund. For employee benefi ts liabilities relating to 

extrabudgetary activities, the Organization has started funding liabilities relating to 

pensions, health insurance and repatriation grants and is currently considering a 

proposal that calls for funding of all employee benefits liabilities relating to 

extrabudgetary activities commencing in January 2017.  

 

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  
 

37. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $485.7 million (2014: 

$528.3 million) mainly consist of accruals for goods and services of $134.1 million 

(2014: $154.5 million) and accounts payable of $109.2 million (2014: $104.8 million).   

38. Figure IV.XI provides an analysis of the structure of the United Nations by 

current and non-current assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2015 and 

31 December 2014, indicating minimal changes between the two years.  

 

  Figure IV.XI  

  Structure of the United Nations by current and non-current assets and liabilities 

as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014  
(Millions of United States dollars)  
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  Financial performance 
 

  Revenue analysis 
 

39. The total revenue of the Organization for 2015 was $5,625.2 million, 

compared with total expenses of $5,613.1 million, resulting in a surplus of total 

revenue over total expenses of $12.1 million. Figures IV.XII and IV.XIII provide an 

analysis of revenue and expenses by nature and by segment.   

 

  Figure IV.XII 

  Revenue by nature  

  (Millions of United States dollars and percentage)  
 

 

 

  Figure IV.XIII 

  Revenue by segment  

  (Millions of United States dollars and percentage)  
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40. Assessed contributions of $2,811.3 comprised 50.0 per cent of the funding of 

the Organization for 2015. Assessed contributions are based on a scale of 

assessments approved by the General Assembly; figure IV.XIV indicates the 

Member States with the largest assessments for 2015.  

 

  Figure IV.XIV 

  Top 10 contributors of assessed contributions 
(Millions of United States dollars and percentage)  
 

 

 

41. Voluntary contributions amounted to $2,093.9 million and comprised 37.2 per 

cent of 2015 revenue. Figures IV.XV and IV.XVI show the major voluntary 

contributors for monetary contribution income and for voluntary in -kind 

contributions for 2015. Figure IV.XV indicates that the United Kingdom of Great 

Britain and Northern Ireland was the major contributor of mone tary voluntary 

contributions and figure IV.XVI indicates that Afghanistan was the major 

contributor of voluntary in-kind contributions. 
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  Figure IV.XV 

  Major voluntary contributors, monetary contributions  
(Millions of United States dollars) 
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  Figure IV.XVI 

  Major voluntary contributors, in-kind contributions 
(Millions of United States dollars) 
 

 

 

42. Figure IV.XVII highlights voluntary contributions by programme segment and 

shows that voluntary funding is directed largely to the segment of human rights and 

humanitarian affairs.  
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  Figure IV.XVII 

  Voluntary contributions by major work pillar 
(Millions of United States dollars and percentage)  
 

 

 

  Expense analysis 
 

43. The total expenses of the Organization decreased over the course of 2015 by 

$572.1 million (or 9.3 per cent) to $5,613.1 million, with the most notable decrease 

in grants and other transfers, which decreased by $509.3 million (or 27.9 per cent) 

to $1,313.4 million.  

44. Figure IV.XVIII highlights expenses by their nature, showing that the largest 

categories are employee salaries, allowances and benefits and non-employee 

compensation and allowances in the amount of $2,629.1, or 46.8 per cent, and grants  

and transfers to end beneficiaries and implementing partners of $1,313.4 million, or 

23.4 per cent. Operating expenses of $746.6 million at 13.3 per cent was also a 

significant category and was composed largely of contracted services, acquisition of 

expensed goods and rental of office space.  
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  Figure IV.XVIII 

  Expenses by nature 
(Millions of United States dollars and percentage)  
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45. Figure IV.XIX highlights expenses by work pillar.  

 

  Figure IV.XIX 

  Expenses by work pillar 
(Millions of United States dollars and percentage) 
 

 

 

46. In 2015, the major pillar of human rights and humanitarian affairs had a net 

surplus of $210.1 million, partially offset by the net deficit for other segments 

totalling $198 million, of which $169.6 million related to the pillar of self-insurance 

plans and other insurance plans. This resulted in an overall surplus for the year. 

Note 5 to the financial statements, on segment reporting, provides details of 

financial performance by segment. 
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  Net assets 
 

47. Net assets of $2,498.8 million as at 31 December 2015 consisted of an 

accumulated surplus of $2,440 million and reserves of $58.8 million and reflect the 

accumulated effect of the Organization’s historical activity. The increase in net 

assets over 2015 by $815.1 million (48.4 per cent) to $2,498.8 million is attributable 

primarily to actuarial gains on employee benefits liabilities recognized directly in 

the statement of net assets in the amount of $810.1 million, owing in particular to 

increases in the discount rates. 

 

 

 D. United Nations General Fund and related funds 
 

 

  Budgetary performance of the regular budget 
 

48. The regular budget of the United Nations continues to be prepared on a 

modified cash basis, as presented in statement V. To facilitate a comparison between 

the budget performance and the financial statements prepared under IPSAS, a 

reconciliation of the budget with the cash flow statement is included in note 6.  

49. Approved budgets are those that authorize expenditure to be incurred and are 

approved by the General Assembly. For IPSAS reporting purposes, approved 

budgets are the appropriations authorized under General Assembly resolutions. The 

original budget for the biennium 2014-2015 comprises the appropriations approved 

by the General Assembly for the biennium in resolution 68/248 A. The final budget 

represents final amounts authorized for the biennium 2014-2015, after incorporating 

all changes arising from General Assembly resolutions 68/247 A and B, 69/263 A 

and C, 69/274 A and B and 70/240 A and B, and also incorporates amounts 

transferred between sections of the budget with the concurrence of the Advisory 

Committee on Administrative and Budgetary Questions. The original 2015 annual 

budget represents the 2015 revised appropriations, plus the unencumbered balance 

of 2014. The final 2015 annual budget represents the original budget for 2015 and 

incorporates final amounts and changes authorized for the biennium 2014 -2015. The 

relevant part of the assessed contributions is recognized as revenue at the beginning 

of each year in the biennium.  

 

  Changes from original budget to final budget  
 

50. In 2015, the final annual budget of $3,009.7 million exceeded the original 

annual budget of $2,823.4 million by $186.3 million, or 6.6 per cent. Changes to the 

original budget related to overall policymaking, direction and coordination, political 

affairs, international justice and law, international cooperation for development, 

regional cooperation for development, human rights and humanitarian affairs, public 

information, common support services, internal oversight, jointly financed 

administrative activities and special expenses, capital expenditures, safety and 

security, and staff assessment.  

 

  Budget utilization 
 

51. The total budget utilized in 2015 was $2,889.7 million, which is under the 

final budget by $120.0 million, or 4.0 per cent. Figure IV.XX provides a breakdown 

of the underutilization by regular budget category.   

http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/248
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/247
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/263
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/274
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/240
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  Figure IV.XX  

  Expenditure underutilization 
(Millions of United States dollars and percentage)  
 

 

 

52. Material differences greater than 10 per cent are considered in note 6 to the 

financial statements.  

 

  Regular budget appropriations  
 

53. Presented in table IV.1 is a summary reconciliation of budget appropriations 

and gross assessments for the biennium 2014-2015 to the amount disclosed in 

statement II as assessed contributions for 2015.  
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Table IV.1  

Reconciliation of budget appropriations and gross assessments for 2014-2015 to assessed contributions for 2015 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 2014 2015 Total 

    Budget appropriations (resolution 68/248 A) 2 765 175 2 765 175 5 530 350 

Add: Increased appropriations for the biennium 2014-2015    

 Resolution 68/247 B – 8 201 8 201 

 Resolution 69/263 A – 115 272 115 272 

 Resolution 69/274 A – 5 538 5 538 

 Resolution 69/274 B – 172 558 172 558 

 Resolution 70/240 A – (23 354) (23 354) 

 Total 2014-2015 final budget appropriations 2 765 175 3 043 390 5 808 565 

Estimated income (other than staff assessment) for the biennium 2014-2015 

(resolution 68/248 B) 15 980 15 980 31 960 

Add: Increase in income (other than staff assessment) for the biennium 2014-2015    

 Resolution 69/263 B – 983 983 

 Resolution 70/240 B – 28 402 28 402 

 Total revised estimated income 15 980 45 365 61 345 

 Total 2014-2015 final budget appropriations less total estimated income 2 749 195 2 998 025 5 747 220 

Add: Net increase in appropriations for the biennium 2012-2013 (resolution 68/245) 

assessed in 2014 (resolution 68/248 C) 79 652 – 79 652 

Add: Commitment authority assessed (resolution 69/263 C) – 104 583 104 583 

Less: Increase in income (other than staff assessment) for the biennium 2012-2013 

(resolution 68/245 B) adjusted against the assessment in 2014 (resolution 68/248 C) (5 194) – (5 194) 

Less: Increase in appropriations for the biennium 2014-2015 adjusted against the 

assessment in 2016 (resolution 70/249 C)    

 Resolution 69/274 A – (5 538) (5 538) 

 Resolution 69/274 B – (172 558) (172 558) 

Add: Decrease in appropriations for the biennium 2014-2015 adjusted against the 

assessment in 2016 (resolution 70/249 C)    

 Resolution 70/240 A – 23 354 23 354 

Add: Increase in income (other than staff assessment) for the biennium 2014-2015 

(resolution 70/240 B) adjusted against the assessment in 2016 (resolution 70/249 C) – 28 402 28 402 

 74 458 (21 757) 52 701 

 Gross amounts assessed to Member States in the biennium 2014-2015
 (resolutions 68/248 C and 69/263 C) 2 823 653 2 976 268 5 799 921 

Add: IPSAS adjustments
a
 37 416 (164 990) (127 574) 

 Assessed contributions for 2015 as reported in statement II 2 861 069 2 811 278 5 672 347 

 

 
a
 2014 includes deductions of additional 2012-2013 assessments charged to Member States in 2014 and additional appropriations  

approved for the year 2014. 2015 includes deductions of additional 2014 assessments charged to Member States in 2015, 

additional appropriations approved for the year 2015 and unencumbered balances for the biennium 2014 -2015.  

http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/248
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/247
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/263
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/274
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/274
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/240
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/248
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/263
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/240
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/245
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/248
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/263
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/245
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/248
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/249
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/274
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/274
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/249
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/240
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/240
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/249
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/248
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/263
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 E. Capital master plan  
 

 

54. The activities of the Organization’s capital master plan officially ended in 

2015 with the transfer of responsibility to the Office of Central Support Services of 

the Secretariat for overseeing final residual works, including the demolition of the 

Temporary North Lawn Building. Final funding for the project was authorized by 

the General Assembly in its resolution 69/274 A.  

 

 

 F. Liquidity  
 

 

55. The liquidity assessment reviews the adequacy of the liquid assets at the 

Organization’s disposal to quickly settle its immediate obligations. As at 31 December  

2015, the overall liquidity position of the Organization was positive as it had 

sufficient liquid assets to settle its immediate obligations.  

56. As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 liquid funds amounted to 

$2,704.7 million and $2,452.8 million, respectively, as shown in table IV.2.   

 

  Table IV.2  

  Liquid funds as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014  
(Millions of United States dollars) 
 

 2015 2014 

   Cash and cash equivalents  485.4 597.8 

Short-term investments  1 445.7 1 055.4 

Assessed contributions receivable  389.3 438.2 

Voluntary contributions receivable — current 384.3 361.4 

 2 704.7 2 452.8 

 

 

57. Total current liabilities as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 

amounted to $1,089.2 million and $1,101.3 million respectively.  

58. Table IV.3 summarizes three key liquidity indicators for the year ended 

31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014. 

 

  Table IV.3  

  Liquidity indicators for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014  
 

 2015 2014 

   Ratio of current assets to current liabilities 2.9:1 2.7:1 

Ratio of liquid assets to current liabilities 2.5:1 2.2:1 

Ratio of liquid assets less accounts receivable to current liabilities  1.8:1 1.5:1 

Ratio of liquid assets to total assets 0.4:1 0.3:1 

Average months of cash, cash equivalents and investments on hand 4.3 3.3 

 

 

59. The ratio of current assets to current liabilities indicates the ability of the 

Organization to pay its short-term obligations from its current funds. As at 

http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/274
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31 December 2015, current liabilities were covered by up to 2.9 times from current 

assets, indicating there are sufficient assets available to pay liabilities should the 

need arise. An increase of this value from 2.7 in the prior year indicates a higher 

holding of liquid funds at the end of 2015. 

60. The ratio of liquid assets to current liabilities of 2.5 indicates holding of liquid 

funds was sufficient to cover short-term liabilities. The positive change in the ratio 

from the prior year of 2.2 also indicates an improvement in the Organization’s 

overall liquidity.  

61. When accounts receivable are excluded from liquid assets, the ratio indicates 

how the Organization handles its current liabilities without reliance on amounts 

receivable, that is, using only funds on hand. As at 31 December 2015, this ratio 

was 1.8, meaning that the Organization is able to fully cover its current liabilities 

using its immediately available funds. The positive trend from 1.5 in the prior year 

is also an indicator of improved liquidity.  

62. The ratio of liquid assets to total assets shows the share of the Organization’s 

liquid funds to total assets. The ratio of 0.35 indicates 35 per cent of the 

Organization’s total assets are relatively liquid. This ratio improved slightly from 

the previous year. 

63. With regard to average months of cash, cash equivalents and investments on 

hand, as at 31 December 2015 the Organization held sufficient cash and cash 

equivalents and investments to cover its estimated average monthly expenses (less 

depreciation, amortization and impairment) of $451.0 million for 4.3 months.  

64. The liquidity of the Organization was supported largely by liquid assets related 

to trust funds; when the assessment is done separately for the regular budget and 

related funds, the liquidity result is much tighter, as shown in table IV.4.  

 

  Table IV.4  

  Liquidity indicators for the regular budget and related funds  
 

Indicators 2015 2014 

   
Ratio of current assets to current liabilities 1.3:1 1.1:1 

Ratio of liquid assets to current liabilities 1.2:1 0.7:1 

Ratio of liquid assets less accounts receivable to current liabilities  0.1:1 0.2:1 

Ratio of liquid assets to total assets 0.5:1 0.4:1 

Average months of cash, cash equivalents and investments on hand 0.4 1.4 

 

 

 

 G. Looking forward to 2016 and beyond  
 

 

65. The overall financial position of the United Nations at the end of 2015 was 

positive with the liquidity being driven predominantly by trust funds. A declining 

liquidity position relating to the regular budget was noted, evidenced by the fall in 

the average months of liquid assets on hand; this is being actively managed. The 

longer-term risk relating to the unfunded employee benefits liabilities is 

progressively being addressed. During the year under review, regular budget 

expenditures were down and this trend is expected to continue as the Organization 

looks towards the implementation of a global service delivery model.   
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Annex I 
 

  Supplementary information required by the Financial 
Regulations and Rules of the United Nations  
 

 

1. The present annex provides supplementary information that the Secretary-

General is required to report.  

 

  Write-off of losses of cash and receivables  
 

2. Pursuant to rule 106.7 (a) of the Financial Regulations and Rules of the United 

Nations, write-off cases totalling $2,344,938 were approved for the year 2015 with 

respect to the United Nations as reported in volume I. A breakdown of the write-offs 

is as follows:  

 

Fund/activity 2015 

  
United Nations General Fund and related funds 2 046 859 

Revenue producing activities 8 171 

General trust funds 265 023 

Other funds 24 885 

 Total 2 344 938 

 

 

  Write-off of losses of property 
 

3. Pursuant to financial rule 106.7, losses of property for the United Nations as 

reported in volume I amounted to $222,165,936.60 during 2015, of which 

$188.0 million related to the write-off of the Temporary North Lawn Building. The 

losses are based on the original cost of the property and include write-offs arising 

from shortfalls, thefts, damages and accidents.  

 

  Ex gratia payments  
 

4. There were no ex gratia payments during 2015.  
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Annex II  
 

  Other supplementary information  
 

 

Statement of financial position of the General Fund and related funds as at 31 December 2015  
 (Thousands of United States dollars) 

 

 

General Fund 

and related funds 

Working 

Capital Fund 

Special  

account Eliminations 31 December 2015 

31 December 2014 

(restateda) 

       
Assets       

Current assets       

Cash and cash equivalents 15 623 4 3 206 – 18 833 98 631 

Investments 44 123 12 9 887 – 54 022 124 063 

Assessed contributions receivable 389 252 20 – – 389 272 437 752 

Other receivables 44 374 – – – 44 374 59 542 

Inventories 17 833 – – – 17 833 19 269 

Other assets 69 408 149 979 180 000 (329 979) 69 408 342 728 

 Total current assets 580 613 150 015 193 093 (329 979) 593 742 1 081 985 

Non-current assets       

Investments 24 113 8 6 634 – 30 755 109 451 

Property, plant and equipment 322 678 – – – 322 678 345 617 

Intangibles 2 557 – – – 2 557 1 596 

Share of joint ventures accounted for 

using the equity method 1 881 – – – 1 881 10 805 

Other assets – – – – – 437 

 Total non-current assets 351 229 8 6 634 – 357 871 467 906 

 Total assets 931 842 150 023 199 727 (329 979) 951 613 1 549 891 

Liabilities       

Current liabilities       

Accounts payable and accrued 

payables 175 023 150 000 – – 325 023 282 720 

Advance receipts 17 620 – – – 17 620 16 342 

Employee benefits liabilities 23 895 – – – 23 895 35 514 

Provisions 121 225 – – – 121 225 42 422 

Other liabilities  330 956 – – (329 979) 977 586 790 

 Total current liabilities  668 719 150 000 – (329 979) 488 740 963 788 
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Statement of financial position of the General Fund and related funds as at 31 December 2015 (continued) 
 (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 

General Fund 

and related funds 

Working 

Capital Fund 

Special  

account Eliminations 31 December 2015 

31 December 2014 

(restateda) 

       
Non-current liabilities       

Employee benefits liabilities  18 304 – – – 18 304 19 452 

Provisions  317 – – – 317 491 

Share of joint ventures accounted for 

using the equity method 78 363 – – – 78 363 60 880 

Other liabilities 1 893 – – – 1 893 6 257 

 Total non-current liabilities 98 877 – – – 98 877 87 080 

 Total liabilities 767 596 150 000 – (329 979) 587 617 1 050 868 

 Total assets and liabilities 164 246 23 199 727 – 363 996 499 023 

Net assets       

Accumulated surplus 164 246 23 199 727 – 363 996 499 023 

 

 
a
 2014 figures have been adjusted to remove fund 10UCS (UNAMA common services compound) values effective as at 

1 January 2015 and UNAMA compound cost-sharing activities have been moved to fund 10RCR. 
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  Statement of financial performance for the year ended 31 December 2015 for the 

General Fund and related funds 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 31 December 2015 

31 December 2014 

(restateda) 

   
Revenue    

Assessed contributions 2 811 279 2 861 069 

Voluntary contributions 39 229 36 380 

Investment revenue 3 179 3 228 

Other exchange revenue  50 083 45 056 

 Total  2 903 769 2 945 733 

Expenses   

Employee salaries, allowances and benefits 1 913 696 1 976 942 

Non-employee compensation and allowances 77 772 63 148 

Grants and other transfers 290 681 185 592 

Supplies and consumables 27 407 46 134 

Depreciation and amortization 46 602 44 228 

Impairment 473 377 

Travel 46 327 66 596 

Other operating expenses 529 378 423 836 

Finance costs 184 243 

Contributions to/share of joint ventures 95 450 78 734 

Other expenses 2 255 6 445 

 Total  3 030 225 2 892 275 

 Surplus for the year  (126 456) 53 458 

 

 
a
 2014 figures have been adjusted to remove fund 10UCS (UNAMA common services 

compound) values effective as at 1 January 2015 and UNAMA compound cost-sharing 

activities have been moved to fund 10RCR. 
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Operational revenue and expenses of the Tax Equalization Fund
a
 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 

United States  

of America 

Other  

Member States 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 

     
Staff assessment receipts from:      

 United Nations regular budget 56 451 200 146 256 597 254 622 

 Peacekeeping operations 51 950 131 214 183 164 180 125 

 International tribunals 3 979 11 822 15 801 20 421 

  Interest revenue split 130 396 526 226 

 Total staff assessment revenue 112 510 343 578 456 088 455 394 

Employee salaries, allowances and benefits  109 544 – 109 544 87 768 

Contractual services  175 – 175 172 

Credits given to other Member States for:      

 United Nations regular budget – 205 561 205 561 211 920 

 Peacekeeping operations – 124 159 124 159 127 529 

 International tribunals – 13 425 13 425 13 304 

 Total expenses 109 719 343 145 452 864 440 693 

 Net excess of revenue over expenses 2 791 433 3 224 14 701 

 

 
a
 This summary information presented in a table format shows the revenues and expenses of the Tax Equalization Fund, which 

have been eliminated in the financial statements of volume I. See note 21 to the financial statements for additional information 

disclosed in relation to the cumulative surplus in the Tax Equalization Fund as at 31 December 2015. An amount of $3.2 millio n 

representing excess of revenues over expenses has been added to cumulative surplus balances during 2015.  
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Chapter V  
  Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 

 

 

  Operations of the United Nations as reported in volume I 
 

  I. Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015 
 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Reference 31 December 2015 

31 December 2014 

(restateda) 

    
Assets    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents Note 7 485 352 597 795 

Investments Note 8 1 445 740  1 055 386 

Assessed contributions receivable Note 9 389 306 438 195 

Voluntary contributions receivable Note 10 384 298 361 437 

Other receivables  Note 11 97 256 138 584 

Inventories Note 12 18 027 19 649 

Other assets Note 13 330 098 380 705 

 Total current assets  3 150 077 2 991 751 

Non-current assets    

Investments Note 8 1 036 992 1 002 627 

Voluntary contributions receivable Note 10 199 403 95 367 

Property, plant and equipment Note 15 3 216 137 3 322 510 

Intangible assets  Note 16 125 620 137 529 

Share of joint ventures accounted for using the equity method Note 24 3 069 10 805 

Other assets Note 13 – 504 

 Total non-current assets  4 581 221 4 569 342 

 Total assets  7 731 298 7 561 093 

Liabilities    

Current liabilities    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Note 17 485 712 528 334 

Advance receipts Note 18 82 918 101 019 

Employee benefits liabilities Note 19 200 153 191 790 

Provisions Note 20 212 949 124 479 

Tax equalization liability Note 21 96 011 96 252 

Other liabilities Note 22 11 504 59 468 

 Total current liabilities  1 089 247 1 101 342 
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  Operations of the United Nations as reported in volume I 
 

  I. Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015 (continued) 
 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Reference 31 December 2015 

31 December 2014 

(restateda) 

    
Non-current liabilities    

Advance receipts Note 18 9 696 16 492 

Employee benefits liabilities Note 19 3 980 172 4 594 386 

Provisions Note 20 317 15 582 

Share of joint ventures accounted for using the equity method Note 24 78 363 60 880 

Other liabilities Note 22 74 699 88 754 

 Total non-current liabilities  4 143 247 4 776 094 

 Total liabilities   5 232 494 5 877 436 

 Net of total assets and total liabilities  2 498 804 1 683 657 

Net assets    

Accumulated surplus  Note 25 2 440 033 1 624 541 

Reserves Note 25 58 771 59 116 

 Total net assets  2 498 804 1 683 657 

 

 
a
 Restated to conform with the current presentation (note 4).  

 

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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  Operations of the United Nations as reported in volume I 
 

  II. Statement of financial performance for the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Reference 2015 2014 (restateda) 

    
Revenue    

Assessed contributions Note 26 2 811 278 2 861 069 

Voluntary contributions Note 26 2 093 878 2 345 579 

Other transfers and allocations Note 26 174 795  106 457 

Investment revenue Note 30 15 662 19 590 

Contributions for self-insurance funds Note 28 356 906 369 610 

Other revenue Note 27 172 722 134 798 

 Total revenue  5 625 241 5 837 103 

Expenses    

Employee salaries, allowances and benefits  Note 29 2 564 948 2 611 421 

Non-employee compensation and allowances  64 158 47 755 

Grants and other transfers Note 29 1 313 357 1 822 668 

Supplies and consumables   48 844 67 050 

Depreciation and amortization Notes 15 and 16 207 341 210 605 

Impairment Note 15 1 065 29 504 

Travel  106 816 133 280 

Other operating expenses Note 29 746 692 739 213 

Self-insurance claims and expenses Note 28 461 675 437 340 

Finance costs Note 33 184 243 

Contributions to and share of deficit of joint ventures 

accounted for on an equity basis Note 24 95 897 78 785 

Other expenses  2 163 7 415 

 Total expenses  5 613 140 6 185 279 

 Surplus/(deficit) for the year  12 101  (348 176) 

 

 
a
 Restated to conform with the current presentation (note 4).  

 

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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  Operations of the United Nations as reported in volume I 
 

  III. Statement of changes in net assets for the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Net assets 

  Net assets as at 1 January 2014 (IPSAS) 2 999 514 

Changes in net assets  

Actuarial losses on employee benefits liabilities (note 19)  (944 910) 

Share of changes recognized by joint ventures directly in net assets (note 24) (25 225) 

Other adjustments to net assets 8 692 

Deficit for the year (348 176) 

 Total changes in net assets (1 309 619) 

 Net assets as at 31 December 2014 (note 25) 1 689 895 

Prior-period adjustments (note 4)
a
 (6 238) 

 Restated net assets as at 31 December 2014 (note 25)
a
 1 683 657 

Changes in net assets   

Actuarial gains on employee benefits liabilities (note 19)  810 130 

Transfer of funds to other Secretariat reporting entities  (1 713) 

Share of changes recognized by joint ventures directly in net assets (note 24)  (6 997) 

Other adjustments to net assets 1 626 

Surplus for the year 12 101 

 Total changes in net assets 815 147 

 Net assets as at 31 December 2015 (note 25) 2 498 804 

 

 
a
 Restated to conform with the current presentation (note 4).  

 

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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Operations of the United Nations as reported in volume I 
 

IV. Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Reference 2015 2014 (restateda) 

    
Cash flows from operating activities    

Surplus/(deficit) for the year  12 101 (348 176) 

Non-cash movements    

Depreciation and amortization Notes 15 and 16 207 341  210 605 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  Note 15 1 065 29 504 

Impairment of inventory Note 12 3 127 852 

Increase/(decrease) in allowance for doubtful receivables  Notes 9, 10 and 11 4 018 (1 868) 

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and inventory  25 192 12 375 

Investment revenue presented in net receipts from cash pool investments  Note 30 (15 662) (19 590) 

Current service cost and interest cost of employee benefits liabilities  Note 19 343 404 297 034 

Donations of assets Note 26 (1 935) (499) 

Net deficit/(surplus) on joint ventures Note 24 19 542 (1 127) 

Changes in assets    

Decrease/(increase) in assessed contributions receivable
b
 Note 9 47 924 (110 706) 

(Increase)/decrease in voluntary contributions receivable
b
 Note 10 (129 705) 152 237 

Decrease in other receivables
b
 Note 11 41 270 24 793 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories
c
 Note 12 (1 505) 413 

Decrease/(increase) in other assets
d
  Note 13 52 737 (13 744) 

(Increase) in share of joint venture asset/liability accounted for using the 

equity method Note 24 (1 527) – 

Changes in liabilities    

Increase in share of joint venture asset/liability accounted for using the 

equity method Note 24 207 9 098 

(Decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities Note 17 (42 622) (58 141) 

(Decrease) in employee benefits liabilities Note 19 (139 125) (220 198) 

(Decrease)/increase in advance receipts Note 18 (24 897) 8 557 

Increase in provisions Note 20 73 205 82 084 

(Decrease) in tax equalization fund liability Note 21 (241) (37 303) 

(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities
e
 Note 22 (63 732) 2 990 

 Net cash flows from operating activities  410 182 19 190 
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Operations of the United Nations as reported in volume I 
 

 IV. Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued) 
 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Reference 2015 2014 (restateda) 

    
Cash flows from investing activities    

Net changes in cash pool investments
f
 Note 30 (408 741) 452 488 

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment Notes 15 and 26 (99 334) (168 146) 

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment Note 15 541 2 423 

Acquisitions of intangibles Notes 16 and 26 (14 775) (22 075) 

Donation of intangible assets  – 499 

 Net cash flows from investing activities  (522 309) 265 189 

 Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (112 127) 284 379 

Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of year  597 795 313 822 

Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents  (316) (406) 

 Cash and cash equivalents — end of year  Note 7 485 352 597 795 

 

 
a
 Restated to conform with the current presentation (note 4).  

 
b
 Comprises movement in receivables adjusted for allowances for doubtful balances (notes 9 -11). 

 
c
 Comprises movement in inventories adjusted for impairment and write-off of inventory (note 12). 

 
d
 Comprises movement in other assets adjusted for other adjustments to net assets of $1.6 million (statement III).  

 
e
 Comprises movement in other liabilities adjusted for transfer of funds to other Secretariat reporting entities of $1.7 million 

(statement III).  

 
f
 Comprises movement in investments, investment revenue and foreign exchange gain.  

 

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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 Operations of the United Nations as reported in volume I 
 

 V. Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year ended 31 December 2015  
 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 

 Publicly available budgeta 

Actual annual 

expenditure 

(budget basis)b 

Difference 

(percentage)c  

Original 

biennial 

Final 

biennial 

Original 

annual 

Final  

annual 

       
Regular budget       

Overall policymaking, direction and coordination 790 612 778 215 403 365 388 841 381 562 -1.9 

Political affairs 1 344 302 1 436 565 673 952 731 362 664 472 -9.1 

International justice and law 100 154 99 344 50 374 50 328 48 132 -4.4 

International cooperation for development 496 111 489 600 259 571 252 486 240 701 -4.7 

Regional cooperation for development 572 414 570 882 301 480 302 446 288 595 -4.6 

Human rights and humanitarian affairs 353 091 466 897 169 104 246 210 241 247 -2.0 

Public information 188 444 189 545 97 152 96 617 93 384 -3.3 

Common support services 657 782 682 415 324 249 346 156 340 866 -1.5 

Internal oversight 40 552 41 038 20 467 20 873 19 615 -6.0 

Jointly financed administrative activities and 

special expenses 155 018 153 220 83 842 81 990 81 990 0.0 

Capital expenditures 75 269 111 483 73 353 74 972 74 467 -0.7 

Security and safety 241 370 251 597 117 826 125 672 125 026 -0.5 

Development account 28 399 28 399 – – – 0.0 

Staff assessment 486 832 509 365 245 212 256 736 254 602 -0.8 

 Subtotal, regular budget 5 530 350 5 808 565 2 819 947 2 974 689 2 854 659 -4.0 

Other publicly available budgets       

Capital master plan  Not applicable 3 414 35 029 35 029 -0.0 

 Total 5 530 350 5 808 565 2 823 361 3 009 718 2 889 688 -4.0 

 

 
a
 The original budget for the biennium 2014-2015 is the appropriations approved by the General Assembly for the biennium in 

resolution 68/248 A. The final budget represents final amounts authorized for the biennium 2014-2015, after incorporating all 

changes arising from General Assembly resolutions 68/247 A and B, 69/263 A to C, 69/274 A and B and 70/240 A and B, and 

also incorporates amounts transferred between sections of the budget with the concurrence of the Advisory Committee on 

Administrative and Budgetary Questions. The original 2015 annual budget represents the 2015 revised appropriations, plus the 

unencumbered balance of 2014. The final 2015 annual budget represents the original budget for 2015 and incorporates final 

amounts and changes authorized for the biennium 2014-2015. The relevant element of assessed contributions is recognized as 

revenue at the beginning of each year in the biennium.  

 
b
 Includes outstanding commitments of $164.9 million for the regular budget and $28.1 million for the capital master plan.  

 
c
 Actual expenditure (budget basis) less final budget. Material differences greater than 10 per cent are considered in note 6, 

Comparison to budget.  
 

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.  

 

http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/248
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/247
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/263
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/274
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/240
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  Operations of the United Nations as reported in volume I  
 

  Notes to the 2015 financial statements  
 

  Note 1  

  Reporting entity  
 

  The United Nations and its activities  
 

1. The United Nations is an international organization founded in 1945 after the 

Second World War. The Charter of the United Nations, which was signed on 26 June 

1945 and became effective on 24 October 1945, sets out the primary objectives of 

the United Nations as follows:  

 (a) The maintenance of international peace and security;  

 (b) The promotion of international economic and social progress and 

development programmes;  

 (c) The universal observance of human rights;  

 (d) The administration of international justice and law.   

2. These objectives are implemented through the major organs of the United 

Nations, as follows:  

 (a) The General Assembly focuses on a wide range of political, economic 

and social issues, as well as financial and administrative aspects of the 

Organization;  

 (b) The Security Council is responsible for various aspects of peacekeeping 

and peacebuilding, including efforts to resolve conflicts, restore democracy, 

promote disarmament, provide electoral assistance, facilitate post -conflict 

peacebuilding, engage in humanitarian activities to ensure the survival of groups 

deprived of basic needs, and oversee the prosecution of persons responsible for 

serious violations of international humanitarian law;  

 (c) The Economic and Social Council plays a particular role in economic 

and social development, including a major oversight role in the efforts of other 

organizations of the United Nations system to address international economic, social 

and health problems;  

 (d) The International Court of Justice has jurisdiction over disputes between 

Member States brought before it for advisory opinions or binding resolutions.   

3. The United Nations has its headquarters in New York. It has major offices in 

Geneva, Vienna and Nairobi, and peacekeeping and political missions, economic 

commissions, tribunals, training institutes and other centres around the world.   

 

  Operations of the United Nations as reported in volume I   
 

4. The present financial statements relate to the operations of the United Nations 

as reported in volume I, a separate financial reporting entity of the United Nations 

for the purposes of IPSAS-compliant reporting. The operations of the United 

Nations, as reported in volume I, comprise the core operations of the Secretariat and 

are under the direction of the General Assembly in its role as lead organ for the 
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financial and administrative aspects of the United Nations. The core operations of 

the Secretariat are funded by the regular budget, which has a unique scale of 

assessments and budgetary process, by trust funds established by the Assembly or 

the Secretary-General, which supplement the activities of the regular budget, or by 

special accounts or funds established to facilitate mandate implementation by the 

Secretary-General in his role as Chief Administrative Officer of the United Nations.   

5. The reporting entity — the operations of the United Nations as reported in 

volume I — is regarded as an autonomous reporting entity that, owing to the 

uniqueness of the governance and budgetary process of each of the reporting entities 

of the United Nations, neither controls nor is controlled by any other United Nations 

financial reporting entity. Therefore, consolidation is not applicable to the 

operations of the United Nations and its financial statements include only its 

activities as reported in volume I.  

6. However, given the existence of a joint venture between the United Nations 

and the World Trade Organization for the International Trade Centre (ITC), and the 

significant influence of the United Nations over the operations of ITC, the United 

Nations has accounted for its investment in ITC using the equity method of 

accounting. The Organization participates in a number of jointly financed activities 

with other United Nations system organizations. The Organization’s share of those 

activities is also included in the financial statements using the equity method.   

7. The United Nations regular budget includes an assessed portion of the budget 

of other United Nations reporting entities, comprising the United Nations 

Environment Programme, the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, the 

United Nations Human Settlements Programme, the United Nations Relief and 

Works Agency for Palestine Refugees in the Near East, the Office of the United 

Nations High Commissioner for Refugees and the United Nations Entity for Gender 

Equality and the Empowerment of Women. Those amounts are accounted for as 

grants in volume I.  

8. The financial statements comprise activities managed through various funds, 

as follows:  

 (a) General Fund and related funds. The General Fund relates to regular 

budget activities and related funds consist of the Special Account and the Working 

Capital Fund;  

 (b) General trust funds. General trust funds are established to record the 

receipt of voluntary contributions to support various activities, including emergency 

assistance, political, economic and social development and humanitarian and human 

rights activities and those that relate to security issues, international justice and law, 

public information and support services;  

 (c) Capital funds. Capital funds include capital assets and construction-in-

progress funds at various locations worldwide. Major projects under these funds are 

the refurbishment and renovation of the Palais des Nations under the strategic 

heritage plan of the United Nations Office at Geneva and the finalization of the 

capital master plan relating to the refurbishment of the New York Headquarter s;  

 (d) Tax Equalization Fund. The Tax Equalization Fund was established to 

equalize the net pay of all staff members, whatever their national tax obligations;   
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 (e) End-of-service and post-retirement benefits. Such funds were 

established to account for end-of-service liabilities in respect of benefits payable to 

staff separating from service and comprise after-service health insurance, 

repatriation benefits and unused annual leave;  

 (f) Other funds. These comprise self-insurance funds; special accounts for 

administrative cost recoveries; common support services; conferences and 

conventions; special multi-year funds accounting for supplementary development 

activities; and other funds.  

 

  Note 2  

  Basis of preparation and authorization for issue  
 

  Basis of preparation  
 

9. In accordance with the Financial Regulations and Rules of the United Nations, 

these financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis in accordance 

with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). They have been 

prepared on a going-concern basis and the accounting policies have been applied 

consistently in their preparation and presentation. In accordance with the 

requirements of IPSAS, the financial statements, which present fairly the assets, 

liabilities, revenue and expenses of the Organization, consist of the following:   

 (a) Statement of financial position (statement I);  

 (b) Statement of financial performance (statement II);   

 (c) Statement of changes in net assets (statement III);   

 (d) Statement of cash flows (using the indirect method) (statement IV);  

 (e) Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts (statement V);   

 (f) Notes to the financial statements comprising a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory notes;   

 (g) Comparative information in respect of all amounts presented in the 

financial statements indicated in (a) to (e) above and, where relevant, comparative 

information for narrative and descriptive information presented in the notes to these 

financial statements.  

 

  Going concern  
 

10. The going-concern assertion is based on the approval by the General Assembly 

of the regular budget appropriations for the biennium 2016-2017, the positive 

historical trend of collection of assessed and voluntary contributions over the past 

years and the fact that the Assembly has taken no decision to cease the operations of 

the United Nations.  

 

  Authorization for issue  
 

11. These financial statements are certified by the Controller and approved by the 

Secretary-General. In accordance with financial regulation 6.5, the Secretary -

General was to transmit these financial statements as at 31 December 2015 to the 

Board of Auditors by 31 March 2016. These financial statements were exceptionally 
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transmitted by 31 May 2016. In accordance with financial regulation 7.12, the 

reports of the Board of Auditors are to be transmitted to the General Assembly 

through the Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary Questions, together 

with the audited financial statements authorized for issue on 19 September 2016.  

 

  Measurement basis  
 

12. These financial statements are prepared using the historical-cost convention, 

except for real estate assets that are recorded at depreciated replacement cost and 

financial assets recorded at fair value through surplus or deficit.   

 

  Functional and presentation currency  
 

13. The functional currency and the presentation currency of the Organization is 

the United States dollar. The financial statements are expressed in thousands of 

United States dollars unless otherwise stated.  

14. Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency (foreign 

currencies) are translated into United States dollars at the United Nations 

operational rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. The United Nations 

operational rates of exchange approximate the spot rates prevailing at the dates of 

the transactions. At year end, monetary assets and liabilities denomi nated in foreign 

currencies are translated at the United Nations operational rates of exchange. 

Non-monetary foreign currency denominated items that are measured at fair value 

are translated at the United Nations operational rate of exchange at the date on  

which the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items measured at historical 

cost in a foreign currency are not translated at year end.   

15. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign 

currency transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange rates are recognized in the 

statement of financial performance on a net basis.   

 

  Materiality and use of judgment and estimation  
 

16. Materiality is central to the preparation and presentation of the Organization’s 

financial statements and its materiality framework provides a systematic method in 

guiding accounting decisions relating to presentation, disclosure, aggregation, 

offsetting and retrospective versus prospective application of changes in accounting 

policies. In general, an item is considered material if its omission or its aggregation 

would have an impact on the conclusions or decisions of the users of the financial 

statements.  

17. Preparing financial statements in accordance with IPSAS requires use of 

estimates, judgments and assumptions in the selection and application of accounting 

policies and in the reported amounts of certain assets, liabilities, revenues and 

expenses.  

18. Accounting estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 

basis and revisions to estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are 

revised and in any future year affected. Significant estimates and assumptions that 

may result in material adjustments in future years include: actuarial measurement of 
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employee benefits; selection of useful lives and the depreciation/amortization 

methods for property, plant and equipment/intangible assets; impairment of assets; 

classification of financial instruments; valuation of inventory; inflation and discount 

rates used in the calculation of the present value of provisions; and classification of 

contingent assets/liabilities.  

 

  International Public Sector Accounting Standards transitional provisions  
 

19. IPSAS 17, Property, plant and equipment, allows a transitional period of up to 

five years for the full recognition of capitalized property, plant and equipment. The 

Organization invoked the transitional provision and has not recognized project 

assets acquired using funds provided to implementing partners and other assets 

where reliable data is in the process of being collected.   

 

  Future accounting pronouncements  
 

20. The progress and impact of the following significant future IPSAS Board 

accounting pronouncements on the Organization’s financial statements continues to 

be monitored:  

 (a) Public sector specific financial instruments: to develop this accounting 

guidance, the project will focus on issues related to public sector specific financial 

instruments which are outside the scope of IPSAS 28, Financial instruments: 

presentation, IPSAS 29, Financial instruments: recognition and measurement, and 

IPSAS 30, Financial instruments: disclosures;  

 (b) Public sector combinations: the project will prescribe the accounting 

treatment for public sector combinations and develop a new standard setting out the 

classification and measurement of public sector combinations, i.e. transactions or 

other events that bring two or more separate operations into a single publi c sector 

entity;  

 (c) Heritage assets: the objective of the project is to develop accounting 

requirements for heritage assets;  

 (d) Non-exchange expenses: the aim of the project is to develop a standard 

or standards that provide recognition and measurement requirements applicable to 

providers of non-exchange transactions, except for social benefits;  

 (e) Revenue: the scope of the project is to develop new standard-level 

requirements and guidance on revenue to amend or supersede that currently located in 

IPSAS 9, Revenue from exchange transactions, IPSAS 11, Construction contracts, and 

IPSAS 23, Revenue from non-exchange transactions (taxes and transfers);  

 (f) Employee benefits: the objective of the project is to issue a revised 

IPSAS 25, Employee benefits, which will converge with the underlying 

International Accounting Standard, IAS 19, Employee benefits;  

 (g) Consequential amendments arising from chapters 1-4 of the Conceptual 

Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities: this 

project’s objective is to make revisions to IPSAS standards that reflect concepts 

from these chapters, in particular the objectives of financial reporting and the 

qualitative characteristics and constraints on information.   
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  Future requirements of the International Public Sector Accounting Standards  
 

21. On 30 January 2015, the IPSAS Board published six new standards: IPSAS 33, 

First-time adoption of accrual basis IPSASs, IPSAS 34, Separate financial 

statements, IPSAS 35, Consolidated financial statements, IPSAS 36, Investments in 

associates and joint ventures, IPSAS 37, Joint arrangements, and IPSAS 38, 

Disclosure of interests in other entities. Initial application of these standards is 

required for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. IPSAS 33 has no impact 

on the Organization, which adopted IPSAS with effect from 1 January 2014 for 

non-peacekeeping operations before the issue of the standard. The impact of other 

five standards on the Organization’s financial statements for the year ending 

31 December 2017 and the comparative period therein has been evaluated to be as 

follows:  

 

Standard Anticipated impact in the year of adoption 

  IPSAS 34 The requirements for separate financial statements in IPSAS 34 are very similar to 

the current requirements in IPSAS 6, Consolidated and separate financial 

statements. The introduction of IPSAS 34 is not expected to affect the 

United Nations financial statements reported in volume I.  

IPSAS 35 IPSAS 35 still requires that control be assessed having regard to benefits and 

power, but the definition of control has changed and the standard now provides 

considerably more guidance on assessing control. Management is assessing the 

United Nations volume I interests in other reporting entities and arr angements to 

ensure compliance with the revised definitions.  

 The other key change introduced by IPSAS 35 is the elimination of the IPSAS 6 

exemption from consolidation of temporarily controlled entities. The 

Organization’s financial statements for periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2017 will include such an assessment. 

IPSAS 36 A key change introduced by IPSAS 36 is the elimination of the IPSAS 7 exemption 

from application of the equity method where joint control or significant influence 

is temporary; preparation of financial statements for periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2017 will include an assessment of such arrangements.  

 Furthermore, the scope of IPSAS 36 is limited to entities that are investors with 

significant influence over, or joint control of, an investee where the investment 

leads to the holding of a quantifiable ownership interest. The applicability of 

IPSAS 36 to the United Nations as reported in volume I is therefore limited, as 

interests generally do not involve a quantifiable ownership interest. 

IPSAS 37 IPSAS 37 introduces new definitions and has a significant impact on the way joint 

arrangements are classified and accounted for. These financial statements include 

joint venture arrangements accounted for using the equity method. 
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Standard Anticipated impact in the year of adoption 

   Where these are formed under a binding agreement and assessed as being subject to 

joint control, they meet the IPSAS 37 definition of a joint arrangement. When 

assessed as being a joint venture, that is, the United Nations volume I interest give s 

rise to rights over net assets, IPSAS 37 requires the equity method to be used and 

this will not represent a change in accounting policy. If there are rights to assets 

and obligations for liabilities, the interest is classified as a joint operation and t he 

United Nations as reported in volume I will account for the assets, liabilities, 

revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in accordance 

with the IPSAS standard applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and 

expenses. The United Nations is working with the other participants in these 

arrangements in developing its accounting policies under IPSAS 37.  

IPSAS 38 IPSAS 38 increases the extent of disclosures required for interest in other entities 

and has a significant impact on the United Nations volume I financial statements. 

Planning to implement these disclosures, including disclosures for the comparative 

period, has commenced in 2016. 

 

 

  Note 3  

  Significant accounting policies  
 

  Financial assets classification  
 

22. The classification of financial assets depends primarily on the purpose for 

which the financial assets are acquired. The Organization classifies its financial 

assets in one of the categories shown below at initial recognition and re -evaluates 

the classification at each reporting date.  

 

Classification Financial assets 

  Fair value through 

surplus or deficit 

Investments in cash pools and United Nations Staff 

Mutual Insurance Society against Sickness and Accident  

Loans and receivables Cash and cash equivalents and receivables 

 

 

23. All financial assets are initially measured at fair value. The Organization 

initially recognizes financial assets classified as loans and receivables on the date on 

which they originated. All other financial assets are recognized initially on the trade 

date, which is the date on which the Organization becomes party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument.  

24. Financial assets with maturities in excess of 12 months at the reporting date 

are categorized as non-current assets in the financial statements. Assets 

denominated in foreign currencies are translated into United States dollars at the 

United Nations operational rates of exchange prevailing at the reporting date, with 

net gains or losses recognized in surplus or deficit in the statement of financial 

performance.  
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25. Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit are those that have been 

designated in this category at initial recognition, are held for trading or are acquired 

principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. These assets are measured at 

fair value at each reporting date, and any gains or losses arising from changes in the 

fair value are presented in the statement of financial performance in the year in 

which they arise.  

26. Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are initially 

recorded at fair value, plus transaction costs, and are subsequently reported at 

amortized cost calculated using the effective interest method. Interest revenue is 

recognized on a time proportion basis using the effective interest rate method on the 

respective financial asset.  

27. Financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there 

is objective evidence of impairment. Evidence of impairment includes default or 

delinquency of the counterparty or permanent reduction in the value of the asset. 

Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of financial performance in the 

year in which they arise.  

28. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows have 

expired or have been transferred and the Organization has transferred substantially 

all risks and rewards of the financial asset. Financial assets and liabilities are offset 

and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position when there is a 

legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention 

to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

 

  Investment in cash pools  
 

29. The United Nations Treasury invests funds pooled from Secretariat entities and 

other participating entities. These pooled funds are combined in two internally 

managed cash pools. Participation in a cash pool implies sharing the risk and returns 

on investments with the other participants. Given that the funds are commingled and 

invested on a pool basis, each participant is exposed to the overall risk of the 

investment portfolio to the extent of the amount of cash invested.  

30. The Organization’s investments in the cash pools are included as part of cash 

and cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term investments in the 

statement of financial position depending on the maturity period of the investment.  

 

  Cash and cash equivalents  
 

31. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, and short -term, 

highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less from the date of 

acquisition.  

 

  Receivables from non-exchange transactions: contributions receivable  
 

32. Contributions receivable represent uncollected revenue from assessed and 

voluntary contributions committed to the Organization by Member States, 

non-member States and other donors on the basis of enforceable agreements. These 

non-exchange receivables are stated at nominal value, less impairment for estimated 
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irrecoverable amounts, the allowance for doubtful receivables. Voluntary 

contributions receivable are subject to an allowance for doubtful receivables on the 

same basis as other receivables. For assessed contributions receivable, the 

allowance for doubtful receivables is calculated as follows:   

 (a) Receivables from Member States that are subject to Article 19 of the 

Charter of the United Nations on voting rights restrictions in the General Assembly 

because of arrears equalling or exceeding the amount of the contributions due from 

them for the preceding two full years and that are past due in excess of two years: 

100 per cent allowance;  

 (b) Receivables that are past due in excess of two years for which the 

General Assembly has granted special treatment as regards payment (unpaid 

assessed contributions by China that were transferred to a special account pursuant 

to General Assembly resolution 36/116 A, and unpaid assessed contributions of the 

former Yugoslavia): 100 per cent allowance;  

 (c) Receivables that are past due in excess of two years for which Member 

States have specifically contested the balance: 100 per cent allowance. Any 

contested amount outstanding for less than two years will be disclosed in the notes 

to the financial statements;  

 (d) For receivables with approved payment plans, no allowance for doubtful 

debt will be established, but disclosures will be made in the notes to the financial 

statements.  

 

  Receivables from exchange transactions: other receivables  
 

33. Other receivables include primarily amounts receivable for goods or services 

provided to other entities, amounts receivable for leased-out assets and receivables 

from staff. Receivables from other United Nations reporting entities are also 

included in this category. Material balances of other receivables and voluntary 

contributions receivable are subject to specific review and an allowance for doubtful 

receivables is assessed on the basis of recoverability and ageing accordingly.   

 

  Investments accounted for using the equity method  
 

34. The equity method initially records an interest in a jointly controlled entity at 

cost and is adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in the Organization’s 

share of net assets. The Organization’s share of the surplus or deficit of the investee 

is recognized in the statement of financial performance. The interest is recorded as a 

non-current asset unless there is a net liability position, in which case it is recorded 

as a non-current liability.  

 

  Other assets  
 

35. Other assets include education grant advances and prepayments that are 

recorded as an asset until goods are delivered or services are rendered by the other 

party, at which point the expense is recognized.  

 

http://undocs.org/A/RES/36/116
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  Inventories  
 

36. Inventory balances are recognized as current assets and include the categories 

set out below:  

 

Categories Subcategories 

  Held for sale or external distribution Books and publications, stamps  

Raw materials and work in progress 

associated with items held for sale 

or external distribution 

Construction materials/supplies, work in 

progress 

Strategic reserves Fuel reserves, bottled water and rations 

reserves 

Consumables and supplies Material holdings of consumables and 

supplies, including spare parts and medicines 

 

 

37. The cost of inventory in stock is determined using the average price cost basis. 

The cost of inventories includes the cost of purchase, plus other costs incurred in 

bringing the items to the destination and condition for use. Inventory acquired 

through non-exchange transactions, i.e. donated goods, are measured at fair value at 

the date of acquisition. Inventories held for sale are valued at the lower of cost and 

net realizable value. Inventories held for distribution at no or nominal charge or for 

consumption in the production of goods or services are valued at the lower of cost 

and current replacement cost.  

38. The carrying amount of inventories is expensed when inventories are sold, 

exchanged, distributed externally or consumed by the Organization. Net realizable 

value is the net amount that is expected to be realized from the sale of inventories in 

the ordinary course of operations. Current replacement cost is the estimated cost 

that would be incurred to acquire the asset.  

39. Holdings of consumables and supplies for internal consumption are capitalized 

in the statement of financial position only when material. Such inventori es are 

valued by the periodic weighted average or the moving average methods based on 

records available in the inventory management systems, such as Galileo and Umoja, 

which are validated through the use of thresholds, cycle counts and enhanced 

internal controls. Valuations are subject to impairment review, which takes into 

consideration the variances between moving average price valuation and current 

replacement cost, as well as slow-moving and obsolete items.  

40. Inventories are subject to physical verification based on value and risk as 

assessed by management. Valuations are net of write-downs from cost to current 

replacement cost/net realizable value, which are recognized in the statement of 

financial performance.  

 

  Heritage assets  
 

41. Heritage assets are not recognized in the financial statements, but significant 

heritage assets transactions are disclosed in the notes thereto.   
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  Property, plant and equipment  
 

42. Property, plant and equipment are classified into different groups, based on 

their nature, functions, useful lives and valuation methodologies, such as vehicles; 

communications and information technology equipment; machinery and equipment; 

furniture and fixtures; and real estate assets (land, buildings, leasehold 

improvements, infrastructure and assets under construction). Recognition of 

property, plant and equipment is as follows:  

 (a) Property, plant and equipment are capitalized when their cost per unit is 

greater than or equal to the threshold of $20,000, or $100,000 for leasehold 

improvements and self-constructed assets. A lower threshold of $5,000 applies to 

five commodity groups: vehicles; prefabricated buildings; satellite communication 

systems; generators; and network equipment;  

 (b) All property, plant and equipment, other than real estate assets, are stated 

at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Historical cost comprises the purchase price, any costs directly attributable to 

bringing the asset to its location and condition and the initial estimate of 

dismantling and site restoration costs;  

 (c) Owing to the absence of historical cost information, buildings and 

infrastructure real estate assets were initially recognized at fair value using a 

depreciated replacement cost methodology for initial IPSAS implementation. The 

method involves calculating the cost per unit of measurement, for example cost per 

square metre, by collecting construction cost data, utilizing in-house cost data 

(where available) or using external cost estimators for each catalogue of real estate 

assets and multiplying that unit cost by the external area of the asset to obtain the 

gross replacement cost. Depreciation allowance deductions from the gross 

replacement cost to account for physical, functional and economic use of the assets 

have been made to determine the depreciated replacement cost of the assets. With 

the exception of real estate assets located in the special political missions, any 

subsequent real estate additions are recognized at historical cost;   

 (d) With regard to property, plant and equipment acquired at nil or nominal 

cost, including donated assets, the fair value at the date of acquisition is deemed to 

be the cost to acquire equivalent assets.   

43. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives 

using the straight-line method up to their residual value, except for land and assets 

under construction, which are not subject to depreciation. Given that not all 

components of a building have the same useful lives or the same maintenance, 

upgrade or replacement schedules, significant components of owned buildings are 

depreciated using the components approach. Depreciation begins in the month in 

which the Organization gains control over an asset in accordance with internat ional 

commercial terms and no depreciation is charged in the month of retirement or 

disposal. Given the expected pattern of usage of property, plant and equipment, the 

residual value is nil unless residual value is likely to be significant. The estimated 

useful lives of property, plant and equipment classes are set out below.   
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Class Subclass Estimated useful life 

   Communications 

and information 

technology equipment 

Information technology equipment 4 years 

Communication and audiovisual equipment 7 years 

Vehicles Light-wheeled vehicles 6 years 

 Heavy-wheeled and engineering support vehicles 12 years 

 Specialized vehicles, trailers and attachments 6 to 12 years 

 Marine vessels 10 years 

Machinery and 

equipment 

Light engineering and construction equipment 5 years 

Medical equipment 5 years 

 Security and safety equipment 5 years 

 Mine detection and clearing equipment 5 years 

 Accommodation and refrigeration equipment 6 years 

 Water treatment and fuel distribution equipment  7 years 

 Transportation equipment 7 years 

 Heavy engineering and construction equipment 12 years 

 Printing and publishing equipment 20 years 

Furniture and fixtures Library reference material 3 years 

Office equipment 4 years 

 Fixtures and fittings 7 years 

 Furniture 10 years 

Buildings Temporary and mobile buildings 7 years 

 Fixed buildings, depending on the type 25, 40 or 50 years 

 Major exterior, roofing, interior and services/utilities 

components, where component approach is utilized 

20 to 50 years 

 Finance lease or donated right-to-use buildings Shorter of term of arrangement 

or life of building 

Infrastructure assets Telecommunications, energy, protection, transport, 

waste and water management, recreation, landscaping 

Up to 50 years 

Leasehold 

improvements 

Fixtures, fittings and minor construction work Shorter of lease term or 5 years 
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44. Where there is a material cost value of fully depreciated assets that are still in 

use, adjustments to accumulated depreciation are incorporated into the financial 

statements to reflect a residual value of 10 per cent of historical cost based on an 

analysis of the classes and useful lives of the fully depreciated assets.   

45. The Organization chose the cost model for measurement of property, plant and 

equipment after initial recognition instead of the revaluation model. Costs incurred 

subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalized only when it is probable that future 

economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the 

Organization and the subsequent cost exceeds the threshold for initial recognition. 

Repairs and maintenance are expensed in the statement of financial performance in 

the year in which they are incurred.  

46. A gain or loss resulting from the disposal or transfer of property, plant and 

equipment arises when proceeds from disposal or transfer differ from its carrying 

amount. Those gains or losses are recognized in the statement of financial 

performance as part of other revenue or other expenses.   

47. Impairment assessments are conducted during annual physical verification 

procedures and when events or changes in circumstance indicate that carrying 

amounts may not be recoverable. Land, buildings and infrastructure assets with a 

year-end, net-book-value greater than $500,000 per unit are reviewed for 

impairment at each reporting date. The equivalent threshold for other property, plant 

and equipment items (excluding assets under construction and leasehold 

improvements) is $25,000.  

 

  Intangible assets  
 

48. Intangible assets are carried at cost, less accumulated amortization and 

accumulated impairment loss. For intangible assets acquired at nil or nominal cost, 

including donated assets, the fair value at the date of acquisition is deemed to be the 

cost of the asset. The thresholds for recognition are $100,000 per unit for internally 

generated intangible assets and $20,000 per unit for externally acquired intangible 

assets.  

49. Acquired computer software licences are capitalized on the basis of costs 

incurred to acquire and bring into use the specific software. Development costs that 

are directly associated with the development of software for use by the Organization 

are capitalized as an intangible asset. Directly associated costs include software 

development employee costs, consultants costs and other applicable overhead costs. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized on a straight -line method, 

starting from the month of acquisition or when they become operational. The useful 

lives of major classes of intangible assets have been estimated as shown below.  
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Class Range of estimated useful life  

  Licences and rights  2-6 years (period of licence/right)  

Software acquired externally  3-10 years  

Software developed internally 3-10 years  

Copyrights  3-10 years  

Assets under development  Not amortized  

 

 

50. Annual impairment reviews of intangible assets are conducted where assets are 

under development or have an indefinite useful life. Other intangible assets are 

subject to impairment review only when indicators of impairment are identified.  

 

  Financial liabilities: classification  
 

51. Financial liabilities are classified as “other financial liabilities”. They include 

accounts payable, transfers payable, unspent funds held for future refunds and  other 

liabilities such as balances payable to other United Nations system reporting 

entities. Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities are initially 

recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. Financial 

liabilities with a duration of less than 12 months are recognized at their nominal 

value. The Organization re-evaluates the classification of financial liabilities at each 

reporting date and derecognizes financial liabilities when its contractual obligations 

are discharged, waived, cancelled or expired.  

 

  Financial liabilities: accounts payable and accrued liabilities  
 

52. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities arise from the purchase of goods and 

services that have been received but not paid for at the reporting date. Payables are 

recognized and subsequently measured at their nominal value because they are 

generally due within 12 months.  

 

  Advance receipts and other liabilities  
 

53. Advance receipts and other liabilities consist of payments received in advance 

relating to exchange transactions, liabilities for conditional funding arrangements 

and other deferred revenue.  

 

  Leases  
 

  The Organization as “lessee”  
 

54. Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Organization has 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 

Finance leases are capitalized at the start of the lease at the lower of fair value or the 

present value of the minimum lease payments. The rental obligation, net of finance 

charges, is reported as a liability in the statement of financial position. Assets 

acquired under finance leases are depreciated in accordance with property, plant and 

equipment policies. The interest element of the lease payment is charged to the 
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statement of financial performance as an expense over the lease term on the basis of 

the effective interest rate method.  

55. Leases where all of the risks and rewards of ownership are not substantially 

transferred to the Organization are classified as operating leases. Payme nts made 

under operating leases are charged to the statement of financial performance as an 

expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  

 

  The Organization as “lessor”  
 

56. The Organization often leases out assets under operating leases.  Leased-out 

assets are reported under property, plant and equipment, and lease revenue is 

recognized in the statement of financial performance over the term of the lease on a 

straight-line basis.  

 

  Donated right to use  
 

57. Land, buildings, infrastructure assets, machinery and equipment is frequently 

granted to the Organization, primarily by host Governments at nil or nominal cost, 

through donated right-to-use arrangements. These arrangements are accounted for as 

operating leases or finance leases depending on whether an assessment of the 

agreement indicates that control over the underlying asset is transferred to the 

Organization.  

58. Where a donated right-to-use arrangement is treated as an operating lease, an 

expense and corresponding revenue equal to the annual rental value of the asset or 

similar property are recognized in the financial statements. Where a donated right -

to-use arrangement is treated as a finance lease (principally with a lease term of 

over 35 years for premises), the fair market value of the property is capitalized and 

depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the property or the term of the 

arrangement. In addition, a liability for the same amount is recognized, which is 

progressively recognized as revenue over the lease term. Donated right-to-use land 

arrangements are accounted for as operating leases where the Organization does not 

have exclusive control over the land and/or title to the land is transferred under 

restricted deeds.  

59. Where title to land is transferred to the Organization without restrictions, the 

land is accounted for as donated property, plant and equipment and recognized at 

fair value at the acquisition date.  

60. The threshold for the recognition of revenue and expense is a yearly rental 

value equivalent of $20,000 per unit for donated right-to-use premises and $5,000 

per unit for machinery and equipment.  

 

  Employee benefits  
 

61. Employees comprise staff members, as described under Article 97 of the 

Charter of the United Nations, whose employment and contractual relationship with 

the Organization are defined by a letter of appointment subject to regulations 

promulgated by the General Assembly pursuant to Article 101, paragraph 1, of the 

Charter. Employee benefits are classified into short-term benefits, long-term 

benefits, post-employment benefits and termination benefits.  
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  Short-term employee benefits  
 

62. Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination 

benefits) that are payable within 12 months after the end of the year in which the 

employee renders the related services. Short-term employee benefits comprise first-

time employee benefits (assignment grants), regular daily/weekly/monthly benefits 

(wages, salaries and allowances), compensated absences (paid sick leave, 

maternity/paternity leave) and other short-term benefits (death grant, education 

grant, reimbursement of taxes and home leave travel) provided to current employees 

on the basis of services rendered. All such benefits that are accrued but not paid at 

the reporting date are recognized as current liabilities within the statement of 

financial position.  

 

  Post-employment benefits  
 

63. Post-employment benefits comprise after-service health insurance, end-of-

service repatriation benefits and a pension through the United Nations Joint Staff 

Pension Fund.  

 

  Defined-benefit plans  
 

64. The following benefits are accounted for as defined-benefit plans: after-

service health insurance, repatriation benefits (post-employment benefits) and 

accumulated annual leave that is commuted to cash upon separation from the 

Organization (other long-term benefits). Defined-benefit plans are those where the 

Organization’s obligation is to provide agreed benefits and therefore the 

Organization bears the actuarial risks. The liability for defined-benefit plans is 

measured at the present value of the defined-benefit obligation. Changes in the 

liability for defined-benefit plans, excluding actuarial gains and losses, are 

recognized in the statement of financial performance in the year in which they 

occur. The Organization has chosen to recognize changes in the liability for defined -

benefit plans from actuarial gains and losses directly through the statement of 

changes in net assets. As at the end of the report ing year, the Organization held no 

plan assets as defined by IPSAS 25, Employee benefits.   

65. The defined-benefit obligations are calculated by independent actuaries using 

the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined -benefit obligation 

is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using the interest 

rates of high-quality corporate bonds with maturity dates approximating those of the 

individual plans.  

66. After-service health insurance. Worldwide coverage for medical expenses of 

eligible former staff members and their dependants is provided through after -service 

health insurance. Upon end of service, staff members and their dependants may 

elect to participate in a defined-benefit health insurance plan of the United Nations, 

provided that they have met certain eligibility requirements, including 10 years of 

participation in a United Nations health plan for those who were recruited after 

1 July 2007 and five years for those recruited before that date. The after -service 

health insurance liability represents the present value of the share of the 

Organization’s medical insurance costs for retirees and the post -retirement benefit 

accrued to date by active staff. A factor in the after -service health insurance 
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valuation is to consider contributions from all plan participants in determining the 

Organization’s residual liability. Contributions from retirees are deducted from the 

gross liability together with a portion of the contributions from active staff to arrive 

at the Organization’s residual liability in accordance with cost-sharing ratios 

authorized by the General Assembly.  

67. Repatriation benefits. Upon end of service, staff who meet certain eligibility 

requirements, including residency outside their country of nationality  at the time of 

separation, are entitled to a repatriation grant, which is based upon length of service, 

and travel and removal expenses. A liability is recognized from when the staff 

member joins the Organization and is measured as the present value of the estimated 

liability for settling these entitlements.  

68. Annual leave. The liabilities for annual leave represent unused accumulated 

leave days that are projected to be settled via a monetary payment to employees 

upon their separation from the Organization. The United Nations recognizes as a 

liability the actuarial value of the total accumulated unused leave days of all staff 

members, up to a maximum of 60 days (18 days for temporary staff) as at the date 

of the statement of financial position. The methodology applies a last-in-first-out 

assumption in the determination of the annual leave liabilities, whereby staff 

members access current period leave entitlements before they access accumulated 

annual leave balances relating to prior periods. Effectively, the accumulated annual 

leave benefit is accessed more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 

in which the benefit arose and, overall, there is an increase in the level of 

accumulated annual leave days, pointing to the commutation of accumulated annual 

leave to a cash settlement at end of service as the true liability of the Organization. 

The accumulated annual leave benefit reflecting the outflow of economic resources 

from the Organization at end of service is therefore classified under the ca tegory of 

other long-term benefits, while noting that the portion of the accumulated annual 

leave benefit that is expected to be settled via monetary payment within 12 months 

after the reporting date is classified as a current liability. In line with IPSAS  25, 

Employee benefits, other long-term benefits must be valued similarly to post-

employment benefits; therefore, the United Nations values its accumulated annual 

leave benefit liability as a defined, post-employment benefit that is actuarially 

valued.  

 

  Pension plan: United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund  
 

69. The Organization is a member organization participating in the United Nations 

Joint Staff Pension Fund, which was established by the General Assembly to 

provide retirement, death, disability and related benefits to employees. The Pension 

Fund is a funded, multi-employer defined-benefit plan. As specified in article 3 (b) 

of the regulations of the Pension Fund, membership of the Fund shall be open to the 

specialized agencies and to any other international, intergovernmental organization 

that participates in the common system of salaries, allowances and other conditions 

of service of the United Nations and the specialized agencies. The plan exposes 

participating organizations to actuarial risks associated with the current and former 

employees of other organizations participating in the Fund, with the result that there 

is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, plan assets and costs 

to participating organizations. The Organization, along with other participating 
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organizations, is not in a position to identify its share of the defined -benefit 

obligation, the plan assets and the costs associated with the plan with sufficient 

reliability for accounting purposes. Therefore, the Organization has treated this plan 

as if it were a defined-contribution plan in line with the requirements of IPSAS 25. 

The Organization’s contributions to the Fund during the financial year are 

recognized as employee benefit expenses in the statement of financ ial performance.  

 

  Termination benefits  
 

70. Termination benefits are recognized as an expense only when the Organization 

is demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal 

detailed plan to either terminate the employment of a staff member before the 

normal retirement date or provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made 

in order to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits to be settled 

within 12 months are reported at the amount expected to be paid. Where termination 

benefits fall due more than 12 months after the reporting date, they are discounted if 

the impact of discounting is material.  

 

  Other long-term employee benefits  
 

71. Other long-term employee benefit obligations are benefits, or portions of 

benefits, that are not due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the year in 

which employees provide the related service. Accumulated annual leave is an 

example of long-term employee benefits.  

72. Appendix D benefits. Appendix D to the Staff Rules of the United Nations 

governs compensation in the event of death, injury or illness attributable to the 

performance of official duties on behalf of the United Nations. Actuaries value these 

liabilities, and changes in the liability are recognized in the statement of financial 

performance.  

 

  Provisions  
 

73. Provisions are liabilities recognized for future expenditure of uncertain 

amount or timing. A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the 

Organization has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated 

reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation. The amount of the provision is the best estimate of the 

expenditures expected to be required to settle the present obligation at the reporting 

date. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the provision is the 

present value of the amount required to settle the obligation.   

74. Uncommitted balances of the appropriations at the end of the budget period 

and expired balances of appropriations retained from prior periods are to be reported 

as provisions for credits to Member States. These provisions will remain until the 

General Assembly decides the manner of their disposal.   

 

  Contingent liabilities  
 

75. Any possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will 

be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 

future events not wholly within the control of the Organization are disclosed as 
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contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities are also disclosed where present 

obligations that arise from past events cannot be recognized because it is not 

probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service 

potential will be required to settle the obligations, or the amount of the obligations 

cannot be reliably measured.  

76. Provisions and contingent liabilities are assessed continually to determine 

whether an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service pot ential 

has become more or less probable. If it becomes more probable that such an outflow 

will be required, a provision is recognized in the financial statements of the year in 

which the change of probability occurs. Similarly, where it becomes less probab le 

that such an outflow will be required, a contingent liability is disclosed in the notes 

to the financial statements.  

 

  Contingent assets  
 

77. Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events and whose 

existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 

more uncertain future events not wholly within the effective control of the 

Organization. Contingent assets are disclosed in the notes when it is more likely 

than not that economic benefits will flow to the Organization.  

 

  Commitments  
 

78. Commitments are future expenses to be incurred by the Organization with 

respect to open contracts for which the Organization has minimal, if any, discretion 

to avoid in the ordinary course of operations. Commitments include capital 

commitments (the amount of contracts for capital expenses that are not paid or 

accrued by the reporting date), contracts for the supply of goods and services that 

are not delivered as at end of the reporting period, non-cancellable minimum lease 

payments and other non-cancellable commitments.  

 

  Non-exchange revenue  
 

  Assessed contributions  
 

79. Appropriations are financed by contributions from Member States that are 

assessed according to the scale of assessments determined by the Genera l Assembly. 

These assessments are subject to adjustments in respect of, among other things, 

supplementary appropriations for which contributions have not previously been 

assessed, revenue attributable to Member States, contributions resulting from the 

assessment of new Member States, any uncommitted balance of the appropriations 

at the end of the budget period and expired balances of the appropriations retained 

from prior periods that are due to be surrendered to Member States, and credits in 

the Tax Equalization Fund not required to meet charges for tax reimbursements. 

Appropriations for the regular budget are approved and assessed for a two -year 

budget period; the relevant portion of assessed contributions is recognized as 

revenue at the beginning of each year in the biennium.  
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  Voluntary contributions 
 

80. Voluntary contributions and other transfers, which are supported by legally 

enforceable agreements, are recognized as revenue at the time when the agreement 

becomes binding, which is the point when the Organization is deemed to acquire 

control of the asset. Where cash is received subject to specific conditions, however, 

recognition of revenue is deferred until those conditions have been satisfied.   

81. Voluntary pledges and other promised donations are recognized as revenue 

when the arrangement becomes binding. Unused funds returned to the donors are 

netted against voluntary contributions.  

82. Revenue received under inter-organizational arrangements represents 

allocations of funding from agencies to enable the Organization to administer 

projects or other programmes on their behalf.  

83. In-kind contributions of goods above the recognition threshold of $20,000 (per 

discrete contribution) are recognized as assets and revenue once it is probable that 

future economic benefits or service potential will flow to the Organization and the 

fair value of those assets can be measured reliably. For vehicles, prefabricated 

buildings, satellite communication systems, generators and network equipment, a 

lower threshold of $5,000 applies. Contributions in kind are initially measured at 

their fair value at the date of receipt determined by reference to observable market 

values or by independent appraisals. The Organization has elected not to recognize 

in-kind contributions of services, but to disclose in-kind contributions of service 

above the threshold of $20,000 per discrete contribution in the notes to the financial 

statements.  

 

  Exchange revenue  
 

84. Exchange transactions are those in which the Organization sells goods or 

services in exchange for compensation. Revenue comprises the fair value of 

consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services. Revenue is 

recognized when it can be reliably measured, when the inflow of future economic 

benefits is probable and when specific criteria have been met, as follows:   

 (a) Revenue from sales of publications, books and stamps and from sales by 

the United Nations Gift Centre is recognized when the sale occurs and risks and 

rewards have been transferred;  

 (b) Revenue from commissions and fees for technical, procurement, training, 

administrative and other services rendered to Governments, United Nations entities 

and other partners is recognized when the service is performed;  

 (c) Exchange revenue also includes revenue from the rental of premises, the 

sale of used or surplus property, guided tours and net currency exchange gains.   

85. An indirect cost recovery called a “programme support cost” is charged to trust 

funds as a percentage of direct costs including commitments and other 

“extrabudgetary” activities to ensure that the additional costs of supporting activities 

financed from extrabudgetary contributions are not borne by assessed funds and/or 

other core resources of the Secretariat. The programme support cost is eliminated for 

the purposes of financial statement preparation, as disclosed in note 5, Segment 
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reporting. The funding for the programme support cost charge agreed upon with the 

donor is included as part of voluntary contributions.   

 

  Investment revenue  
 

86. Investment revenue includes the Organization’s share of net cash pool revenue 

and other interest revenue. The net cash pool revenue includes any gains and losses 

on the sale of investments, which are calculated as the difference between the  sale 

proceeds and book value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

investment activities are netted against revenue and the net revenue is distributed 

proportionately to all cash pool participants on the basis of their average daily 

balances. The cash pool revenue also includes unrealized market gains and losses on 

securities, which are distributed proportionately to all participants on the basis of 

year-end balances.  

 

  Expenses  
 

87. Expenses are decreases in economic benefits or service potential during the 

reporting year in the form of outflows or consumption of assets or incurrence of 

liabilities that result in decreases in net assets and are recognized on an accrual 

basis when goods are delivered and services are rendered, regardless of the terms of 

payment.  

88. Employee salaries include international, national and general temporary staff 

salaries, post adjustment and staff assessment. The allowances and benefits include 

other staff entitlements, such as pension and insurance subsidies and staff 

assignment, repatriation, hardship and other allowances. Non-employee compensation 

and allowances consists of living allowances and post-employment benefits for United 

Nations Volunteers, consultant and contractor fees, ad hoc experts, International 

Court of Justice judges’ allowances and non-military personnel compensation and 

allowances.  

89. Grants and other transfers include outright grants and transfers to 

implementing agencies, partners and other entities, as well as quick-impact projects. 

For outright grants, an expense is recognized at the point at which the Organization 

has a binding obligation to pay.  

90. Supplies and consumables relate to the cost of inventory used and expenses for  

supplies and consumables.  

91. Other operating expenses include acquisition of goods and intangible assets 

under capitalization thresholds, maintenance, utilities, contracted services, training, 

security services, shared services, rent, insurance, allowance for bad debt and 

foreign exchange losses. Other expenses relate to contributions in kind, hospitality 

and official functions, donations and transfers of assets.   

92. Programmatic activities, distinct from commercial or other arrangements where 

the United Nations expects to receive equal value for funds transferred, are 

implemented by the United Nations or executing entities or implementing partners to 

service a target population that typically includes Governments, non-governmental 

organizations and United Nations agencies. Transfers to implementing partners are 

fully expensed when disbursed. Binding agreements to fund executing entities or 
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implementing partners, other than outright grants, not paid out by the end of the 

reporting period are shown as commitments in the notes to the financial statements.   

 

  Joint ventures  
 

93. A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Organization and one 

or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control and 

can be classified under IPSAS 8, Interests in joint ventures, using three methods:   

 (a) Jointly controlled entities, which the Organization recognizes using the 

equity method;  

 (b) Jointly controlled operations, which are accounted for by recognizing the 

liabilities and expenses incurred by the Organization, the assets that it controls and 

its share of any revenue earned;  

 (c) Jointly controlled assets, where the Organization recognizes its share of 

the assets, any liabilities that it has incurred, its share of joint liab ilities, its share of 

expenses incurred by the joint venture and revenue earned from the sale or use of its 

share of the output from the joint venture.  

94. The Organization has also entered into joint-venture arrangements for jointly 

financed operations that give the Organization significant influence, that is, the 

power to participate in financial and operating policy decisions but not control or 

jointly control those activities. Under IPSAS 8, the interests in those activities are 

accounted for using the equity method.  

 

  Multi-partner trust funds  
 

95. Multi-partner trust fund activities are pooled resources from multiple financial 

partners that are allocated to multiple implementing entities to support specific 

national, regional or global development priorities.  

96. They are assessed to determine the existence of control and whether the 

Organization is considered to be the principal of the programme or activity. Where 

control exists and the Organization is exposed to the risks and rewards associated 

with the multi-partner trust fund activities, such programmes or activities are 

considered to be the Organization’s operations and are therefore reported in full in 

the financial statements.  

97. Where joint control exists but the Organization is not considered to be the 

principal, the activities are considered jointly controlled operations and accounted 

for as described above.  

 

  Changes in accounting policy  
 

98. In the 2014 IPSAS financial statements, lands donated to the Organization 

under restricted deeds (i.e. with stipulations to revert) were capitalized in the 

Organization’s accounts at one dollar nominal value. In 2015, the Organization 

reassessed these agreements and concluded that they are similar to donated right -to-

use arrangements and need to be subject to the same treatment. Title to these lands 

is conditional upon the Organization remaining in the host countries and using the 

lands for the intended purposes. The land arrangements require the Organization to 
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return those lands, without compensation, to donors if it ceases to operate in the 

host country. The Organization has thus changed this policy to recognize the rental 

value equivalent of those lands as revenue and expense, as it better reflects the 

benefits that the Organization extracts from occupying these assets.  

 

  Note 4  

  Prior-period adjustments  
 

99. For the following material prior-period adjustments, where there is an impact 

relating to 2014, the 2014 comparative figures at the individual line item were 

restated, as summarized in the table below.  

100. The Organization’s 2014 statement of financial performance has been restated 

for the change in accounting policy for land arrangements as disclosed in note 3, 

which resulted in revenue and corresponding expense recognition equal to the 

annual rental equivalent of the asset in the Organization’s financial statements. The 

effect of the restatement is an increase of $11.0 million in voluntary contributions 

revenue and in other operating expenses. There is no impact on the financial 

position of the Organization as a result of this policy change.  

101. For the Vienna International Centre buildings and other property, plant and 

equipment adjustments, the increase in the carrying amount of property, plant and 

equipment of $79.1 million relates primarily to recognition of the Vienna 

International Centre buildings with the carrying amount of $79.9 million. Other 

adjustments amounting to a reduction of $0.867 million relate to post capitalization 

of some assets and removal of previous duplication of assets. Recognition of the 

Vienna International Centre buildings also resulted in $4.0 million voluntary 

contribution revenue for the year ended 31 December 2014, as well as increases in 

other current liabilities by $4.0 million and other non-current liabilities by 

$76.6 million.  

102. Reserves held by the Aetna Group life insurance plan were reported as 

receivables in the amount of $5.4 million in 2014. However, in line with the 

agreement between the Organization and Aetna, these reserves will not be returned 

to the Organization upon termination of the policy and are to be reversed. The effect 

of the reversal is a decrease in other current assets by $5.4 million and a 

corresponding decrease in accumulated surplus.  

103. To conform with the current presentation, incurred but not reported claims 

have been reclassified from employee benefits liabilities to provisions, based on the 

level of uncertainty surrounding the timing or amount of the future expenditure 

required for settlement. The effect of this reclassification is an increase of 

$80.0 million in current provisions, and an equivalent decrease in current employee 

benefits liabilities.  

104. Self-insurance claims and expenses have been restated to conform with the 

current presentation, decreasing employee salaries, allowances and benefits by 

$80.1 million and non-employee compensation and allowances by $62.0 million, 

and increasing self-insurance claims and expenses by $142.1 million.  
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  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 

As reported 

31 December 2014 

Prior-period 

adjustments 

As restated  

31 December 2014 

    
Statement of financial position extract    

Assets    

Property, plant and equipment 3 243 431 79 079 3 322 510 

Other assets (current) 386 076 (5 371) 380 705 

Liabilities    

Employee benefits liabilities (current) 271 831 (80 041) 191 790 

Provisions (current) 44 438 80 041 124 479 

Other liabilities (current)  55 476 3 992 59 468 

Other liabilities (non-current) 12 800 75 954 88 754 

Net assets    

Accumulated surplus 1 630 779 (6 238) 1 624 541 

Statement of financial performance extract    

Revenue    

Voluntary contributions 2 330 608 14 971 2 345 579 

Expenses    

Employee salaries, allowances and benefits 2 691 559 (80 138) 2 611 421 

Non-employee compensation and allowances 109 762 (62 007) 47 755 

Depreciation and amortization 206 613 3 992 210 605 

Other operating expenses  728 234 10 979 739 213 

Self-insurance claims and expenses 295 195 142 145 437 340 

Statement of changes in net assets extract    

Net assets as at 31 December 2014 1 689 895  (6 238) 1 683 657 

Statement of cash flows extract    

Depreciation and amortization 206 613 3 992 210 605 

(Decrease) in employee benefits liabilities (140 157) (80 041) (220 198) 

Increase in provisions 2 043 80 041 82 084 

(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities 6 982 (3 992) 2 990 

 

 

  Note 5  

  Segment reporting  
 

105. A segment is a distinguishable activity or group of activities for which 

financial information is reported separately in order to evaluate an entity’s past 

performance in achieving its objectives and to make decisions about the future 

allocation of resources.  

106. In order to present additional segment reporting information for the users of 

the financial statements, segment reporting based on fund groups has been added in 

these 2015 financial statements together with 2014 comparative values. This 

reporting view is intended to provide further detail on how the Organization’s 

activities are managed and financed. This additional segmental presentation is 
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supplemented by reporting of a statement of financial performance by 11 pillars, 

consistent with the 2014 financial statements presentation.  

107. Segment reporting information by fund group for the statement of financial 

performance and the statement of financial position is presented through seven 

segments as follows:  

 

Segment Activities in segment 

  Regular budget and 

related funds  

Activities relating to regular budget activities, the Working Capital Fund, 

the Special Account and the revenue producing funds.   

Trust Funds  Activities relating to trust funds, including emergency assistance, 

political, economic and social development and humanitarian and human 

rights activities and those that relate to security issues, international 

justice and law, public information and support services.  

Capital assets and 

construction-in-

progress  

Capital assets and construction-in-progress funds at various locations 

worldwide. Major projects under these funds are the refurbishment and 

renovation of the Palais des Nations under the strategic heritage plan of 

the United Nations Office at Geneva and the finalization of the capital 

master plan relating to the refurbishment of the New York Headquarters.   

Common support 

services  

Provision of finance, human resources, information and communications 

technology and support services to support United Nations operations, 

projects and fund activities.  

Long-term employee 

benefits  

Activities relating to end-of-service and post-employment benefits 

comprising after service health insurance coverage, repatriation benefits 

and commutation of unused annual leave days.  

Insurance/workers’ 

compensation  

Accounts for activities with regard to the various health, dental and life 

insurance plans and compensation for general liability of the United 

Nations.  

Other All other funds, including the United Nations Development Account, the 

Tax Equalization Fund and conventions.  

Eliminations Comprises inter-fund allocations between various segments that are 

eliminated upon consolidation of the funds of the Organization, i.e. the 

financial reporting entity. Among eliminated values are programme 

support costs allocated to recoup administrative costs relating to 

administering extrabudgetary activities.  

In addition, allocations from regular budget activities to subactivities in 

other funds are eliminated as expenses of the regular budget against 

revenues of other funds.  
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108. Segment reporting on the performance by pillar for the period is presented on 

the basis of 11 pillars as follows:  

 

Segment Activities in segment 

  Political and 

peacekeeping affairs  

Maintain international peace and security by providing assistance to 

resolve potentially violent disputes or conflicts peacefully; support efforts 

in areas of disarmament and non-proliferation; promote the peaceful uses 

of outer space; and support the maintenance of peace and security through 

the deployment of peacekeeping operations.  

International justice 

and law  

Advise the principal and subsidiary organs of the United Nations and 

promote among Member States a better understanding of and respect for 

the principles and norms of international law.  

Cooperation and 

development  
Promote and support international and regional cooperation and 

development in the pursuit of sustained economic growth, the eradication 

of poverty and hunger, development of trade, gender equality and 

empowerment of women, and sustainable human settlements in an 

urbanizing world.  

Human rights and 

humanitarian affairs  

Promote and protect the effective enjoyment by all of all human rights by 

making development equitable, sustainable and responsive to the needs of 

people and ensure the timely, coherent and coordinated response of the 

international community to disasters and emergencies and ensure the 

provision of international protection to refugees.  

Public information 

and communications  

Provide global communication about the ideals and work of the United 

Nations; interact and partner with diverse audiences; and build support 

for peace, development and human rights for all.   

Environmental affairs  Contribute to the well-being of current and future generations and the 

attainment of global environmental goals, centring on transition to low-

carbon, resource-efficient and equitable development based on the 

protection and sustainable use of ecosystem services, coherent and 

improved environmental governance and the reduction of environmental 

risks.  

Security and safety  Provide leadership, operational support and oversight of the United 

Nations security management system.  

Crime prevention  Work with Member States to enhance their efforts to combat the 

intertwined problems of transnational crime, corruption and terrorism by 

helping to create and strengthen legislative, judicial and health systems to 

safeguard some of the most vulnerable persons in society.   

Common support 

services  

Provide finance, human resources, information and communications 

technology and support services to support United Nations operations, 

projects and fund activities.  
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Segment Activities in segment 

  Other  Consists of General Assembly and Economic and Social Council affairs 

and conference management, to ensure effective and efficient decision-

making processes of intergovernmental bodies and United Nations 

conferences. Also includes internal oversight functions encompassing the 

responsibilities of monitoring, internal audit, joint inspection and 

evaluation and investigations.  

Self-insurance plans 

and other insurance 

plans  

Accounts for activities with regard to the various health, dental and life 

insurance plans and compensation for general liability of the United 

Nations.  

Health and dental self-insurance were established as part of the social 

security scheme for United Nations staff and retirees and for the coverage 

of general third-party liabilities.  

Unallocated  Relates to Headquarters-related activities that cannot be directly allocated 

to any specific segment in an identifiable manner.  

Eliminations  Comprises inter-fund allocations between various segments that are 

eliminated upon consolidation of funds of the Organization, i.e. the 

financial reporting entity. Among eliminated values are programme 

support costs allocated to recoup administrative costs relating to 

administering extrabudgetary activities.  

In addition, allocations from regular budget activities to subactivities in 

other funds are eliminated as expenses of the regular budget against 

revenues of other funds.  

 

 

109. Inter-segment transactions are priced at cost recovery under normal operating 

policies and are eliminated for the purposes of segment reporting preparation.  
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All funds  
 

Statement of financial position by fund group as at 31 December 2015  

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  

Regular 

budget and 

related funds Trust funds 

Capital 

assets and 

construction-

in-progress 

Common 

support 

services 

Long-term 

employee 

benefits 

Insurance/ 

workers’ 

compensation Other Eliminations Total 

          
Assets          

Current assets          

Cash and cash equivalents  18 833  252 756  25 451  56 220  11 251  91 706  29 135  –   485 352 

Investments  54 022  773 589  78 486  173 368  34 695  241 733  89 847  –  1 445 740 

Assessed contributions receivable  389 272  –   34  –   –   –   –   –   389 306 

Voluntary contributions receivable  –   384 164  –   60  –   –   74  –   384 298 

Other receivables   44 374  9 564  –   25 924  –   15 601  2 330 (537)  97 256 

Inventories  17 833  –   –   194  –   –   –   –   18 027 

Other assets  69 408  240 879  569  1 418  –   21 949  86 (4 211)  330 098 

 Total current assets  593 742 1 660 952  104 540  257 184  45 946  370 989  121 472 (4 748) 3 150 077 

Non-current assets          

Investments  30 755  518 700  52 663  116 326  23 280  234 982  60 286  –  1 036 992 

Voluntary contributions receivable  –   199 403  –   –   –   –   –   –   199 403 

Property, plant and equipment  322 678  14 836 2 876 882  1 741  –   –   –   –  3 216 137 

Intangible assets   2 557  2 215  118 116  2 633  –   99  –   –   125 620 

Share of joint ventures accounted for using 

the equity method  1 881  –   1 188   –   –   –   –   –   3 069 

 Total non-current assets  357 871  735 154 3 048 849  120 700  23 280  235 081  60 286  –  4 581 221 

 Total assets 951 613 2 396 106 3 153 389  377 884  69 226  606 070  181 758 (4 748) 7 731 298 

Liabilities          

Current liabilities          

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  325 023  84 756  24 587  36 916  1 450  6 790  10 938 (4 748)  485 712 

Advance receipts  17 620  63 939  –   1 356  –   3  –   –   82 918 

Employee benefits liabilities  23 895  7 811  307  1 548  136 409  30 058  125  –   200 153 

Provisions  121 225  181  15 115  –   –   76 428   –   –   212 949 
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Regular 

budget and 

related funds Trust funds 

Capital 

assets and 

construction-

in-progress 

Common 

support 

services 

Long-term 

employee 

benefits 

Insurance/ 

workers’ 

compensation Other Eliminations Total 

          
Tax equalization liability  –   –   –   –   –   –   96 011  –   96 011 

Other liabilities  977  113  4 007  28  –   1 743  4 636  –   11 504 

 Total current liabilities  488 740  156 800  44 016  39 848  137 859  115 022  111 710 (4 748) 1 089 247 

Non-current liabilities          

Advance receipts  –   9 696  –   –   –   –   –   –   9 696 

Employee benefits liabilities  18 304  575  –   –  3 947 676  13 617  –   –  3 980 172 

Provisions  317  –   –   –   –   –   –   –   317 

Share of joint ventures accounted for using 

the equity method  78 363  –   –   –   –   –   –   –   78 363 

Other liabilities  1 893  428  72 378  –   –   –   –   –   74 699 

 Total non-current liabilities  98 877  10 699  72 378  –  3 947 676  13 617  –   –  4 143 247 

 Total liabilities  587 617  167 499  116 394  39 848 4 085 535  128 639  111 710 (4 748) 5 232 494 

 Net of total assets and total liabilities  363 996 2 228 607 3 036 995  338 036 (4 016 309)  477 431  70 048  –  2 498 804 

Net assets          

Accumulated surplus (deficit)  363 996 2 228 607 3 036 995  338 036 (4 016 309)  418 660  70 048  –  2 440 033 

Reserves  –   –   –   –   –   58 771  –   –   58 771 

 Total net assets  363 996 2 228 607 3 036 995  338 036 (4 016 309)  477 431  70 048  –  2 498 804 
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Statement of financial position by fund group as at 31 December 2014 (restated)   

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 

Regular 

budget and 

related funds Trust funds 

Capital 

assets and 

construction-

in-progress 

Common 

support 

services 

Long-term 

employee 

benefits 

Insurance/ 

workers’ 

compensation Other Eliminations Total 

          
Assets          

Current assets          

Cash and cash equivalents  98 630  304 616  3 169  66 184  –   105 313  19 883  –   597 795 

Investments  124 063  576 928  5 967  120 569  –   189 396  38 463  –  1 055 386 

Assessed contributions receivable  437 752  –   443  –   –   –   –   –   438 195 

Voluntary contributions receivable  –   356 246  –   383  –   –   4 808  –   361 437 

Other receivables   59 542  37 358  66  13 784  –   6 225  38 850 (17 241)  138 584 

Inventories  19 269  –   –   380  –   –   –   –   19 649 

Inter-segment balances receivable (payable) (278 175)  15 923  42 062  75 695  63 320  5 616  53 367  22 192  –  

Other assets  32 890  290 666  480  2 817  –   18 614  160  35 078  380 705 

 Total current assets  493 971 1 581 737  52 187  279 812  63 320  325 164  155 531  40 029 2 991 751 

Non-current assets          

Investments  109 451  507 855  5 267  106 431  –   239 670  33 953  –  1 002 627 

Voluntary contributions receivable  –   95 367  –   –   –   –   –   –   95 367 

Property, plant and equipment  344 750  14 180 2 961 033  2 545  –   –   2  –  3 322 510 

Intangible assets   1 596  116  135 817  –   –   –   –   –   137 529 

Share of joint ventures accounted for using 

the equity method  10 805  –   –   –   –   –   –   –   10 805 

Other assets  437  6  –   61  –   –   –   –   504 

 Total non-current assets  467 039  617 524 3 102 117  109 037  –   239 670   33 955  –  4 569 342 

 Total assets  961 010 2 199 261 3 154 304  388 849  63 320  564 834  189 486  40 029 7 561 093 

Liabilities          

Current liabilities          

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  276 650  107 901  115 606  28 171  –   5 635  4 938 (10 567)  528 334 

Advance receipts  16 342  81 919  –   2 313  –   139  306  –   101 019 

Employee benefits liabilities  35 514  7 509  342  1 370  124 326  22 657  72  –   191 790 

Provisions  42 422  1 250  24  742  –   80 041   –   –   124 479 
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Regular 

budget and 

related funds Trust funds 

Capital 

assets and 

construction-

in-progress 

Common 

support 

services 

Long-term 

employee 

benefits 

Insurance/ 

workers’ 

compensation Other Eliminations Total 

          
Tax equalization liability  –   –   –   –   –   –   96 252  –   96 252 

Other liabilities  4 849  31  3 992  –   –   –   –   50 596  59 468 

 Total current liabilities  375 777  198 610  119 964  32 596  124 326  108 472  101 568  40 029 1 101 342 

Non-current liabilities          

Advance receipts  –   16 492  –   –   –   –   –   –   16 492 

Employee benefits liabilities  19 452  59  –   461 4 558 160  16 222  32  –  4 594 386 

Provisions  491  –   15 091  –   –   –   –   –   15 582 

Share of joint ventures accounted for using 

the equity method  60 880  –   –   –   –   –   –   –   60 880 

Other liabilities  6 255  468  75 954   –   –   –   6 077  –   88 754 

 Total non-current liabilities  87 078  17 019  91 045  461 4 558 160  16 222  6 109  –  4 776 094 

 Total liabilities  462 855  215 629  211 009  33 057 4 682 486  124 694  107 677  40 029 5 877 436 

 Net of total assets and total liabilities  498 155 1 983 632 2 943 295  355 792 (4 619 166)  440 140  81 809  –  1 683 657 

Net assets          

Accumulated surplus   498 155 1 983 632 2 943 295  355 792 (4 619 166)  381 024  81 809  –  1 624 541 

Reserves  –   –   –   –   –   59 116  –   –   59 116 

 Total net assets  498 155 1 983 632 2 943 295  355 792 (4 619 166)  440 140  81 809  –  1 683 657  
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Statement of financial performance by fund group for the period ended 31 December 2015  

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  

Regular 

budget and 

related funds Trust funds 

Capital 

assets and 

construction-

in-progress 

Common 

support 

services 

Long-term 

employee 

benefits 

Insurance/ 

workers’ 

compensation Other Eliminations Total 

          
Revenue          

Assessed contributions 2 811 278  –   –   –   –   –   –   –  2 811 278 

Voluntary contributions  39 229 2 030 027  15 938  5 258  –   –   3 426  –  2 093 878 

Other transfers and allocations  1  53 795  286 999  28 966  –   165  60 396 (255 527)  174 795 

Investment revenue  3 179  8 296  111  1 237  –   2 820  23 (4)  15 662 

Contribution to self-insurance  49  –  –   589  –   522 819  –  (166 551)  356 906 

Other revenue  50 033  3 558  406  231 934  8 347  6 064  4 739 (132 359)  172 722 

 Total 2 903 769 2 095 676  303 454  267 984  8 347  531 868  68 584 (554 441) 5 625 241 

Expenses          

Employee expenses 1 913 696  370 172  22 352  126 185  213 993  10 024  6 546 (98 020) 2 564 948 

Non-employee compensation/allowances  77 772  55 835  –  –   –   1 830  3 954 (75 233)  64 158 

Grants and other transfers  290 681 1 137 944  –  16 473  –   2  4 917 (136 660) 1 313 357 

Supplies and consumables  27 407  8 151  6 619  6 679  –   3  13 (28)  48 844 

Depreciation and amortization  46 602  4 829  154 927  977  –   6  –   –   207 341 

Impairment  473  311  280  1  –   –   –   –   1 065 

Travel  46 327  55 831   2 798  –   14  3 514 (1 668)  106 816 

Other operating expenses  529 211  217 317  36 728  121 520  10  21 099  61 408 (240 601)  746 692 

Self-insurance expenses  167  15  –   –   1 561  461 175  –  (1 243)  461 675 

Finance costs  184  –   –   –   –   –   –   –   184 

Equity basis  95 450  –   444   3  –   –   –   –   95 897 

Other expenses  2 255  392  –   504  –   –   –  (988)  2 163 

 Total 3 030 225 1 850 797  221 350  275 140  215 564  494 153  80 352 (554 441) 5 613 140 

 Surplus/(deficit) for the year (126 456)  244 879  82 104 (7 156) (207 217)  37 715 (11 768)  –   12 101 
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Statement of financial performance by fund groups for the period ended 31 December 2014 (restated) 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  

Regular 

budget and 

related funds Trust funds 

Capital 

assets and 

construction-

in-progress 

Common 

support 

services 

Long-term 

employee 

benefits 

Insurance/ 

workers’ 

compensation Other Eliminations Total 

          
Revenue          

Assessed contributions 2 861 069  –   –   –   –   –   –   –  2 861 069 

Voluntary contributions  36 380 2 274 801  19 540  8 465  –   –   6 393  –  2 345 579 

Other transfers and allocations  –   111 135  60 523  7 909  –   –   84 309 (157 419)  106 457 

Investment revenue  3 228  7 785  669  1 609  –   6 255  44  –   19 590 

Contribution to self-insurance  –   –   –   561  –   513 462  –  (144 413)  369 610 

Other revenue  54 777  16 548  705  225 112  9 456  –  2 443 (174 243)  134 798 

 Total 2 955 454 2 410 269  81 437  243 656  9 456  519 717  93 189 (476 075) 5 837 103 

Expenses          

Employee expenses 1 976 942  379 592  25 458  132 438  174 007  10 684  3 922 (91 622) 2 611 421 

Non-employee compensation/allowances  63 148  41 398  128  2 302  –   –   2 786  (62 007)   47 755 

Grants and other transfers  187 292 1 718 566  –   4 707  –   –   5 931 (93 828) 1 822 668 

Supplies and consumables  46 134  14 799  570  5 526  –   7  14  –   67 050 

Depreciation and amortization  44 228  5 457  159 798  1 119  –   –   3  –   210 605 

Impairment  377  –  29 127  –   –   –   –   –   29 504 

Travel  66 596  61 897  839  3 775  –   8  1 628 (1 463)  133 280 

Other operating expenses  432 970  249 682  92 720  87 996  –   39 511  61 894 (225 560)  739 213 

Self-insurance expenses  –   –   –   –   1 596  437 339  –  (1 595)  437 340 

Finance costs  243  –   –   –   –   –   –   –   243 

Equity basis  78 734  51  –   –   –   –   –   –   78 785 

Other expenses  6 445  378  4  588  –   –   –   –   7 415 

 Total 2 903 109 2 471 820  308 644  238 451  175 603  487 549  76 178 (476 075) 6 185 279 

 Surplus/(deficit) for the year  52 345 (61 551) (227 207)  5 205 (166 147)  32 168  17 011  –  (348 176) 
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Statement of financial performance by pillar for the period ended 31 December 2015  

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  

Political and 

peacekeeping 

affairs 

International 

justice 

 and law 

Cooperation 

and 

development 

Human 

rights and 

humanitarian 

affairs 

Public 

information and 

communications 

Environmental 

affairs 

Security 

and safety 

Crime 

prevention 

Common 

support 

services Other 

Self-

insurance 

plans and 

other 

insurance 

plans Unallocated Eliminations Total 

               Revenue               

Assessed contributions  724 386  32 078  550 546  235 858  103 092 20 924  132 464  682 1 011 248  –  –  –  – 2 811 278 

Voluntary contributions  189 640  2 438  185 930 1 612 426  8 627  7 795  3 444  662  24 967  57 949  –  – – 2 093 878 

Other transfers and 

allocations  6 050 –  34 287  12 062 –  635  –  –  376 362  761  165 – (255 527)  174 795 

Investment revenue  2 053  57  2 976  4 385  31  39  1  488  2 584  204  2 763  85 (4)  15 662 

Contribution to 

self-insurance  4 –  3  1  1  –  1 –  593  –  522 819  35 (166 551)  356 906 

Other revenue  8 652  375  5 679  6 202  2 074  182  1 387  5  266 027  87  14 411 – (132 359)  172 722 

 Total  930 785  34 948  779 421 1 870 934  113 825  29 575  137 297  1 837 1 681 781  59 001  540 158  120 (554 441) 5 625 241 

Expenses               

Employee expenses  527 820  26 699  487 613  378 042  92 413  3 239  107 878  3 289  802 108  7 143  224 017  2 707 (98 020) 2 564 948 

Non-employee 

compensation/allowances  36 236  3 179  53 865  21 785  384  805  247  982  18 960  1 117  1 831  – (75 233)  64 158 

Grants and other 

transfers  102 176  1 047  94 073 1 033 104  2 308  21 948  –  –  147 579  47 929  2 – (136 809) 1 313 357 

Supplies and 

consumables  33 183 –  3 588  1 066  439  6  955  –  8 796  106  3  730 (28)  48 844 

Depreciation and 

amortization  27 195  71  3 675  5 624  123  –  201  –  170 436  10  6  –  –  207 341 

Impairment  310  –  –  488  –  –  –  –  267  –  –  –  –  1 065 

Travel  21 280  996  34 802  38 411  579  284  719  894  8 971  1 017  14  517 (1 668)  106 816 

Other operating expenses  183 883  5 160  92 040  182 216  15 455  2 493  7 722  2 315  468 062  6 838  21 109  – (240 601)  746 692 

Self-insurance expenses  –  –  48  –  –  –  –  –  119  15  462 736  – (1 243)  461 675 

Finance costs  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  184  –  –  –  –  184 

Equity basis  –  –  18 647  –  –  –  34 919  –  42 331  –  –  –  –  95 897 

Other expenses  466  175  723  108  53 –  122  –  936  59 –  510 (989)  2 163 

 Total  932 549  37 327  789 074 1 660 844  111 754  28 775  152 763  7 480 1 668 749  64 234  709 718  4 464 (554 591) 5 613 140 

 Surplus/(deficit) 

for the year (1 764) (2 379) (9 653)  210 090   2 071  800 (15 466) (5 643)  13 032 (5 233) (169 560) (4 344)  150  12 101 
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Statement of financial performance by pillar for the period ended 31 December 2014 (restated) 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 

Political and 

peacekeeping 

affairs 

International 

justice  

and law 

Cooperation 

and 

development 

Human 

rights and 

humanitarian 

affairs 

Public 

information and 

communications 

Environmental 

affairs 

Security 

and safety 

Crime 

prevention 

Common 

support 

services Other 

Self-

insurance 

plans and 

other 

insurance 

plans Unallocated Eliminations Total 

               Revenue               

Assessed contributions  785 473   54 701   610 416   207 366   105 077   –   138 727   –   959 309   –   –   –   –   2 861 069  

Voluntary contributions  156 422   4 569   218 534   1 739 588   3 508   3 777   6 392   105 499  32 488   74 802   –   –   –  2 345 579  

Other transfers and 

allocations  4 296   724   42 017   90 228   59   1 001   –   –   124 343   1 357   –   –   (157 568)  106 457  

Investment revenue  1 923   62   1 372   3 896   40   37   –   252   3 512   253   6 255   1 988   –   19 590  

Contribution to self-

insurance  –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   561   –   513 462   –   (144 413)  369 610  

Other revenue  7 851   2   3 535   3 263   938   –   –   20   220 425   22 714   8 050   18 782   (150 782)  134 798  

 Total  955 965   60 058   875 874   2 044 341   109 622   4 815   145 119   105 771  1 340 638   99 126   527 767   20 770   (452 763)  5 837 103  

Expenses               

Employee expenses  524 773   49 236   514 818   366 441   94 878   2 391   111 893   1 798   844 401   6 871   183 285   852   (90 216)  2 611 421  

Non-employee 

compensation/allowances  28 562   540   38 264   12 860   2 401   114   404   667   25 467   483   –   –   (62 007)   47 755  

Grants and other 

transfers  86 133   150   98 181   1 621 563   154   292   –   1 539   40 634   55 342   –   –   (81 320)  1 822 668  

Supplies and 

consumables  42 407   372   4 541   5 067   314   11   1 165   –   12 513   414   7   239   –   67 050  

Depreciation and 

amortization  30 553   –   224   5 364   87   –   148   –   162 745   343   –   11 141   –   210 605  

Impairment  359   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   29 145   –   –   –   –   29 504  

Travel  34 087   2 894   27 114   49 520   1 317   492   2 580   846   12 957   2 928   8   –   (1 463)  133 280  

Other operating expenses  194 774   6 373   118 754   176 004   8 725   1 857   4 929   1 597  374 296   28 407   39 509   –   (216 012) 739 213  

Self-insurance expenses  –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   438 935   –   (1 595)  437 340  

Finance costs  –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   243   –   243  

Equity basis  183   –   14 396   29   538   –   29 821   –   33 818   –   –   –   –   78 785  

Other expenses  5 307   17   272   160   57   –   124   –   1 356   122   –   –   –   7 415  

 Total  947 138   59 582   816 564   2 237 008   108 471   5 157   151 064   6 447  1 537 332   94 910   661 744   12 475   (452 613) 6 185 279 

 Surplus/(deficit) 

for the year  8 827   476   59 310   (192 667)  1 151   (342)  (5 945)  99 324   (196 694)  4 216   (133 977)  8 295   (150)  (348 176) 
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  Note 6  

  Comparison to budget  
 

110. The statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts (statement V) 

presents the difference between budget amounts, which are prepared on a modified 

cash basis, and actual expenditure on a comparable basis.   

111. Approved budgets are those that permit expenses to be incurred and are 

approved by the General Assembly. For IPSAS reporting purposes, approved 

budgets are the appropriations authorized by Assembly resolutions.   

112. The original budget for the biennium 2014-2015 is the budget approved by the 

General Assembly for the biennium on 27 December 2013 in resolution 68/248 A 

to C. The final budget represents final amounts authorized for the biennium 2014 -

2015, after incorporating all changes arising from General Assembly resolutions 

68/247 A and B, 69/263 A to C, 69/274 A and B and 70/240 A and B, and also 

incorporates amounts transferred between sections of the budget with the 

concurrence of the Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary 

Questions. The original 2015 annual budget represents the 2015 revised 

appropriations, plus the unencumbered balance of 2014. The final 2015 annual 

budget represents the original budget for 2015 and incorporates authorized final 

amounts and changes for the biennium 2014-2015. Actual amounts are all 

obligations, including disbursements, incurred in the period.  

113. Explanations for material differences between the original and final budget 

amounts, as well as material differences between the final budget amounts and 

actual expenditure on a modified cash basis, which are deemed to be those greater 

than 10 per cent, are considered below.  

 

Budget part Material differences greater than 10 per cent  

  Human rights and 

humanitarian affairs  

For 2015, the difference between the original and final budget primarily 

relates to the appropriation of requirements totalling $90.7 million for the 

Office of the Special Envoy of the Secretary-General on Ebola and the 

United Nations Mission for Ebola Emergency Response pursuant to General 

Assembly resolution 69/274 B and increased requirements totalling 

$11.9 million in support of the resolutions and decisions adopted by the 

Human Rights Council at its twenty-fifth to twenty-seventh sessions and its 

twenty-first and twenty-second special sessions, approved by the General 

Assembly in section VIII of resolution 69/262.  

 The difference between the final budget and actual expenditure (budget 

basis) has a non-material variance.  

Capital master plan  For 2015, the final budget was $31.6 million higher than the original budget 

to fund the continuing work of the project.  

 The capital master plan is further considered in the annual progress reports 

to the General Assembly (most recently, A/70/343).  

 

 

http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/248
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/247
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/263
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/274
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/240
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/274
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/262
http://undocs.org/A/70/343
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  Reconciliation between actual amounts on a comparable basis and the statement of 

cash flows  
 

114. The reconciliation between the actual amounts on a comparable basis in the 

statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts and the actual amounts in the 

statement of cash flows is reflected below.  

 

  Reconciliation of actual amounts on a comparable basis to statement of cash flows, 2015 
(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  Operating Investing Total 

    
Actual amounts on a comparable basis (statement V) 2 889 688 –  2 889 688 

Basis differences (192 950) (113 568) (306 518) 

Entity differences 3 338 685 – 3 338 685 

Presentation differences (5 625 241) (408 741) (6 033 982) 

 Actual amounts in statement of cash flows (statement IV)  410 182 (522 309) (112 127) 

 

 

  Reconciliation of actual amounts on a comparable basis to statement of cash flows, 

2014 (restated) 
(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Operating Investing Total 

    
Actual amounts on a comparable basis   2 940 552  –   2 940 552  

Basis differences  (96 226)  (187 299)  (283 525) 

Entity differences  3 011 967  –  3 011 967  

Presentation differences  (5 837 103)  452 488   (5 384 615) 

 Actual amounts in statement of cash flows (statement IV)  19 190 265 189 284 379 

 

 

115. Basis differences capture the differences resulting from preparing the budget 

on a modified cash basis. To reconcile the budgetary results to the statement of cash 

flows, the modified-cash elements such as unliquidated obligations, which are 

commitments against the budget but do not represent a cash flow, must be 

eliminated. Similarly, IPSAS-specific differences, such as investing cash flows 

relating to acquisition of property, plant and equipment or intangibles, and indirect 

operating cash flows relating to changes in receivables due to movements in the 

allowance for doubtful receivables and accrued liabilities, are included as basis 

differences to reconcile to the statement of cash flows.   

116. Presentation differences are differences in the format and classification 

schemes in the statement of cash flows and the statement of compar ison of budget 

and actual amounts, which include the latter not presenting revenue and the net 

changes in cash pool balances. Other presentation differences are that the amounts 

included in the statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts are not 

segregated into operating, investing and financing activities.   
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117. Entity differences arise when the actual amounts on the budget basis omit 

programmes or fund groups that are part of the Organization, as reported in the 

statement of cash flows, or vice versa. Those differences represent cash flows to or 

from fund groups other than the regular budget and the capital master plan funds 

that are reported in the financial statements. The financial statements include results 

for all the Organization’s fund groups.  

118. Timing differences occur when the budget period differs from the reporting 

period reflected in the financial statements. There are no timing differences as the 

budget reflects the 2015 proportion of the biennium.   

119. The table below presents the difference between biennial budget amounts, which 

are prepared on a modified cash basis, and actual expenditure on a comparable basis. 

The original budget for the biennium 2014-2015 is the appropriations approved by the 

General Assembly for the biennium in resolution 68/248 A. The final budget 

represents final amounts authorized for the biennium 2014-2015, after incorporating 

all changes arising from General Assembly resolutions 68/247 A and B, 69/263 A 

to C, 69/274 A and B and 70/240 A and B, and also incorporates amounts transferred 

between sections of the budget with the concurrence of the Advisory Committee on 

Administrative and Budgetary Questions. The relevant element of assessed 

contributions is recognized as revenue at the beginning of each year in the biennium.  

 

  Biennial budget and actual amounts for the year ended 31 December 2015  

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 Publicly available budget Actual biennial 

expenditure 

(budget basis)a 

Difference 

(percentage)b  Original biennial Final biennial 

     
Regular budget     

Overall policymaking, direction and coordination 790 612 778 215 770 936 -0.9 

Political affairs 1 344 302 1 436 565 1 369 675 -4.7 

International justice and law 100 154 99 344 97 148 -2.2 

International cooperation for development 496 111 489 600 477 815 -2.4 

Regional cooperation for development 572 414 570 882 557 031 -2.4 

Human rights and humanitarian affairs 353 091 466 897 461 934 -1.1 

Public information 188 444 189 545 186 312 -1.7 

Common support services 657 782 682 415 677 125 -0.8 

Internal oversight 40 552 41 038 39 780 -3.1 

Jointly financed administrative activities and 

special expenses 155 018 153 220 153 220 0.0 

Capital expenditures 75 269 111 483 110 978 -0.5 

Security and safety 241 370 251 597 250 951 -0.3 

Development Account 28 399 28 399 28 399 0.0 

Staff assessment 486 832 509 365 507 231 -0.4 

 Subtotal, regular budget 5 530 350 5 808 565 5 688 535 -2.1 

     

http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/248
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/247
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/263
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/274
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/240
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 Publicly available budget Actual biennial 

expenditure 

(budget basis)a 

Difference 

(percentage)b  Original biennial Final biennial 

     
Other publicly available budgets     

Capital master plan  Not applicable   

 Total 5 530 350 5 808 565 5 688 535 -2.1 

 

 
a
 Includes outstanding commitments of $164.9 million.   

 
b
 Actual expenditure (budget basis) less final budget.  

 

 

  Note 7  

  Cash and cash equivalents  
 

(Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 

   
Main pool (notes 30 and 31)

a
 461 396  533 605  

Euro pool (notes 30 and 31) 7 276  3 872  

United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society 

against Sickness and Accident investments (note 30)  10 876  14 059  

Other cash and cash equivalents 5 804  46 259  

 Total 485 352  597 795  

 

 
a
 Includes non-convertible Syrian pounds equivalent to $0.047 million (2014: $0.101 million).   

 

 

120. Cash and cash equivalents include trust fund moneys totalling $252.7 million 

(2014: $304.6 million) held for the specific purposes of the respective trust funds. 

Similarly, an amount of $103.0 million (2014: $105.3 million) relates to insurance 

funds relating primarily to restricted moneys held for health and dental self -

insurance plans (see note 28).  

 

  Note 8  

  Investments  
 

(Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 

Trust fund 

investments 

Amount relating 

to insurance funds 

Other 

investments 

Total  

31 December  

2015 

     Current     

Main pool (notes 30 and 31) 773 044 228 385 421 408 1 422 837 

Euro pool (notes 30 and 31) 546 1 894  –  2 440 

United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society 

against Sickness and Accident investments (note 30)   –  12 277  –  12 277 

Derivative instruments: currency forward contracts   –  – 8 186 8 186 

 Subtotal  773 590 242 556 429 594 1 445 740 
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Trust fund 

investments 

Amount relating 

to insurance funds 

Other 

investments 

Total  

31 December  

2015 

     
Non-current     

Main pool (notes 30 and 31) 518 700 153 243 282 758 954 701 

United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society 

against Sickness and Accident investments (note 30)   –  82 291  –  82 291 

 Subtotal 518 700 235 534 282 758  1 036 992 

 Total 1 292 290 478 090 712 352 2 482 732 

 

 

(Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

  

Trust fund 

investments 

Amount relating 

to insurance funds 

Other 

investments 

Total 

31 December 

2014 

     Current     

Main pool (notes 30 and 31)  286 783   170 233   577 596   1 034 612  

Euro pool (notes 30 and 31)  1 611   6 092   –   7 703  

United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society 

against Sickness and Accident investments (note 30)   –   13 071   –   13 071  

 Subtotal   288 394   189 396   577 596   1 055 386  

Non-current     

Main pool (notes 30 and 31)  253 154   150 241   509 833   913 228  

United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society 

against Sickness and Accident investments (note 30)   –   89 399   –  89 399  

 Subtotal  253 154   239 640   509 833  1 002 627  

 Total  541 548   429 036   1 087 429  2 058 013  

 

 

121. The principal of three trust funds (Trust Fund for Public Awareness on 

Disarmament Issues, United Nations Library Endowment Fund and Sasakawa-

UNDRO Disaster Prevention Award Endowment Fund), amounting to $4.2 million 

(2014: $4.2 million), remains restricted because it has been set aside and is 

unavailable for use in the operations of those trust funds. The amounts are invested 

to generate investment revenue that is used in the operations of the trust funds. The 

principal portion of the investment must be kept separately until further advised by 

the donor.  
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  Note 9  

  Assessed contributions: receivables from non-exchange transactions  
 

(Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 

   
Member States 593 464  641 388  

Allowance for doubtful assessed contributions receivable (204 158)  (203 193) 

 Total assessed contributions receivable 389 306  438 195  

 

 

  Note 10  

  Voluntary contributions: receivables from non-exchange transactions  
 

(Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 Current Non-current 

Total 

31 December 

2015 

    
Voluntary contributions 388 885 199 403 588 288 

Voluntary contributions in kind 187 – 187 

Allowance for doubtful voluntary contributions receivable (4 774)  –  (4 774) 

 Total voluntary contributions receivable 384 298 199 403 583 701 

 

 

(Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 Current Non-current 

Total 

31 December 

2014 

    
Voluntary contributions  363 216   95 367   458 583  

Allowance for doubtful voluntary contributions receivable  (1 779)  –   (1 779) 

 Total voluntary contributions receivable  361 437   95 367   456 804  

 

 

  Note 11  

  Other accounts receivable: receivables from exchange transactions and loans  
 

(Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

  31 December 2015 31 December 2014 

   
Other accounts receivable 103 183  117 453  

Loans receivable — loans provided by the Central 

Emergency Response Fund –   27 000  

Loans receivable — loans to peacekeeping operations 

(note 32)  47 300   47 300  

 Subtotal 150 483  191 753  
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  31 December 2015 31 December 2014 

   
Allowance for doubtful loans receivable (note 32)  (47 300) (47 300) 

Allowance for doubtful other receivables (5 927) (5 869) 

 Total other receivables — current (note 30) 97 256 138 584 

 

 

  Loans provided by the Central Emergency Response Fund  
 

122. The General Assembly decided in its resolution 60/124 to upgrade the former 

Central Emergency Revolving Fund, which provided loans only, to the current 

Central Emergency Response Fund, incorporating a grant element. A $27.0 million 

outstanding loan to the World Food Programme as at 31 December 2014 was repai d 

in full in 2015. There were no loans outstanding as at 31 December 2015.   

 

  Note 12  

  Inventories  
 

(Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

Inventory reconciliation Held for sale Raw materials 

Strategic 

reserves 

Consumables 

and supplies Total 

      
Opening inventory 1 January 2014  1 780   246   694   18 194   20 914  

Purchased in period  5 374   24   1 054   8 933   15 385  

 Total inventory available  7 154   270   1 748   27 127   36 299  

Consumption  (5 593)  (119)  (172)  (9 914)  (15 798) 

Impairment and write-offs  (3)  (1)  (54)  (794)  (852) 

 Total inventory as at 31 December 2014  1 558   150   1 522   16 419   19 649  

Purchased in period  1 462   772   155   15 096   17 485  

 Total inventory available 3 020 922 1 677 31 515 37 134 

Consumption (1 136) (835) (219) (13 790) (15 980) 

Impairment and write-offs  (151) –  (1 179)  (1 797) (3 127) 

 Total inventory as at 31 December 2015 1 733 87 279 15 928 18 027 

 

 

http://undocs.org/A/RES/60/124
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  Note 13 

  Other assets 
 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Current Non-current 

Total  

31 December 2015 

    
Receivable from other Secretariat reporting entities  6 286  –  6 286 

Advances to vendors  25 787  –   25 787 

Advances to staff  34 590  –   34 590 

United Nations Development Programme  

Multi-Partner Trust Fund advances (note 23) 232 143  –  232 143 

Other  31 292  –   31 292 

 Total other assets 330 098  –   330 098 

 

 

(Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 Current Non-current 

Total  

31 December 2014 

(restated)a 

    
Receivable from other Secretariat reporting entities  28 404   –   28 404  

Advances to vendors  18 012   –   18 012  

Advances to staff  31 808   –   31 808  

United Nations Development Programme  

Multi-Partner Trust Fund advances (note 23)  252 061   –   252 061  

Other  50 420   504   50 924  

 Total other assets  380 705   504   381 209  

 

 
a
 Restated to exclude from the United Nations financial statements life insurance reserves held by Aetna Life 

Insurance in the amount of $5.4 million for premium waivers, life insurance reserves and accidental death and 

dismemberment, since these reserves cannot be returned to the United Nations under any circumstances.   
 

 

  Note 14  

  Heritage assets  
 

123. Certain assets are categorized as heritage assets because of their cultural, 

educational or historical significance. The Organization’s heritage assets were 

acquired over many years by various means, including purchase, donation and 

bequest. There were no significant additions of heritage assets during 2015.   

124. Heritage assets are not held to generate any future economic benefits or 

service potential; accordingly, the Organization elected not to recognize them in the 

statement of financial position. Significant heritage assets owned by the 

Organization comprise works of art, statues, monuments,  historical buildings and 

books and maps.  
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  Note 15  

  Property, plant and equipment  
 

125. In accordance with IPSAS 17, the IPSAS implementation opening balances for 

real estate assets (buildings and infrastructure) were initially recognized at 

depreciated replacement cost, while machinery and equipment, vehicles, furniture 

and fittings and communication and information technology equipment were valued 

using historical cost. Subsequently, all valuations of property, plant and equipment 

were measured using historical cost, with the exception of real estate assets in the 

special political missions where the valuation continues to be on the basis of the 

depreciated replacement cost because of the need to use the Galileo application to 

track costs relating to construction projects.  

126. During the year, the Organization disposed of assets with a tota l cost of 

$231.4 million (net book value of $25.7 million) comprising mainly $197.8 million 

(net book value of $19.8 million) relating to buildings. The demolition of the 

Temporary North Lawn Building with a total cost of $188.5 million (book value of 

$13.5 million) accounts for the major portion (81 per cent) of the total disposals in 

the reporting period. Building assets costing $5.9 million with a net book value of 

$5.4 million in UNAMA were also disposed of owing to the abandonment of 

compound B in Afghanistan, as requested by the Government. Machinery and 

equipment, vehicles, furniture and fixtures and communications and information 

technology equipment with a total cost and net book value of $32.7 million and 

$5.7 million respectively were disposed of by the special political missions during 

the year.  

127. In the reporting year, there was no significant impairment in the entire 

portfolio of assets other than a few vehicles in the special political missions 

amounting to $0.321 million on account of accidents. An impairment review of 

buildings and infrastructure was conducted and no further impairment was 

identified as the buildings and infrastructures were still in good condition and in 

use. There were no known government policies, laws or statutes that would have an 

impact on the functioning of the buildings.  

 

  Assets under construction  
 

128. The opening balance for assets under construction was $7.1 million (2014: 

$66.6 million) relating primarily to $1.3 million for renovations at ECA and 

$4.7 million for the planning phase of the refurbishment and renovation of the 

Palais des Nations under the strategic heritage plan of the United Nations Office at 

Geneva. The strategic heritage plan has a total projected cost of SwF 836.5 million 

($844.1 million) as finally adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 

70/248 A. The 2014 and 2015 expenditures were incurred based on Assembly 

resolution 68/247 A, section V. The project is expected to last from 2017 to 2023.  

129. During the year, additions of $62.4 million (2014: $139.8 million) were 

capitalized, relating primarily to the refurbishment and renovation of the Palais des 

Nations under the strategic heritage plan ($30.5 million), the finalization of the 

General Assembly building refurbishment and security screening buildings in New 

York ($23.4 million) in accordance with the capital master plan, construction in the 

special political missions ($3.1 million), infrastructure asset construction in ECA 

http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/248
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/247
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($1.9 million) and leasehold improvements ($1.2 million) for the Economic and 

Social Commission for Western Asia (ESCWA) building in Beirut.   

130. Assets under construction totalling $29.1 million (2014: $199.3 million) were 

completed and became operational, including additional renovation works on the 

General Assembly building ($14.6 million), the South and North Screening 

Buildings and infrastructure installation ($8.9 million) and infrastructure assets in 

ECA ($2.5 million).  

131. Assets under construction at year end amounting to $40.4 million related 

primarily to $35.2 million for refurbishment and renovation of the Palais des 

Nations under the strategic heritage plan, $1.4 million for the construction of 

infrastructure assets in special political missions and leasehold improvements of 

$1.3 million for the ESCWA building in Beirut.  

 

  Leasehold improvements  
 

132. Pursuant to paragraph 1 (c) of General Assembly resolution 66/249 relating to 

unforeseen and extraordinary expenses for security measures, the Secretary -General 

initiated a comprehensive blast assessment of the United Nations House in the 

ESCWA compound in Beirut, for which $5.7 million was appropriated by the 

Assembly. Structural remediation work started in 2014. A total amount of 

$1.3 million had been incurred as at 31 December 2015 and was accounted for as 

leasehold improvements.  

 

  Temporary North Lawn Building  
 

133. The Temporary North Lawn Building in New York was constructed in 2009 to 

accommodate the requirements for conference rooms and offices for staff on a 

temporary basis until the renovation of the Headquarters buildings had been 

completed, as set out in the capital master plan project. With the capital master plan 

now completed and the Headquarters buildings now being fully functional, the 

General Assembly, in its resolution 70/239, requested the Secretary-General to 

ensure that the demolition of the Temporary North Lawn Building be completed 

without delay. The building, with a cost of $188.5 million and a net book value of 

$13.5 million, was accordingly derecognized from the books. The physical 

demolition had started by the end of 2015 and is well under way, with completion 

expected in 2016.  

 

  Vienna International Centre  
 

134. The Vienna International Centre comprises a group of buildings on land 

situated at the edge of the Donaupark in the Donaustadt district of Vienna 

(22nd district). In 1979, the United Nations Office at Vienna, the International 

Atomic Energy Agency and the United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 

subsequently joined by the Preparatory Commission for the Comprehensive Nuclear -

Test-Ban Treaty Organization, collectively known as the Vienna-based organizations, 

entered into a 99-year real estate arrangement with the Government of Austria 

giving those four United Nations system entities the right to use the Vienna 

International Centre premises for a nominal rent of 1 Austrian Schilling per year.  

http://undocs.org/A/RES/66/249
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/239
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135. In line with IPSAS 13, the arrangements for the Vienna International Centre 

have been determined to be similar to a finance lease and hence capitalized in 

accordance with IPSAS 17, commencing 1 January 2015. The last valuation was 

done by PricewaterhouseCoopers on 1 January 2015 and resulted in a depreciated 

replacement cost of €489.2 million ($596.6 million) for the buildings and a net book 

value of €288.0 million ($351.2 million). Based on the Building Management 

Services in Vienna cost-sharing ratio, the United Nations has recognized its 

22.76 per cent share of the cost of $135.8 million and $79.9 million net book value 

of the Vienna International Centre buildings as property, plant and equipment as at 

1 January 2015. In line with IPSAS 3 and in order to achieve comparability, the 

2014 financial statements have been restated for the Vienna International Centre 

building transactions.  

136. In accordance with IPSAS 13, the land arrangement is considered to be an 

operating lease. Consequently, the Organization’s share of the fair rental value of 

the land is expensed in the accounts with an equal amount recognized as 

non-exchange revenue and booked as a contribution in kind.  

137. The Organization also took transitional provisions up to 31 December 2014 for 

leasehold improvements and all such amounts were expensed as incurred. In 2015, 

the share of leasehold improvements made to the Vienna International Centre 

buildings amounting to $0.856 million was capitalized.   
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Property, plant and equipment: 2015  
(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Land Buildings  

Infrastruct

ure Vehicles 

Communications 

and information 

technology 

equipment  

Machinery 

and 

equipment 

Furniture 

and 

fixtures 

Assets under 

construction 

Leasehold 

improvements  Total 

           
Cost as at 31 December 2014 835 698 3 900 500 267 270 159 477 156 794 46 858 4 517 7 090 128 5 378 332 

Additions   –  4 409  –  10 248 14 415  5 941  485   62 373  211  98 082 

Disposals   –  (197 839)  (787)  (17 513)  (12 980) (1 461)  (780)   –   –  (231 360) 

Completed assets under 

construction   –  15 909  12 632 –  –  –  –   (29 066)   525  – 

Transfers  –  –  (156)  7 225  1 355  –  –   –   156  8 580 

 Cost as at 31 December 

2015 835 698 3 722 979 278 959 159 437 159 584 51 338 4 222 40 397 1 020 5 253 634 

Accumulated depreciation as at 

31 December 2014 – 1 730 034 112 174 85 395  97 555 28 141 2 517 – 6 2 055 822 

Depreciation   –  125 542 15 944  15 109 18 657  4 738 447   –   95  180 532 

Disposals   –  (178 030)  (531)  (15 407)  (10 018)  (1 338)  (303)   –   –  (205 627) 

Transfers  –  –  –  5 495  195  15  –   –   –  5 705 

Impairment losses  –  255  28  383  136  263  –   –   –  1 065 

 Accumulated depreciation 

as at 31 December 2015  –  1 677 801 127 615 90 975 106 525 31 819 2 661  –  101 2 037 497 

Net carrying amount            

31 December 2014 835 698 2 170 466 155 096 74 082 59 239 18 717 2 000 7 090 122 3 322 510 

 31 December 2015 835 698 2 045 178 151 344 68 462 53 059 19 519 1 561 40 397 919 3 216 137 
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Property, plant and equipment: 2014 (restated
a
) 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Land Buildingsb 

Infrastruct

ure Vehicles 

Communications 

and information 

technology 

equipmentb 

Machinery 

and 

equipment 

Furniture 

and 

fixtures 

Assets under 

construction 

Leasehold 

improvements
b Total 

           
Cost as at 1 January 2014   835 698  3 722 356  246 017   160 815   157 469   47 428   3 777   66 582  128  5 240 270  

Additions   –   2 462   145   10 868   11 462   2 354   1 056   139 799  –   168 146  

Disposals
c
   –   (1 732)  (769)  (12 206)  (12 137)  (2 924)  (316)  –   –   (30 084) 

Completed assets under 

construction   –   177 414   21 877   –   –   –   –   (199 291)  –   –  

 Cost as at 31 December 

2014 835 698 3 900 500 267 270 159 477 156 794 46 858 4 517 7 090 128 5 378 332 

Accumulated depreciation as 

at 1 January 2014   –  1 566 235   96 779   71 412   89 762  25 380   2 470   –   –   1 852 038 

Depreciation   –   136 104   15 639   14 803   18 171   4 480   363   –  6  189 566  

Disposals
c
  –   (1 160)  (244)  (1 298)  (10 532)  (1 736)  (316)  –   –   (15 286) 

Impairment losses
d
  –   28 855  –   478  154  17  –   –   –   29 504 

 Accumulated depreciation 

as at 31 December 2014 – 1 730 034 112 174 85 395 97 555 28 141 2 517 – 6 2 055 822 

Net carrying amount            

1 January 2014  835 698  2 156 121   149 238   89 403   67 707   22 048  1 307   66 582  128   3 388 232  

 31 December 2014  835 698  2 170 466   155 096   74 082   59 239   18 717   2 000   7 090  122   3 322 510 

 

Comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current presentation, as follows:  

 
a
 Restated to include the Vienna International Centre buildings with a cost of $135.8 million and a book value of $79.9 million. In addition, 2014 opening 

balances were adjusted by a reduction of $0.867 million relating to post -capitalization of assets and removal of asset duplications.  

 
b
 Leasehold improvements costing $0.128 million ($0.006 million depreciation) which were included in the buildings asset class have been separately recoded 

in the leasehold improvements asset class; and the prefabricated modular data centre costing $0.126 million ($0.069 million d epreciation) has been transferred 

from buildings to communications and information technology equipment.  

 
c
 Plant and equipment items with a carrying value of $11.9 million that were transferred from special political missions to pea cekeeping operations are shown 

as disposals. 

 
d
 In order to align the presentation closer to IPSAS requirements, accumulated impairment that was previously included in histo rical cost of 2014 property, 

plant and equipment has been reclassified as accumulated depreciation.  
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  Note 16  

  Intangible assets  
 

138. All intangible assets acquired before 1 January 2014, except for the capitalized 

costs associated with the Umoja project, are subject to IPSAS transitional provisions 

and were not recognized. Umoja is a global, complex, high-value project that serves 

to modernize a wide range of business processes and systems that are essential to 

the efficient and effective functioning of the Organization. The solution spans most 

of the Organization’s administrative and support functions, including finance and 

budget, supply chain and procurement, human resources, central support services, 

and programme and project management.  

139. The total carrying value of the Umoja project as at year end was $112.9 million 

(2014: $104.7 million). Umoja-related development costs are capitalized as assets 

under development until the relevant phase becomes operational, at which time the 

completed asset under development is transferred to operational intangible assets. 

Development costs amounting to $0.030 million (2014: $0.070 million) on projects 

other than Umoja were expensed as they were below the capitalization threshold.   
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Intangible assets: 2015 
(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Umoja 

Other software 

developed 

internally 

Software 

acquired 

externally 

Licences 

and rights 

 Assets under development  

Umoja Other Total 

        
Cost as at 31 December 2014  136 823   1 087   322   126   31 075   270   169 703  

Additions   –  4 169 243  –  8 496 1 992 14 900 

Completed assets under development  34 306  196   –   –  (34 306) (196)   –  

 Cost as at 31 December 2015 171 129 5 452 565 126 5 265 2 066 184 603 

Accumulated amortization as at 31 December 2014  32 081   60   24   9   –   –   32 174  

Amortization  26 196 532 59 22  –   –  26 809 

 Accumulated amortization as at 31 December 2015 58 277 592 83 31  –   –  58 983 

Net carrying amount         

31 December 2014  104 742   1 027   298   117   31 075   270   137 529  

 31 December 2015 112 852 4 860 482 95 5 265 2 066 125 620 
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Intangible assets: 2014 
(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Umoja 

Other software 

developed 

internally 

Software 

acquired 

externally 

Licences 

and rights 

 Assets under development 

Total Umoja Other 

        
Cost as at 1 January 2014   114 532   –   –   –   33 096   –   147 628  

Additions   –   1 087   322   126   20 270   270   22 075  

Completed assets under development   22 291   –   –   –   (22 291)  –   –  

 Cost as at 31 December 2014  136 823   1 087   322   126   31 075   270   169 703  

Accumulated amortization as at 1 January 2014  11 135   –   –   –   –   –   11 135  

Amortization   20 946   60   24   9   –   –   21 039  

 Accumulated amortization as at 31 December 2014  32 081   60   24   9   –   –   32 174  

Net carrying amount         

1 January 2014  103 397   –   –   –   33 096   –   136 493  

 31 December 2014  104 742   1 027   298   117   31 075   270   137 529  
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  Note 17  

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  
 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 31 December 2015 31 December 2014a 

   
Accounts payable 109 153 104 837 

Accruals for goods and services  134 056 154 493 

Transfers payable 58 929 17 497 

Retained payables 517 36 892 

Other 23 694 6 416 

 Subtotal 326 349 320 135 

Payable to Member States 9 363 58 199 

Working Capital Fund payable to Member States 150 000 150 000 

 Subtotal 159 363 208 199 

 Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities 485 712 528 334 

 

 
a
 Regrouped to conform with the current presentation.  

 

 

  Working Capital Fund  
 

140. Balances payable to Member States include the $150.0 million (2014: 

$150.0 million) Working Capital Fund liability. The Fund was established pursuant 

to General Assembly resolution 80 (I) in 1946. Under current financial regulations, 

the payables in the Fund represent advances from Member States made in 

accordance with the scale of assessments as determined by the Assembly for the 

apportionment of the expenses of the United Nations. In accordance with Assembly 

resolution 60/283, the level of the Fund was increased to $150.0 million with effect 

from 1 January 2007. Advances may be made from the Fund to finance budgetary 

appropriations or unforeseen and extraordinary expenses or for other purpo ses as 

authorized by the Assembly. 

 

  Note 18  

  Advance receipts  
 

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 Current Non-current 

Total 

31 December 2015 

    
Liabilities for conditional arrangements 59 654 9 696 69 350 

Deferred revenue 23 264  –  23 264 

 Total advance receipts 82 918 9 696 92 614 

 

 

http://undocs.org/A/RES/60/283
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  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 Current Non-current 

Total 

31 December 2014 

    Liabilities for conditional arrangements  71 318   16 492   87 810  

Deferred revenue  6 881   –   6 881  

Other advance receipts  22 820   –   22 820  

 Total advance receipts  101 019   16 492   117 511  

 

 

  Note 19  

  Employee benefits liabilities  
 

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 Current  Non-current 

Total 

31 December 2015  

    After-service health insurance 82 910 3 543 706 3 626 616 

Annual leave 21 983 166 273 188 256 

Repatriation benefits 31 332 237 697 269 029 

 Defined end-of-service/post-employment 

benefits liabilities 136 225 3 947 676 4 083 901 

Appendix D/workers’ compensation – 31 921 31 921 

Accrued salaries and allowances 63 928 575 64 503 

 Total employee benefits liabilities 200 153 3 980 172 4 180 325 

 

 

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 Current  Non-current  

Total 

31 December 2014 

(restateda)  

    
After-service health insurance  83 835   4 094 838   4 178 673  

Annual leave  18 570   233 778   252 348  

Repatriation benefits  19 685   229 542   249 227  

 Defined end-of-service/post-employment 

benefits liabilities 122 090 4 558 158 4 680 248 

Appendix D/workers’ compensation  31   35 437   35 468  

Insurance liabilities  2 021   –   2 021  

Pension contributions outstanding  2 476   –   2 476  

Accrued salaries and allowances  65 172   791   65 963  

 Total employee benefits liabilities  191 790   4 594 386   4 786 176 

 

 
a
 Restated to exclude incurred but not reported claims in the amount of $80.0 million from 

accrued salaries and allowances to provisions in compliance with IPSAS 1 and 19 and United 

Nations accounting policy on employee benefits.  
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141. The liabilities arising from end-of-service/post-employment benefits and the 

workers’ compensation programme under Appendix D to the Staff Rules of the 

United Nations are determined by independent actuaries and are established in 

accordance with the Staff Rules and Staff Regulations. Actuarial valuation is usually 

undertaken every two years. The most recent full actuarial valuation was conducted 

as at 31 December 2015.  

 

  Actuarial valuation: assumptions  
 

142. The Organization reviews and selects assumptions and methods used by the 

actuaries in the year-end valuation to determine the expense and contribution 

requirements for employee benefits. The principal actuarial assumptions used to 

determine the employee benefits obligations at 31 December 2015 and 31  December 

2014 are as follows.  

 

  Actuarial assumptions  
  (Percentage)  

 

Assumptions 

After-service health 

insurance Repatriation benefits Annual leave 

Appendix D/workers’ 

compensationa  

     
Discount rates 31 December 2014 3.29  3.36  3.52   

Discount rates 31 December 2015 3.49 3.67 3.73  

Inflation 31 December 2014 5.00-6.80  2.25  – 2.50  

Inflation 31 December 2015 4.00-6.4  2.25 – 2.25  

 

 
a
 For the Appendix D/workers’ compensation valuation, the actuaries applied the year -end Citigroup Pension 

Discount Curves discount rate applicable to the year in which the cash flows take place.   
 

 

143. Discount rates are based on a weighted blend of three discount rate 

assumptions based on the currency denomination of the different cash flows: United 

States dollars (Citigroup Pension Discount Curve), euros (euro area government 

yield curve) and Swiss francs (Federation bonds yield curve). The slightly higher 

discount rates were assumed for the 31 December 2015 valuation owing to a slight 

variation in the inflation rates from 31 December 2014.  

144. The per capita claim costs for the after-service health insurance plans are 

updated to reflect recent claims and enrolment experience. The health-care cost 

trend rate assumption is revised to reflect the current shor t-term expectations of the 

after-service health insurance plan cost increases and the economic environment. 

Medical cost trend assumptions used for the valuation as at 31 December 2015 were 

updated to include escalation rates for future years. As at 31 December 2015, these 

escalation rates were a flat health-care yearly escalation rate of 4.0 per cent (2014: 

5.0 per cent) for non-United States medical plans, health-care escalation rates of 

6.4 per cent (2014: 6.8 per cent) for all other medical plans, excep t 5.9 per cent 

(2014: 6.1 per cent) for the United States Medicare plan and 4.9 per cent (2014: 

5.0 per cent) for the United States dental plan, grading down to 4.5 per cent (2014: 

4.5 per cent) over 10 years.  
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145. With regard to the valuation of repatriation benefits as at 31 December 2015, 

inflation in travel costs was assumed to be 2.25 per cent (2014: 2.25 per cent), on 

the basis of the projected United States inflation rate over the next 10 years.   

146. Annual leave balances were assumed to increase at the following annual rates 

during the staff member’s projected years of service: 1-3 years, 10.9 days; 4-8 years, 

1 day; and more than eight years, 0.5 days up to the maximum of 60 days. The 

assumption is consistent with the 2014 valuation. The attribution method continues to 

be used for annual leave actuarial valuation.  

147. For defined-benefit plans, assumptions regarding future mortality are based on 

published statistics and mortality tables. Salary increases, retirement, withdrawal 

and mortality assumptions are consistent with those used by the United Nations 

Joint Staff Pension Fund in making its actuarial valuation. Appendix D/workers’ 

compensation uses mortality assumptions based on World Health Organization 

statistical tables.  

 

  Movement in post-employment benefits liabilities accounted for as defined-benefit plans  
 

  Reconciliation of opening to closing total defined-benefits liability  
  (Thousands of United States dollars) 

 

 2015 2014 

   
Net defined-benefits liability as at 1 January 4 680 248  3 561 331  

Current service cost 186 814 141 347 

Interest cost 156 590 155 687 

 Total costs recognized in the statement of 

financial performance 343 404  297 034  

Benefits paid (129 621)  (123 027) 

Actuarial (gains)/losses recognized directly in the 

statement of changes in net assets
a
  (810 130)  944 910  

 Net defined-benefits liability as at 31 December  4 083 901   4 680 248  

 

 
a
 The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognized in the statement of changes 

in net assets is $134.8 million. 
 

 

  Discount rate sensitivity analysis  
 

148. The changes in discount rates are driven by the discount curve, which is 

calculated on the basis of corporate and government bonds. The bonds markets 

varied over the reporting period, and volatility has an impact on the discount rate 

assumption. Should the assumption vary by 1 per cent, its impact on the obligations 

would be as shown below.  
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  Discount rate sensitivity analysis: year-end employee benefits liabilities  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

31 December 2015 

After-service health 

insurance 

Repatriation 

benefits Annual leave 

    
Increase of discount rate by 1 per cent (614 822) (24 126) (16 026) 

 As a percentage of year-end liability (16.95) (8.68) (8.51) 

Decrease of discount rate by 1 per cent 809 032 27 051 18 709 

 As a percentage of year-end liability 22.31 9.73 9.94 

 

 

31 December 2014 

After-service health 

insurance 

Repatriation 

benefits Annual leave 

    
Increase of discount rate by 1 per cent (781 836) (24 271) (24 908) 

 As a percentage of year-end liability (18.71) (9.74) (9.87) 

Decrease of discount rate by 1 per cent 972 155 27 183 27 938 

 As a percentage of year-end liability 23.26 10.91 11.07 

 

 

  Medical costs sensitivity analysis  
 

149. The principal assumption in the valuation of the after-service health insurance 

is the rate at which medical costs are expected to increase in the future. The 

sensitivity analysis looks at the change in liability resulting from changes in the 

medical cost rates while holding other assumptions, such as the discount rate, 

constant. Should the medical cost trend assumption vary by 1 per cent, this would 

have an impact on the measurement of the defined-benefits obligations, as shown 

below.  

 

  Medical costs sensitivity analysis: 1 per cent movement in the assumed medical 

cost trend rates  
  (Thousands of United States dollars and percentage)  

 

2015 Increase Decrease 

     
Effect on the defined-benefits obligation 24.12% 874 690 (16.30%) (591 150) 

Effect on the aggregate of the current service 

cost and interest cost 2.21% 80 229 (1.34%) (48 693) 

 Total effect  954 919  (639 843) 

 

 

2014 Increase Decrease 

     
Effect on the defined-benefits obligation 21.54% 900 190 (16.62%) (694 663) 

Effect on the aggregate of the current service 

cost and interest cost 2.20% 91 795 (1.63%) (67 904) 

 Total effect  991 985  (762 567) 
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  Other defined-benefits plan information  
 

150. Benefits paid for 2015 are estimates of what would have been paid to 

separating staff and/or retirees during the year based on the pattern of rights 

acquisition under each scheme: after-service health insurance, repatriation and 

commutation of accrued annual leave. The estimated defined-benefits payments (net 

of participants’ contributions in these schemes) are shown in the table below.  

 

  Estimated defined benefits payments, net of participants’ contributions  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

 After-service health insurance Repatriation benefits Annual leave Total 

     
2016 85 894 34 052 23 180 143 126 

2015  86 625   20 352   19 231   126 208  

 

 

  Historical information: total liability for after-service health insurance, 

repatriation benefits and annual leave as at 31 December  
  (Millions of United States dollars)  

 

 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 

      
Present value of the defined-benefits obligations 4 680   3 537   3 398   3 212   2 306  

 

 

  Accrued salaries and allowances  
 

151. Accrued salaries and allowances comprise $30.0 million (2014: $22.7 million) 

relating to medical and dental self-insurance claims incurred and received but not 

paid. The remaining balance relates to home leave benefits of $26.1 million, and 

$7.8 million relates to other payables and accruals for repatriation grant payables, 

and other allowances.  

 

  United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund  
 

152. The regulations of the United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund state that the 

Pension Board is to have an actuarial valuation made of the Fund at least once every 

three years by the consulting actuary. The practice of the Pension Board has been to 

carry out an actuarial valuation every two years using the open group aggregate 

method. The primary purpose of the actuarial valuation is to determine whether the 

current and estimated future assets of the Pension Fund will be sufficient to meet its 

liabilities.  

153. The Organization’s financial obligation to the Pension Fund consists of its 

mandated contribution, at the rate established by the General Assembly (currently 

7.90 per cent for participants and 15.80 per cent for member organizations), together 

with a share of any actuarial deficiency payments under article 26 of the regulations 

of the Fund. Such deficiency payments are payable only if and when the Assembly 

has invoked the provision of article 26, following a determination that there is a 

requirement for deficiency payments based on an assessment of the actuarial 

sufficiency of the Pension Fund as at the valuation date. Each member organization 

is to contribute to that deficiency an amount proportionate to the total contributions 

that each paid during the three years preceding the valuation date.   
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154. The actuarial valuation performed as at 31 December 2013 revealed an 

actuarial deficit of 0.72 per cent (compared with 1.87 per cent in the 2011 valuation) 

of pensionable remuneration, implying that the theoretical contribution rate required 

to achieve balance as at 31 December 2013 was 24.42 per cent of pensionable 

remuneration, compared with the actual contribution rate of 23.70 per cent. The next 

actuarial valuation was conducted for 31 December 2015; however, the results of 

the valuation were not available as at the reporting date.   

155. As at 31 December 2013, the funded ratio of actuarial assets to actuarial 

liabilities, assuming no future pension adjustments, was 127.50 per cent (compared 

with 130.00 per cent in the 2011 valuation). The funded ratio was 91.20 per cent 

(compared with 86.20 per cent in the 2011 valuation) when the current system of 

pension adjustments was taken into account.  

156. After assessing the actuarial sufficiency of the Pension Fund, the consulting 

actuary concluded that there was no requirement, as at 31 December 2013, for 

deficiency payments under article 26 of the regulations of the Fund because the 

actuarial value of assets exceeded the actuarial value of all accrued liabilities under 

the Fund. In addition, the market value of assets exceeded the actuarial value of all 

accrued liabilities as at the valuation date. At the time of reporting, the General 

Assembly had not invoked the provision of article 26.  

157. In December 2012 and April 2013, the General Assembly authorized an 

increase to age 65 in the normal retirement age and in the mandatory age of 

separation, respectively, for new participants in the Pension Fund, with effect not 

later than from 1 January 2014. The related change to the Fund’s regulations was 

approved by the Assembly in December 2013. The increase in the normal retirement 

age is reflected in the actuarial valuation of the Fund as at 31 December 2013. The 

Board of Auditors carries out an annual audit of the Fund and reports to the Pension 

Board on the audit every year. The Fund publishes quarterly reports on its 

investments.  

158. In 2015, the Organization’s contributions to the Pension Fund amounted to 

$287.4 million (2014: $265.7 million).  

 

  Fund for compensation payments: Appendix D/workers’ compensation  
 

159. The fund for compensation payments relates to the payment of compensation 

with regard to death, injury or illness attributable to the performance of official 

duties. The rules governing the compensation payments are under Appendix D to the 

Staff Rules. The fund allows the Organization to continue to fulfi l its obligation to 

make compensation payments for death, injury or illness. The fund derives its 

revenue from a charge of 1 per cent of the net base remuneration, including post 

adjustment for eligible personnel. It covers Appendix D claims submitted by 

personnel, covering monthly death and disability benefits and lump sum payments 

for injury or illness as well as medical expenses.  
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  Impact of General Assembly resolutions on staff benefits   
 

160. On 23 December 2015 the General Assembly adopted resolution 70/244, by 

which it approved certain changes to the conditions of service and entitlements for 

all staff serving in the organizations of the United Nations common system, as 

recommended by the International Civil Service Commission (ICSC). Some of the 

changes that may affect the calculation of other long-term and end-of-service 

employee benefits liabilities are as follows.  

 

Change Details  

  Increase in 

mandatory age 

of separation 

The mandatory age of retirement for staff that joined the United Nations on or 

after 1 January 2014 is 65 and for those that joined before 1 January 2014 is 60 

or 62. The General Assembly decided to extend the mandatory age of separation 

for staff recruited before 1 January 2014 by organizations of the United Nations 

common system to 65 years, at the latest by 1 January 2018, taking into account 

the acquired rights of staff. Once implemented, this change is expected to affect 

future calculations of employee benefits liabilities.  

Unified salary 

structure  

The current salary scales for internationally recruited staff (Professional and 

Field Service) are based on single or dependency rates. These rates affect the 

staff assessment and post adjustment amounts. The General Assembly has 

approved a unified salary scale that will result in the elimination of single and 

dependency rates. The dependency rate will be replaced by allowances for staff 

members who have recognized dependants in accordance with the Staff Rules 

and Staff Regulations. A revised staff assessment scale and pensionable 

remuneration scale will be implemented along with the unified salary structure. 

The implementation of the unified salary scale is planned for 1 January 2017 and 

is not designed to result in reduced payments for staff members. However, it is 

expected that once implemented, it will affect the calculation and valuation of the 

repatriation benefit and commuted annual leave benefit. Currently, the 

repatriation benefit is calculated based on gross salary and staff assessment at the 

date of separation, whereas commuted annual leave is calculated based on gross 

salary, post adjustment and staff assessment at the date of separation.   

Repatriation 

benefit  

Staff members are eligible to receive a repatriation gran t upon separation 

provided they have been in service for at least one year in a duty station outside 

their country of nationality. The General Assembly has since revised eligibility 

for the repatriation grant from one year to five years for prospective emp loyees, 

while current employees retain the one-year eligibility. Once implemented, this 

change is expected to affect future calculations of employee benefits liabilities.   

 

 

161. As at the reporting date, the necessary information regarding implementation  

of the proposed changes was not available. Therefore, the Organization is not able 

to perform a detailed impact analysis of the proposed changes on employee benefits 

liabilities for the 2015 financial period. In accordance with the requirements of 

IPSAS 1, the Organization will determine such impact when the relevant 

implementation information becomes available, anticipated by mid-2016; where 

material, appropriate adjustments and/or disclosures will be made in the financial 

statements for 2016.  

http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/244
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  Note 20  

  Provisions  
 

(Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 

Credits to 

Member States 

Credits to 

donors 

Litigation 

and claims  Restoration 

Insurance claims 

(incurred but not 

reported) Total 

       
Provisions as at 31 December 2014  40 239  1 657 2 019 16 105 80 041 140 061 

Additional provisions made 120 030  –  736   –  76 428  197 194  

Amounts reversed  –  (1 657)  (144)   (82)  –  (1 883)  

Amounts used  (40 239)   –  (1 416)  (410) (80 041) (122 106)  

 Provisions as at 31 December 2015 120 030 – 1 195 15 613 76 428 213 266 

Current 120 030 – 1 195 15 296 76 428 212 949 

Non-current – – – 317 – 317 

 Total 120 030 – 1 195 15 613 76 428 213 266 

 

 

(Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 

Credits to 

Member States 

Credits to 

donors 

Litigation 

and claims  Restoration 

Insurance claims 

(incurred but not 

reported) 

Total  

(restateda) 

       
Provisions as at 1 January 2014  40 239   –   1 745   15 993  80 870  138 847  

Additional provisions made –  1 657   1 632   162  80 041  83 492  

Amounts used  –   –   (1 358)  (50) (80 870)  (82 278) 

 Provisions as at 31 December 2014  40 239   1 657   2 019   16 105  80 041   140 061  

Current  40 239   1 657   2 019   523  80 041  124 479  

Non-current – – – 15 582 – 15 582 

 Total 40 239 1 657 2 019 16 105 80 041 140 061 

 

 
a
 Restated to include incurred but not reported claims (note 4).   

 

 

162. The provisions for credits to Member States estimate the level of refunds that 

is expected to be given back to Member States for unencumbered balances of 

contributions received. During 2015, a $40.2 million reduction in credits to Member 

States represents allocations given to the capital master plan to fund the shortfall of 

the capital master plan project in accordance with General Assembly resolution 

69/274 A. The restoration provisions relate primarily to the amount of $15.0 million 

(2014: $15.0 million) to restore and reinstate the Temporary North Lawn Building 

site at United Nations Headquarters. The insurance claims (incurred but not 

reported) provisions are estimated costs that may be required to settle me dical and 

dental claims that have been incurred by insurance plan participants during the 

reporting year for which claims were not made or reported to the third -party 

administrators by participants. The Organization had also established provisions for 

http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/274
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$1.2 million (2014: $2.0 million) for various ongoing legal claims where it was 

assessed that the probability of a payout was greater than 50 per cent.   

 

  Note 21  

  Tax Equalization Fund liability  
 

163. The Tax Equalization Fund was established under the provisions of General 

Assembly resolution 973 (X) to equalize the net pay of all staff members whatever 

their national tax obligations. The Fund operationally reports as income staff 

assessment with respect to staff members financed under the regular budget, assessed 

peacekeeping operations, the international tribunals for Rwanda and the former 

Yugoslavia and the International Residual Mechanism for Criminal Tribunals.   

164. The Fund includes as expenditure credits against the regular budget for the 

assessments of Member States that do not levy taxes on the United Nations income 

of their nationals with respect to peacekeeping, the Residual Mechanism and the 

international tribunals. Member States that do levy income taxes on their nationals 

working for the Organization do not receive this credit in full. Instead, their share is 

utilized in the first instance to reimburse staff members for taxes paid on their 

United Nations income. Such reimbursements for taxes paid are partially reported as 

expenditure by the Tax Equalization Fund. Staff members financed by 

extrabudgetary funds who are required to pay income tax are reimbursed directly 

from the resources of those funds. Since the Organization acts as an agent in this 

arrangement, net of the related revenue and expenses is reported as a payable in 

these financial statements.  

165. The cumulative surplus accumulated in the Tax Equalization Fund as at 

31 December 2015 was $96.0 million (2014: $96.2 million), consisting of amounts 

payable to the United States of America at year end of $30.4 million (2014: 

$27.6 million) and to other Member States of $37.2 million (2014: $36.8 million). 

In addition, the Tax Equalization Fund had an estimated tax liability of $28.4  million 

relating to the 2015 and prior tax years (2014: $31.8 million), of which approximately  

$17.4 million was disbursed in January 2016 and approximately $11.0 million was 

expected to be settled after the reporting date.  

 

  Note 22  

  Other liabilities  
 

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 Current Non-current 

Total 

31 December 2015 

    
Payables to other Secretariat reporting entities –  –  – 

Liabilities under donated right-to-use arrangements 4 048 73 029 77 077 

Finance lease liabilities 1 080 1 670 2 750 

Straight-lining of operating lease 4 636 – 4 636 

Other liabilities 1 740 – 1 740 

 Total other liabilities 11 504 74 699 86 203 
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  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Current Non-current  

Total 

31 December 2014 

(restateda) 

    
Payables to other Secretariat reporting entities   50 596   –   50 596  

Liabilities under donated right-to-use arrangements  4 032   76 645   80 677  

Finance lease liabilities  1 080   2 756   3 836  

Straight-lining of operating lease  –   6 125   6 125  

Other liabilities  3 760   3 228   6 988  

 Total other liabilities  59 468   88 754   148 222  

 

 
a
 Restated to include liability under donated right-to-use arrangement for the Vienna 

International Centre buildings, which was recognized as of 1 January 2015 (current liability 

of $4.0 million, non-current liability of $76.0 million).  
 

 

  Note 23  

  Controlled multi-partner trust funds  
 

166. Multi-partner trust funds are pooled resources from multiple financial partners 

that are allocated to multiple implementing entities to support specific national, 

regional or global development priorities. They are administered by the Un ited 

Nations Development Programme Multi-Partner Trust Fund Office.  

 

  Multi-partner trust funds where the Organization has control and is the principal   
 

167. Common humanitarian funds have been established in a number of countries 

as partnerships between the United Nations agencies for humanitarian activities. 

The Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs serves as the technical unit 

for the funds and is responsible for managing the allocation process. The 

Organization therefore controls the funds and is the principal in that multi-partner 

trust fund.  

168. The Peacebuilding Fund supports more than 200 projects in 27 countries by 

delivering fast, flexible and relevant funding for peacebuilding initiatives in post -

conflict countries. Given that the Fund is controlled and managed by the Assistant 

Secretary-General for Peacebuilding Support, who is supported by the 

Peacebuilding Support Office, the Organization is the principal in the programme. 

Those multi-partner trust funds are therefore recorded in full in the Organization’s 

financial statements and a summary of the balances is showed below.   

 



A/71/5 (Vol. I) 

Operations of the United Nations as reported in volume I 

Notes to the 2015 financial statements (continued) 

 

16-16791 248/288 

 

  Common humanitarian funds and Peacebuilding Fund multi-partner trust funds  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

 Year ended 31 December 2015 

 

Common 

humanitarian funds 

Peacebuilding 

Fund Total 

    
Revenue 310 799 52 816 363 615 

Expenses (297 438) (54 916) (352 354) 

 Net surplus/(deficit) 13 361 (2 100) 11 261 

Net assets as at 31 December 2014 160 046  119 522  279 568 

 Net assets as at 31 December 2015 173 407 117 422 290 829 

 

 

 Year ended 31 December 2014 

 

Common 

humanitarian funds 

Peacebuilding 

Fund Total 

    
Revenue 390 372  75 345  465 717  

Expenses (343 214) (85 329) (428 543) 

 Net surplus/(deficit) 47 158  (9 984) 37 174  

Net assets as at 1 January 2014 112 888  129 506  242 394  

 Net assets as at 31 December 2014 160 046  119 522  279 568 

 

 

  Multi-partner trust fund accounted for as a jointly controlled operation: 

Ebola Response Multi-Partner Trust Fund  
 

169. The Secretary-General launched the United Nations Mission for Ebola 

Emergency Response to unite the efforts of all the United Nations entities concerned 

and serve as a platform for the global control of the outbreak of Ebola virus disease. 

As a jointly controlled operation, the Mission is considered in note 24.  
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  Note 24  

  Interests in joint ventures  
 

  Interests in joint ventures accounted for using the equity method  
 

Joint ventures accounted for using the equity method, as at 31 December 2015  
(Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

   Statement of changes in net assets  

Statement of 

financial 

performance: 

surplus/(deficit) 

for the year 

 

 

Net assets/ 

(liability) as at 

1 January 

2015 

Actuarial gains/(losses) 

relating to actuarial 

valuation of employee 

benefits liabilities Other changes 

Net assets/ 

(liability) as at 

31 December 2015 

      
Interest in joint ventures: non-current assets      

International Trade Centre (ITC) 8 287  7 519 – (16 013) (207) 

Add: reclassification of the net liability 

balance for ITC as at 31 December 2015 – – – – 207 

United Nations System Staff College 2 518  – (53) (584) 1 881 

Vienna International Centre Major Repair and 

Replacement Fund 1 320 – (131) (1) 1 188 

 Total non-current assets 12 125  7 519 (184) (16 598) 3 069 

Interest in joint ventures: non-current liability      

United Nations Office at Vienna  (33 959) (22 596) –  (847) (57 402) 

Other joint ventures  (26 921) 8 264 – (2 097) (20 754) 

Less: reclassification of the net liability 

balance for ITC as at 31 December 2015 – – – – (207) 

 Total non-current liability (60 880) (14 332) – (2 944) (78 363) 

 Net interest in joint ventures (48 755) (6 813) (184) (19 542) (75 294) 

Net contribution to joint ventures:
a
    (76 355)  

 Statement II: contributions to and share 

of deficit of joint ventures accounted for 

on an equity basis    (95 897)  

 

 
a
 Represents the 2015 regular budget contribution to the funds accounted for under the joint venture equity method, broken 

down into $57.6 million for the joint financing arrangement contribution, $18.6 million for the ITC contribution and 

$0.2 million for the United Nations System Staff College contribution.   
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Joint ventures accounted for using the equity method as at 31 December 2014  

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 

Net assets/(liability) as 

at 1 January 2014 

Statement of changes  

in net assets: actuarial 

losses relating to 

actuarial valuation of 

employee benefits 

liabilities 

Statement of financial 

performance: surplus/ 

(deficit) for the year 

Net assets/(liability) as 

at 31 December 2014 

     
Interest in joint ventures: non-current assets     

ITC 15 363  (10 932) 3 856  8 287  

United Nations System Staff College 2 942  (276) (148) 2 518  

 Total non-current assets 18 305  (11 208) 3 708  10 805  

Interest in joint ventures: non-current liability     

United Nations Office at Vienna (25 449) (6 509)  (2 001)  (33 959) 

Other joint ventures (18 833) (7 508)  (580)  (26 921) 

 Total non-current liability (44 282) (14 017) (2 581) (60 880) 

 Net interest in joint ventures (25 977) (25 225) 1 127  (50 075) 

Net contribution to joint ventures:
a
   (79 912)  

 Statement II: Contributions to and share of 

deficit of joint ventures accounted for on an 

equity basis   (78 785)  

 

 
a
 Represents the 2014 regular budget contribution to the funds accounted for under the joint venture equity method, broken 

down into $59.5 million for the joint financing arrangement contribution, $20.2 million for the ITC contribution and 

$0.2 million for the United Nations System Staff College contribution.  
 

 

  Joint venture entity accounted for using the equity method: non-current liability  
 

170. The Organization has significant influence over the operations of ITC. 

Accordingly, its 50.0 per cent interest, based on its regular budget contribution 

($18.6 million in 2015), is accounted for using the equity method. A summary of the 

financial performance and net liability position of ITC is provided below.   

 

  Joint ventures accounted for using the equity method: International Trade Centre  

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 Year ended 31 December 2015  Year ended 31 December 2014 

 

Based on International Trade 

Centre financial statements 

Organization’s  

share  

Based on International Trade 

Centre financial statements 

Organization’s  

share  

     
Current assets 63 013 31 506  67 915   33 957  

Non-current assets 36 298 18 149  66 677   33 339  

Current liabilities (22 802) (11 401)  (23 900)  (11 950) 

Non-current liabilities (76 923) (38 461)  (94 118)  (47 059) 

 Net (liabilities)/assets  (414) (207)  16 574   8 287  
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 Year ended 31 December 2015  Year ended 31 December 2014 

 

Based on International Trade 

Centre financial statements 

Organization’s  

share  

Based on International Trade 

Centre financial statements 

Organization’s  

share  

     
Total revenues 70 627 35 314  109 574   54 789  

Total expenses (102 654) (51 327)  (101 872)  (50 933) 

 Net (deficit)/surplus (32 027) (16 013)  7 702   3 856 

 

 

  Joint venture operations accounted for using the equity method: non-current assets  
 

171. The United Nations System Staff College was created by the General 

Assembly to improve the effectiveness of the United Nations system. It runs courses 

and delivers learning initiatives to United Nations personnel. The College operates 

on a biennial budget approved by its Board. A core portion of the budget is met by 

the members of the United Nations System Chief Executives Board for 

Coordination (CEB) in accordance with the cost-sharing formula decided upon by 

CEB. According to the cost-sharing formula for the 2015 core contribution, the 

Organization’s share is 29.61 per cent (2014: 30.08 per cent). A summary of the 

financial performance and net assets position of the College is shown below.  

172. The Major Repair and Replacement Fund is a jointly financed activity whose 

contributors are the organizations based at the Vienna International Centre. Its 

objective is to make major capital improvements to the Centre. The Organization 

contributed $0.5 million to the Fund in 2015 (2014: $0.5 million), which represents 

11.38 per cent of the total revenue received by the Fund in 2015 (2014: 11.33 per 

cent). Additional information and a summary of the financial performance and net 

assets position of the Fund are presented below.  

 

  Joint venture operations accounted for using the equity method: non-current liability  
 

173. These jointly financed operations are established under binding agreements. 

The Organization has significant influence over these activities, which is, under 

IPSAS 8, defined as the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 

decisions of the activities but not to control or jointly control these activities. These 

jointly financed operations, all of which have the same reporting period as the 

Organization, are accounted for using the equity method:  

 (a) United Nations Office at Vienna: jointly financed operations of the 

United Nations in Vienna consist of three operations, each of which has a cost -

sharing agreement:  

 (i) Safety and security;  

 (ii) Access control programme of the Vienna International Centre shooting 

range;  

 (iii) Conference and administrative services;  

 (b) Safety and security: the Department of Safety and Security is a single 

security management framework responsible for providing leadership, operational 

support and oversight of the security management system, ensuring the maximum 
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security for staff and eligible dependants and enabling the safest and most efficient 

conduct of the programmes and activities of the United Nations system;  

 (c) ICSC: ICSC is an independent expert body established by the General 

Assembly with a mandate to regulate and coordinate the conditions of service of 

staff in the United Nations common system, while promoting and maintaining high 

standards in the international civil service;  

 (d) Joint Inspection Unit: the Joint Inspection Unit is an independent 

external oversight body of the United Nations system established by the General 

Assembly to conduct evaluations, inspections and investigations system-wide;  

 (e) CEB secretariat: CEB is the longest standing and highest level 

coordination forum of the United Nations system. It was established as a standing 

committee of the Economic and Social Council and is chaired by the Secretary-

General. While not a policymaking body, CEB supports and reinforces the 

coordinating role of intergovernmental bodies of the United Nations system on 

social, economic and related matters.  

174. The Organization’s interest in these activities is its share of their net liabilities, 

which is based on the funding apportionment percentage. These cost -sharing ratios, 

which vary to reflect key factors such as the number of employees and the total 

space occupied, are included in the statement of financial performance and 

statement of financial position tables below.  

 

  Joint venture operations accounted for using the equity method: financial statements   
 

  Joint venture operations accounted for using the equity method: statement of financial position 

as at 31 December 2015  

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 

United Nations 

System Staff 

College 

Vienna 

International 

Centre Major 

Repair and 

Replacement 

Fund 

United Nations 

Office at Vienna Other Total 

      
Current assets 13 394 11 039 3 680 22 029 50 142 

Non-current assets 30 – 36 11 893 11 959 

 Total assets 13 424 11 039 3 716 33 922 62 101 

Current liabilities (1 109) (602) (4 609) (19 158) (25 478) 

Non-current liabilities (5 963) – (91 871) (107 609) (205 443) 

 Total liabilities (7 072) (602) (96 480) (126 767) (230 921) 

 Net of total assets and total 

liabilities 6 352 10 437 (92 764) (92 845) (168 820) 

 Net assets: accumulated 

surplus/(deficit) 6 352 10 437 (92 764) (92 845) (168 820) 
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  Joint venture operations accounted for using the equity method: statement of financial 

performance as at 31 December 2015 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 

United Nations 

System Staff 

College 

Vienna International 

Centre Major Repair 

and Replacement 

Fund 

United Nations 

Office at Vienna Other Total 

      
Revenue 5 302 3 919 42 944 140 424 192 589 

Expenses (7 143) (3 927) (44 064) (149 498) (204 632) 

 Deficit for the year (1 841) (8) (1 120) (9 074) (12 043) 

 Net assets/(liabilities) at 

beginning of year  8 371  11 643  (55 128)  (120 746)  (155 860) 

Deficit for the year (1 841) (8) (1 120) (9 074) (12 043) 

Actuarial gains/(losses) on employee 

benefits liabilities – – (36 516) 36 975 459 

Other changes in net assets (178) (1 198) – – (1 376) 

 Net assets/(liabilities) at year end 6 352 10 437 (92 764) (92 845) (168 820) 

Organization’s interest in the joint 

venture (percentage) 29.61 11.38 61.88 22.35  

Share of deficit for the year (584)
a
 (1) (847)

b
 (2 097)

c
 (3 529) 

Share of actuarial gains/(losses) 

recognized directly in net assets – – (22 596) 8 264 (14 332) 

Share of other changes in net assets (53) (131)
d
 – – (184) 

Share of net assets/(liabilities) at 

year end 1 881 1 188 (57 402) (20 754) (75 087) 

 

 
a
 Adjusted to reflect change in the interest of the Organization from 30.08 per cent in 2014 to 29.61 per cent 

in 2015. 

 
b
 Adjusted to reflect change in the interest of the Organization from 61.60 per cent in 2014 to 61.88 per cent 

in 2015. 

 
c
 Adjusted to reflect change in the interest of the Organization from 22.30 per cent in 2014 t o 22.35 per cent 

in 2015. 

 
d
 Adjusted to reflect change in the interest of the Organization from 11.33 per cent in 2014 to 11.38 per cent 

in 2015. 
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  Joint venture operations accounted for using the equity method: statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2014  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 

United Nations 

System Staff College 

United Nations 

Office at Vienna Other Total 

     
Current assets  9 454   5 483   12 503   27 440  

Non-current assets  4 879   761   6 632   12 272  

 Total assets  14 333   6 244   19 135   39 712  

Current liabilities  (753)  (6 942)  (7 208)  (14 903) 

Non-current liabilities  (5 209)  (54 430)  (132 673)  (192 312) 

 Total liabilities  (5 962)  (61 372)  (139 881)  (207 215) 

 Net assets/(liabilities)  8 371   (55 128)  (120 746)  (167 503) 

 Net assets: accumulated surplus/(deficit)  8 371   (55 128)  (120 746)  (167 503) 

 

 

  Joint venture operations accounted for using the equity method: statement of 

financial performance as at 31 December 2014 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 

United Nations System 

Staff College 

United Nations 

Office at Vienna Other Total 

     
Revenue  8 888   47 183   140 592   196 663  

Expenses  (9 380)   (50 431)   (143 197)   (203 008)  

 Deficit for the year  (492)  (3 248)  (2 605)  (6 345) 

 Net assets/(liabilities) at beginning 

of year  9 777   (41 313)  (84 470)  (116 006) 

Deficit for the year  (492)  (3 248)  (2 605)  (6 345) 

Actuarial losses on employee benefits 

liabilities  (914)  (10 567)  (33 671)  (45 152) 

 Net assets/(liabilities) at year end  8 371   (55 128)  (120 746)  (167 503) 

Organization’s interest in the joint venture 

(percentage) 30.08 61.60 22.30  

Share of deficit for the year  (148)  (2 001)  (580)  (2 729) 

Share of actuarial losses recognized directly in 

net assets  (276)  (6 509)  (7 508)  (14 293) 

Share of net assets/(liabilities) at year end  2 518   (33 959)  (26 921)  (58 362) 

 

 

  Jointly controlled operation: Ebola Response Multi-Partner Trust Fund  
 

175. As a jointly controlled operation since 2014, the Organization’s interest in the 

Ebola Response Multi-Partner Trust Fund was accounted for by recognizing the 
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liabilities and expenses incurred by the Organization and the assets that it 

controlled.  

176. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Fund received voluntary 

contributions from donors amounting to $34.4 million (2014: $125.9 million). A 

total amount of $48.7 million (2014: $100.5 million) was also transferred to 

participating organizations, of which $1.6 million (2014: $6.7 million) was 

transferred to the Organization.  

 

  Jointly controlled asset: Vienna International Centre  
 

177. The Vienna International Centre is a jointly controlled asset of the United 

Nations and other participant organizations. On 1 January 2015 the Organization 

recognized its share of the Vienna International Centre finance lease asset and 

leasehold improvements on the basis of the Building Management Services cost -

sharing ratio.  

178. The most recent external valuation of the Vienna International Centre 

buildings as at 1 January 2015 using depreciated replacement cost amounted to 

€489.2 million ($596.6 million using the United Nations operational rate of 

exchange) and a net book value of €288.0 million ($351.2 million). Based on the 

2015 Building Management Services cost-sharing ratio of 22.76 per cent, the 

Organization’s share is $135.8 million and $79.9 million in terms of cost and net 

book value respectively. The fair rental value of the Centre land was €1.5 million 

($1.7 million using the average United Nations operational rate of exchange for 

2015) per annum and, on the same basis, the Organization’s share was 

$0.391 million.  

 

  Joint venture operations: Vienna International Centre Major Repair and 

Replacement Fund  
 

179. The objective of the Major Repair and Replacement Fund is to make major 

capital improvements to the Vienna International Centre. Therefore, the accounting 

recognition of the capital improvements portion of the Fund was aligned with the 

timing of recognition of the Vienna International Centre as a jointly controlled asset. 

A total amount of $0.9 million of leasehold improvements has been capitalized by 

the Organization.  

180. The Organization’s interest in the activities of the Fund and its share of net 

assets have been accounted for using the equity method.  

181. Annual contributions made by the Organization to the Major Repair and 

Replacement Fund may be used to acquire or upgrade physical assets required for 

major capital improvements to the Vienna International Centre. The Organization 

had not entered into any other capital commitments in relation to its interests in 

joint ventures as at 31 December 2015.  

 



 

 

A
/7

1
/5

 (V
o

l. I) 

O
p

er
a
tio

n
s o

f th
e
 U

n
ite

d
 N

a
tio

n
s a

s r
ep

o
rted

 in
 v

o
lu

m
e
 I 

N
o

tes to
 th

e
 2

0
1
5

 fin
a

n
c
ia

l sta
te

m
e
n

ts (co
n
tin

u
ed

) 

2
5

6
/2

8
8

 
1

6
-1

6
7

9
1

 

  Note 25  

  Net assets  
 

Net assets as at 31 December  

(Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

General Fund and 

related funds 

General trust 

funds 

Long-term 

employee benefits 

funds 

Insurance/workers’ 

compensation funds Other funds Total 

       
Net assets as at 31 December 2014

a
 499 022 1 983 632 (4 619 166) 445 511 3 380 896 1 689 895 

Prior-period adjustments (note 4) (867) – – (5 371) – (6 238) 

 Restated net assets as at 31 December 2014  498 155 1 983 632 (4 619 166) 440 140 3 380 896 1 683 657 

Changes in net assets       

Actuarial gains on employee benefits liabilities (note 19)  – – 810 130 – – 810 130 

Transfer of funds to other Secretariat reporting entities  – – – – (1 713) (1 713) 

Share of changes recognized by joint ventures directly in net 

assets (note 24) (6 867) – – – (130) (6 997) 

Transfers between funds (2 821) 1 – – 2 820 – 

Other adjustments to net assets 1 985 95 (56) (424) 26 1 626 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (126 456) 244 879 (207 217) 37 715 63 180 12 101 

 Total changes in net assets (134 159) 244 975 602 857 37 291 64 183 815 147 

 Net assets as at 31 December 2015 363 996 2 228 607 (4 016 309) 477 431 3 445 079 2 498 804 

 

 
a
 Regrouped to conform with the current presentation.  

 

 

 Net assets as at 31 December 2015 

 (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  

General Fund and 

related funds 

General trust 

funds 

Long-term 

employee benefits 

funds 

Insurance/workers’ 

compensation funds Other funds Total 

       
Accumulated surplus/deficit 363 996 2 228 607 (4 016 309) 418 660 3 445 079 2 440 033 

Reserves – – – 58 771 – 58 771 

 Total net assets  363 996 2 228 607 (4 016 309) 477 431 3 445 079 2 498 804 
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 Net assets as at 31 December 2014
a
 

 (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  

General Fund and related 

funds General trust funds 

Long-term employee 

benefit funds 

Insurance/workers’ 

compensation funds Other funds Total 

       
Accumulated surplus/deficit (restated) 498 155 1 983 632 (4 619 166) 381 024 3 380 896 1 624 541 

Reserves – – – 59 116 – 59 116 

 Total net assets (restated) 498 155 1 983 632 (4 619 166) 440 140 3 380 896 1 683 657 

 

 
a
 Regrouped to conform with the current presentation. 
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  Accumulated surplus  
 

182. The accumulated surplus includes the accumulated surplus of the General 

Fund and related funds, general trust funds, after-service employee benefits funds, 

self-insurance plan funds and other funds. Self-insurance plans are recorded fully in 

the financial statements since the Organization acts as the principal.   

 

  Reserves  
 

183. Reserves comprise a premium stabilization reserve amounting to $1.4 million 

(2014: $1.4 million) with regard to the United Nations Group Staff Life Insurance 

Reserve Fund, and $57.3 million (2014: $57.7 million) held for the United Nati ons 

Staff Mutual Insurance Society against Sickness and Accident, which is required 

under its statute to maintain a reserve balance.  

 

  United Nations Special Account  
 

184. Under the provisions of General Assembly resolutions 2053 A (XX) and 3049 A 

(XXVII), the Special Account has received voluntary contributions from Member 

States and private donors in order to overcome the financial difficulties of the 

United Nations and to resolve the Organization’s short-term deficit. The year-end 

balance was $199.7 million (2014: $237.2 million), of which $48.7 million (2014: 

$48.7 million) relates to the Fund principal from contributions and $151.0 million 

(2014: $188.5 million) to accumulated surplus. The Special Account is reported 

under the General Fund and related funds.  

 

  Note 26  

  Revenue from non-exchange transactions  
 

  Assessed contributions  
 

185. Assessed contributions of $2,811.3 million (2014: $2,861.1 million) have been 

recorded in accordance with the Financial Regulations and Rules of the United 

Nations, the relevant resolutions of the General Assembly and the policies of the 

United Nations, on the basis of the regular budget scale of assessment. A 

reconciliation of assessed contributions to gross amounts assessed to Member States 

is presented below.  
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  Assessed contributions 
 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 2015 2014 

   
Gross amounts assessed to Member States

a
  2 976 268 2 823 653 

Additional assessment
b
 (82 074) (44 734) 

Additional appropriation approved for the year
c
 (7 967) 82 074 

Appropriation for the shortfall of the capital master plan 

(see resolution 69/274 A) 45 000 – 

Unencumbered balance for the biennium 2014-2015
d
 (120 030) – 

Non-member States assessments 81 76 

 Amount reported in statement II: assessed contributions 2 811 278 2 861 069 

 

 
a
 Gross amounts assessed based on resolution 69/263 C and ST/ADM/SER.B/910 for 2015 and 

resolution 68/248 C and ST/ADM/SER.B/889 for 2014. Final appropriation for the biennium 

2014-2015 was $5,808.6 million in accordance with General Assembly resolutions 70/240 A 

and B.  

 
b
 2015 adjustment pertains to the 2014 year and 2014 adjustment pertains to the 2012 -2013 

biennium.  

 
c
 Adjustments in connection with resolutions 67/269, 68/245 A and B, 68/247 A and B, 

69/274 A and B and 70/240 A and B.  

 
d
 Unencumbered balance of $120.0 million reflects the differences between the final budget 

and actual expenditure (budget basis) for the biennium 2014-2015.  
 

 

  Voluntary contributions  
 

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 2015 

2014 

(restateda) 

   
Voluntary monetary contributions 2 057 810  2 300 069  

Voluntary in-kind contributions 63 137 62 680 

 Total voluntary contributions received 2 120 947  2 362 749  

Refunds (27 069) (17 170) 

 Net voluntary contributions received  2 093 878 2 345 579  

 

 
a
 Restated to include donated right-to-use lands in the amount of $11.0 million in accordance 

with the policy change (note 3) and the donated right-to-use Vienna International Centre 

buildings in the amount of $4.0 million, which was recognized as of 1 January 2015 (note 4).   
 

 

186. During financial year 2015, the total amount of voluntary contributions in kind 

recognized for right-to-use arrangements was $61.3 million and voluntary 

contributions in kind recognized for donated assets was $1.8 million.  

187. Total amount of donor pledges or agreements which have not been formalized 

or which are subject to fundraising activities as at 31 December 2015 is 

$14.6 million.  

http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/274
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/263
http://undocs.org/ST/ADM/SER.B/910
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/248
http://undocs.org/ST/ADM/SER.B/889
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/240
http://undocs.org/A/RES/67/269
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/245
http://undocs.org/A/RES/68/247
http://undocs.org/A/RES/69/274
http://undocs.org/A/RES/70/240
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188. Voluntary monetary contributions include $3.4 million (2014: $4.4 million) 

relating to assessments for conferences of States parties to treaties and conventions, 

which are levied on the basis of agreements among the States parties to the 

respective treaty or convention.  

 

  Other transfers and allocations  
 

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 2015 2014 

   
Inter-organizational arrangements 43 687 29 774  

Other transfers and allocations 131 028 76 683  

Allocation in kind of vehicle  80  –  

 Total other transfers and allocations 174 795 106 457  

 

 

  Services in kind  
 

189. In-kind contributions of technical assistance, experts, security and other 

services received during the year are not recognized as revenue and therefore not 

included in the above in-kind contributions revenue. In-kind technical assistance/ 

expert services and other in-kind services received by the Organization during the 

year amounted to $5.3 million.  

 

  Note 27  

  Other revenue  
 

(Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 2015 2014 

   
Revenue from services rendered 105 664 85 119  

Insurance claim settlement 31 753 22 404  

Rental revenue 19 358 16 311  

Revenue-producing activities and other miscellaneous revenue 15 947 10 964  

 Total other exchange revenue 172 722 134 798 

 

 

  Note 28  

  Health and dental self-insurance plans  
 

190. Health and dental insurance plans were established as part of the social 

security scheme for United Nations staff and retirees. Most of the plans are self -

insured and most are managed in two locations:  

 (a) Headquarters in New York manages the United States-based health and 

dental plans, the worldwide plan for internationally recruited field staff and retirees 

and the medical insurance plan for locally recruited field staff and retirees at 

designated duty stations;  
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 (b) The United Nations Office at Geneva manages the United Nations Staff 

Mutual Insurance Society against Sickness and Accident for United Nations staff 

and retirees in Geneva, as well as staff and retirees of other Geneva -based 

organizations.  

191. There are also fully insured health insurance plans. At Headquarters, there is 

the health insurance plan of New York, which has been closed to new subscribers. In 

Vienna, staff and retirees are eligible to enrol in the Austrian national health 

insurance programme and the plans administered by the United Nations Industrial 

Development Organization (full medical insurance plan and supplementary medical 

insurance plan). In those instances, premiums collected from staff, retirees and the 

Organization are recorded as liabilities and paid to the respective insurance 

providers.  

192. In the case of self-insurance plans, the Organization and the participating 

subscribers assume the risk of providing health insurance to members. These health 

insurance plans include:  

 (a) United States-based medical and dental plans, comprising Empire Blue 

Cross, Aetna and Cigna (dental only);  

 (b) Worldwide plan for internationally recruited field staff and retirees 

(administered by Cigna International);  

 (c) Medical insurance plan for locally recruited staff and retirees at 

designated duty stations;  

 (d) United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society against Sickness and 

Accident for United Nations staff and retirees in Geneva, as well as staff and 

retirees of other Geneva-based organizations.  

193. The plans are administered by third-party administrators on behalf of the 

United Nations or, as in the case of the United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance 

Society against Sickness and Accident, are self-administered.  

194. The United Nations is responsible for administering or appointing the 

administrators of all the schemes and, as such, acts as the principal for the self -

insurance arrangements as the one being exposed to the risks and rewards associated 

with the plans. The assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses relating to those plans 

are therefore reported in the Organization’s financial statements. Note 5, Segment 

reporting, includes self-insurance funds as a separate segment. The statement of 

financial performance and statement of financial position for the funds is as shown 

below.  
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  Self-insurance funds: statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015  

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 

Blue Cross, 

Aetna and Cigna 

health plans 

Medical insurance 

plan for field  

local staff 

United Nations Staff 

Mutual Insurance 

Society against 

Sickness and 

Accident Total 

     
Assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 37 579 10 643 21 744 69 966 

Investments 193 640 54 840 116 204 364 684 

Other receivables 10 881 – 3 991 14 872 

Other assets 19 355 1 200 92 20 647 

 Total assets 261 455  66 683 142 031 470 169 

Liabilities     

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5 491 392 905  6 788 

Employee benefits liabilities 21 874 1 146 7 038 30 058 

Advance receipts 3  – – 3 

Provisions  51 140  1 575 23 713 76 428 

 Total liabilities 78 508 3 113 31 656 113 277 

 Net of total assets and total liabilities 182 947 63 570 110 375 356 892 

Net assets     

Accumulated surplus 182 947 63 570 53 004 299 521 

Reserves –   –  57 371 57 371 

 Total net assets
a
 182 947 63 570 110 375 356 892 

 

 
a
 Net assets of health insurance funds of $356.9 million are included in the net assets of the insurance/workers’ 

compensation funds of $477.4 million (note 25), with the difference of $120.5 million corresponding to net 

assets of the workers’ compensation fund, life insurance fund and repatriation grant fund relating to 

extrabudgetary funds which are not included in this note.   
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  Self-insurance funds: statement of financial performance for the year ended 

31 December 2015  

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 

Blue Cross, 

Aetna and Cigna 

health plans 

Medical insurance 

plan for field 

local staff 

United Nations Staff 

Mutual Insurance 

Society against 

Sickness and 

Accident Total 

     
Revenue     

Investment revenue 1 012 294 786 2 092 

Contributions for self-insurance funds
a
 380 206 27 941 107 380 515 527 

Other revenue 2 946 27  –  2 973 

 Total revenue 384 164 28 262 108 166 520 592 

Expenses      

Self-insurance claims and expenses
b
 342 751 21 042 96 490 460 283 

Employee salaries, allowances and benefits 4 954  – 3 588 8 542 

Non-employee compensation and allowances 1 030 – – 1 030 

Grants and other transfers – – 2 2 

Supplies and consumables – – 3 3 

Depreciation and amortization – – 6 6 

Travel – – 14 14 

Other operating expenses 16 371  3 352 1 197 20 920 

 Total expenses 365 106 24 394 101 300 490 800 

 Surplus for the year 19 058 3 868 6 866 29 792 

 

 
a
 The above figure for contributions to self-insurance funds of $515.5 million has been adjusted to eliminate the 

Organization’s contributions of $166.5 million. In addition, an amount of $7.9 million relating to 

compensation awards has been included to arrive at $356.9 million, as shown in stat ement II.  

 
b
 The above figure for self-insurance claims and expenses of $460.3 million has been adjusted for an amount of 

$2.6 million of expenses relating to repatriation grants, compensation awards and other insurance 

programmes. In addition, $1.2 million relating to compensation awards has been eliminated to arrive at 

$461.7 million, as shown in statement II.  
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  Self-insurance funds: statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014  

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 

Blue Cross, 

Aetna and Cigna 

health plans 

Medical insurance 

plan for field 

local staff 

United Nations Staff 

Mutual Insurance 

Society against 

Sickness and 

Accident 

Total 

(restateda) 

     
Assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 43 530  12 847  18 205  74 582  

Investments  158 261  46 720  112 469  317 450  

Other receivables  164   –  2 218  2 382  

Other assets 31 153   9 233  2 123  42 509  

 Total assets 233 108  68 800  135 015  436 923  

Liabilities     

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3 708   1 916   –  5 624  

Employee benefits liabilities 15 114   –  7 544  22 658  

Advance receipts –  7   134   141  

Provisions  49 462 7 175 23 404 80 041 

Other liabilities  934   –  1   935  

 Total liabilities 69 218   9 098  31 083  109 399  

 Net of total assets and liabilities 163 890  59 702  103 932  327 524  

     
Net assets     

Accumulated surplus  163 890  59 702  46 216  269 808  

Reserves –   –  57 716  57 716  

 Total net assets
b
  163 890  59 702  103 932  327 524 

 

 
a
 Restated to conform with the current presentation (notes 4 and 20).  

 
b
 Net assets of health insurance funds of $327.5 million are included in the net assets of the insurance/workers’ 

compensation fund group of $440.1 million (note 25), with the difference of $112.6 million correspond ing to 

net assets of the workers’ compensation fund, life insurance fund and repatriation grant fund relating to 

extrabudgetary funds which are not included in this note.   
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  Self-insurance funds: statement of financial performance for the year ended 

31 December 2014  

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 

Blue Cross, Aetna 

and Cigna health 

plans 

Medical insurance 

plan for field 

local staff 

United Nations Staff 

Mutual Insurance 

Society against 

Sickness and Accident Total 

     
Revenue     

Investment revenue 1 046  307  4 184  5 537  

Contributions for self-insurance funds
a
 367 483   28 971   105 164  501 618  

Other revenue 5 041   –  –  5 041  

 Total revenue 373 570   29 278   109 348  512 196  

Expenses       

Self-insurance claims and expenses
b
 312 645   24 871  98 707  436 223  

Employee salaries, allowances and benefits –   –  3 491  3 491  

Supplies and consumables –   –  6  6  

Travel –   –  8  8  

Other operating expenses 21 875   4 124  13 523  39 522  

 Total expenses 334 520   28 995   115 735  479 250  

 Surplus/(deficit) for the year 39 050  283  (6 387) 32 946 

 

 
a
 The above figure for contributions to self-insurance funds of $501.6 million has been adjusted to eliminate the 

Organization’s contributions of $144.4 million. In addition, an amount of $12.4 million relating to life 

insurance and compensation awards has been included to arrive at $369.6 million, as shown in statement II.   

 
b
 The above figure for self-insurance claims and expenses of $436.2 million has been adjusted for an amount of 

$2.7 million of expenses relating to compensation awards and other insurance programmes. In addition, 

$1.6 million relating to compensation awards has been eliminated to arrive at $437.3 million, as shown in 

statement II.  
 

 

  Note 29  

  Expenses  
 

  Employee salaries, allowances and benefits  
 

195. Employee salaries include international, national and general temporary staff 

salaries, post adjustment and staff assessment. The allowances and benefits include 

other staff entitlements, including pension and insurance subsidies, staff assignment, 

repatriation, hardship and other allowances.  
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  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 2015 

2014 

(restateda) 

   
Salary, wages and other entitlements 2 133 904  2 181 271  

Pension and insurance benefits 375 538 377 912  

Repatriation and annual leave 55 506 52 238  

 Total employee salaries, allowances and benefits 2 564 948  2 611 421 

 

 
a
 Restated to conform with the current presentation.  

 

 

  Grants and other transfers 
 

196. Grants and other transfers include outright grants and transfers to 

implementing agencies, partners and other entities, as well as quick-impact projects. 

The grant and other transfers expenses incurred by the major funds utilizing the 

various grant-out mechanisms are listed below. 

 

(Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 2015 2014a 

   
Trust Fund for Strengthening the Office of the Emergency Relief 

Coordinator
b
 455 017 926 625 

Central Emergency Response Fund 453 906 450 099 

United Nations General Fund
c
 175 953 185 516 

Trust Fund for the Peacebuilding Support Office
b
 56 074 75 966 

Voluntary Trust Fund for Assistance in Mine Action 41 851 42 709 

United Nations Fund for International Partnerships 40 003 48 618 

United Nations Democracy Fund 9 745 5 374 

United Nations Voluntary Fund for Victims of Torture 6 707 7 142 

 Total major funds that incurred expenses of grants and 

other transfers 1 239 256 1 742 049 

Other funds 74 101 80 619 

 Total grants and other transfers 1 313 357 1 822 668 

 

 
a
 Regrouped to conform with the current presentation.  

 
b
 Includes grants and transfers through the Multi-Partner Trust Fund.  

 
c
 Includes grants provided to related party entities (note 32).   

 

 

197. Expenses of outright grants are recognized when the Organization has a 

binding obligation to pay, primarily upon signing of the agreement by both parties. 

Transfers to executing agencies or implementing partners are recognized as an 

expense when funds are disbursed by the Organization.   
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  Other operating expenses  
 

198. Other operating expenses include maintenance, utilities, contracted services, 

training, security services, shared services, rent, insurance and allowances for 

doubtful receivables.  

 

(Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 2015 2014 (restateda) 

   Contracted services 171 015 147 109 

Acquisitions of goods
b
 121 440 143 368 

Rent — offices and premises 86 337 104 037 

Rental — other 61 548 54 440 

Maintenance expense 79 288 71 896 

Contributions in kind
c
 57 263 48 643 

Bad debt/doubtful debt expenses 7 342 22 896 

Net foreign exchange losses 35 812 32 229 

Other 126 647 114 595 

 Total other operating expenses 746 692 739 213 

 

 
a
 Restated to include donated right-to-use lands in the amount of $11.0 million in accordance 

with the policy change (notes 3 and 4).  

 
b
 Acquisitions of goods includes expenses relating to items not meeting the capitalization 

thresholds.  

 
c
 Represents contributions in kind for donated right -to-use arrangements.  
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  Note 30  

  Financial instruments and financial risk management  
 

  Summary of financial instruments  

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 Reference 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 

    Financial assets    

Fair value through the surplus or deficit    

Short-term investments: main pool
a
 Notes 8 and 31 1 422 837 1 034 612 

Short-term investments: euro pool
a
 Notes 8 and 31 2 440 7 703 

Short-term investments: United Nations Staff Mutual 

Insurance Society against Sickness and Accident Note 8 12 277 13 071 

Derivative instruments: currency forward contracts Note 8 8 186 – 

 Total short-term investments  1 445 740 1 055 386 

    Long-term investments: main pool Notes 8 and 31 954 701 913 228 

Long-term investments: United Nations Staff Mutual 

Insurance Society against Sickness and Accident Note 8 82 291 89 399 

 Total long-term investments  1 036 992 1 002 627 

 Total fair value through the surplus or deficit 

investments  2 482 732 2 058 013 

Cash and cash equivalents    

Cash and cash equivalents: main pool Notes 7 and 31 461 396 533 605 

Cash and cash equivalents: euro pool Notes 7 and 31 7 276 3 872 

Cash and cash equivalents: United Nations Staff Mutual 

Insurance Society against Sickness and Accident Note 7 10 876 14 059 

Cash and cash equivalents — other Note 7 5 804 46 259 

 Total cash and cash equivalents  485 352 597 795 

Receivables from exchange and non-exchange 

transactions and loans    

Assessed contributions Note 9 389 306 438 195 

Voluntary contributions Note 10 583 701 456 804 

Other receivables Note 11 97 256 138 584 

Other assets (excluding advances and deferred charges)  Note 13 37 578 79 328 

 Total of cash and cash equivalents, receivables from 

exchange and non-exchange transactions and loans  1 593 193 1 710 706 

 Total carrying amount of financial assets  4 075 925 3 768 719 

Of which relates to financial assets held in main pool  Note 31 2 838 934 2 481 445 

Of which relates to financial assets held in euro pool  Note 31 9 715 11 575 

Of which relates to financial assets held in the United Nations 

Staff Mutual Insurance Society against Sickness and Accident  105 444 116 529 
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 Reference 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 

    
Financial liabilities at amortized cost    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Note 17 485 712 528 334 

Tax Equalization Fund liability Note 21 96 011 96 252 

Other liabilities Note 22 9 126 67 545 

 Total carrying amount of financial liabilities   590 849 692 131 

Summary of net revenue from financial assets    

Net cash pool revenue  11 806 14 779 

Net United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society against 

Sickness and Accident gain/(loss)  244 (4 673) 

Other investment revenue  3 612 9 484 

 Total net revenue from financial assets  15 662 19 590 

 

 
a
 Short-term investments include accrued investment revenue of $4.5 million (2014: $3.9 million), $0.0 million 

(2014: $0.009 million) and $0.553 million (2014: $0.725 million) for the main pool, the euro pool and the 

United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society against Sickness and Accident respectively.   
 

 

  Financial risk management  
 

  Overview  
 

199. The Organization has exposure to the following financial risks:  

 (a) Credit risk;  

 (b) Liquidity risk;  

 (c) Market risk.  

200. The present note and note 31, Financial instruments: cash pools, present 

information on the Organization’s exposure to those risks, the objectives, policies 

and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.   

 

  Risk management framework  
 

201. The Organization’s risk management practices are in accordance with its 

Financial Regulations and Rules and Investment Management Guidelines. The 

Organization defines the capital that it manages as the aggregate of its net assets, 

which comprises accumulated fund balances and reserves. Its objectives are to 

safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, to fund its asset base and to 

accomplish its objectives. The Organization manages its capital in the light of 

global economic conditions, the risk characteristics of the underlying assets and its 

current and future working capital requirements.   

 

  Financial risk management: credit risk  
 

202. Credit risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from a counterparty to a 

financial instrument failing to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk arises from 

cash and cash equivalents, investments, deposits and forward currency contracts with 

financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to outstanding receivables. The 

carrying value of financial assets is the maximum exposure to credit risk.   
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203. The investment management function is centralized at the United Nations 

Treasury. Other areas are not permitted, in normal circumstances, to engage in 

investing. An area may receive exceptional approval when conditions warrant 

investing locally under specified parameters that comply with the Investment 

Management Guidelines.  

 

  Credit risk: contributions receivable and other receivables  
 

204. A large portion of the contributions receivable is due from sovereign 

Governments and supranational agencies, including other United Nations entities 

that do not have significant credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk of 

financial assets equals their carrying amount. As at the reporting date, the 

Organization held no collateral as security for receivables.   

 

  Credit risk: allowance for doubtful receivables  
 

205. The Organization evaluates the allowance for doubtful receivables at each 

reporting date. An allowance is established when there is objective evidence that the 

Organization will not collect the full amount due. Management -approved write-offs 

under the Financial Regulations and Rules or reversals of previously impaired 

receivables are recognized directly in the statement of financial performance. The 

movement in the allowances account during the year is shown below.   

 

  Movement in the allowance for doubtful receivables  

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 Total allowance for doubtful receivables 

  
As at 1 January 2014  256 562 

Net movement  1 579 

 As at 31 December 2014  258 141 

Net movement 4 018 

 As at 31 December 2015 262 159 

 

 

206. The ageing and associated allowance of assessed contributions receivable is as 

shown below. 

 

  Ageing of assessed contributions receivable 

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014 

 Gross receivable Allowance Gross receivable Allowance 

     
Less than one year 314 659  – 423 922   –  

One to two years 73 375  – 14 407   740  

More than two years 205 430 204 158 203 059  202 453  

 Total  593 464 204 158 641 388  203 193 
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207. The ageing and associated allowance of receivables other than assessed 

contributions is as shown below.  

 

  Ageing of voluntary contribution and other receivables  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014 

 Gross receivable Allowance Gross receivable Allowance 

     
Neither past due nor impaired 466 460 – 333 265   –  

Less than one year 203 288 849 237 970  635  

One to two years 11 585 3 297  21 682   1 217  

Two to three years 2 696 350  6 420   2 729  

More than three years 54 929 53 505  50 999  50 367  

 Total  738 958 58 001 650 336  54 948 

 

 

  Credit risk: cash and cash equivalents  
 

208. At the year end, the Organization had cash and cash equivalents of 

$485.4 million (2014: $597.8 million), which is the maximum credit exposure on 

those assets.  

 

  Credit risk: currency forward contracts  
 

209. The counterparty risk of forward contracts is limited to the profit or loss on the 

contract, not the notional amount. The outstanding forward contracts were 

performed with three banks. As at year end, the counterparties had a Fitch viability 

rating of “a” and “a+”.  

 

  Credit risk: investments of the United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society against 

Sickness and Accident  
 

210. The United Nations Treasury makes investments on behalf of the United 

Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society against Sickness and Accident. A significant 

proportion of those investments are in fixed-income securities comprising 

supranational securities, government agency securities, government securities and 

corporates. A portion of the Society investment portfolio is also invested in iShares 

SMI (Switzerland), an exchange-traded fund, with the aim of achieving a return on 

investment that reflects the return of its benchmark index, the Swiss Market Index. 

At year-end, the Organization owned 357,430 shares (2014: 312,830 shares) of 

iShares SMI (Switzerland).  

211. The credit ratings used are those determined by major credit -rating agencies; 

Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch are used to rate bonds and discounted 

instruments, and the Fitch viability rating is used to rate bank term deposits. At year 

end, the United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society against Sickness and 

Accident credit ratings, determined by major credit-rating agencies, were as shown 

below.  
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United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society against Sickness and Accident credit ratings  
(Percentage)  

 

 Ratings as at 31 December 2015 Ratings as at 31 December 2014 

         
Bonds (long-term ratings)         

 AAA AA+/AA/AA- A+/A Not rated AAA AA+/AA/AA- A+/A/A- Not rated 

Standard and Poor’s 18.5 73.2 6.6 1.7 2.5 85.2 10.8 1.5 

Fitch 11.0 49.6 10.0 29.4 16.9 42.1 6.0 35.0 

 Aaa Aa1/Aa2/Aa3 A1 Not rated Aaa Aa1/Aa2/Aa3  Not rated 

Moody’s 31.6 59.5 5.9 3.0 26.9 67.6  5.5 

 

 

  Financial risk management: liquidity risk  
 

212. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Organization might not have adequate funds 

to meet its obligations as they fall due. The Organization’s approach to managing 

liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 

liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 

unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Organization’s reputation.   

213. The Financial Regulations and Rules of the United Nations require that 

expenses be incurred after the receipt of funds from donors, thereby considerably 

reducing the liquidity risk with regard to contributions, which are a largely stable 

annual cash flow. Exceptions to incurring expenses before the receipt of funds are 

permitted only if specified risk management criteria are adhered to with regard to 

amounts receivable.  

214. The Organization performs cash flow forecasting and monitors rolling forecasts 

of liquidity requirements to ensure that there is sufficient cash to meet operational 

needs. Investments are made with due consideration to the cash requirements for 

operating purposes based on cash flow forecasting. The Organization maintains a 

large portion of its investments in cash equivalents and short -term investments 

sufficient to cover its commitments as and when they fall due.   

 

  Liquidity risk: investments of the United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society 

against Sickness and Accident  
 

215. The United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society against Sickness and 

Accident is exposed to low liquidity risk because there are only limited 

requirements to withdraw funds at short notice and it maintains sufficient cash and 

marketable securities, such as the exchange-traded fund, to meet commitments as 

and when they fall due. As at the reporting date, the Society had invested primarily 

in securities with short to medium-term maturity, with the maximum being less than 

eight years (2014: seven years). The Society’s liquidity risk is therefore considered 

to be low.  

 

  Liquidity risk: financial liabilities  
 

216. The exposure to liquidity risk is based on the notion that the entity may 

encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with financial liabilities. 

This is highly unlikely owing to the cash and cash equivalents, receivables and 

http://undocs.org/A/A-


Operations of the United Nations as reported in volume I 

Notes to the 2015 financial statements (continued) A/71/5 (Vol. I) 

 

16-16791 273/288 

 

investments available to the entity and internal policies and procedures put in place 

to ensure that there are appropriate resources to meet its financial obligations. As at 

the reporting date, the Organization had pledged no (2014: none) collateral for any 

liabilities or contingent liabilities, and during the year no accounts payable or other 

liabilities were forgiven by third parties. Maturities for financial liabilities based on 

the earliest date at which the Organization can be required to settle each financial 

liability are as shown below.  

 

  Maturities for financial liabilities as at 31 December 2015  

  (Undiscounted thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 < 3 months 3 to 12 months > 1 year Total 

     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  485 712  –   –  485 712 

Tax Equalization Fund liability 96 011  –   –  96 011 

Other liabilities  11 504  –  74 699 86 203 

 Total 593 227  –  74 699 667 926 

 

 

  Maturities for financial liabilities as at 31 December 2014  

  (Undiscounted thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 < 3 months 3 to 12 months > 1 year 

Total  

(restated)a 

     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  528 334   –   –  528 334  

Tax Equalization Fund liability 96 252   –   –  96 252  

Other liabilities  59 468   –  88 754  148 222  

 Total 684 054   –  88 754  772 808 

 

 
a
 Restated to conform with the current presentation (notes 4 and 22).   

 

 

  Financial risk management: market risk  
 

217. Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange 

rates, interest rates and prices of investment securities, will affect the Organization’s 

revenue or the value of its financial assets and liabilities. The objective of market 

risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 

parameters while optimizing the Organization’s fiscal position.   

 

  Market risk: interest rate risk  
 

218. Interest rate risk is the risk of variability in financial instruments’ fair values or 

future cash flows due to a change in interest rates. In general, as an interest rate rises, 

the price of a fixed-rate security falls, and vice versa. Interest rate risk is commonly 

measured by the fixed-rate security’s duration, with duration being a number 

expressed in years. The longer the duration, the greater the interest rate risk. The 

main exposure to interest rate risks relates to the cash pools and is considered in 

note 31, Financial instruments: cash pools. The average duration of the  investments 

of the United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society against Sickness and Accident 
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was 1.8 years (2014: 2.5 years), which, within the investment objectives of the 

Society, is considered to be an indicator of low interest rate risk.   

 

  Market risk: currency risk  
 

219. Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate owing to changes in foreign exchange rates. The 

Organization has transactions, assets and liabilities in currencies other than in its 

functional currency and is exposed to currency risk arising from fluctuations in 

exchange rates. Management policies and the Investment Management Guidelines 

require the Organization to manage its currency risk exposure.   

220. The Organization’s financial assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in 

United States dollars. Non-United States dollar financial assets primarily relate to 

investments in addition to cash and cash equivalents and receivables held to support 

local operating activities where transactions are made in local currencies. The 

Organization maintains a minimum level of assets in local currencies and, whenever 

possible, maintains bank accounts in United States dollars. The Organization 

mitigates currency risk exposure by structuring contributions from donors in foreign 

currency to correspond to the foreign currency needs for operational purposes.   

221. The most significant exposure to currency risk relates to cash pool, cash and 

cash equivalents and investment balances, in addition to the investments of the  

United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society against Sickness and Accident. As at 

the reporting date, the non-United States dollar denominated balances in those 

financial assets were primarily euros and Swiss francs, along with 58 other 

currencies, as shown below.  

 

  Currency exposure as at 31 December 2015  

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 

United States 

dollar Euro Swiss franc Other Total 

      
Main cash pool 2 810 498 5 603 1 325 21 508 2 838 934 

Euro cash pool – 9 715 – – 9 715 

 Subtotal 2 810 498 15 318 1 325 21 508 2 848 649 

United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society 

against Sickness and Accident investments – – 105 444 – 105 444 

 Total 2 810 498 15 318 106 769 21 508 2 954 093 
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  Currency exposure as at 31 December 2014  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

 

United States 

dollar Euro Swiss franc Other Total 

      
Main cash pool  2 469 985  819   36   10 605  2 481 445  

Euro cash pool –   11 575  –  –  11 575  

 Subtotal  2 469 985   12 394   36   10 605  2 493 020  

United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society 

against Sickness and Accident investments –  –   116 529  –  116 529  

 Total  2 469 985   12 394   116 565   10 605  2 609 549 

 

 

  Currency risk: sensitivity analysis  
 

222. A strengthening or weakening of the euro and Swiss franc United Nations 

operational rates of exchange as at the reporting date would have affected the 

measurement of investments denominated in a foreign currency and increased or 

decreased the net assets and surplus or deficit by the amounts shown below. This 

analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate variances considered to be 

reasonably possible at the reporting date. The analysis assumes that all other 

variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.   

 

  Currency exposure sensitivity analysis  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

 As at 31 December 2015  As at 31 December 2014 

 

Effect on net assets/ 

surplus or deficit  

Effect on net assets/ 

surplus or deficit 

 Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening 

     
Euro (10 per cent movement) 1 532 (1 532) 1 239  (1 239) 

Swiss franc (10 per cent movement) 10 677 (10 677) 11 656  (11 656)  

 

 

  Currency risk: forward contracts  
 

223. In 2015, the Organization entered into United States dollar to Swiss franc and 

euro forward contracts to hedge against currency risk in relation to the operations of 

the United Nations Office at Geneva being exposed to risks arising from 

fluctuations in payments for staff costs in Swiss francs and euros. Net realized 

foreign exchange gains from those contracts amounted to $8.8 million (loss in 2014: 

$1.7 million) for the year. The gains were recorded against employee benefits, the 

result of the gain being a decrease in employee benefits expenses. There were 24 

(2014: none) forward contracts outstanding as at 31 December 2015 with a notional 

amount of SwF 300 million and €48 million with an unrealized gain of $8.2 million, 

maturing in 2016.  
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  Other market price risk  
 

224. The Organization is not exposed to other significant market price risk as it has 

limited exposure to price-related risk with respect to expected purchases of certain 

commodities used in normal operations. Therefore, change in those prices can only 

alter cash flows by an immaterial amount.  

 

  Accounting classifications and fair value  
 

225. The carrying value of fair value through surplus or deficit investments is fair 

value. For cash and cash equivalents, receivables and accounts payable, carrying 

value is a fair approximation of fair value.  

 

  Fair value hierarchy  
 

226. The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by the fair 

value hierarchy levels. The levels are defined as:  

 (a) Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 

or liabilities;  

 (b) Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly 

(that is, derived from prices);  

 (c) Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on obser vable 

market data (that is, unobservable inputs).  

227. The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on 

quoted market prices at the reporting date and is determined by the independent 

custodian based on valuation of securities sourced from third parties. A market is 

regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an 

exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and 

those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an 

arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the 

cash pools is the current bid price.  

228. The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market 

is determined by using valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable 

market data. If all significant inputs required to determine the fair value of an 

instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.   

229. There were no level 3 financial assets or any liabilities carried at fair value or 

any transfers of financial assets between fair value hierarchy classifications. The 

fair value hierarchy for the cash pools is disclosed in note 31, Financial instruments: 

cash pools.  
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  Fair value hierarchy: United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society against 

Sickness and Accident  

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014 

 Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1 Level 2 Total 

       
Financial assets at fair value through 

surplus or deficit       

Exchange — traded fund 32 998  – 32 998  29 527   –   29 527  

Bonds — corporate 46 370  – 46 370 –  38 528   38 528  

Bonds — non-United States agencies 8 955  – 8 955  22 770   –   22 770  

Bonds — non-United States sovereigns 2 756  – 2 756 9 137   –  9 137  

Bonds — supranationals 2 936  – 2 936 1 783   –  1 783  

 Total
a
 94 015  – 94 015  63 217  38 528   101 745 

 

 
a
 The total amount does not include accrued investment revenue of $0.553 million (2014: $0.725 million).   

 

 

  Note 31  

  Financial instruments: cash pools  
 

230. In addition to directly held cash and cash equivalents and investments, the 

Organization participates in the United Nations Treasury cash pools. Pooling the 

funds has a positive effect on overall investment performance and risk because of 

economies of scale and the ability to spread yield curve exposures across a range of 

maturities. The allocation of cash pool assets (cash and cash equivalents, short -term 

investments and long-term investments) and revenue is based on each participating 

entity’s principal balance.  

231. The Organization participates in two United Nations Treasury managed cash 

pools:  

 (a) The main pool, which comprises operational bank account balances in a 

number of currencies and investments in United States dollars;  

 (b) The euro pool, which comprises investments in euros. The pool 

participants are mostly offices of the Secretariat away from Headquarters that may 

have a surplus of euros from their operations.  

232. As at 31 December 2015, the cash pools held total assets of $7,827.4 million 

(2014: $9,608.8 million), of which $2,848.6 million (2014: $2,493.0 million) was 

due to the Organization, and its share of revenue from cash pools was $11.8 million 

(2014: $14.8 million).  
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  Summary of assets and liabilities of the cash pools as at 31 December 2015  

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 Main pool Euro pool Total 

    
Fair value through surplus or deficit    

Short-term investments 3 888 712 10 941 3 899 653 

Long-term investments 2 617 626 – 2 617 626 

 Total fair value through surplus or deficit investments  6 506 338 10 941 6 517 279 

Loans and receivables    

Cash and cash equivalents 1 265 068 32 637 1 297 705 

Accrued investment revenue 12 462 3 12 465 

 Total loans and receivables 1 277 530 32 640 1 310 170 

 Total carrying amount of financial assets 7 783 868 43 581 7 827 449 

Cash pool liabilities    

Payable to funds reported in United Nations volume I 2 838 934 9 715 2 848 649 

Payable to other cash pool participants 4 944 934 33 866 4 978 800 

 Total liabilities 7 783 868 43 581 7 827 449 

 Net assets –   –  – 

 

 

  Summary of revenue and expenses of the cash pools for the year ended 

31 December 2015  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

 Main pool  Euro pool  Total  

    Investment revenue 51 944 48 51 992 

Foreign exchange losses (11 720) (15 300) (27 020) 

Unrealized losses (10 824) (4) (10 828) 

Bank fees (525) – (525) 

 Revenue from cash pools 28 875 (15 256) 13 619 
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  Summary of assets and liabilities of the cash pools as at 31 December 2014  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

 Main pool Euro pool Total 

    
Fair value through surplus or deficit    

Short-term investments 3 930 497  97 011  4 027 508  

Long-term investments 3 482 641   –  3 482 641  

 Total fair value through surplus or deficit investments 7 413 138  97 011  7 510 149  

Loans and receivables    

Cash and cash equivalents 2 034 824  48 819  2 083 643  

Accrued investment revenue 14 842  119   14 961  

 Total loans and receivables 2 049 666  48 938  2 098 604  

 Total carrying amount of financial assets 9 462 804  145 949  9 608 753  

Cash pool liabilities    

Payable to funds reported in United Nations volume I 2 481 445  11 575  2 493 020  

Payable to other cash pool participants 6 981 359  134 374  7 115 733  

 Total liabilities 9 462 804  145 949  9 608 753  

 Net assets –   –  – 

 

 

  Summary of revenue and expenses of the cash pools for the year ended 

31 December 2014  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

 Main pool  Euro pool  Total  

    
Investment revenue  62 511 132 62 643  

Foreign exchange losses  (7 064) (14 396) (21 460) 

Unrealized gains/(losses)  (3 084) 9  (3 075) 

Bank fees (214)  (2)  (216) 

 Revenue from cash pools 52 149 (14 257) 37 892 

 

 

  Financial risk management  
 

233. The United Nations Treasury is responsible for investment and risk 

management for the cash pools, including conducting investment activities in 

accordance with the Investment Management Guidelines.   

234. The objective of investment management is to preserve capital and ensure 

sufficient liquidity to meet operating cash requirements while attaining a 

competitive market rate of return on each investment pool. Investment quality, 

safety and liquidity are emphasized over the market-rate-of-return component of the 

objectives.  
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235. An investment committee periodically evaluates investment performance and 

assesses compliance with the Guidelines and makes recommendations for updates 

thereto.  

 

  Financial risk management: credit risk  
 

236. The Investment Management Guidelines require ongoing monitoring of issuer 

and counterparty credit ratings. Permissible cash pool investments may include, but 

are not restricted to, bank deposits, commercial paper, supranational securities, 

government agency securities and government securities with maturities of five 

years or less. The cash pools do not invest in derivative instruments such as asset -

backed and mortgage-backed securities or equity products.  

237. The Guidelines require that investments are not to be made in issuers whose 

credit ratings are below specifications and also provide for maximum concentrations 

with given issuers. These requirements were met at the time the investments were 

made.  

238. The credit ratings used for the cash pools are those determined by major 

credit-rating agencies; Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch are used to rate bonds 

and discounted instruments, and the Fitch viability rating is used to rate bank term 

deposits. At year end, the credit ratings were as shown below.  
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Investments of the cash pools by credit ratings as at 31 December  
(Percentage) 

 

Main pool Ratings as at 31 December 2015 Ratings as at 31 December 2014 

        
Bonds (long-term ratings)        

 AAA AA+/AA/AA- Not rated AAA AA+/AA/AA- A+ Not rated 

Standard & Poor’s 37.7 54.2 8.1 31.2 59.8 1.3 7.7 

Fitch 61.9 26.5 11.6 52.2 21.4 – 26.4 

 Aaa Aa1/Aa2/Aa3  Aaa Aa1/Aa2/Aa3   

Moody’s 65.8 34.2 – 69.3 30.7 – – 

Commercial papers (short-term ratings)      

 A-1+   A-1+    Not rated 

Standard & Poor’s 100.0   100.0    – 

 F1+   F1+      

Fitch 100.0   90.0    10.0 

 P-1   P-1      

Moody’s 100.0   70.0    30.0 

Reverse repurchase agreements (short-term ratings)      

 A-1+    

No reverse repurchase agreements were held 

as at 31 December 2014 

Standard & Poor’s 100.0    

 F1+    

Fitch 100.0    

 P-1    

Moody’s 100.0        

Term deposits (Fitch viability ratings)         

 aaa aa/aa- a+/a aaa aa/aa- a+/a   

Fitch – 53.6 46.4 – 64.1 35.9  

 

 

Euro pool Ratings as at 31 December 2015 Ratings as at 31 December 2014 

        
Bonds (long-term ratings)        

    AAA AA+   Not rated 

Standard & Poor’s 

No bonds were held  

as at 31 December 2015 

– 100.0  – 

Fitch – –  100.0 

 Aaa Aa1    

Moody’s 100.0 –  – 

Term deposits (Fitch viability ratings)      

 aaa aa/aa- a+ Aaa aa- a+/a/a-  

Fitch – – 100.0 – 22.1 77.9 – 

 

 

http://undocs.org/a/a-
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239. The United Nations Treasury actively monitors credit ratings and, because the 

Organization has invested only in securities with high credit ratings, management 

does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations, except for impaired 

investments.  

 

  Financial risk management: liquidity risk  
 

240. The cash pools are exposed to liquidity risk associated with the require ment of 

participants to make withdrawals on short notice. They maintain sufficient cash and 

marketable securities to meet participants’ commitments as and when they fall due. 

The major portion of cash and cash equivalents and investments are available with in 

a day’s notice to support operational requirements. The cash pool liquidity risk is 

therefore considered to be low.  

 

  Financial risk management: interest rate risk  
 

241. The cash pools comprise the Organization’s main exposure to interest rate risk 

with fixed-rate cash and cash equivalents and investments being interest -bearing 

financial instruments. As at the reporting date, the cash pools had invested primarily 

in securities with shorter terms to maturity, with the maximum being less than five 

years (2014: five years). The average durations of the main pool and the euro pool 

were 0.86 years (2014: 1.10 years) and 0.21 years (2014: 0.22 years) respectively, 

which are considered to be an indicator of low risk.   

 

  Cash pool interest rate risk sensitivity analysis  
 

242. The analysis shows how the fair value of the cash pools as at the reporting 

date would increase or decrease should the overall yield curve shift in response to 

changes in interest rates. Given that the investments are accounted for at fa ir value 

through surplus or deficit, the change in fair value represents the increase or 

decrease in the surplus or deficit and net assets. The impact of a shift up or down of 

up to 200 basis points in the yield curve is shown below (100 basis points equal s 

1 per cent). The basis point shifts are illustrative.  

 

  Organization’s share of cash pool interest rate risk sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2015  
 

Shift in yield curve (basis points) -200 -150 -100 -50 0 50 100 150 200 

          
Increase/(decrease) in fair value 

(Millions of United States dollars)          

 Total, main pool  47.05 35.28 23.52 11.76  –  (11.75) (23.51) (35.26) (47.02) 

 Total, euro pool   0.01   0.01   0.01   0.00   –  (0.00) (0.01) (0.01) (0.01) 

 Total 47.06 35.29 23.53 11.76  –  (11.75) (23.52) (35.27) (47.03) 
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  Organization’s share of cash pool interest rate risk sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2014   
 

Shift in yield curve (basis points) -200 -150 -100 -50 0 50 100 150 200 

          
Increase/(decrease) in fair value 

(Millions of United States dollars)          

 Total, main pool 53.89  40.41  26.93  13.48   –  (13.45) (26.93) (40.38) (53.83) 

 Total, euro pool   0.05   0.04   0.03   0.01   –  (0.01) (0.02) (0.04) (0.05) 

 Total 53.94  40.45  26.96  13.49   –  (13.46) (26.95) (40.42) (53.88) 

 

 

  Other market price risk  
 

243. The cash pools are not exposed to significant other price risks because they do 

not sell short, borrow securities or purchase securities on margin, which limits the 

potential loss of capital.  

 

  Accounting classifications and fair value hierarchy  
 

244. All investments are reported at fair value through surplus and deficit. Cash and 

cash equivalents carried at nominal value are deemed to be an approximation of fa ir 

value. The following fair value hierarchy presents the cash pool assets that are 

measured at fair value as at the reporting date. There were no level 3 financial assets 

or any significant transfers of financial assets between fair value hierarchy 

classifications.  

 

  Fair value hierarchy for investments as at 31 December: cash pools  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

 31 December 2015  31 December 2014 

 Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1 Level 2 Total 

       Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit    

Bonds — corporate 149 682 – 149 682 – – – 

Bonds — non-United States agencies 2 190 965 – 2 190 965 2 154 956 – 2 154 956 

Bonds — non-United States sovereigns 124 612 – 124 612 691 489 – 691 489 

Bonds — supranational 139 828 – 139 828 440 169 – 440 169 

Bonds — United States treasuries 1 092 139 – 1 092 139 1 297 290 – 1 297 290 

Main pool — commercial papers 949 112 – 949 112 999 234 – 999 234 

Main pool — term deposits – 1 860 000 1 860 000 – 1 830 000 1 830 000 

 Subtotal, main pool 4 646 338 1 860 000 6 506 338 5 583 138 1 830 000 7 413 138 

Euro pool — bonds       

Non-United States sovereigns – – – 6 157 – 6 157 

Euro pool — term deposits – 10 941 10 941 – 90 854 90 854 

 Subtotal, euro pool – 10 941 10 941 6 157 90 854 97 011 

 Total 4 646 338 1 870 941 6 517 279 5 589 295 1 920 854 7 510 149 

 

 



A/71/5 (Vol. I) 

Operations of the United Nations as reported in volume I 

Notes to the 2015 financial statements (continued) 

 

16-16791 284/288 

 

A
/7

1
/5

 (V
o

l. I) 

O
p

er
a
tio

n
s o

f th
e
 U

n
ite

d
 N

a
tio

n
s a

s r
ep

o
rted

 in
 v

o
lu

m
e
 I 

N
o

tes to
 th

e
 fin

a
n

cia
l sta

te
m

e
n

ts (co
n

tin
u

ed
) 

  Note 32  

  Related parties  
 

  Key management personnel  
 

245. Key management personnel are those with the ability to exercise significant 

influence over the financial and operating decisions of the Organization. For the 

operations of the United Nations as reported in volume I, the key management 

personnel group comprises the Secretary-General, the Deputy Secretary-General and 

selected officials at the Under-Secretary-General, Assistant Secretary-General and 

Director levels. Those persons have the relevant authority and responsibility for 

planning, directing and controlling the Organization’s activities.   

246. The aggregate remuneration paid to 12 (full-time equivalent) (2014: 12) key 

management personnel includes gross salaries, post adjustment and other 

entitlements such as grants, subsidies and employer pension and health insurance 

contributions.  

 

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 2015 2014 

   
Salary and post adjustment 3 488 3 514  

Other monetary entitlements 721 700  

Non-monetary benefits 1 200 1 200  

 Total remuneration for the year 5 409 5 414 

 

 

247. A residence, with an annual rental fair value equivalent of $1.2 million (2014: 

$1.2 million), is provided to the Secretary-General free of charge. While no close 

family members of key management personnel were employed by the Organization 

at the management level, $0.293 million (2014: $0.072 million) was transacted by 

the Organization with close family members in the year. Advances made to key 

management personnel are those made against entitlements in accordance with the 

Staff Rules and Staff Regulations of the United Nations; any such advances against 

entitlements are widely available to all staff of the Organization.  

 

  Related entity transactions  
 

248. The Organization provides grants to related party entities as shown below.   
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  Grants provided to related party entities  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

 2015 2014 

   
United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime 28 825 25 935 

United Nations Environment Programme 20 226 17 598 

United Nations Human Settlements Programme 16 937 13 771 

International Trade Centre
a
 18 647 18 213 

United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the 

Empowerment of Women 9 291 7 691 

United Nations Relief and Works Agency for Palestine 

Refugees in the Near East 31 130 31 174 

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees  44 364 45 676 

 Total 169 420 160 058 

 

 
a
 In 2014, net of $2.0 million refund from ITC.  

 

 

  Loans provided to peacekeeping operations  
 

249. The Organization provided loans to the value of $37.3 million (2014: 

$37.3 million) and $10.0 million (2014: $10.0 million) to the United Nations 

Operation in the Congo and the United Nations Emergency Force, respectively. Those 

missions closed on 30 June 1964 and 30 June 1978, respectively, and the Organization 

has recorded a 100 per cent allowance for doubtful receivables for those loans.   

 

  Note 33  

  Leases and commitments  
 

  Finance leases  
 

250. The Organization has entered into commercial finance leases for the use of 

communications and information technology equipment, as well as donated right -to-

use arrangements for premises. As at the year end, the carrying value of the 

commercial finance leases totalled $2.6 million (2014: $3.5 million) and the donated 

right-to-use arrangements meeting the finance lease recognition criteria totalled 

$77.5 million (2014: $80.7 million). The major portion of the donated right -to-use 

amount relates to the $76.8 million (2014: $79.9 million) interest in the Vienna 

International Centre, the remaining being the Asian and Pacific Centre for Transfer of 

Technology (Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP)) 

and the ESCAP Subregional Office for South and South-West Asia, both located in 

New Delhi; and the Department of Public Information/United Nations Information 

Centre offices in Brazzaville and Ouagadougou. These donated right-to-use 

agreements indicate that host Governments will provide premises to the Organization 

for free for a period longer than 35 years or as long as the United Nations remains in 

the respective countries and uses the underlying premises for the intended purposes. 

The statement of financial performance includes finance costs of $0.184 million 

(2014: $0.243 million) relating to commercial finance lease arrangements. The net 

year-end carrying value for each class of asset is as shown below.  
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  Net finance lease asset carrying value  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

 

Donated right-to-use 

premises: Vienna 

International Centre 

Other donated right-

to-use premises 

Communications 

and information 

technology equipment Total 

     
As at 31 December 2015 76 816 691 2 570 80 077 

As at 31 December 2014
a
 79 946   732 3 475  84 153 

 

 
a
 Restated to conform with the current presentation (note 4).   

 

 

251. Future minimum finance lease payments under non-cancellable arrangements 

are as shown below.  

 

  Obligations for finance leases: minimum lease payments  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

 

As at  

31 December 2015 

As at  

31 December 2014 

   Due in less than 1 year 958 896 

Due in 1 to 5 years 1 612 2 576 

 Total present value of minimum finance lease payments  2 570 3 472 

Future finance charges 179 363 

 Total minimum finance lease payments 2 749 3 835 

 

 

  Operating leases  
 

252. The Organization has entered into commercial operating leases and real estate 

agreements with respect to real estate assets, machinery and equipment. The total 

operating lease expenses for the year were $205.1 million (2014: $207.1 million). 

That amount includes $57.3 million (2014: $48.6 million) towards assets received 

under operating donated right-to-use agreements for which corresponding revenue is 

recognized in the statement of financial performance and presented within voluntary 

contributions revenue. Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases are as shown below.  

 

  Obligations for operating leases: minimum lease payments  

  (Thousands of United States dollars)  
 

 

As at 

31 December 2015 

As at 

31 December 2014 

   Due in less than 1 year 75 648 69 191 

Due in 1 to 5 years 83 398 111 853 

Due after 5 years 3 576 5 400 

 Total minimum operating lease obligations 162 622 186 444 
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253. These leases are typically between one and seven years, with some leases 

allowing an extension after the expiry date and/or permitting early termination 

within 30, 60 or 90 days. The amounts present future obligations for the minimum 

contractual term, taking into consideration rent increases in accordance with the 

lease agreements. None of the leases and real estate agreements contain purchase 

options.  

 

  Leasing arrangements where the Organization is the lessor  
 

254. The Organization leases out assets to other parties through operating leases. 

Future minimum lease receipts for those arrangements are showed below.   

 

  Operating leases receipts  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

 

As at 

31 December 2015 

As at 

31 December 2014 

   
Receipts due in less than 1 year 13 058 8 772 

Receipts due in 1 to 5 years 13 071 24 743 

 Total minimum operating lease receipts (undiscounted)  26 129 33 515 

 

 

255. As at 31 December 2015, the total of future minimum sublease payments 

expected to be received under subleases were $4.3 million.   

 

  Contractual commitments  
 

256. At the year end, commitments to transfer funds to implementing partners and 

for property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goods and services 

contracted but not delivered were as follows.  

 

  Contractual commitments  
  (Thousands of United States dollars)  

 

 

As at 

31 December 2015 

As at 

31 December 2014 

   
Transfer of moneys to implementing partners 69 612 118 224 

Property, plant and equipment 27 033 148 262 

Intangibles 10 134 5 699 

Goods and services 335 031 274 554 

 Total open contractual commitments 441 810 546 739 
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  Note 34  

  Contingent liabilities and contingent assets  
 

  Contingent liabilities  
 

257. The Organization is subject to a variety of claims that arise from time to time 

in the ordinary course of its operations. These claims are segregated into three main 

categories: commercial claims, administrative law claims and other claims.   

258. Consistent with IPSAS, contingent liabilities are disclosed for pending claims 

where the probability of an obligation and the potential outflow of resources cannot 

be measured with sufficient reliability. As at 31 December 2015, the estimated value 

of such contingent liabilities relating to commercial claims and other claims of a 

private law nature totalled $1.2 million, including an amount of $0.424 million 

carried over from 2014.  

259. Similarly, no provision for loss has been recorded for administrative law 

claims where the outcome is determined to be unpredictable and potential outflow 

uncertain. These cases concern, in most part, appointment-related matters, benefits 

and entitlement, and separation from service. The total projected outflow for such 

cases as at 31 December 2015 was estimated at $11.7 million, which is the 

combined amount of $0.449 million carried over from the prior reporting period and 

an additional amount of $11.3 million for cases filed during the course of 2015. 

Management does not expect the ultimate resolution of any of the proceedings to 

which it is party to have a significant adverse effect on its financial position, 

performance or cash flows.  

260. No contingent liabilities arose from the Organization’s interest in jointly 

controlled entities or joint venture operations over which the Organization has 

significant influence.  

 

  Contingent assets  
 

261. In accordance with IPSAS 19, the United Nations discloses contingent assets 

when an event gives rise to a probable inflow of economic benefits or service 

potential to the Organization and there is sufficient information to assess the 

probability of that inflow. As at 31 December 2015, there were no material 

contingent assets arising from the Organization’s legal actions and interests in joint 

ventures that were likely to result in a significant economic inflow.   

 

  Note 35  

  Events after the reporting date  
 

262. There have been no material events, favourable or unfavourable, that occurred 

between the date of the financial statements and that on which the financial 

statements were authorized for issue that would have had a material impact on these 

statements.  
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